

Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of diabetic neuropathy

Edited by Charumathi Sabanayagam

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology Frontiers in Public Health





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-208-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-208-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of diabetic neuropathy

Topic editor

Charumathi Sabanayagam — Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

Citation

Sabanayagam, C., ed. (2023). *Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of diabetic neuropathy*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-208-1

🐉 **frontiers** | Research Topics

Table of contents

05	Editorial: Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of
	diabetic neuropathy

Charumathi Sabanayagam

08 Glycemic Variability and Diabetic Neuropathy in Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes

Marie Mathilde Bjerg Christensen, Eva Elisabeth Hommel, Marit Eika Jørgensen, Jesper Fleischer and Christian Stevns Hansen

22 Serum Adiponectin Levels Are Positively Associated With Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in Chinese Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

> Qing Sun, Bin Yan, Dan Yang, Jie Guo, Chao Wang, Qian Zhang, Yue Shi, Xiaohu Shi, Guoqing Tian and Xiaochun Liang

28 Advances in Screening, Early Diagnosis and Accurate Staging of Diabetic Neuropathy

Josie Carmichael, Hassan Fadavi, Fukashi Ishibashi, Angela C. Shore and Mitra Tavakoli

- 53 Gold Standard for Diagnosis of DPN Yongchun Yu
- 59 Troponin T Is Negatively Associated With 3 Tesla Magnetic Resonance Peripheral Nerve Perfusion in Type 2 Diabetes Johann M. E. Jende, Christoph Mooshage, Zoltan Kender, Lukas Schimpfle, Alexander Juerchott, Peter Nawroth, Sabine Heiland, Martin Bendszus, Stefan Kopf and Felix T. Kurz
- 68 Risk Factors for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy, Peripheral Artery Disease, and Foot Deformity Among the Population With Diabetes in Beijing, China: A Multicenter, Cross-Sectional Study

Jiayi Liu, Xiaoyong Yuan, Jin Liu, Geheng Yuan, Yalan Sun, Donghui Zhang, Xin Qi, Huijuan Li, Junqing Zhang, Bing Wen and Xiaohui Guo

75 Nomogram Prediction for the Risk of Diabetic Foot in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Jie Wang, Tong Xue, Haopeng Li and Shuai Guo

84 Case Report: A novel *WRN* mutation in Werner syndrome patient with diabetic foot disease and myelodysplastic syndrome

Huifang Peng, Jie Wang, Yanyun Liu, Haiping Yang, Liping Li, Yujin Ma, Huiqin Zhuo and Hongwei Jiang

90 Shear wave elastography as a quantitative biomarker of diabetic peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Bingtian Dong, Guorong Lyu, Xiaocen Yang, Huaming Wang and Yongjian Chen

- 102 Differences in structural connectivity between diabetic and psychological erectile dysfunction revealed by network-based statistic: A diffusion tensor imaging study Jianhuai Chen, Jindan Wu, Xinfei Huang, Rui Sun, Ziliang Xiang, Yan Xu, Shi Chen, Weilong Xu, Jie Yang and Yun Chen
- 111 Comparison of material properties of heel pad between adults with and without type 2 diabetes history: An *in-vivo* investigation during gait

Xiong-gang Yang, Zhao-lin Teng, Zhen-ming Zhang, Kan Wang, Ran Huang, Wen-ming Chen, Chen Wang, Li Chen, Chao Zhang, Jia-zhang Huang, Xu Wang, Xin Ma and Xiang Geng

125 Increased plasma D-dimer levels may be a promising indicator for diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes

> Lei Zhuang, Chao Yu, Feng Xu, Li-hua Zhao, Xiao-hua Wang, Chun-hua Wang, Li-yan Ning, Xiu-lin Zhang, Dong-mei Zhang, Xue-qin Wang and Jian-bin Su

- 138 Advanced glycation end-products are associated with diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes Elaf Al-Saoudi, Marie M. B. Christensen, Peter Nawroth, Thomas Fleming, Eva E. Hommel, Marit E. Jørgensen, Jesper Fleischer and Christian S. Hansen
- 151 Implementation of corneal confocal microscopy for screening and early detection of diabetic neuropathy in primary care alongside retinopathy screening: Results from a feasibility study

Josie Carmichael, Hassan Fadavi, Fukashi Ishibashi, Susan Howard, Andrew J. M. Boulton, Angela C. Shore and Mitra Tavakoli

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Åke Sjöholm, Gävle Hospital, Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE Charumathi Sabanayagam charusaba@duke-nus.edu.sg

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 29 November 2022 ACCEPTED 29 November 2022 PUBLISHED 19 December 2022

CITATION

Sabanayagam C (2022) Editorial: Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of diabetic neuropathy. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1110928. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1110928

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Sabanayagam. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of diabetic neuropathy

Charumathi Sabanayagam^{1,2*}

¹Ocular Epidemiology Research Group, Singapore Eye Research Institute, Singapore, Singapore, ²The Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences Academic Clinical Program (EYE ACP), Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore

KEYWORDS

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy, diagnosis, risk factor, biomarkers, recent advances

Editorial on the Research Topic

Advances in the diagnosis and prevention of diabetic neuropathy

Diabetic Neuropathy (DN) is a common complication of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) and cardiac autonomic neuropathy (CAN) lead to devastating complications like foot ulcers, lower limb amputations, major cardiovascular events, and sudden deaths (1). It is estimated that up to 50% of people with diabetes may be affected by some type of neuropathy making it a significant cause of disability and reduction in quality of life (2). Complications related to both DPN, and CAN are preventable if detected early and risk factors are optimally controlled through multidisciplinary care. However, due to the asymptomatic early stages of the disease progression, diagnosis is often a challenge. The issues are compounded by the threat of progression of disease to an irreversible stage if detection is delayed. This Research Topic collection aims to address these challenges by featuring and discussing the latest advances in diagnostic approaches to DN. In this collection, we have compiled 14 research articles from those submitted to the call for papers on "Advances in the Diagnosis and Prevention of Diabetic Neuropathy" topic and those received through regular submission route. The final collection of articles includes topics that summarize and evaluate the latest technologies in screening, diagnosis, and prediction of DPN.

Article type wise, the 14 research articles published under this collection include 2 Narrative Review, 1 Systematic Review and Meta-analysis, 1 Case Report, and 10 Original Research articles. These articles encompass four key areas related to recent advances in DPN:

- 1. Screening and diagnostic tests
- 2. Risk factors associated with DPN and prediction models for early detection of DPN
- 3. Potential biomarkers for diagnosing DPN
- 4. Novel techniques exploring mechanisms underlying DPN

Screening and diagnostic tests

A narrative review by Yu gives an overview of the current screening technologies for detecting early DPN and summarises their advantages, disadvantages, and potential clinical application. The technologies assessed include quantitative sensory measurement, neurological function scoring system, corneal confocal microscopy (CCM), and high-frequency ultrasound. Carmichael et al. provide a comprehensive review of current knowledge and optimal approaches for screening and diagnosing DPN. Authors highlighted the limitations of the monofilament test, a commonly used screening test in primary care in terms of its inability to detect early-stage disease and high variability in sensitivity ranging from 43-93% compared to the gold standard, nerve conduction studies (NCS) for detecting latestage DPN. They also assessed the performance of screening and diagnostic test currently available for early detection of DPN including the potential for several novel point of care devices (POCDs) such as Neuropad, DPNCheck and Sudoscan. Authors further highlighted the potential for CCM, a rapid non-invasive clinical assessment of corneal nerves in detecting small fibre neuropathy, the earliest manifestation of DPN and to assess its severity. Authors suggested that advancements in automated analysis softwares may improve clinical utility by overcoming the difficulty in manual analysis and technical expertise to quantify nerve pathology. Carmichael et al. also reported the results of a feasibility study using CCM to screen for DPN in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes attending primary care optometry settings in UK. Their study findings supported the current literature that CCM is a sensitive surrogate biomarker for DPN.

Risk factors

Christensen et al. evaluated the association of glycemic variability (GV) assessed by means of continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) generated parameters and showed that GV was not associated with neither DPN nor CAN in a cohort of 133 young Danish adults with type 1 diabetes. Al-Saoudi et al. conducted a cross-sectional study assessing the association of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) with CAN and distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN) in 151 young adults with type 1 diabetes in Denmark. They concluded that higher levels of AGEs were associated with several measures of CAN and DSPN through diverse metabolic pathways including glycolytic dysfunction, lipid peroxidation and glucotoxicity. Liu et al. conducted a study comparing the prevalence and risk factors associated with DPN, peripheral artery disease (PAD) and foot deformity which are the common causes of diabetic foot using a large cohort of 3898 patients with diabetes from 11 hospitals in Beijing, China. They found the prevalence of foot deformities including callus to be higher (29.7%), followed by DPN (23.5%) while the prevalence of PAD to be lower with 11.6%. They found risk factors including higher systolic blood pressure, underweight, poor glycemic control, longer duration of diabetes, chronic kidney disease and cerebrovascular disease were commonly associated with 2 or more of the three conditions. Wang et al. developed and validated a nomogram model for predicting those at higher risk of developing diabetic foot using data collected from 1950 patients with type 2 diabetes attending a university hospital in China. The model based on traditional risk factors such as age, HbA1c, total and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, smoking and drinking had good accuracy with area under the receive operating characteristic curve (AUC) of 0.857 in internal validation.

Novel biomarkers

Three clinic-based studies reported cross-sectional association between novel biomarkers and DPN. Sun et al. reported higher levels of serum adiponectin to be positively associated with DPN independent of potential confounders in 219 Chinese type 2 diabetic patients aged 40-79 years. Jende et al. reported higher levels of troponin T (hsTNT) to be negatively correlated with markers of magnetic resonance peripheral nerve perfusion in a small case-control sample with and without diabetes suggesting that hsTNT may serve as a potential marker for assessing nerve perfusion in future studies of DN. Zhuang et al. demonstrated that plasma increased plasma levels of D-dimer to be independently associated with DPN in 393 patients with type 2 diabetes. Dong et al. performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of six studies that evaluated the performance of shear wave elastography (SWE) for tibial nerve stiffness as a quantitative biomarker complementary to neuroelectrophysiological examination for diagnosing DPN. They reported that SWE had good diagnostic accuracy for detecting DPN with summary sensitivity, and specificity of 75%, and 86% and area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) of 0.86.

Mechanistic studies

Chen et al. conducted a diffusion tensor imaging study to evaluate the differences in central neural mechanisms underlying erectile dysfunction due to type 2 diabetes (DM-ED) vs. psychological erectile dysfunction (pED) using the method of network-based statistic. Authors demonstrated differences in structural connectivity patterns between the two types with increased connectivity in the fronto-parietal network in those with ED due to diabetes. Yang et al. compared the material properties (primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus etc. before and after continuous weight bearing) of heel pad in those with and without diabetes and investigated the impact of compressive loading history and the length of diabetes course on the material properties of heel pad. Authors demonstrated that patients with diabetes had altered material properties which may contribute to the vulnerability of heel pad to injury and ulceration.

Peng et al. presented a Case Report describing the clinical and genetic data of a Chinese patient with Werner syndrome with diabetic foot disease and myelodysplastic syndrome. They reported a novel pathogenic variation in the WRN gene in this patient with Werner syndrome.

In conclusion, this Research Topic make important contributions to our understanding of the recent advances in screening and diagnosis of DPN and may be of interest to a wider readership from the fields of Endocrinology, Neurology and General Medicine. Yet there remain important challenges in the prevention and diagnosis of DPN which future research studies could address, for e.g., novel technologies and biomarkers reported in this collection need further confirmation in large prospectively collected data, validation in external cohorts as well as in real-world settings. As suggested by Carmichael et al. such evaluation may also benefit more from fostering international collaborations rather than from the fragmented efforts of small, opportunistic studies.

References

1. Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJ, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic Neuropathy: A position statement by the american diabetes association. *Diabetes Care*. (2017) 40(1)136–54.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all authors for their contribution to this topic collection, the reviewers for ensuring the quality of accepted papers and the Editorial Team of Frontiers in Endocrinology for managing this Research Topic.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

2. Selvarajah D, Kar D, Khunti K, Davies MJ, Scott AR, Walker J, et al. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy: advances in diagnosis and strategies for screening and early intervention. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2019) 7(12)938–48.





Glycemic Variability and Diabetic Neuropathy in Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes

Marie Mathilde Bjerg Christensen ^{1*†}, Eva Elisabeth Hommel², Marit Eika Jørgensen ^{1,3,4}, Jesper Fleischer⁵ and Christian Stevns Hansen¹

¹ Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte, Denmark, ² Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte, Denmark, ³ Department of Population Health and Morbidity, Health in Greenland, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark, ⁴ Institute of Nursing and Health Science, University of Greenland, Nuuk, Greenland, ⁵ Steno Diabetes Center Aarhus, Aarhus, Denmark

Background: Glycemic variability (GV) may attribute to the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy. The aim of this cross-sectional study was to investigate the association between GV and distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN) and cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy (CAN) in a Danish population of young adults with type 1 diabetes.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erwin Dieter Schleicher, University of Tübingen, Germany

Reviewed by:

Abdurezak Ahmed Abdela, Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia Jean-Henri Calvet, Impeto Medical, Inc., United States

*Correspondence:

Marie Mathilde Bjerg Christensen marie.mathilde.bjerg.christensen.01@ regionh.dk

[†]ORCID:

Marie Mathilde Bjerg Christensen orcid.org/0000-0002-7055-6835

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 21 April 2020 Accepted: 07 August 2020 Published: 23 September 2020

Citation:

Christensen MMB, Hommel EE, Jørgensen ME, Fleischer J and Hansen CS (2020) Glycemic Variability and Diabetic Neuropathy in Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. Front. Endocrinol. 11:644. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00644 **Methods:** Young adults between 18 and 24 years with type 1 diabetes were included in this cross-sectional study. CAN was assessed by cardiovascular autonomic reflex tests (CARTs) and heart rate variability (HRV). DSPN was assessed by light pressure, pain and vibration perception, electrochemical skin conductance, sural nerve conduction velocity (SNCV), and amplitude potential (SNAP). GV were obtained by continuous glucose monitoring including coefficient of variation (CV), SD, continuous overall net glycemic action (CONGA), and mean amplitude of glucose excursions (MAGE).

Results: The study comprised 133 young adults (43.6% males), mean age of 22 years (SD 1.6). Unadjusted, higher CV was associated with a decreased risk of sural nerve conduction (P = 0.03), abnormal SNAP (P = 0.04) and incidents of definite CAN (P = 0.04). Likewise, higher CONGA was associated with increasing incidents of subclinical DSPN (P = 0.03), abnormal SNAP (P = 0.01), and SNCV (P = 0.02). However, both associations were not statistically significant in the fully adjusted model. Higher MAGE was associated with slightly increasing measures of HRV (P = 0.03) but only when fully adjusted. When correcting for multiple tests significance was lost. A significant association was found between HbA1c and measures of both DSPN (P < 0.02) and HRV (P < 0.03) in fully adjusted models.

Conclusions: No significant associations between GV and diabetic neuropathy were found after adjusting for risk factors and multiple tests. This suggests that GV may not be a risk factor for diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes. However, long-term effects of GV excursions may still play a role in the pathogenic mechanisms leading to neuropathy in later life.

Keywords: type 1 diabetes, glycemic variability, young adults, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy, distal symmetric polyneuropathy, continuous glucose monitoring

INTRODUCTION

Distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN) and cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy (CAN) are severe and common complications of type 1 diabetes (1, 2). DSPN and CAN are usually rare problems during childhood but may be present in adolescents and young adults (3, 4). Improved glycemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes may prevent and revert early stages of DSPN and CAN and slow the progression toward overt neuropathy (5–9). Thus, detecting and preventing diabetic neuropathy at an early stage is essential.

The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) (10) demonstrated that intensive glycemic control in type 1 diabetes monitored by HbA1c reduced the onset and progression of diabetic neuropathy. Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) is an integrated assessment marker of glycaemia in diabetes treatment (11) and is associated with increased risk of diabetic complications like neuropathy. However, some limitations arise when using measures of HbA1c to evaluate the role of glucose variability (GV): HbA1c depicts an average of blood glucose over 3 months and does not reflect incidents of hypo- and hyperglycemia on a daily basis (12). Hence HbA_{1c} may be an insufficient tool to monitor and treat dysglycaemia. Diurnal GV may contribute to the risk of diabetic complications beyond HbA1c (13). The international consensus panel from the Advanced Technologies & Treatments for Diabetes Congress in February 2017 recommends using data from continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) and the coefficient of variation (CV) as the primary measure to assess GV.

Data on the association between GV and diabetic neuropathy is inconsistent, scarce, and has not previously been investigated in young adults with type 1 diabetes by applying CGM (14–19). Several studies point to glucose fluctuation as a risk factor for CAN in adults with type 1 diabetes (15–17). However, studies on the association between GV and peripheral neuropathy are conflicting (14, 15), possibly due to inconsistent use of various measures and definitions to assess GV and neuropathy in different studies. While large GV has been associated to oxidative stress, GV may attribute to the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy despite conflicting reports (13, 20). Studies on the association between GV and CAN and DSPN in type 2 diabetes are limited. However, they do demonstrate that variability of HbA1c in particular but also measures of GV assessed from CGM are associated with both CAN and DSPN (21–25). The aim of this study was to investigate the association between modifiable glycaemic risk factors of neuropathy including GV and early and possibly reversible signs of DSPN and CAN early in the life of type 1 diabetes where preventive measures may have a substantial effect later in life. This was done in a Danish population of young adults with type 1 diabetes using the newest recommendations for assessing GV and both novel and established measures for DSPN and CAN.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

The study was designed as a cross-sectional observational study. The structure has been described in detail previously (4).

In order to investigate a population with early signs of diabetic neuropathy a cohort of young adults was assessed. All participants (age between 18 and 24 years) were recruited from the outpatient clinic at Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte, Denmark. Participants were included regardless of duration of type 1 diabetes. Three hundred and fifty participants received a written invitation to participate and were subsequently contacted by phone. Written informed consent was obtained prior to examination. Ethical approval was obtained from The Danish Research Ethics Committee (project id.: H-15006967) (26).

Participants were excluded from the present study if they were not able to wear the CGM or failed to measure and log their capillary blood glucose during the 5-days of CGM-monitoring. Moreover, examination of CAN was not performed if they were treated with beta blockers.

There was no basis for conducting sensible power calculations to estimate a sample size for the aim of the study, because the investigated associations have not previously been investigated in young adults with type 1 diabetes with the use of CGM. Moreover, previous studies in other patient groups have demonstrated conflicting results.

Assessment of Diabetic Neuropathy

DSPN was assessed and categorized according to recommendations made by the Toronto Diabetic Neuropathy Expert Group (2). Questionnaires were used to assess symptoms of DSPN (see section "Questionnaires on peripheral neuropathy and exposures" for further details).

Signs of DSPN were evaluated by established measures: Light pressure perception was assessed by applying a 10-g monofilament until it buckled (Neuropen[®], Owen Mumford Ltd, Oxford, UK) to three points at the distal bilateral foot pads: just proximal to the great, third and fifth toe (27, 28). Pain sensation was evaluated by using a 40-gram pin prick device (Neuropen[®], Owen Mumford Ltd, Oxford, UK) applied at the dorsal side of the toes just proximal to the nail on the great, third, and fifth toe. Vibration perception threshold (VPT) was determined using a Bio-Thesiometer (Bio-medical instruments, Ohio, USA) at the distal end of the great toe on both feet, and age stratified perception thresholds were used to assess abnormal results (29).

Abbreviations: BPI, Brief Pain Inventory; CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; CARTs, cardiovascular autonomic reflex tests; CONGA, continuous overall net glycemic action; CSII, continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion; CV, coefficient of variation; DSPN, diabetic symmetric polyneuropathy; E:I, deep breathing test; ESC, electrochemical skin conductance; HF, high frequency; HRV, heart rate variability; IQR, interquartile range; LF, low frequency; LF/HF, ratio low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; MAGE, mean amplitude of glucose excursions; MDI, multiple dose injections; MNSI, Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; VM, Valsalva Maneuver; VPT, vibration perception threshold; 30:15, lying-to-standing test.

Novel measures were used to objectively evaluate DSPN: Small autonomic fiber function was assessed using the non-invasive device SudoscanTM (Impeto Medical, Paris, France) performing an electrochemical skin conductance (ESC) test on the hands and feet (30). Age and gender stratified ESC thresholds were applied (31). Sural nerve conduction velocity (SNCV) and amplitude potential (SNAP) were obtained by the handheld NC-Stat® DPNCheckTM (NeuroMetrix, Inc., Waltham, USA) (32). Age and height stratified SNAP and SNCV thresholds were used (33). Participants were examined for bilateral abnormalities in SNAP and SNCV. A composite measure, "sural nerve conduction" (SNC), was used when abnormalities in either SNAP, SNCV or both bilaterally. DSPN was defined according to four categories. The label "possible DSPN" was given if presence of symptoms of peripheral neuropathy as assessed by questionnaires, or signs as assessed by VPT, light pressure and pain perception were confirmed. If presence of symptoms and signs were confirmed the label "probable DSPN" was added. "Confirmed DSPN" was given if either the test for SNC or ESC was abnormal and if the participants had symptoms or signs. Ultimately, "subclinical DSPN" was defined as presence of abnormal SNC or ESC without symptoms or signs.

To evaluate CAN three standard cardiovascular autonomic reflex tests (CARTs) and measures of 5 min. resting heart rate variability (HRV) were performed in a quiet examination room. HRV was assessed after 5 min of supine rest and analyzed from 5-min resting heart rate (HR). HRV indices were analyzed in time- and frequency-domain. Time-domain included the root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals (RMSSD) and standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals (SDNN). Frequency-domain included low-frequency power band (LF) (0.04–0.15 Hz), high-frequency power band (HF) (0.15–0.4 Hz), total frequency power (Total) and the ratio low-frequency power/high-frequency power (LH/HF-ratio) (34).

The 5-min resting HRV test was followed by the three CARTs including the lying-to-standing test (30:15), the deep breathing test (E:I) and Valsalva Maneuver. "Early CAN" was defined as one out of the three CARTs was abnormal, "definite CAN" was defined as two or three were abnormal. Thresholds for abnormal results were age stratified (35). Resting HRV indices and CARTs were registered by using VagusTM (Medicus Engineering, Aarhus, Denmark).

In line with the recommended criteria for examination of CAN (26), participants were asked to restrain from vigorous exercise 24 h before examination and from caffeine consumption on the specific day of examination.

Questionnaires on Peripheral Neuropathy and Exposures

Each patient was asked to fill in the questionnaires Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) and Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument (MNSI) on the examination day. Participants were diagnosed with painful diabetic neuropathy if they in the BPI questionnaire answered having pain in both legs and/or both arms peripherally (36). A MNSI score of ≥ 7 was interpreted as presence of neuropathy (37).

Moreover, a questionnaire considering life style factors such as smoking status (current, former, or never) and weekly amount of exercise in hours (pooled light and moderate/vigorous exercise) was filled in.

Assessment of GV Indices

The CGM sensor EnliteTM (Medtronic, Northridge, CA) was inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of the abdomen or alternatively the upper arm. Subsequently the iPro2TM (Medtronic, Northridge, CA) recorder was attached. The sensors should be worn for 5 days and the capillary finger blood glucose monitored four times daily for calibration. The software Medtronic CareLinkTM iProTM was used to generate data from the sensors. Participants were excluded from the study if there were not enough measurements of the capillary blood glucose to run the Medtronic CareLinkTM iProTM software. CV, standard deviation (SD), continuous overall net glycemic action (CONGA), and mean amplitude of glucose excursions (MAGE) were used to quantify GV (38). Time spent in hypo-(<3.0 mmol/l), eu- (≥3.0; ≤10.0 mmol/l), and hyperglycemia (>10.0 mmol/l) were calculated (38) and presented in minutes and percentage.

Blood Pressure and Anthropometric Measures

Blood pressure and heart rate (HR) were measured after 10 min of rest and calculated as the mean of three consecutive measures performed with intervals of 1 min. Automated oscillometric blood pressure recorders were used (AND UA-787plus, A&D medical, California, USA).

Height and weight were measured with clothes on but without shoes using a fixed rigid stadiometer (Seca, Chino, USA) and an electronic scale (Mettler Toledo, Glostrup, Denmark), respectively.

Biochemical Measures

All biochemical measures were analyzed from venous blood samples except for urine albumin and creatinine. Blood and urine samples were collected on the same day as the examination. The participants were non-fasting.

HbA_{1c} was analyzed by high performance liquid chromatography on a Tosoh G7 (Tosoh Cooperation, Japan). C-peptide was measured using a Cobas e411 (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Triglycerides, HDL, and total cholesterol were analyzed by standard enzymatic colorimetry techniques on a Vitros 5600 (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, France). Serum LDL cholesterol was calculated using the Friedewald equationTriglyceride level did not exceed 4.5 mmol/l in any subject. Hence, no other LDL assessments were deemed relevant. Plasma creatinine was analyzed by twopoint rate enzymatic technique. The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology (CKD-EPI) equation was used to estimate eGFR (39). Urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio was analyzed by quantitative immunological turbidimetry.

Medication

Data on medication were extracted from hospital electronic records and validated by the patient at examination day.

Statistical Analysis

Patient characteristics are presented as means with standard deviation (SD) or in case of skewed distributions as medians with interquartile range [IQR].

Participants were excluded from the analysis of a specific test if the values were missing.

Both GV and HbA_{1c} were examined as determinants for neuropathy. The associations were assessed by logistic regression for the categorical outcomes and presented as odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). Linear regression analyses were applied for continuous outcomes and presented as estimates with 95% CI. To meet model assumptions outcomes were logtransformed prior to analysis and subsequently back transformed to original scale where appropriate. To avoid small-sample bias, determinants of DSPN and CAN were not included in the analyses if the number of affected participants were <5.

Four models of adjustments were applied: Model 1: Unadjusted; Model 2: Adjusted for age and gender; Model 3: Adjusted as model 2 + diabetes duration, BMI, exercise and HbA_{1c}; Model 4: Adjusted as model 3 + systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol and current smoking. HR was included as a confounder in models where HRV indices were determinants.

All analyses used 2-sided P = 0.05 as statistically significant and were adjusted for multiple tests by the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (40).

Statistical analyses were performed in R version 3.3.3 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing) and SAS, version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

Overall, 133 young adults (43.6% male) were included in the study. Twenty-three participants were excluded due to missing or lacking CGM-monitoring including insufficient numbers of capillary finger blood glucose monitoring. Reasons for not wearing a CGM sensor were primarily irritative/allergic reactions to the bandage patches or fear of discomfort. Mean (SD) age was 22 years (1.6), diabetes duration 11 years (5.2), and median (IQR) HbA_{1c} 65.5 mmol/mol (57;74). Mean (SD) BMI was 24.7 kg/m² (3.8) and 122 (92.4%) participants exercised regularly for an average of 9 h weekly. All participants were treated with insulin. Participant characteristics are presented in **Table 1**.

Diabetic Neuropathy

The results of the prevalence of DSPN and CAN have been discussed elsewhere (4). In total, 51.1% (n = 68) were diagnosed with subclinical DSPN. One patient (0.8%) had confirmed DSPN, and two (1.5%) possible DSPN. None met the criteria for probable DSPN. Prevalence estimates of symmetric abnormal SNAP and SNCV were 20.3% (n = 26) and 34.4%

(n = 44), respectively. Prevalence of the composite measure of SNAP/SNCV, SNC was 48.4% (n = 62). Abnormal ESC results on feet were found in 4.5% (n = 6) and 3% (n = 4) on hands. Symmetrically abnormal VPT was detected in 0.8% (n = 1) and likewise for symmetrical neuropathy diagnosed by the BPI questionnaire. No participants had abnormal results when light touch, pain perception or MNSI questionnaire were used.

Definite CAN was diagnosed in 6.1% (n = 8) and early CAN in 26.9% (n = 35).

Distribution and prevalence estimate of the outcomes are presented in Table 2.

Glucose Variability

Mean (SD) CV was 40% (10) and median (IQR) SD was 3.9 mmol/l (3.2;4.7). Distribution of GV measures are presented in **Table 2**.

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study population.

Clinical characteristics	Mean (SD)/Median [IQR]/N (%)
N	133
Age (yr)	22 (1.6)
Males (%)	58 (43.6)
CSII treatment (%)	67 (50.4)
Diabetes duration (yr)	11.0 (5.2)
BMI (kg/m²)	24.7 (3.8)
Exercise (%) / (hr/week)	92.4 / 9.0 [5.0;15.5]
Current smoker (%)	28 (21.2)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	125.9 (11.4)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	81.2 (8.6)
Heart rate (bpm)	76.6 (14.2)
Biochemistry	
HbA _{1c} (mmol/mol)	65.5 [57.0;74.0]
HbA _{1c} (%)	8.2 [7.4;9.0]
Cholesterol (mmol/l)	4.4 (1.1)
Triglycerides (mmol/l)	1.1 [0.8;1.6]
HDL (mmol/l)	1.3 (0.4)
LDL (mmol/l)	2.5 (0.9)
Urine albumin/creatinine ratio (mg/g)	6.0 [4.0;11.0]
eGFR (ml/min/1.73m2)	123.0 [115.9;127.1]
C-peptide (pmol/I)	14.5 [7.0;101]
Medication	
Insulin treatment n (%)	133 (100)
Metformin n (%)	1 (0.8)
Other glucose-lowering drugs <i>n</i> (%)	1 (0.8)
Antihypertensive treatment n (%)	6 (4.5)
Beta blocker treatment n (%)	2 (1.5)
Lipid lowering treatment n (%)	1 (0.8)
Psychotropics n (%)	5 (3.8)

Data are given in means (SD), medians [IQR] or proportions %.

eGFR, Estimated glomerular filtration rate; BMI, Body Mass Index; HDL, High-density lipoproteins; LDL, Low-density lipoproteins.

TABLE 2 | Distribution of outcome and GV measures and prevalences of abnormal results.

Ν		133
GV measures	Mean (SD)/median [IQR]	Prevalence n (%)
CV (%)	40 (10)	NA
SD (mmol/l)	3.9 [3.2;4.7]	NA
MAGE (mmol/l)	7.7 [5.9;9.9]	NA
CONGA (mmol/l)	9.1 (2.2)	NA
Time spent in hypoglycaemia (min.) / (%)	35 [0;120] / 1.0 [0.0;4.0]	NA
Time spent in euglycaemia (min.) / (%)	3065 [2125;3895] / 52.2 (19.6)	NA
Time spent in hyperglycaemia (min.) / (%)	2650 [1740;3480] / 44.7 (20.6)	NA
Outcome Measures		
CAN Measures		
CAN	NA	8 (6.1)
Early CAN	NA	35 (26.9)
Lying to standing ratio (30:15)	1.4 (0.2)	21 (15.9)
Deep breathing ratio (E:I)	1.5 (0.2)	10 (7.6)
Valsalva Maneuver ratio (VM)	1.7 (0.4)	22 (16.9)
SDNN (ms)	48.1 [36.3;68.2]	NA
RMSSD (ms)	38.9 [25.7;59.3]	NA
LF (ms ²)	290.1	NA
	[130.1;670.0]	
HF (ms ²)	251.3	NA
LF/HF ratio	[114.6;516.0] 1.3 [0.8;2.8]	NA
Total	779.5	NA
Total	[444.4;1570.5]	NA
DSPN Measures		
Subclinical DSPN	NA	68 (51.1)
Confirmed DSPN	NA	1 (0.8)
Possible DSPN	NA	2 (1.5)
Probable DSPN	NA	0
Monofilament (\geq 1 missing response)	NA	0
Pin prick (\geq 1 missing response)	NA	0
SNC	NA	62 (48.4)
SNAP (μ V)	11.7 [8.7;15.0]	26 (20.3)
SNCV (m/s)	50.8 (4.2)	44 (34.4)
VPT (V)	4.5 [3.5;5.5]	1 (0.8)
ESC—hands (μ S)	77.5 [69.5;83.5]	4 (3.0)
ESC-feet (µS)	82.3 [78.6;85.8]	6 (4.5)
Questionnaires		
BPI questionnaire:		
Painful neuropathy (% answered yes) MNSI questionnaire:	NA	1 (0.8)
MNSI neuropathy score (score \geq 7 points)	1 [0;2]	0

Data are given in means (SD), medians [IQR], or proportions. NA, Not applicable. CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNC, sural nerve conduction; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction; BPI, Brief Pain Inventory; MNSI, Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument questionnaire; CV, coefficient of variation; MAGE, mean amplitude of glucose excursions; CONGA, continuous overall net glycemic action. Capillary blood glucose was divided into three groups: Hypoglycemia: <3.0 mmol/l, euglycemia: ≥3.0; ≤10.0 mmol/l, hyperglycemia: >10.0 mmol/l.

Association Between Glucose Variability and Diabetic Neuropathy Coefficient of Variation (CV)

Greater CV was associated with a decrease in incidents of symmetric abnormalities in SNAP, SNC, and definite CAN unadjusted and when adjusted for age and gender in model 2. Only for SNC significance remained in fully adjusted models. In addition, higher CV was inversely associated to incidents of subclinical DSPN in fully adjusted models (**Table 3**, **Figure 1**). However, both associations lost significance after applying the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure (40) to account for

Standard Deviation (SD)

multiple testing.

Higher SD was associated to a decreased risk of subclinical DSPN and increasing levels of the continuous outcome SNCV when adjusted for diabetes duration, BMI, and exercise and HbA_{1c} in model 3. Again, no significance persisted after correcting for multiple tests (**Table 4**, **Figure 2**).

Continuous Overall Net Glycemic Action (CONGA)

In the unadjusted model 1 higher CONGA was significantly associated to increasing incidents of subclinical DSPN, symmetric abnormalities SNAP, SNCV, and the composite measure SNC. Moreover, higher CONGA was associated to decreasing levels of the continuous measure of SNCV. When adjusted for gender and age in model 2 significance was kept for every outcome and in addition higher CONGA was associated with an increased risk of definite CAN. However, for every estimate significance was lost when adjusted for diabetes duration, BMI, and exercise and HbA_{1c} in model 3 (**Table A1**).

Mean Amplitude of Glucose Excursions (MAGE)

Greater MAGE became significantly associated with higher continuous measures of HRV only in the fully adjusted model 4 (**Table A2**) but when correcting for multiple tests significance was lost.

Time Spent in Hypo-, Eu-, and Hyperglycemia

None of the determinants "time spent in hypo-, eu-, and hyperglycemia" were significantly associated with diabetic neuropathy (**Tables A3–A5**).

Association Between HbA_{1c} and Diabetic Neuropathy

An increase in HbA_{1c} was associated with higher odds of subclinical DSPN when adjusted for diabetes duration, BMI, and exercise in model 3. Higher HbA_{1c} was significantly associated with increasing incidents of symmetric abnormalities in SNAP, SNCV, and the composite measure SNC in the fully adjusted model 4. Congruently, higher HbA_{1c} was associated to decreasing continuous values of SNAP and SNCV in model 4. Also, increasing levels of HbA_{1c} were associated with an increase in heart rate (HR) in model 3 and decreasing measures of HRV in model 4 (**Table 5, Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

In this cross-sectional study 133 young adults with type 1 diabetes were identified with modest GV (38) with a mean coefficient of variation (CV) of 40% (38).

Modest associations between GV and measures of peripheral and autonomic diabetic neuropathy were found in the study. Higher CV was, against expectations, associated with decreased risk of DSPN and CAN, although not statistically significant when adjusting for relevant risk factors and multiple tests. Higher CONGA was associated with increasing incidents of both peripheral and autonomic neuropathy, but findings were confounded by relevant risk factors for diabetic neuropathy. After adjusting for risk factors higher MAGE was significantly associated with a slight increase in measures of HRV indicating an improvement of CAN. This may just be spurious findings notably when the significant findings were attenuated after correcting for multiple tests. Overall only modest associations were found between GV and DSPN and CAN. Associations were confounded by known risk factors.

However, significant associations were found between higher levels of HbA_{1c} and increased risks of both peripheral and autonomic neuropathy in fully adjusted models. This only supports earlier findings of high levels of HbA_{1c} being an established and essential risk factor of diabetic neuropathy in type 1 diabetes (41).

Previous studies have revealed conflicting conclusions when examining the association between GV and diabetic neuropathy. Lachin et al. (17) evaluated 1,441 participants with type 1 diabetes and a mean age of 27 years from the DCCT. CARTs were

TABLE 3 | The association between CV and measures of diabetic neuropathy.

CAN Measures	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Binary outcomes		OR (9	5% CI)	
CAN	0.0 (0.0;0.61)*	0.0 (0.0;0.56)*	0.0 (0.0;8.34)	0.0 (0.0;6.18)
Early CAN	0.96 (0.02;55.92)	0.97 (0.02;57.80)	0.87 (0.01;62.08)	0.49 (0.01;38.15)
Continuous outcomes		Estimate	e (95% CI)	
Heart rate	-4.46 (-28.32;19.41)	-4.11 (-27.60;19.38)	0.33 (-23.85;24.50)	4.77 (-19.06;28.61)
Lying to standing (30:15)	0.08 (-0.32;0.49)	0.09 (-0.32;0.49)	0.02 (-0.39;0.43)	-0.02 (-0.43;0.39)
Deep breathing (E:I)	0.08 (-0.34;0.50)	0.08 (-0.33;0.50)	-0.02 (-0.45;0.40)	0.01 (-0.40;0.42)
Valsalva Maneuver (VM)	0.07 (-0.57;0.71)	0.06 (-0.57;0.70)	0.15 (-0.51;0.80)	0.13 (-0.54;0.79)
SDNN	4.90 (-48.10;112.01)	5.97 (-47.52;113.97)	-1.16 (-51.48;101.37)	-6.04 (-54.08;92.26)
RMSSD	-18.11 (-66.90;102.59)	-18.30 (-66.66;101.56)	-25.56 (-70.56;88.17)	-36.08 (-74.82;62.22)
LF	-6.83 (-85.63;505.08)	-4.61 (-85.25;516.84)	-11.44 (-86.55;483.07)	-21.28 (-88.13;422.14
HF	-50.65 (-92.32;217.14)	-49.85 (-92.03;215.73)	-57.18 (-93.48;181.17)	-65.48 (-94.77;127.68
LF/HF ratio	88.76 (-55.36;698.18)	90.20 (-53.19;672.85)	106.85 (-48.65;733.21)	128.09 (-42.70;808.01)
Total	-6.86 (-79.70;327.46)	-5.53 (-79.42;333.52)	-26.26 (-84.37;247.82)	-34.85 (-86.34;210.86
DSPN Measures				
Binary outcomes		OR (9	5% CI)	
Subclinical DSPN	0.03 (0.0;1.03)	0.02 (0.0;1.02)	0.01 (0.0;0.48)*	0.01 (0.0;0.78)*
SNC	0.02 (0.0;0.69)*	0.01 (0.0;0.58)*	0.01 (0.0;0.48)*	0.01 (0.0;0.81)*
SNAP	0.01 (0.0;0.80)*	0.0 (0.0;0.72)*	0.01 (0.0;1.83)	0.01 (0.0;1.97)
SNCV	0.05 (0.0;2.29)	0.04 (0.0;2.24)	0.03 (0.0;2.73)	0.05 (0.0;4.39)
ESC-feet	10.75 (0.0;43428.88)	14.86 (0.0;98876.15)	1.67 (0.0;52896.65)	2.61 (0.0;189015.80)
Continuous outcomes		Estimate	e (95% CI)	
VPT	-46.50 (-70.95;-1.48)*	-46.57 (-70.98;-1.62)*	-44.16 (-70.63;6.14)	-41.24 (-68.97;11.28)
SNAP	59.59 (-27.44;251.0)	60.87 (-20.46;225.35)	49.27 (-23.81;192.44)	54.88 (-20.55;201.92)
SNCV	6.33 (-1.15;13.82)	6.29 (-0.99;13.56)	6.47 (-0.47;13.40)	5.71 (-1.23;12.66)
ESC-hands	1.38 (-19.65;27.92)	1.13 (-19.63;27.27)	3.97 (-18.15;32.07)	3.72 (-18.46;31.94)
ESC-feet	0.13 (-12.07;14.01)	0.06 (-12.11;13.92)	2.96 (-9.98;17.77)	3.91 (-9.05;18.71)

Results are presented as odds ratios for binary outcomes based on logistic regression analyses and estimates for continuous outcomes based on linear regression analyses. Odds ratios show the change in odds for any increase of the GV determinants. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for every 1-unit change of CV.

Model 1: unadjusted. Model 2: adjusted for age and gender. Model 3: adjusted for age, gender, HbA1c, diabetes duration, BMI and exercise. Model 4: adjusted for age, gender, HbA1c, diabetes duration, BMI, exercise, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol and current smoking. The continuous outcomes of SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, Total, VPT, SNAP, and ESC for hands and feet are log-transformed prior to analysis and subsequently back transformed to original scale. SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, and Total are adjusted for HR in every model. Outcomes of DSPN are defined as presence of symmetric abnormal results. Binary outcomes were only included in the analyses if presence of 5 or more abnormal events.

CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals, SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio, DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNC, sural nerve conduction; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction. *P < 0.05.



FIGURE 1 Forest plot of the associations between standardized values of CV and both binary (**A**) and continuous (**B**) neuropathy endpoints. For binary outcomes results are presented as odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals. Odds ratio shows the change in odds for an increase of one deviation in the HbA_{1c}. For continuous outcomes results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one standard deviation in the SD. Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1: unadjusted. Model 4: adjusted for age, gender, diabetes duration, BMI, exercise, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, and current smoking. SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, and total are adjusted for HR in every model. Outcomes of DSPN are define as presence of symmetric abnormal results. Binary outcomes were only included in the analyses if presence of five or more abnormal events. CV, coefficient of variation; CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; SNC, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; VPT, vibration perception threshold. **P* < 0.05.

TABLE 4 | The association between SD and measures of diabetic neuropathy.

CAN measures	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Binary outcomes		OR (9	5% CI)	
CAN	0.79 (0.41;1.51)	0.79 (0.41;1.53)	0.54 (0.23;1.28)	0.47 (0.17;1.32)
Early CAN	1.02 (0.71;1.45)	1.03 (0.72;1.48)	1.14 (0.76;1.71)	1.13 (0.75;1.72)
Continuous outcomes		Estimate	e (95% CI)	
Heart rate	0.67 (-1.41;2.76)	0.69 (-1.38;2.76)	-0.19 (-2.44;2.06)	0.29 (-1.93;2.25)
Lying to standing (30:15)	-0.02 (-0.06;0.01)	-0.02 (-0.06;0.01)	-0.01 (-0.05;0.02)	-0.02 (-0.06;0.02)
Deep breathing (E:I)	0.01 (-0.03;0.04)	0.01 (-0.03;0.04)	0.01 (-0.03;0.05)	0.01 (-0.03;0.05)
Valsalva Maneuver (VM)	0.03 (-0.02;0.09)	0.03 (-0.03;0.08)	0.02 (-0.04;0.08)	0.02 (-0.04;0.08)
SDNN	-2.87 (-8.66;3.29)	-2.65 (-8.48;3.55)	1.18 (-5.30;8.10)	1.41 (-5.12;8.39)
RMSSD	-4.10 (-11.39;3.80)	-4.11 (-11.40;3.77)	-0.26 (-8.50;8.71)	-1.06 (-9.28;7.90)
LF	-5.42 (-19.70;11.38)	-4.87 (-19.29;12.11)	2.77 (-13.74;22.46)	3.97 (-12.80;23.97)
HF	-9.43 (-23.02;6.55)	-9.29 (-22.83;6.63)	-1.53 (-17.39;17.36)	-2.47 (-18.23;16.33)
LF/HF ratio	4.43 (-7.98;18.52)	4.87 (-7.33;18.68)	4.38 (-8.33;18.86)	6.61 (-6.27;21.26)
Total	-6.60 (-18.23;6.69)	-6.35 (-18.08;7.07)	1.03 (-12.52;16.68)	1.56 (-12.16;17.43)
DSPN Measures				
Binary outcomes		OR (9	5% CI)	
Subclinical DSPN	0.94 (0.69;1.28)	0.93 (0.67;1.28)	0.67 (0.45;0.99)*	0.69 (0.46;1.04)
SNC	0.93 (0.68;1.28)	0.90 (0.65;1.26)	0.68 (0.46;1.02)	0.71 (0.47;1.08)
SNAP	0.98 (0.66;1.45)	0.94 (0.62;1.42)	0.63 (0.37;1.07)	0.59 (0.34;1.02)
SNCV	1.00 (0.72;1.40)	1.00 (0.71;1.40)	0.76 (0.51;1.13)	0.79 (0.52;1.19)
ESC – feet	1.11 (0.52;2.38)	1.16 (0.53;2.52)	1.02 (0.41;2.55)	0.99 (0.36;2.71)
Continuous outcomes		Estimate	e (95% CI)	
VPT	-0.15 (-5.44;5.43)	-0.16 (-5.47;5.44)	-0.78 (-6.62;5.43)	-0.63 (-6.46;5.55)
SNAP	0.38 (-6.40;7.65)	1.48 (-4.70;8.07)	5.62 (-0.78;12.42)	6.75 (0.35;13.56)*
SNCV	0.12 (-0.55;0.79)	0.06 (-0.59;0.72)	0.65 (0.01;1.30)*	0.64 (0.0;1.29)
ESC-hands	0.51 (-1.52;2.58)	-0.01 (-0.02;0.01)	0.29 (-1.93;2.55)	0.48 (-1.75;2.77)
ESC-feet	0.26 (-0.88;1.42)	0.49 (-1.52;2.55)	0.27 (-0.98;1.53)	0.47 (-0.78;1.73)

Results are presented as odds ratios for binary outcomes based on logistic regression analyses and estimates for continuous outcomes based on linear regression analyses. Odds ratios show the change in odds for any increase of the GV determinants. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for every 1-unit change of CV.

Model 1: unadjusted. Model 2: adjusted for age and gender. Model 3: adjusted for age, gender, HbA_{1c}, diabetes duration, BMI, and exercise. Model 4: adjusted for age, gender, HbA_{1c}, diabetes duration, BMI, exercise, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, and current smoking. The continuous outcomes of SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, Total, VPT, SNAP, and ESC for hands and feet are log-transformed prior to analysis and subsequently back transformed to original scale. SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, and Total are adjusted for HR in every model. Outcomes of DSPN are defined as presence of symmetric abnormal results. Binary outcomes were only included in the analyses if presence of five or more abnormal events.

CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNC, sural nerve conduction; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction. *P < 0.05.

performed every 2 years to evaluate CAN. GV was assessed by SD, MAGE, and *M*-value (a hybrid of glucose exposure and glycemic variability) (42). No significant associations were found between GV and CAN after correcting for within-day and longitudinal mean blood glucose and multiple tests. However, in the DCCT the GV parameters were calculated from 7 fingerstick glucose levels per day and this may have been an inadequate metrics of GV to detect GV's association with CAN.

Jaiswal et al. (16) found modest associations between GV and CAN. The study included 44 participants with type 1 diabetes and a mean age of 34 years. CAN was assessed by CARTs and HRV. Five days CGM was used to compute GV measures: low blood glucose index (LBGI) and area under the curve (AUC) for hypoglycemia. Significant inverse associations were found between both LBGI and AUC and the HF and LF power

which implicates impaired autonomic function when longer and more severe hypoglycemia. However, when adjusting for relevant risk factors significance was attenuated. No relationship was identified between GV and any of the CARTs. Moreover, Kwai et al. (14) found significant associations between MAGE, assessed from 6-days CGM, and median motor and sensory excitability assessment in a study comprising 17 participants with type 1 diabetes and a mean age of 28.6 years. The findings of the study point at impairment of peripheral neuropathy induced by higher GV.

Nyiraty et al. (18) investigated the association between GV and autonomic neuropathy (AN) in 20 participants with type 1 diabetes and a mean age of 39.5 years. Fifty percent of the participants were diagnosed with CAN. AN was evaluated by CARTs and orthostatic blood pressure assessment. GV was



FIGURE 2 | Forest plot of the associations between standardized values of SD and both binary (**A**) and continuous (**B**) neuropathy endpoints. For binary outcomes results are presented as odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals. Odds ratio shows the change in odds for an increase of one deviation in the HbA_{1c}. For continuous outcomes results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one standard deviation in the SD. Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1: unadjusted. Model 4: adjusted for age, gender, diabetes duration, BMI, exercise, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, and current smoking. SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, and total are adjusted for HR in every model. Outcomes of DSPN are define as presence of symmetric abnormal results. Binary outcomes were only included in the analyses if presence of five or more abnormal events. CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; SNC, sural nerve conduction; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; VPT, vibration perception threshold. **P* < 0.05.

TABLE 5 | The association between HbA1c and measures of diabetic neuropathy.

CAN measures	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Binary outcomes		OR (9	5% CI)	
CAN	1.02 (0.99;1.05)	1.02 (0.99;1.05)	1.01 (0.99;1.04)	1.01 (0.97;1.05)
Early CAN	1.0 (0.98;1.02)	1.0 (0.98;1.02)	1.0 (0.98;1.03)	1.01 (0.98;1.03)
Continuous outcomes		Estimate	e (95% CI)	
Heart rate	0.14 (0.03;0.26)*	0.14 (0.03;0.26)*	0.13 (0.02;0.25)*	0.11 (-0.02;0.24)
Lying to standing (30:15)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)
Deep breathing (E:I)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)
Valsalva Maneuver (VM)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.0)	0.0 (0.0;0.01)
SDNN	-0.68 (-1.02;-0.34)*	-0.67 (-1.01;-0.32)*	-0.65 (-0.99;-0.30)*	-0.55 (-0.94;-0.17)*
RMSSD	-0.66 (-1.11;-0.20)*	-0.65 (-1.11;-0.20)*	-0.63 (-1.09;-0.18)*	-0.46 (-0.97;0.04)
LF	-1.48 (-2.39;-0.56)*	-1.44 (-2.36;-0.52)*	-1.38 (-2.29;-0.46)*	-1.19 (-2.21;-0.17)*
HF	-1.48 (-2.39;-0.55)*	-1.46 (-2.37;-0.54)*	-1.41 (-2.33;-0.49)*	-1.11 (-2.13;-0.08)*
LF/HF ratio	0 (-0.72;0.72)	0.02 (-0.69;0.73)	0.03 (-0.65;0.72)	-0.08 (-0.83;0.67)
Total	-1.41 (-2.14;-0.68)*	-1.40 (-2.14;-0.66)*	-1.37 (-2.11;-0.63)*	-1.23 (-2.05;-0.40)*
DSPN Measures				
Binary outcomes		OR (9	5% CI)	
Subclinical DSPN	1.03 (1.01;1.05)*	1.03 (1.01;1.05)*	1.03 (1.01;1.05)*	1.02 (1.0;1.05)
SNC	1.03 (1.01;1.06)*	1.04 (1.01;1.06)*	1.03 (1.01;1.06)*	1.03 (1.01;1.06)*
SNAP	1.04 (1.01;1.06)*	1.04 (1.01;1.06)*	1.04 (1.02;1.07)*	1.04 (1.02;1.07)*
SNCV	1.04 (1.02;1.06)*	1.04 (1.02;1.06)*	1.04 (1.01;1.06)*	1.03 (1.01;1.06)*
ESC-feet	1.01 (0.97;1.05)	1.01 (0.97;1.05)	1.01 (0.96;1.05)	1.01 (0.96;1.06)
Continuous outcomes		Estimate	e (95% CI)	
VPT	0.09 (-0.22;0.40)	0.09 (-0.23;0.40)	0.10 (-0.22;0.42)	0.16 (-0.19;0.51)
SNAP	-0.54 (-0.93;-0.14)*	-0.46 (-0.83;-0.10)*	-0.46 (-0.81;-0.11)*	-0.61 (-1.0;-0.22)*
SNCV	-0.09 (-0.12;-0.05)*	-0.09 (-0.13;-0.06)*	-0.09 (-0.13;-0.05)*	-0.08 (-0.13;-0.04)*
ESC-hands	0.10 (-0.02;0.21)	0.10 (-0.01;0.21)	0.11 (-0.01;0.22)	0.10 (-0.02;0.23)
ESC-feet	-0.02 (-0.10;0.07)	-0.02 (-0.10;0.07)	-0.01 (-0.10;0.07)	-0.03 (-0.13;0.07)

Results are presented as odds ratios for binary outcomes based on logistic regression analyses and estimates for continuous outcomes based on linear regression analyses. Odds ratios show the change in odds for any increase of the GV determinants. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for every 1-unit change of CV.

Model 1: unadjusted. Model 2: adjusted for age and gender. Model 3: adjusted for age, gender, HbA_{1c}, diabetes duration, BMI, and exercise. Model 4: adjusted for age, gender, HbA_{1c}, diabetes duration, BMI, exercise, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, and current smoking. The continuous outcomes of SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, Total, VPT, SNAP, and ESC for hands and feet are log-transformed prior to analysis and subsequently back transformed to original scale. SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, and Total are adjusted for HR in every model. Outcomes of DSPN are defined as presence of symmetric abnormal results. Binary outcomes were only included in the analyses if presence of five or more abnormal events.

CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R–R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNC, sural nerve conduction; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction. *P < 0.05.

assessed by 6 days of CGM and calculation of SD, MAGE, CONGA and mean absolute glucose (MAG). Only a correlation between SD and orthostatic hypotension was significant after adjusting for relevant risk factors. Again, the study does not provide a clear conclusion on the relationship between diabetic neuropathy and GV.

Studies investigating the association between GV and diabetic neuropathy in type 2 diabetes do not present uniform results. The number of studies investigating the association is limited and in particular studies assessing GV by CGM. However, CV in CGM was previously found to increase the risk of CAN in type 2 diabetes (23). Moreover, MAGE was significantly associated to DPN (24). Other studies have identified significant relations between variability in HbA1c and both DSPN and CAN (21–23). This may indicate an association between GV and diabetic neuropathy in type 2 diabetes however, like for studies concerning type 1 diabetes, there is a need for more studies with comparable measures of GV.

The results of our study are pointing at GV not being a risk factor for developing CAN and DSPN. However, the study has its limitations making causal conclusions difficult. We did find a significant association between higher levels of HbA_{1c} and CAN and DSPN which to some extent shows that poor glycemic control is indeed a risk factor for diabetic neuropathy.

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

The cross-sectional design of the study is not ideal when examining the relationship between GV and diabetic neuropathy in a causal manner. A prospective observational study design would have been more appropriate.



FIGURE 3 | Forest plot of the associations between standardized values of HbA_{1c} and both binary (**A**) and continuous (**B**) neuropathy endpoints. For binary outcomes results are presented as odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals. Odds ratio shows the change in odds for an increase of one deviation in the HbA_{1c}. For continuous outcomes results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one standard deviation in the SD. Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1: unadjusted. Model 4: adjusted for age, gender, diabetes duration, BMI, exercise, systolic blood pressure, triglycerides, LDL cholesterol, and current smoking. SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, LF/HF ratio, and total are adjusted for mere abnormal events. CAN, Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; SNC, sural nerve conduction; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, Electrochemical skin conduction; RMSSD, root mean square of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; LF/HF ratio, low-frequency power/high-frequency power ratio; VPT, vibration perception threshold. *P < 0.05.

As the study comprised 133 young adults identified with modest GV and prevalence of diabetic neuropathy there may not be enough power to extrapolate the results to the overall young population with type 1 diabetes. A larger sample size would have been beneficial in order to draw a more valid conclusion.

The aim of the study was to investigate the association between GV and early possible reversible neuropathy in a young cohort. Thus, conclusions on associations are limited to type 1 diabetes patients in the age-rage of the study cohort.

Novel and established methods of detecting DSPN and CAN (2, 35) were used which is a considerable strength in our study and may give a more detailed description of the nerve function.

CGM was used to assess GV as recommended (38) in order to detect periods of acute hypo- and hyperglycemia. However, the participants were only asked to wear the sensors for 5 days which may not be a sufficient duration to present a representable picture of daily fluctuations of blood glucose. Longer measuring durations may have given a more nuanced understanding.

It may be possible that more resourceful young adults chose to participate in the study after receiving the written invitation which could have caused selections bias.

It is recommended that participants avoid test confounders as smoking, use of several drugs, meals, and caffeine-containing liquids before testing for CAN (26). The participants were advised not to drink caffeine-containing liquids on the day before testing but the other recommendations were not met and may have affected CAN measures (4).

CONCLUSION

After adjusting for relevant risk factors and multiple tests, no significant associations were found between GV and diabetic neuropathy in a cohort of young adults with type 1 diabetes. This finding is in line with some of the previous studies which have failed to provide consistent evidence that GV is a risk factor of development of CAN and DSPN.

This suggests that GV may not be a risk factor for early diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes. However, the cross-sectional study approach including a relatively small sample size of young participants with modest GV and diabetic neuropathy make a strong conclusion difficult. Moreover, long-term effects of GV excursions may still play a role in the pathogenic mechanisms leading to neuropathy in later life. Increasing levels of HbA_{1c} were significantly associated with both measures of DSPN and CAN which support earlier findings of high levels of HbA_{1c} being an established and essential risk factor of diabetic neuropathy.

REFERENCES

- Kuehl M, Stevens MJ. Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathies as complications of diabetes mellitus. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2012) 8:405–16. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2012.21
- 2. Tesfaye S, Boulton AJ, Dyck PJ, Freeman R, Horowitz M, Kempler P, et al. Diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria,

Previous studies addressing the aim of the present project have assessed GV and DSPN and CAN by heterogenic measuring modalities hampering comparability. To improve comparability there is a need for studies using recommended measures of GV and diabetic neuropathy. Furthermore, more studies on young adults with type 1 diabetes are needed to confirm our findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Danish Research Ethics Committee (project id.: H-15006967). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MC has contributed to the design of the study, acquired, analyzed, interpreted data, drafted the article, and approved the final version to be published. EH, MJ, and JF has contributed to the design of the study, analyzed, interpreted data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. CH has contributed to the design of the study, acquisition, analysis, interpretation of data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Funding for this manuscript was provided by: The Augustinus Foundation, 15-2274 and The Toyota Foundation, BG 8687. The foundations were not involved in the conducted research or preparation of the article.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

MC is the guarantor of this work and, as such had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2020.00644/full#supplementary-material

estimation of severity, and treatments. *Diabetes Care.* (2010) 33:2285-93. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1303

- Trotta D VA, Salladini C, Chiarelli F. Diabetic neuropathy in children and adolescents. *Pediatric Diabetes*. (2004) 5:44–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-543X.2004.00041.x
- 4. Christensen MMB, Hommel EE, Jorgensen ME, von Scholten BJ, Fleischer J, Hansen CS. Prevalence of diabetic neuropathy in young

adults with type 1 diabetes and the association with insulin pump therapy. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* (2018) 20:787–96. doi: 10.1089/dia. 2018.0249

- Rojas J, Chávez-Castillo M, Torres W, Chávez C, Apruzzese V, Cabrera M, et al. Peripheral and autonomic neuropathy in an adolescent with type 1 diabetes mellitus: evidence of symptom reversibility after successful correction of hyperglycemia. *J Res Diabetes*. (2014) 2014:1–22. doi: 10.5171/2014. 899900
- 6. Group TDCaCTR. The effect of intensive diabetes therapy on measures of autonomic nervous system function in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT). *Diabetologia.* (1998) 41:416–23. doi: 10.1007/s001250050924
- Martin CL, Albers JW, Pop-Busui R, Group DER. Neuropathy and related findings in the diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications study. *Diabetes Care.* (2014) 37:31– 8. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2114
- Gibbons CH, Freeman R. Treatment-induced diabetic neuropathy: a reversible painful autonomic neuropathy. Ann Neurol. (2010) 67:534–41. doi: 10.1002/ana.21952
- Burger AJ, Weinrauch LA, D'Elia JA, Aronson D. Effect of glycemic control on heart rate variability in type I diabetic patients with cardiac autonomic neuropathy. *Am J Cardiol.* (1999) 84:687–91. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(99)00417-8
- Diabetes Control Complications Trial Research Group ND, Genuth S, Lachin J, Cleary P, Crofford O, Davis M, et al. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. (1993) 329:977–86. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199309303291401
- 11. American Diabetes A. Standards of medical care in diabetes–2014. *Diabetes Care*. (2014) 37(Suppl.1):S14–80. doi: 10.2337/dc14-S014
- American Diabetes A. 6. Glycemic targets: standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. *Diabetes Care.* (2018) 41(Suppl.1):S55–64. doi: 10.2337/dc18-S006
- Monnier LME, Ginet C, Michel F, Villon L, Cristol JP, Colette C. Activation of oxidative stress by acute glucose fluctuations compared with sustained chronic hyperglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes. *JAMA*. (2006) 295:1681–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.295.14.1681
- Kwai NC, Arnold R, Poynten AM, Krishnan AV. Association between glycemic variability and peripheral nerve dysfunction in type 1 diabetes. *Muscle Nerve*. (2016) 54:967–9. doi: 10.1002/mus.25274
- Virk SA, Donaghue KC, Cho YH, Benitez-Aguirre P, Hing S, Pryke A, et al. Association between HbA1c variability and risk of microvascular complications in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 101:3257–63. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3604
- Jaiswal M, McKeon K, Comment N, Henderson J, Swanson S, Plunkett C, et al. Association between impaired cardiovascular autonomic function and hypoglycemia in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2014) 37:2616–21. doi: 10.2337/dc14-0445
- Lachin JM BI, Bergenstal RM, Pop-Busui R, Service FJ, Zinman B, Nathan DM. Association of glycemic variability in type 1 diabetes with progression of microvascular outcomes in the diabetes control and complications trial. *Diabetes Care.* (2017) 40:777–83. doi: 10.2337/ dc16-2426
- Nyiraty S, Pesei F, Orosz A, Coluzzi S, Vagi OE, Lengyel C, et al. Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy and glucose variability in patients with type 1 diabetes: is there an association? *Front Endocrinol.* (2018) 9:174. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00174
- Akaza M, Akaza I, Kanouchi T, Sasano T, Sumi Y, Yokota T. Nerve conduction study of the association between glycemic variability and diabetes neuropathy. *Diabetol Metab Syndr*. (2018) 10:69. doi: 10.1186/s13098-018-0371-0
- Di Flaviani A, Picconi F, Di Stefano P, Giordani I, Malandrucco I, Maggio P, et al. Impact of glycemic and blood pressure variability on surrogate measures of cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*. (2011) 34:1605–9. doi: 10.2337/dc11-0034
- Su JB, Zhao LH, Zhang XL, Cai HL, Huang HY, Xu F, et al. HbA1c variability and diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2018) 17:47. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0693-0

- 22. Lai YR, Chiu WC, Huang CC, Tsai NW, Wang HC, Lin WC, et al. HbA1C variability is strongly associated with the severity of peripheral neuropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:90. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00090
- Jun JE, Jin SM, Baek J, Oh S, Hur KY, Lee MS, et al. The association between glycemic variability and diabetic cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2015) 14:70. doi: 10.1186/s12933-015-0233-0
- Xu F SJ, Chen T, Wang XQ, Chen J, Wu G, Jin Y, et al. The relationship between glycemic variability and diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes with well-controlled HbA1c. *Diabetol Metabolic Syndrome*. (2014) 6:139. doi: 10.1186/1758-5996-6-139
- Cardoso CRL, Leite NC, Moram CBM, Salles GF. Long-term visit-to-visit glycemic variability as predictor of micro- and macrovascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes: The Rio de Janeiro type 2 diabetes cohort study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2018) 17:33. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0677-0
- Spallone V, Ziegler D, Freeman R, Bernardi L, Frontoni S, Pop-Busui R, et al. Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy in diabetes: clinical impact, assessment, diagnosis, and management. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2011) 27:639–53. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1239
- 27. Boulton AJ, Armstrong DG, Albert SF, Frykberg RG, Hellman R, Kirkman MS, et al. Comprehensive foot examination and risk assessment: a report of the task force of the foot care interest group of the American Diabetes Association, with endorsement by the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists. *Diabetes Care.* (2008) 31:1679–85. doi: 10.2337/ dc08-9021
- Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJ, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic neuropathy: a position statement by the american diabetes association. *Diabetes Care.* (2017) 40:136–54. doi: 10.2337/ dc16-2042
- Donaghue KC, Bonney M, Simpson JM, Schwingshandl J, Fung ATW, Howard NJ. Autonomic and peripheral nerve function in adolescents with and without diabetes. *Diabet Med.* (1993) 10:664–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.1993.tb00142.x
- 30. Selvarajah D, Cash T, Davies J, Sankar A, Rao G, Grieg M, et al. SUDOSCAN: a simple, rapid, and objective method with potential for screening for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0138224. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138224
- Vinik AI, Smith AG, Singleton JR, Callaghan B, Freedman BI, Tuomilehto J, et al. Normative values for electrochemical skin conductances and impact of ethnicity on quantitative assessment of sudomotor function. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* (2016) 18:391–8. doi: 10.1089/dia. 2015.0396
- 32. Lee JA, Halpern EM, Lovblom LE, Yeung E, Bril V, Perkins BA. Reliability and validity of a point-of-care sural nerve conduction device for identification of diabetic neuropathy. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e86515. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086515
- 33. Neurometrix. NC-stat DPNcheck Normative Database: Collection, Analysis and Recommended Normal Limits. (2013).
- Electrophysiology TFotESoCatNASoPa. Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. *Eur Heart J.* (1996) 17:354–81.
- 35. Spallone V, Bellavere F, Scionti L, Maule S, Quadri R, Bax G, et al. Recommendations for the use of cardiovascular tests in diagnosing diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2011) 21:69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2010.07.005
- Hansen CS, Jensen TM, Jensen JS, Nawroth P, Fleming T, Witte DR, et al. The role of serum methylglyoxal on diabetic peripheral and cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy: the ADDITION Denmark study. *Diabet Med.* (2015) 32:778–85. doi: 10.1111/dme.12753
- 37. Feldman EL, Stevens MJ, Thomas PK, Brown MB, Canal N, Greene DA. A practical two-step quantitative clinical and electrophysiological assessment for the diagnosis and staging of diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care*. (1994) 17:1281–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.17.11.1281
- Danne TNR, Battelino T, Bergenstal RM, Close KL, DeVries JH, Garg S, et al. International consensus on use of continuous glucose monitoring. *Diabetes Care*. (2017) 40:1631–40. doi: 10.2337/dc17-1600

- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* (2011) 155:408. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-6-201109200-00024
- Benjamini YHY. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *J Royal Statist Soc Ser B.* (1995) 57:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- 41. Group TDCaCTR. The relationship of glycemic exposure (HbA1c) to the risk of development and progression of retinopathy in the diabetes control and complications trial. *Diabetes.* (1995) 44:968–83. doi: 10.2337/diabetes. 44.8.968
- Schlichtkrull J MO, Jersild M. The M-value, an index of bloodsugar control in diabetics. Acta Medica Scandinavica. (1965) 177:95–102. doi: 10.1111/j.0954-6820.1965.tb01810.x

Conflict of Interest: JF holds stocks in Medicus Engineering.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Christensen, Hommel, Jørgensen, Fleischer and Hansen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Serum Adiponectin Levels Are Positively Associated With Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in Chinese Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rainer Lehmann, Tübingen University Hospital, Germanv

Reviewed by:

Christian Herder, German Diabetes Center (DDZ), Germany Buyun Liu, The University of Iowa, United States

*Correspondence:

Guoqing Tian gq-tian@163.com Xiaochun Liang xcliang@vip.sina.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 31 May 2020 Accepted: 21 October 2020 Published: 25 November 2020

Citation:

Sun Q, Yan B, Yang D, Guo J, Wang C, Zhang Q, Shi Y, Shi X, Tian G and Liang X (2020) Serum Adiponectin Levels Are Positively Associated With Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in Chinese Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Front. Endocrinol. 11:567959. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.567959 Qing Sun^{1†}, Bin Yan^{1†}, Dan Yang¹, Jie Guo², Chao Wang³, Qian Zhang¹, Yue Shi¹, Xiaohu Shi¹, Guoqing Tian^{1*} and Xiaochun Liang^{1*}

¹ Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Beijing, China, ² Center for Translational Medicine, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Integrative Oncology, China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China

Objective: To investigate the association between serum adiponectin levels and diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) in Chinese type 2 diabetes (T2D) patients.

Design and Methods: Two hundred nineteen T2D patients aged 40–79 years were divided into two groups according to whether they had DPN. The systemic levels of five biomarkers were measured using a human adipokine multiplexed bead-based immunoassay. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy diagnostic criteria included both common DPN symptoms and neurological screening tests.

Results: Most features of DPN (n=98) and non-DPN patients (n=121) are similar, but the DPN patients were slightly older, had longer diabetes duration, higher hemoglobin (Hb) A1c, lower estimated glomerular filtration rates (eGFR), less exercise, and used lipid-lowering drugs more often. Serum adiponectin levels of DPN patients were higher than that of non-DPN patients (8.13 *vs.* 9.63 mg/ml, P = 0.004). Serum adiponectin levels were positively associated with DPN after adjusting for age, gender, body mass index, hypertension, HbA1c, alcohol intake, smoking status, physical activity, log-transformed low density lipoprotein cholesterol, lipid-lowering drug usage, eGFR, and diabetes duration {odds ratio (OR) 1.72 [95% confidence interval (CI) 1.02-2.89], P = 0.041}. The OR refers to a doubling in biomarkers.

Conclusions: Serum adiponectin levels were higher in DPN patients compared to non-DPN patients in this Chinese T2D population. Serum adiponectin levels were positively associated with DPN presence, independent of multiple confounders.

Keywords: adiponectin, diabetic peripheral neuropathy, type 2 diabetes, Chinese patients, biomarker

INTRODUCTION

A 2017 survey by the International Diabetes Federation showed that approximately 425 million people suffer from diabetes mellitus (DM) worldwide, including about 114 million people in China (1). DM can cause a variety of chronic complications, among which diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is an important cause of disability or death. The study found that, with prolonged disease, DPN prevalence was as high as 30% or more (2). However, DPN pathogenesis remains unclear, thus limiting disease prevention and treatment.

Adiponectin is an adipocytokine that plays many roles in human metabolism, including lipid regulation (3), glucose metabolism, and mediating the bodily response to insulin (4). Unlike DPN in T1D patients, insulin resistance and dyslipidemia are important causes of DPN in T2D patients (5). In type 2 diabetes (T2D) patients, serum adiponectin concentrations have been found to be significantly lower than those non-T2D participants (6), but not as high as those of type 1 diabetic (T1D) patients (7). Previous studies have shown that in diabetic nephropathy (DN) patients, serum adiponectin levels are notably lower than those of non-DN patients; in diabetic retinopathy (DR) patients, serum adiponectin levels are notably higher compared with non-DR patients (8). Higher adiponectin levels are beneficial for autonomic cardiovascular function in T2D patients (9), but are positively correlated with microvascular complications (10). However, the mechanism by which serum adiponectin affects DPN remains controversial due to inconsistencies in reported outcomes (8, 11, 12). Some studies found significantly higher serum adiponectin levels in DPN patients compared to non-DPN patients (11), while others found low serum adiponectin to be significantly associated with DPN incidence (12, 13). Furthermore, one study suggests that adiponectin has no relationship with diabetic distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy (DSPN) (14).

At present, no study has investigated associations between serum adiponectin levels and DPN in Chinese T2D patients. Here, we assess the correlation between adiponectin and DPN in this population using serum adiponectin levels measured in Chinese T2D patients with and without DPN.

PARTICIPANTS AND METHODS

Study Population

This cross-sectional study recruited 246 T2D patients aged 40 to 79 years old who were being treated in-patient at Peking Union Medical College Hospital (PUMCH) between January 2015 and December 2017. Twenty-seven patients were excluded due to missing data in one or more of the study variables (age, sex, body mass index, HbA1c, diabetes duration, hypertension, lipid profile, alcohol intake, smoking, physical activity), resulting in a final sample size of 219 participants. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of PUMCH, Peking Union Medical College, and the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (Beijing, China). Written informed consent was obtained from each study participant. Type 2 diabetes was either self-reported disease that was validated by a medical record review using World Health Organization diagnostic criteria (1999) or determined based on current usage of antidiabetic medications, or fasting and/or 2 h glucose levels in the diabetic range as measured by standardized 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (15).

Measurement of Serum Biomarkers

Blood samples were collected from participants following overnight fasting. The serum was separated and stored at -80°C until analysis. Serum adiponectin was measured with a human adipokine multiplexed bead-based immunoassay (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) on a Luminex[®] 200TM Bioanalyzer (Austin, TX, USA) that concurrently measured serum leptin, lipocalin-2/NGAL, IL-6, and TNF- α levels. All other measurements were performed using routine laboratory tests and certified methods.

Assessment of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy

Diagnostic criteria for DPN include the presence of common symptoms (foot sensation including pain, numbness, and paresthesia) and neurological screening examinations (temperature and pinprick sensation, 10-g monofilament test, vibration perception with 128-Hz tuning fork, and ankle reflexes). Diabetic peripheral neuropathy was assigned if there was at least one abnormal screening test in patients with DPN symptoms or at least two abnormal screening tests in patients without DPN symptoms (16). Patients with other forms of neuropathy, including chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, infections, malnutrition, exogenous toxins or drugs, hypothyroidism, and renal failure were excluded from the study (5).

Assessment of Covariates

Participant height, weight, and blood pressure (BP) were measured by standardized methods. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as kg/m². Hypertension was diagnosed if participant blood pressure was ≥140/90 mmHg or if participant was using antihypertensive medication. Trained medical interviewers collected participant medical history, smoking and alcohol habits, and physical activity. Participants with ≥ 1 h of sports activity per week during at least one athletic session were classified as physically active. Alcohol intake was defined as none (0 g/day), moderate (0-20 g/day for women, 0-40 g/day for men), or high (\geq 20 g/day for women, \geq 40 g/day for men). Metabolic variables collected from medical records included serum fasting blood glucose, total cholesterol, highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) and low-density lipoproteincholesterol (LDL-C), triglycerides, uric acid, and plasma hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c). Dyslipidemia was diagnosed in participants who either used lipid-lowering medication or had

a total cholesterol level \geq 5.70 mmol/L, and/or LDL-C level \geq 2.59 mmol/L, and/or HDL-C level \leq 0.91 mmol/L, and/or triglycerides level \geq 1.70 mmol/L (17). Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation (18). Those potential confounders were selected based on previous literature (12).

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables conforming to a normal distribution were presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD), otherwise they were presented in interquartile ranges with a median (25th, 75th percentiles). Binary variables were presented as percentages. Differences between DPN and non-DPN participants were analyzed by t test, Wilcoxon test, or χ^2 test as appropriate. Associations between adipocytokines and DPN were analyzed separately using logistic regression after adjusting for age and sex, then subsequently adjusting for BMI, hypertension, HbA1c, smoking status, physical activity, and log-transformed LDL-C; data were further adjusted for the use of lipid-lowering medications, eGFR, and diabetes duration. In the sensitivity analyses, we examined the interaction between age groups (<60 vs. ≥ 60), sex, lipid-lowering medications, diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy and each adipocytokine, by adding appropriate cross-product term in the model. If there were statistically significant interaction effect, we would further conduct stratified analyses. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). All P values were two-sided and were considered statistically significant if <0.05.

RESULTS

Clinical and Biochemical Outcomes

Clinical and biochemical characteristics for the T2D patients in this study are summarized in **Table 1**. Patients with DPN (n=98) had higher serum adiponectin and leptin concentrations than those without DPN (n=121). Most of the characteristic data were similar between the two groups, although the participants with DPN were slightly older, had a longer diabetes duration, higher HbA1c levels, and lower eGFR levels. Furthermore, they tended to be less physically active and more often used lipid-lowering drugs (**Table 1**).

Association Between Serum Adiponectin and Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy

Correlation between serum adipocytokines and DPN was analyzed using multiple logistic regression analysis (**Table 2**). Results were adjusted for age, gender, BMI, hypertension, HbA1c levels, log-transformed LDL-C levels, alcohol intake, smoking status, and physical activity (models 1–2). The associations between serum adiponectin and leptin levels in DPN patients were statistically significant with an odds ratio (OR) for adiponectin of 1.91, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.17–3.11, P=0.009; OR for leptin: 1.04, 95% CI: 1.00–1.07, P=0.040). The

TABLE 1	Characteristics of	Type 2 diabetic participants stratified by DPN stat	tus.
---------	--------------------	---	------

Variable	Without DPN (<i>n</i> = 121)	With DPN (<i>n</i> = 98)	P value
Age (years)	58.0 (52.0, 63.0)	62.5 (54.0, 70.0)	0.001
Male (%)	48.8	43.9	0.471
Diabetes duration (years)	10 (5, 15)	16 (10, 21)	<0.001
Height (cm)	168 (160, 172)	165 (160, 172)	0.394
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.3 ± 3.4	26.4 ± 4.3	0.742
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)*	2.02 ± 0.31	2.10 ± 0.33	0.052
HbA1c (%)	7.4 (6.7, 8.8)	8.0 (6.7, 9.4)	0.047
Hypertension (%) [†]	62.0	67.4	0.410
Systolic BP (mmHg)	135.0 (120.0, 144.0)	139.5 (120.0, 146.0)	0.372
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	78.3 ± 10.3	76.9 ± 11.1	0.317
Dyslipidemia (%)#	85.1	86.7	0.734
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.57 (3.73, 5.38)	4.26 (3.58, 5.14)	0.289
Fasting triglycerides (mmol/ L)	1.62 (1.08, 2.26)	1.64 (1.13, 2.36)	0.684
HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)*	0.008 ± 0.26	0.044 ± 0.30	0.345
LDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)*	0.953 ± 0.32	0.866 ± 0.40	0.080
Use of lipid-lowering drugs (%)	28.9	46.9	0.006
Uric acid (umol/l)	340.2 ± 82.3	351.8 ± 106.9	0.378
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	93.6 ± 21.0	84.4 ± 30.0	0.011
Smoking (%)			0.547
Current	28.9	23.5	
Former	11.6	15.3	
Never	59.5	61.2	
Alcohol intake (%) [‡]			0.064
High	24.8	12.5	
Moderate	4.1	5.1	
None	71.1	82.7	
Physically active (%)§	34.7	17.4	0.004
Biomarkers			
Adiponectin (mg/ml)	8.13 (5.30, 11.13)	9.63 (6.73, 14.13)	0.004
Leptin (ng/ml)	5.87 (2.90, 11.87)	7.94(2.98, 20.13)	0.048
NGAL (ng/ml)	103.04(71.55, 200.64)	101.75(79.13, 172.54)	0.944
IL-6 (pg/ml)	7.00 (3.18, 22.82)	7.55 (3.78, 14.88)	0.794
TNF-α (pg/ml)	10.97 (6.31, 25.16)	12.13 (7.16, 17.69)	0.933
hsCRP (mg/L)*	0.19 ± 0.96	0.04 ± 1.10	0.271

Data are given as mean ± SD, median (25th, 75th percentiles), or percentages.

BMI, body mass index; DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; HbA1c, hemoglobinA1c; BP, blood pressure; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; NAGL, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin; IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; hsCRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; Fbg, fibrinogen.

*Data were log2-transformed before analysis.

 $^{\dagger}\text{Hypertension}$ was assigned if blood pressure \geq 140/90 mmHg or use of anti-hypertensive medication.

[#]Dyslipidemia was diagnosed in participants who used lipid-lowering drugs or had a total cholesterol level ≥5.70 mmol/L, and/or LDL-C level ≥2.59 mmol/L, and/or HDL-C level ≤1.81 mmol/L, and/or triglycerides level ≥1.70 mmol/L.

[‡]Alcohol intake was classified as none (0 g/day), moderate (\geq 0 to <20 g/day for women, \geq 0 to <40 g/day for men), or high (\geq 20 g/day for women, \geq 40 g/day for men)

 $^{\$}$ Physically active was defined as \geq 1 h sports activity per week in at least one athletic season. Boldface type indicates statistical significance (P<0.05).

positive association with DPN persisted after adjustment for eGFR, diabetes duration, and use of lipid-lowering medications (model 3) for serum adiponectin (OR: 1.72, 95% CI: 1.02–2.89, P=0.041), but not for leptin (OR: 1.02, 95% CI: 0.99–1.06, P=0.220). In the sensitivity analyses, there were no statistically significant multiplicative interaction between age groups (<60 vs.

Variable Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 OR (95% CI) OR (95% CI) OR (95% CI) P value P value P value 1.60 (1.06-2.43) 0.026 1.91 (1.17-3.11) 0.009 1.72 (1.02-2.89) 0.041 Adiponectin Leptin 1.04 (1.01-1.07) 0.007 1.04 (1.00-1.07) 0.040 1.02 (0.99-1.06) 0.220 NGAL 1.06 (0.71-1.60) 0.778 1.08 (0.69-1.67) 0.739 0.90 (0.56-1.45) 0.670 IL-6 0.95 (0.83-1.09) 0.493 0.97 (0.84-1.12) 0.658 0.98 (0.84-1.15) 0.831 TNF-α 0.92 (0.71-1.19) 0 526 0.88 (0.66-1.16) 0.349 0.83 (0.61-1.11) 0.212 hsCRP 0.89 (0.68-1.17) 0.405 0.69 (0.50-0.97) 0.030 0.62 (0.43-0.89) 0.009

TABLE 2 | OR and 95% CI for the association between biomarkers and DPN

ORs, 95%Cls, and corresponding P values are given for a doubling in circulating of biomarkers.

Data were log2-transformed before logistic regression except for leptin. Serum adipocytokines were included in the models separately. OR was for per 1-unit increase in corresponding variables. Model 1: adjusted by age and gender. Model 2: adjusted by model 1 variables plus BMI, hypertension, HbA1c level, alcohol intake, smoking status, physical activity, and log-transformed LDL-C level. Model 3: adjusted by model 2 variables plus use of lipid-lowering medications, eGFR, and disease duration.

Boldface type indicates statistical significance (P < 0.05).

 \geq 60), sex, lipid-lowering medications, diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, and each adipocytokine (*P* value for interaction >0.05 for all).

DISCUSSION

This study found a positive association between serum adiponectin levels and the presence of DPN in T2D Chinese patients and, after adjusting for potential confounders, that association persisted.

Recently, many studies have investigated the relationship between serum adiponectin levels and DPN. A cross-sectional study from India tested serum adiponectin in 487 T2D patients, and the authors found that adiponectin levels are significantly higher in diabetic patients with neuropathy than in those without (11). The same results appeared in a similar study (8). Jung et al. measured adiponectin and evaluated DPN in 153 diabetic patients, and reported that high serum adiponectin levels are independently associated with a higher incidence of neuropathy. In the aforementioned studies, the diagnosis of neuropathy in the former was based on only one detection method, a biothesiometer to assess vibratory perception threshold (VPT). In contrast, the assessment of peripheral neuropathy of the latter was similar to this study, and was evaluated based on typical symptoms and neurological tests. Besides, the participants in these three studies were all Asians and had certain similarities in demographic information.

However, the KORA F4/FF4 study found that low serum adiponectin levels were related to DPN incidence (12). This difference with the results of the present study may be attributable to the following factors. KORA F4/FF4 was a population-based cohort study, with a DPN incidence of 133 DPN and 397 participants with no incidence of DPN, and investigated an elderly population aged 62 to 81 years. Our study is a cross-sectional study of an in-patient population with a relatively small sample size (n=219), however the age ranged from 40 to 79 years old. The ethnic compositions of participants in these two studies were significantly different, and adiponectin concentration levels were affected by different genetic backgrounds, potentially leading to different findings based on

ethnic differences (19). In addition, the KORA F4/FF4 study used the examination part of the Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument (MNSI) and a 10-g monofilament as DPN diagnostic criteria, while our diagnostic criteria utilized common DPN symptoms and neurological screening tests. These confounding factors may have led to the different results observed in the two studies.

In addition, there were studies that differ from the abovementioned research conclusions. A cross-sectional study from Japan analyzed the relationship between nerve conduction velocity (NCV) and plasma adipocytokines (TNF α , adiponectin, and leptin) in 105 T2D patients (20). The authors reported that there was no significant relationship between plasma adiponectin and NCV. Another study (21), also from Japan, showed that neither serum total nor high molecular weight adiponectin was correlated with DPN in 198 diabetic subjects. The inconsistency between the current research and the previous researches may be due to small sample sizes, If the sample size is appropriately expanded, perhaps the differences will be significant. What's more, these two studies diagnosed DPN by NCV or bilateral ankle reflex, leading to more advanced DPN patients, whose inflammation was less pronounced (22).

Adiponectin has multiple physiological functions in the human body. Adiponectin can improve insulin resistance induced by a high-fat diet, suggesting that adiponectin may have an insulin-sensitizing effect (23) that may be achieved by activating the AMP-activated protein kinase signaling pathway to promote glucose and fatty acid utilization (24). Another study found that adiponectin may be independent of insulin level, inhibiting glucose production, and promoting glucose assimilation (25). Thus, high concentrations of adiponectin are beneficial for patients with T2D. Adiponectin is the most important anti-inflammatory adipocytokine; it has been found to inhibit the NF- κ B-signaling pathway in endothelial cells (26) and macrophages (27), and is involved in the transformation of macrophages from pro-inflammatory M1 to anti-inflammatory M2 cells (28). Adiponectin may alleviate the symptoms of DPN by inhibiting p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) activation, as well as the transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 1 (TRPV1) and calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP) signal pathways in dorsal root ganglions

neurons (29). Some studies indicate that high concentrations of leptin, the first adipocytokine to be identified, positively correlate with insulin resistance, T2D, and cardiovascular diseases (30). Leptin can upregulate pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-6, while adiponectin has anti-inflammatory properties. However, the specific mechanism of adiponectin in DPN remains unknown. Adiponectin may play no role in the pathophysiology of DPN, and may be increased to counteract deleterious effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines, thus representing an indirect risk marker. It may also have a novel effect on DPN (31, 32). Strengths of this study are as follows: we explore the association between serum adiponectin levels and DPN prevalence in Chinese T2D patients. Additionally, our data allowed us to control multiple potential confounding variables between serum adiponectin levels and DPN. We used multivariate analyses to account for DPN risk factors as potential confounders.

However, our study has some limitations. First, the crosssectional observational design may limit findings. Second, the statistical power of our conclusions is low, calling into question whether non-significance was due to a lack of relationship between the groups or due to lack of statistical power. Therefore, results should be interpreted with caution. Largescale prospective trials are needed to properly evaluate the role of adiponectin in DPN.

CONCLUSION

Our results show that serum adiponectin levels in DPN participants were higher than those of non-DPN participants in a Chinese T2D population. Serum adiponectin levels were positively associated with DPN, independent of multiple potential confounders. Future prospective studies are needed to evaluate whether adiponectin can be used as a biomarker and therapeutic target for DPN.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Cho NH, Shaw JE, Karuranga S, Huang Y, Da RFJ, Ohlrogge AW, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2018) 138:271–81. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023
- Dyck PJ, Litchy WJ, Lehman KA, Hokanson JL, Low PA, O'Brien PC. Variables influencing neuropathic endpoints: the Rochester Diabetic Neuropathy Study of Healthy Subjects. *Neurology* (1995) 45(6):1115–21. doi: 10.1212/wnl.45.6.1115
- Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Takahashi M, Maeda K, Miyagawa J, et al. Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1995) 257:79–83. doi: 10.1016/j. bbrc.2012.08.024
- 4. Herder C, Ouwens DM, Carstensen M, Kowall B, Huth C, Meisinger C, et al. Adiponectin may mediate the association between omentin, circulating lipids

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Boards of PUMCH, Peking Union Medical College, and the Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (Beijing, China). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XL and GT contributed to the concept and design of the study and supervised this research. QS, DY, CW, QZ, XS, and YS performed the clinical study. QS interpreted the data, drafted part of the manuscript and finally approved the submission of this research. BY wrote part of the manuscript and submitted the manuscript. JG conducted statistical analysis. GT and XL are responsible for the overall contents. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported in part by grants from National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant number 81603481) and the PUMCH Science Fund for Junior Faculty (grant number pumch-2013-140).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We sincerely thank Dr. Yang Han (Department of Infectious Diseases, PUMCH) for technical support in using the Luminex[®] 200TM Bioanalyzer.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2020. 567959/full#supplementary-material

and insulin sensitivity: results from the KORA F4 study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2015) 172(4):423–32. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-0879

- Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJ, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic Neuropathy: A Position Statement by the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(1):136–54. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2042
- Rathmann W, Strassburger K, Heier M, Holle R, Thorand B, Giani G, et al. Incidence of Type 2 diabetes in the elderly German population and the effect of clinical and lifestyle risk factors: KORA S4/F4 cohort study. *Diabetes Med* (2009) 26(12):1212–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02863.x
- Tasci E, Ozbek MN, Onenli-Mungan N, Temiz F, Topaloglu AK, Yuksel B. Low serum adiponectin levels in children and adolescents with diabetic retinopathy. *Eurasian J Med* (2011) 43(1):18–22. doi: 10.5152/ eajm.2011.04
- Jung CH, Kim BY, Mok JO, Kang SK, Kim CH. Association between serum adipocytokine levels and microangiopathies in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Invest (2014) 5(3):333–9. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12144

- Hansen CS, Vistisen D, Jorgensen ME, Witte DR, Brunner EJ, Tabak AG, et al. Adiponectin, biomarkers of inflammation and changes in cardiac autonomic function: Whitehall II study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2017) 16 (1):153. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0634-3
- Rodriguez AJ, Nunes VS, Mastronardi CA, Neeman T, Paz-Filho GJ. Association between circulating adipocytokine concentrations and microvascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled cross-sectional studies. *J Diabetes Complicat* (2016) 30 (2):357–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.11.004
- Pradeepa R, Surendar J, Indulekha K, Chella S, Anjana RM, Mohan V. Association of serum adiponectin with diabetic microvascular complications among south Indian type 2 diabetic subjects - (CURES-133). *Clin Biochem* (2015) 48(1-2):33–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.10.009
- Herder C, Kannenberg JM, Huth C, Carstensen-Kirberg M, Rathmann W, Koenig W, et al. Proinflammatory Cytokines Predict the Incidence and Progression of Distal Sensorimotor Polyneuropathy: KORA F4/FF4 Study. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(4):569–76. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2259
- 13. Ji ZY, Li HF, Lei Y, Rao YW, Tan ZX, Liu HJ, et al. Association of adiponectin gene polymorphisms with an elevated risk of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes patients. J Diabetes Complicat (2015) 29(7):887–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.06.008
- Herder C, Bongaerts BW, Rathmann W, Heier M, Kowall B, Koenig W, et al. Association of subclinical inflammation with polyneuropathy in the older population: KORA F4 study. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(11):3663–70. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0382
- Expert Committee On The Diagnosis And Classification Of Diabetes Mellitus. Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* (2003) 26(Suppl 1):S5–20. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26. 2007.s5
- Jia W, Weng J, Zhu D, Ji L, Lu J, Zhou Z, et al. Standards of medical care for type 2 diabetes in China 2019. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2019) 35(6):e3158. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3158
- Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive Summary of The Third Report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA (2001) 285(19):2486–97. doi: 10.1001/ jama.285.19.2486
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AR, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med* (2009) 150(9):604–12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006
- Morimoto Y, Conroy SM, Ollberding NJ, Kim Y, Lim U, Cooney RV, et al. Ethnic differences in serum adipokine and C-reactive protein levels: the multiethnic cohort. Int J Obes (Lond) (2014) 38(11):1416–22. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.25
- Matsuda M, Kawasaki F, Inoue H, Kanda Y, Yamada K, Harada Y, et al. Possible contribution of adipocytokines on diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2004) 66(Suppl 1):S121–3. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2004.05.010

- 21. Kato K, Osawa H, Ochi M, Kusunoki Y, Ebisui O, Ohno K, et al. Serum total and high molecular weight adiponectin levels are correlated with the severity of diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2008) 68 (3):442–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.03063.x
- Zhou J, Zhou S. Inflammation: therapeutic targets for diabetic neuropathy. Mol Neurobiol (2014) 49(1):536–46. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8537-0
- Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Waki H, Terauchi Y, Kubota N, Hara K, et al. The fatderived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. *Nat Med* (2001) 7(8):941–6. doi: 10.1038/90984
- 24. Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Minokoshi Y, Ito Y, Waki H, Uchida S, et al. Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(11):1288–95. doi: 10.1038/nm788
- Berg AH, Combs TP, Du X, Brownlee M, Scherer PE. The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. *Nat Med* (2001) 7(8):947–53. doi: 10.1038/90992
- Hopkins TA, Ouchi N, Shibata R, Walsh K. Adiponectin actions in the cardiovascular system. *Cardiovasc Res* (2007) 74(1):11–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.cardiores.2006.10.009
- Yamaguchi N, Argueta JG, Masuhiro Y, Kagishita M, Nonaka K, Saito T, et al. Adiponectin inhibits Toll-like receptor family-induced signaling. *FEBS Lett* (2005) 579(30):6821–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.11.019
- Ohashi K, Parker JL, Ouchi N, Higuchi A, Vita JA, Gokce N, et al. Adiponectin promotes macrophage polarization toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285(9):6153–60. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.088708
- Sun L, Li H, Tai LW, Gu P, Cheung CW. Adiponectin regulates thermal nociception in a mouse model of neuropathic pain. Br J Anaesth (2018) 120 (6):1356–67. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2018.01.016
- Katsiki N, Mikhailidis DP, Banach M. Leptin, cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2018) 39(7):1176–88. doi: 10.1038/ aps.2018.40
- Ebert T, Fasshauer M. Adiponectin: sometimes good, sometimes bad? Cardiology (2011) 118(4):236–7. doi: 10.1159/000329647
- Costacou T, Orchard TJ. Adiponectin: good, bad, or just plain ugly? Kidney Int (2008) 74(5):549–51. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.262

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sun, Yan, Yang, Guo, Wang, Zhang, Shi, Shi, Tian and Liang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Advances in Screening, Early Diagnosis and Accurate Staging of Diabetic Neuropathy

Josie Carmichael¹, Hassan Fadavi², Fukashi Ishibashi³, Angela C. Shore¹ and Mitra Tavakoli^{1*}

¹ Diabetes and Vascular Research Centre, National Institute for Health Research, Exeter Clinical Research Facility, University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, United Kingdom, ² Peripheral Neuropathy Group, Imperial College, London, United Kingdom, ³ Internal Medicine, Ishibashi Medical and Diabetes Centre, Hiroshima, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ioan Andrei Veresiu, Iuliu Hațieganu University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania

Reviewed by:

Nikolaos Papanas, Democritus University of Thrace, Greece Péter Kempler, Semmelweis University, Hungary

*Correspondence: Mitra Tavakoli m.tavakoli@exeter.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 23 February 2021 Accepted: 17 March 2021 Published: 26 May 2021

Citation:

Carmichael J, Fadavi H, Ishibashi F, Shore AC and Tavakoli M (2021) Advances in Screening, Early Diagnosis and Accurate Staging of Diabetic Neuropathy. Front. Endocrinol. 12:671257. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.671257 The incidence of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes is increasing worldwide. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is among the most distressing and costly of all the chronic complications of diabetes and is a cause of significant disability and poor quality of life. This incurs a significant burden on health care costs and society, especially as these young people enter their peak working and earning capacity at the time when diabetesrelated complications most often first occur. DPN is often asymptomatic during the early stages; however, once symptoms and overt deficits have developed, it cannot be reversed. Therefore, early diagnosis and timely intervention are essential to prevent the development and progression of diabetic neuropathy. The diagnosis of DPN, the determination of the global prevalence, and incidence rates of DPN remain challenging. The opinions vary about the effectiveness of the expansion of screenings to enable early diagnosis and treatment initiation before disease onset and progression. Although research has evolved over the years, DPN still represents an enormous burden for clinicians and health systems worldwide due to its difficult diagnosis, high costs related to treatment, and the multidisciplinary approach required for effective management. Therefore, there is an unmet need for reliable surrogate biomarkers to monitor the onset and progression of early neuropathic changes in DPN and facilitate drug discovery. In this review paper, the aim was to assess the currently available tests for DPN's sensitivity and performance.

Keywords: microvascular complications, Diabetic Neuropathy, Screening, Diagnosis, Early Detection, neuropathy biomarkers

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is one of the fastest-growing health challenges of the 21st century, with the number of adults living with diabetes having more than tripled over the past 20 years (1). The International Diabetes Federation reported that in 2019, the prevalence of diabetes was 9.3% (463 million people worldwide) with a predicted rise to 10.9% (700 million people) by 2045 (2). Furthermore, it has been shown that over 1.1 million children and adolescents below 20 years have type 1 diabetes. On top of

these staggering figures, are the number of people with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or metabolic syndrome with 373.9 million in 2019 (7.5%) and predicted rise to 548.4 million (8.6%) by 2045 (2).

In the UK alone, there were 4.8 million people with diabetes in 2019. Diabetes is on the rise. Figures from Diabetes UK shows that someone is diagnosed with diabetes every two minutes, with 5.3 million expected to be living with the condition by 2025 (3).

Diabetes is strongly associated with both microvascular and macrovascular complications. As a result, 10% of global health expenditure, equal to USD 760 billion, is directed toward diabetes and its complications (2). Microvascular changes lead to nephropathy, retinopathy and neuropathy. Among these complications, diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is the most common and costly diabetes-associated complication, occurring in around 50% of individuals with diabetes (4). Distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN) (5) typically follows a distal-proximal course and results in symmetrical symptoms and signs between the body's left and right sides. Common symptoms include burning, numbness, tingling, pain and/or weakness starting in the distal lower extremities which progress into more extreme symptoms of neuropathic pain in around 10-30% of affected patients (6, 7). Symptoms may be sporadic or constant but can be debilitating and in many people lead to depression, sleep disorders and overall reduced quality of life (8).

The true prevalence of DPN is underestimated as its assessment is challenging. However, DPN is recognized as the most common complication of diabetes.

DPN is the strongest initiating risk factor for diabetic foot ulceration (neuropathic ulcer) (9, 10), and existing ulcers may be further exacerbated from damage to sensory neurones. Resultant limb numbness causes ulcers to remain undetected for longer periods (10); thus, corrective actions are not taken nor advice sought at early stages of the disease. Often the first sign that a person has diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is a foot ulcer, which may lead to irreversible tissue damage, lower limb amputation and significant morbidity.

In the UK, people with diabetes account for more than 40% of hospitalizations for major amputations and 73% of emergency admissions for minor amputations. A single diabetes related foot ulcer can take over 240 days to put into remission and costs £8,000 pa to treat. Ulcers frequently recur and eventually may require the amputation of a lower limb. DPN is hugely costly to our NHS (>£1.1 billion pa in direct medical costs) and to the wider UK economy (~£4 billion), is particularly debilitating and distressing for patients and their families and can lead to an untimely death (11, 12), with five-year mortality ranging from 52 to 80 percent after major amputation (13).

Furthermore, with diabetes related lower limb amputations increasing at the rate of almost 20% per annum in line with the increasing prevalence of diabetes, there is a huge strain on NHS budgets which are unable to keep up.

Autonomic neuropathies are a class of DPN which share similar diffuse pathophysiology with DSPN, but differ by being largely nonsensory (4). These typically affect the cardiovascular, urogenital and gastrointestinal systems. Patients may also suffer from sudomotor dysfunction, hypoglycemia obliviousness, and abnormal pupillary function (5). Rare forms of DPN include mononeuropathies, polyradiculopathies and treatment-induced neuropathies (5). These atypical forms are generally self-limiting and resolve with medical management and physical therapy, usually over several months (11).

In clinical settings, there are several different approaches to assess diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), and the choice of the test will depend on the aim of testing. It is usually sufficient in a busy clinic to establish whether a patient is symptomatic, particularly of painful DPN (12), and whether or not they are at high risk of foot ulceration typically through monofilament testing. However, to fully assess damage and phenotype of DPN, sensory deficits must be detected early. Those accurate biomarkers are available for monitoring of DPN and for use in clinical trials of potential new treatments.

Currently, there are no simple markers for early detection of DPN in routine clinical practice. The measures we use are crude and detect the disease very late in its natural history. Even the benefits gained by standardizing clinical assessment with scored clinical evaluations remain subjective, heavily reliant on the examiners' interpretations.

This paper reviews the current knowledge and the optimal approaches for diagnosis and screening of diabetic peripheral neuropathy.

TYPES OF NERVE FIBERS

Peripheral nerve fibers can be classified using Erlanger and Gasser's classification, which defines nerves based on diameter, conduction speed, and myelination level (**Table 1**). A-fibers have the largest diameter, with the thickest myelination and fastest conduction speed, and act as sensory and motor fibers within the somatic nervous system. They may be further divided into large nerve fibers that have sensory and motor functions ($A\alpha$ and $A\beta$), and small nerve fibers ($A\gamma$ which has motor functions, and $A\delta$ which may be autonomic or sensory fibers) (14).

Group B-fibers are small, with moderate myelination and slower conduction velocities than A-fibers. B-fibers act mainly as general visceral afferent and pre-ganglionic fibers and are found only in the autonomic nervous system.

Group C-fibers have a small diameter, low conduction velocity and are the only unmyelinated group. They act as somatic, afferent fibers that carry sensory information relating to temperature and pain, as well as having autonomic functions such as the stimulation of the sweat glands (14).

Epidemiology

The prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) reported in various studies ranges from 6% to 51% depending on the population (15, 16). In the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (DDCT/EDIC) Study, the prevalence of DPN in adults with type 1 diabetes was 6% at baseline and increased to 30% after 13–14 years of follow-up (17). The prevalence of DPN among adults with type 1 diabetes in the

Classification	Myelination	Diameter (um)	Conduction Velocity (m/s)	Туре	Function
Aα (alpha)	Yes	12-22	70-120	Sensory/motor	Proprioception, touch sensory, somatic motor to extrafusal muscles
Aβ (beta)	Yes	5-12	30-70	Sensory/motor	Proprioception, touch/pressure sensory, somatic motor to intrafusal muscles
Aδ (delta)	Yes	1-5	5-30	Sensory	Touch and cold thermoreceptors, nociception
Aγ (gamma)	Yes	2-8	15-30	Motor	Somatic motor to intrafusal muscles
В	Yes	<3	3-15	Autonomic	Visceral afferent fibers and preganglionic efferent fibers
С	No	0.1-1.3	0.6-2	Sensory/ autonomic	Temperature (warm receptors), pain perception, nociception, itching

TABLE 1 | Classification of nerve fibers in the peripheral nervous system according to modified Erlanger and Gasser.

Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications was 34% and increased significantly with age (18–29 years: 18%; \geq 30 years: 58%). It has been estimated that half of all children with diabetes with a duration of 5 years or longer already have diabetic neuropathy (18) and nearly 25% of pediatric patients with newly diagnosed diabetes have abnormal findings on nerve conduction studies (NCS), indicating nerve damage (19).

The prevalence of DPN is somewhat higher in patients with T2DM when compared to T1DM (4). The 'Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes' (ACCORD) (20) trial and the 'Veteran Affairs Diabetes Trial' (21) found that DPN was present in 42% and 39% of adults with type 2 diabetes, respectively, at baseline measurement. A study comparing magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans of the sciatic nerve in T1DM, and T2DM patients with DPN found that the predominant type of nerve lesion differed between the two (22). This study found that in T1DM, lesions were predominantly associated with poor glycemic control and loss of nerve conduction, whereas in T2DM lesions were associated with changes in lipid metabolism. This raises the question of whether damage to peripheral nerves results in different types of preventive treatment.

Risk Factors

In both main types of diabetes, the prevalence and severity of DPN increases with disease duration and increasing age (16). A large study of 1172 patients with diabetes assessed for neuropathy at baseline reported that patients who had developed neuropathy by roughly ten-year follow-up were on average 3.8 years older and had diabetes for 3.3 years longer at baseline (16). Furthermore, the study found that in both T1DM and T2DM, higher hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) level was a significant predictor of the development of diabetic neuropathy (16).

In cohorts of patients with T2DM, several metabolic syndromes such as hypertension, abdominal obesity, lower high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels and hypertriglyceridemia have been consistently associated with DPN development (23), with additional independent risk factors including alcohol abuse and increased height (24). In a cohort of patients with T1DM, the EURODIAB prospective complications (25) study reported similar modifiable risk factors to those identified in T2DM, explicitly having an association with raised triglyceride level, obesity, smoking and hypertension. Several genes have also been linked to an increased risk of diabetic neuropathy. Still, only ACE (encoding angiotensin-converting enzyme) and MTHFR (encoding methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase) polymorphisms have been confirmed using large patient cohorts in multiple populations (24). Research into the role of genetics in diabetic neuropathy is currently limited, and many more studies are required.

Significantly lower levels of clinical neuropathy in South Asian patients have been reported compared to Europeans and Afro-Caribbean (26). A recent study found that in a population of people with type 2 diabetes, South Asians had significantly better-preserved small nerve fiber integrity than equivalent Europeans (27). However, this patient cohort was recruited from primary care, and most patients had no or mild neuropathy, so it was not representative of the diabetic population overall. A proposed explanation for the reduced risk was the differences in the transcutaneous partial pressure of oxygen (TCpO2) and height between the ethnicities (27). However, the study suggesting this explanation did not adjust for a range of possible confounders such as obesity, and alcohol intake, between ethnicities, all of which are established risk factors for developing DPN. A more recent study suggested that the variation may be due to differences in height and adiposity between the ethnic groups, as the adjustment for these factors rendered the difference insignificant (28).

Prevention/Treatment

There is currently no Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved therapy to prevent or reverse human DPN (4). The current management approach focuses on reasonable glycemic control, lifestyle modifications, and management of associated pain. The reasonable glycemic control consists of not only strict HbA1c control but also reduced glycemic variability, because glycemic control, which might constitute an additive, or even better predictor of microvascular complications including neuropathy than mean HbA1c levels (29, 30).

Previous studies have found that improving HbA1c levels does affect DPN progression in patients with T2DM (20, 31). The ACCORD study (20) found that intensive treatment caused delay in onset of albuminuria and it reduced neuropathy, MNSI socre, loss of ankle jerks, loss of light touch at end of the study. The veterens study (31) assessed whether new evidence of clinical neuropathy occurred during the period of intensive versus normal control and had quite severe criteria for definaitions. The Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (EDIC) trial reported that intensive glucose control significantly delayed the development and progression of diabetic neuropathy in T1DM patients over time (17). Another study, following a cohort of T1DM patients over 24 years confirmed these findings. Patients who had stable, nearnormal HbA1c levels (mean <7.0%) had significantly less deterioration in nerve fiber function when measured using electrophysiology and quantitative sensory methods (p<0.05 for all measures at 24 years follow-up) (32).

Attempts have been made to reduce DPN by lifestyle interventions (24). Several studies have demonstrated a potential for improved outcomes in patients with diagnosed DPN through exercise regimes put in place over ten weeks (33) to 12 months (34). Despite insignificant improvements in body mass index (BMI), these studies reported a significant improvement in objective nerve function measures and reduced neuropathy symptoms. Neither of these studies included a control group, which is essential to provide a measure of the change in neuropathy which could be expected over time without intervention but with the same amount of scrutiny, for example, additional contact time with healthcare professionals or individuals paying more attention to their health due to taking part in a study. In the absence of a control group, it is difficult to ensure that neuropathy improvements are genuinely due to modifications in exercise regimes alone.

A recent comprehensive study in Japanese patients with T2DM under poor glycemic control (HbA1c 9.6%, 81.6 mmol/ mol) at baseline assessed the impact of intensive glucose control without hypoglycemia and found that normalizing A1c over the two years of follow-up resulted in significant improvement in neuropathy outcomes (35). This study also revealed that small glycemic variability assessed by SD and coefficient of variation (CV) of monthly measured HbA1c levels was associated with the improvement of neuropathy outcomes. In the follow-up study of T2DM (a median of 9.3 years), mean HbA1c levels were the main risk predictor for the composite outcome of developing or worsening diabetic neuropathy, whereas glycemic variability assessed by HbA1c variability was a better risk predictor for new incident of neuropathy (36). In the follow-up study of T1DM the long-term glycemic variability assessed by CV and SD of HbA1c levels was linked to DPN independent of mean HbA1c (37). These studies indicated that the strict HbA1c control as a long-term mean glycemic levels and suppressed glycemic variability are required for the prevention and slow neuropathy progression in patients with diabetes.

Screening

The American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot (IWGDF) recommends regular examination of people with DM for the diagnosis of DPN and loss of protective sensation using simple standard tests for the identification of those at risk for diabetic foot ulcer (38, 39). It is recommended that all patients with T2DM be screened for DPN at diagnosis, and for T1DM, the screening should begin five years post-diagnosis (40). After this initial screening, all patients should be reviewed annually.

Nerve conduction studies (NCS) are considered the gold standard for the diagnosis of large fibers neuropathy. The Toronto consensus (41) recommended the use of abnormal NCS with a symptom or sign to diagnose DPN. However, the need for specialist examiners and equipment renders NCS inappropriate as a screening test. Thus, it is used only to confirm any possible/probable DN picked up post-screening using other measures (40).

More commonly, screening for DPN involves history taking for neuropathic symptoms and examination of the feet, along with a screening test (40). Traditional screening tests benefit from being quick and easy; however, like NCS, these only assess larger fiber function and are unable to detect any early changes in small nerve fibers. Furthermore, two systematic reviews focusing on the use of monofilament testing, a commonly used screening test for DPN, described a variation of diagnostic value in the current literature and a lack of consistency in recommended test procedure and interpretation (42). Sensitivity for peripheral nerve fiber damage ranged from 43-93% when using NCS as a reference standard (43). Both review papers did not recommend the sole use of monofilament testing to diagnose peripheral neuropathy (43). This is just one example of the shortcomings of current screening tests.

DIAGNOSTIC TESTS FOR DPN

While there is no single accurate definition of diabetic neuropathy, a simple definition for clinical practice is the presence of symptoms and/or signs of peripheral nerve dysfunction in people with diabetes after excluding other causes (5). Based on this, the diagnostic tests are focused on assessing the symptoms and signs of nerve dysfunctions.

There are numerous testing methods available to assess the peripheral nervous system's structure and function, with each test having its own advantages and disadvantages. Bedside tests used to aid diagnosis of DPN-including the 10g monofilament (Figure 1D), the Ipswich Touch Test, and vibration perception threshold testing with the Vibratip (Figure 1E), a tuning fork, or automated devices such as Neurobiothesiometer, are not only reliant on patients' subjective response but are also mainly used to identify the loss of protective foot sensation and risk of ulceration. As such, these tests tend to diagnose DPN when it is already well established. Late diagnosis hampers the potential benefits of intensified multifactorial intervention at an early stage of the disease, which could prevent the sequelae of DPN. Unfortunately, by the time DPN is detected with the crude tests currently used, it is often very well established and consequently impossible to reverse or halt the inexorable neuropathic process. Early diagnosis and timely intervention are thus essential in preventing the development of DPN.

Some of the most common tests and methods for diagnosis of DN have been summarized in **Table 2**.

Symptoms

Various clinical scoring systems are available for DPN screening which involve symptom scoring, sign scoring or both (**Table 3**). These systems may enhance diagnostic accuracy through a composite score of different combined tests and are useful tools for aiding diagnosis of DPN, along with quantitative measures. Each questionnaire has a scoring system which can



FIGURE 1 | Examples of nine different tests for diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), (A) Physical examination and Neuropathy disability score (NDS), (B) Nerve
Conduction studies being performed on the lower leg, (C) DPNcheck device to test sural nerve conduction performed on the lower leg, (D) Monofilament screening
test sights and procedure, (E) Vibration perception threshold testing, (F) Medoc TSAII quantitative sensory testing device for thermal perception threshold,
(G) Sudoscan equipment. Hand and feet sensor plates with displaying test results, (H) Neuropad test demonstrated original blue color, (I) A punch skin biopsy to
collect samples needed for IENFD measurement, (J) An image of the corneal sub-basal nerves using corneal confocal microscopy and the CCM probe positioning
during corneal scanning.

diagnose, and in some, stratify disease severity. **Table 3** presents a summary of the most commonly used questionnaires for assessing DPN.

The Neurological Symptom Score (NSS) is a 17 question, interview-based assessment of sensory, motor, and autonomic function used to screen DPN (87). Still, it is considered too extensive to be used efficiently in clinical practice. The diabetic neuropathy score (DNS) is an adaptation of the NSS that is a much quicker screening method, with only four questions and still offering moderate sensitivity (79%) and specificity (78%), but with slightly lower reliability for diagnosing DPN (45) when using a diagnostic score of 1 or more.

Other symptom scoring systems focus only on pain and differentiating neuropathic from other causes. Clinicians commonly recognize pain descriptors that are used by patients with neuropathic pain. The McGill pain questionnaire was the first questionnaire designed to offer a multidimensional assessment of pain, which included assessing severity or intensity, emotional impact, and significance to the pain sufferer (88). This questionnaire is one of the most commonly used multi-dimensional pain scales globally. A short-form is available for use in screening which has shown good agreement with the original version (89).

Signs

The Neuropathy disability score (NDS) is a commonly used clinical examination method that assesses neuropathy signs

(Figure 1A). Thirty-five items are used for both sides, evaluating cranial nerve damage, muscle strength, sensation loss and reflex delay/loss (90). However, some of the items have demonstrated a weak relation to DPN, and the full scoring system is too long to be used in clinical practice. Therefore a revised NDS has been created. This system is more commonly used and tests for four main neuropathy signs; ankle reflex, vibration, pinprick and temperature sensation at both sides of the largest toes. A maximum score is 10, and usually, more than 6 is considered abnormal (91).

Composite Scoring Systems

The reliance on symptoms or signs alone may lead to low diagnostic accuracy for the presence of DPN, and a combination of both allows a more thorough assessment. Several scoring systems assess both signs and symptoms of DPN to produce a composite score. The Toronto clinical neuropathy score (TCNS) consists of three parts: symptom scores, reflex test scores and sensory test scores. The maximum score is 19, and the test is able to stratify patients into no DPN, mild DPN, moderate DPN and severe DPN depending on the overall score (92). Testing has proven validity and reliability for diagnosing and staging DPN compared to electrophysiology measures (92).

The Michigan neuropathy screening instrument (MNSI) is another commonly used composite scoring system that includes a questionnaire and a foot examination (77). Neuropathy can be defined as seven or more positive responses to this symptoms

TABLE 2 | Diagnostic tests available for assessing DPN.

		Nerve Fibers Assessed	Advantages	Limitations
Symptoms and Signs	Questionnaires	Large (A β -fibers) and Small (A δ and C-fibers)	Easy to administer. Used for monitoring symptoms (44)	Lack of Sensitivity, accuracy and reproducibility, Subjective (45)
	NDS	Large (A eta -fibers) and Small (A δ and C-fibers)	Does not require specialist equipment, Assesses large and small-fiber function (46)	Not sensitive or reproducible, Low correlation with small fiber quantitative tests (47)
	10-gram Monofilament	Large (Aβ-fibers)	Simple, quick and inexpensive (48).	No standardization of methods. Cannot detect early neuropathy (48).
	lpswich Touch Test	Large (Aβ-fibers)	Simple. Requires no specialist equipment (49).Can test at home	Can only detect advanced neuropathy (48)
	QST (Thermal and Vibration thresholds)	Large (A β -fibers) and Small (A δ and C-fibers)	Measures small and large fiber function (44) Good repeatability (50)	Unable to differentiate between peripheral and central abnormalities (51) High inter-operator variability (52)
Large FiberTests	DPNCheck	Large, sural nerve (Aβ-fibers)	Quick, Easy to perform,Good sensitivity (92- 95%) compared to NCS (53, 54)	Relies on the accessibility of sural nerve (55). Validation studies had small patient numbers (53, 54)
	NCS	Large (Aβ-fibers)	A sensitive measure of large nerve function (56),Reproducible (57)	Doesn't assess small fibers, Uncomfortable (58), Does not assess early neuropathic changes
Small Fiber Tests	Skin Biopsy (IENFD)	Small (C-fibers)	Gold standard for SNF, Quantitative,Good sensitivity,Detects early nerve changes (59, 60)	Invasive, Risk of infection, Repeatability, Requires trained personnel and special labs (44)
	ССМ	Small (A δ and C-fibers)	Non-invasive,Good reproducibility (61), Rapid and objective (62, 63)	Relatively Expensive, Requires specialist equipment and personnel, manual analysis is time-consuming (44)
AutonomicTests	Neuropad	Small (C-fibers)	Can be self-administered, suitable for screeningNon-invasiveGood sensitivity (54, 64–69)	Varied interpretation of the results (54, 64-67)
	Sudoscan	Small (C-fibers)	Non-invasive,Easy to perform	Unclear if measuring sudomotor function Variable specificity (53-92%) (70–74)
	QSART	Small (C-fibers)	Sensitive for SFN (82%) (75) Gold standard for measuring sudomotor function	Time-consuming, Requires specialist equipment and trained personnel (76) Uncomfortable

IENFD, Intra-epidermal nerve fiber density; NCS, Nerve conduction studies; QSART, Quantitative sudomotor axon reflex test; CCM, Corneal confocal microscopy; NDS, Neuropathy disability score; QST, Quantitative sensory testing; SFN, Small fiber neuropathy.

section alone (77). The foot examination is more frequently used and encompasses foot appearance (including ulcers), ankle reflex and the 128-Hz tuning fork test (77). One study (93) found a range of sensitivity (35-79%) and specificity (65-94%) in comparison to NCS depending on the cut-off value used for abnormality in MNSI. The higher specificity values indicate a potential high diagnostic impact for MNSI scoring; however, the lower sensitivity range indicates that milder DPN cases are likely not to get picked up.

Scoring of symptoms and signs is convenient and easy to perform as a method of screening for DPN. These tests are easily interpreted, making them a useful tool in supporting decisions on which patients should be referred on for specialist assessment. Quantitative, objective measures should be considered when the patient has signs and symptoms other than those rated by the scoring test.

Large Fiber Tests

Nerve Conduction Studies (NCS)

The current 'gold standard' for clinical diagnosis of DPN is through nerve conduction studies (NCS) by a trained neurophysiologist (**Figure 1B**). In 2010, the Toronto Consensus, by an expert panel recommended that one abnormal finding as part of NCS, combined with a symptom or sign of neuropathy should be used to confirm DPN (41). NCS has also demonstrated an ability to predict future DPN (94). For reliable NCS results, close attention must be paid to factors such as filter setting, limb temperature, and recording location, as outcomes can be vulnerable to variations. Trials have demonstrated that NCS consistently demonstrate excellent intraobserver agreement (58, 95); however, a poor inter-observer agreement between expert clinical neurophysiologists is common (58) when no standardized, specific technique is followed. One study (95) assessed the results of 4 neurophysiologists, from 4 different centers. Specific assessment methods were provided in a specially prepared syllabus, and a training session was provided beforehand. The outcome was a significant improvement in inter-observer agreement with a standardized approach, and although not entirely eliminated, levels of disagreement were consequently considered clinically significant for medical practice (95).

Conversely, when considering the use of NCS in therapeutic clinical trials, even small inter-observer variability may be significant enough to impact results through impacting the statistical power of a study and thus the trial's outcomes. This may partially explain why previous clinical trials have used NCS as a primary outcome to detect treatment efficacy and have reported failed outcomes (96–98). Evidence supports the use of a single observer to repeat electrophysiological tests on each patient in these trials.

Furthermore, Standard NCS testing is not easily applicable as a screening tool for DPN since it is time-consuming, requires a specialist operator and can be uncomfortable for the patient (58).

TABLE 3 | Summary of questionnaires available for assessing DPN.

	Questionnaire	Assessed	Type of Administration	Scoring
Symptoms	NSP	Symptoms of neuropathy	Clinician administered	34 categories (women) 36 categories (men)
	DNS	Symptoms of diabetic peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	4 for Symptoms (Total 4)
	NSS	Symptoms of neuropathy	Clinician administered	8 for muscle weakness 5 for sensory disturbances 4 for autonomic symptoms (Total 17)
	NPQ	Symptoms of neuropathic pain	Completed by the patient	Total of 12
	NPSI	Symptoms of neuropathic pain	Completed by patient	10 descriptors, 2 duration (Total 12)
	McGill Pain Questionnaire	Multidimensional symptoms of pain	Clinician administered	Subclass 1 - Sensory Subclass 2 - Affective Subclass 3 - Evaluative Subclass 4 - Miscellaneous (Total 78)
	CNE	Signs of peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	21 for sensory testing 8 for muscle strength 4 for ankle reflex (Total 33)
Signs	NDS	Signs of peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	2 for vibration sensation 2 for temperature sensation 2 for pinprick 4 for ankle reflex (Total 10)
	DNE	Signs of peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	4 for muscle strength 2 for reflex responses 10 for sensory testing (Total 16)
	NIS-LL	Signs of neuropathy in the lower limbs	Clinician administered	64 for muscle strength 16 for sensory testing 8 for reflex responses (Total 88)
	MNDS	Signs of peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	12 for sensory tests 18 for muscle strength 16 for reflex testing (Total 46)
	UENS	Signs of peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	11 for each side (Total 22)
Symptoms and Signs	DN4	Symptoms and signs of neuropathic pain	Clinician administered	7 for symptoms 3 for signs (Total 10)
	LANSS	Symptoms and signs of neuropathic pain	Clinician administered	5 for symptoms 2 for signs (Total 7)
	TCNS	Signs and symptoms of peripheral neuropathy	Clinician administered	6 for symptoms 5 for sensory tests 8 for reflex tests (Total 19)
	MNSI	Signs and symptoms of peripheral neuropathy	Symptoms by patient Foot examination by a clinician	15 for symptoms 8 for foot examination (Total 23)

NSP, Neuropathy Symptoms Profile; NPQ, Neuropathic Pain Questionnaire; DNS, Diabetic Neuropathy Symptom; NSS, Neuropathy Symptom Score; NPSI, Neuropathic Pain Symptom Inventory; CNE, Clinical Neurological Examination; NDS, Neuropathy Disability Score; DNE, Diabetic Neuropathy Examination; NIS-LL, Neuropathy Impairment Score in the Lower Limbs; MNDS, Michigan Neuropathy Disability Score; UENS, Utah Early Neuropathy Scale; DN4, Douleur Neuropathique en 4; LANSS, Leeds Assessment of Neuropathic Symptoms and Signs; TCNS, Toronto Clinical Neuropathy Score; MNSI, Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument (47, 77–86).

Electrodiagnostic studies have also been identified as one of the largest drivers of health care costs related to neuropathy evaluation (99). Results are often found to be normal in patients with diabetes who have early or small fiber predominant neuropathy.

DPNCheck

To overcome some of the shortcomings of standard NCS testing, a novel point-of-care nerve conduction device (POCD), DPN-Check (Neurometrix Inc., Waltham, MA) has been developed with the potential to serve as an acceptable proxy to standard NCS which are time-consuming, expensive, and often require patients to be seen in specialist clinics (**Figure 1C**). This test for sural nerve conduction velocity and amplitude is much quicker (3 minutes) to perform than conventional electrodiagnostic testing. It has been validated in type 1 and 2 diabetes populations through comparison with the Neuropathy Disability Score (NDS) (55) and standard NCS (53, 54). These studies have reported a high sensitivity of 92-95% for detecting abnormalities (**Table 4**). However, these studies' cohorts have been small, with two of the three studies assessing very low numbers of patients with type 1 diabetes (53, 54, 108). Furthermore, the DPNCheck device is dependent on the presence of an accessible sural nerve which can be anatomically absent in up to 9% of healthy subjects (55).

Small Fiber Tests

Punch Skin Biopsy

The evidence strongly suggests that in DPN, damage to small fibers precedes damage to large fibers (109, 110) and punch skin biopsy is currently considered the gold-standard single test for diagnosing small fiber neuropathy (111). A measure of intra-epidermal nerve fiber density (IENFD) can be quantified from these biopsies, which is a method of documenting the density of terminal branches of peripheral nerves within the epidermis (no/mm²). The European Federation of Neurological Societies has published guidelines for its use in diagnosing peripheral neuropathies (112) (**Figure 1I**).

Two immuno-staining methods have become the most widely used in IENFD measurement: indirect immunofluorescence (IF) and bright-field immunohistochemistry (BFI). Although IF is considered a slightly more sensitive technique due to higher signal/noise ratio (113), the two methods have excellent correlation (114), and both can comparably detect SFN (113). At present, age-related normative values exist only for BFI, published by a multi-national group of 8 centers (115).

For both IF and BFI techniques, IENFs are typically counted directly through an epifluorescence microscope's oculars by focusing through the optical planes (113). For IF only, the more precise, but time-consuming technique confocal microscopy (CM) can analyze optical sections of 3-dimensional images using computer software (113). The two techniques have shown excellent correlation (113), and the latter is usually used when the more complex, second-level analysis is needed.

IENFD measurements have been shown to detect small fiber neuropathy with depletion of IENFD detected in patients with normal NCS and no clinical signs or symptoms of neuropathy (59, 60). A recent study reported low sensitivity of just 61% when using a cut off of 4.5 fibers/mm IENFD to diagnose clinical DPN in T1DM patients (100). Earlier studies have published significantly higher values for sensitivity (80%) (116) and specificity (95%) (117), however, these studies were comparing healthy controls to DPN patients rather than the test's ability to identify DPN in a diabetic cohort. Other studies have found a decrease in IENFD correlating with the progression of neuropathy and duration of diabetes (118, 119) with reports that IENFD may also be lower in patients with painful DPN compared to painless DPN (120).

A 5-year follow-up study investigating the progression of DPN in T1DM and T2DM, reported a significant reduction of IENFD in T2DM patients, with IENFD measurement being the single most abnormal parameter (121). Overall, the reduction in IENFD was not significant in T1DM subjects. However, the lower number of patients in the T1DM group may explain this finding, as this would make it more challenging to prove statistically significant changes (121).

The main issue with IENFD measurements as a biomarker for small fiber neuropathy is that it is an invasive procedure. Obtaining a biopsy can cause side effects such as a mild infection due to improper wound management or, less commonly, excessive bleeding. Even though reported side effects are rare (1.9/1000) (115), the nature of this technique limits its practical use, particularly when a repeat biopsy is required in longitudinal studies or clinical intervention trials.

From a screening perspective, although intra-epidermal nerve fiber density measurement from a lower-limb skin biopsy is considered the gold standard for the diagnosis of small fiber neuropathy, it is invasive and therefore not suitable for routine screening (111, 122).

Quantitative Sudomotor Axon Reflex Test QSART

The assessment of sudomotor nerve (sweat) function has also been used to assess small autonomic c-fibers, as anhidrosis can be characteristic of the presence of peripheral autonomic neuropathy.

The reference standard for measuring sudomotor function is the quantitative sudomotor axon reflex test (QSART). This test uses local sweat production, measured as a change of relative humidity over time, during and after skin activation. Special

TABLE 4 | Summary studies for validity for four potential screening tests for DPN.

Test	Fibers Assessed	Validated Against	Sensitivity	Specificity
DPNCheck (53, 54)	Large (Aβ-fibers)	NCS	92-95%	82-89%
Neuropad (64, 66–69)	Small (C-fibers)	NCS, NDS, VPT	70-97.8%	50-67%
Sudoscan (70–74)	Small (C-fibers)	NCS, Clinical Examination, UENS, VPT, NSS	70-87.5%	53-92%
CCM (62, 100–107)	Small (A δ and C-fibers)	NCS, Clinical Examination, CASS	59-86%(CNFL) 65-82%(CNFD) 17-100%(CNBD)	61-84%(CNFL) 41-79%(CNFD) 45-96%(CNBD)
software is used to digitalise, plot and analyze the temporal resolution, latency, magnitude and duration of the sudomotor response (123). However, due to highly technical demands and relative discomfort of the examination, QSART remains mostly limited to research centres and is not considered a potential screening tool for DPN (76).

Neuropad

Neuropad[®] is a patented 10-minute screening test for the early detection of diabetic foot syndrome and can be used as a triage test (124). It is a unique, non-invasive, painless and simple diagnostic screening test employing a chemical reaction to minute quantities of sweat as a biomarker for much earlier signs of DPN.

The test has been created to assess the sweat function (small autonomic c-fibers) in the feet of patients with suspected neuropathy. An adhesive pad containing cobalt salts is stuck onto the foot's plantar aspect and changes color from blue to pink within 10 minutes if the sudomotor function is normal (67). If there is a decreased function, the pad remains blue or turns patchy in color. There is a strong association between skin dryness, sudomotor dysfunction and diabetic foot ulcer and the function of Neuropad. An abnormal Neuropad response is associated with sympathetic dysfunction and clinical neuropathy (**Figure 1H**).

This test's main advantage is that patients can self-administer at home, reducing clinical contact time and aiming to reinforce abnormal results visually. Instructions have been confirmed as clear for patients to follow, and the test is easy to use for most patients (64). However, due to older age, visual and kinetic problems, a fifth of patients still needed help when self-testing.

It has been reported as having good to excellent (70-97.8%) (64–69) sensitivity for DPN detection (**Table 4**). When comparing Neuropad to a range of different small and large fiber diagnostic tests, strong correlation between Neuropad and NDS (64, 69), IENFD (65), CCM (125), Sudoscan (126) and measures of sweat gland dysfunction (127) have been reported. It has also been identified as a useful tool for staging the severity of neuropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes demonstrating excellent agreement with the Michigan classification system (128). Another significant advantage of Neuropad is its high NPV, making it ideal to serve as a screening test primarily to exclude DPN (68, 129, 130).

However, studies are not consistent in terms of the position of the Neuropad on the foot and the NDS cut-off value chosen to indicate clinical DPN presence. Furthermore, some studies graded the Neuropad color change as a percentage (66) or score out of 1 (65), whereas others simply classified the results as normal or abnormal (64, 67). Standardization of elapsed time before test result analysis is also necessary as extending the observation period to 15 minutes may provide greater diagnostic usefulness (131). This highlights a need for software development that can consistently grade each test's color change over time to enable continuous and more accurate monitoring of sudomotor dysfunction.

In order to address these issues and increase both the sensitivity and particularly the specificity of Neuropad

screening and create a continuous output, a smartphone software app and internet based image processing system has been developed. Neurometrics-DiabTM is a digital therapeutics (DTx) smartphone app which uses the NeuropadTM as a biomarker to produce a continuous record of a person's neuropathy to see if it is improving, is stable or is worsening with trend-lines helping to predict outcomes. Using a smartphone camera, patients can take a photo of their test result which is then automatically sent to a web server where the photo is run through a proprietary image processing algorithm resulting in a percentage score which is recorded. Over time a trend can be calculated. The DTx app is currently at the advanced prototype stage. Versions for other medical conditions are under development.

Sudoscan

SudoscanTM (Impeto Medical) is another quick, simple and noninvasive test that aims to assess sudomotor function using 'reverse iontophoresis' (132, 133) to measure electrochemical skin conductance (ESC) of sweat in the hands and feet. Compared to age-corrected standard data, a reduced ESC result may indicate degeneration of small c-fibers that innervate the sweat glands and, therefore, lead to reduced sweat gland function (71) (**Figure 1G**).

The ESC measurements from the feet are considered more sensitive for the detection of DPN than the hands (72), with less variation in results (134). This is likely due to a fluctuation in the hands' contact on the electrodes. In contrast, the feet are aided by gravity to maintain constant pressure on the electrodes throughout the test. Lower electrochemical skin conductance at the feet was also significantly associated with increasing symptoms in a large cohort of patients with T2DM (135).

Reference values in healthy subjects are available from a global collaborative analysis comparing different ethnic groups, age, and gender (136). This study noted a significantly lower hands and feet ESC for African-American, Indian, and Chinese populations than the Caucasian population, highlighting the need to match ethnicity groups in electrochemical skin conductance studies. The same study also observed no significant difference between women and men at the hands or feet and a weak decline in ESC with increased age.

ESC measurements may also be associated with subjects' weight (137), perhaps due to a weight-dependent change in sensitivity of the stainless-steel electrodes, or sweat gland density, when the subject is in the standing position. This could also be due to the correlation between higher weight and larger feet only (137). These hypotheses are yet to be assessed; however, these studies' findings emphasize the importance of profile matching different subject groups for a weight that did not occur in some validation studies (71, 74).

Validation studies have reported consistently good values for sensitivity (70-87.5%) (**Table 4**) when using foot ESC results to screen for DPN (70–72, 74, 132). However, there are inconsistencies in the ESC cut-off values used for identifying sudomotor dysfunction, ranging from 52uS (70) to 77uS (72). This variation and inconsistencies in the neuropathy tests being used as a reference standard are the likely cause of the extensive

range in reported specificity of between 53-92% (70-72, 74). It highlights the need for standardization of the classification criteria used. Patient cohorts also differed in their severity of DPN, with participants in one study (74) having significantly more advanced DPN than those in the study by Smith and colleagues (71). Therefore the test performed better in the former.

Overall, Sudoscan appears to be a promising DPN screening test that is non-invasive, easy to perform and eliminates the subjective component of clinician error, demonstrating good correlation with IENFD (137). However, there is some doubt as the current evidence does not strongly support ESC to distinguish between patients with DPN and control individuals (138). Therefore, longitudinal and more extensive cohort validation studies are needed, along with standardization of diagnostic criteria before Sudoscan can be used as a screening tool for small fiber neuropathy.

It is evident that progress has been made in developing point of care devices (POCDs) which may be capable of diagnosing DPN early before clinical signs are apparent. Neuropad, DPNCheck and Sudoscan are newer screening tests that have demonstrated potential for early detection, however validation studies, thus far, have reported a range of sensitivities, specificities depending on cohort and test used for comparison (**Table 3**).

Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST)

Quantitative sensory testing (QST) has become a common method for evaluating small nerve fiber function using thermal threshold and thermal pain measurements and large fiber function using vibration thresholds (52). The most common commercial system is the Medoc TSA-II NeuroSensory Analyzer (Medoc Advanced Medical Systems, Israel) which is used to determine thermal thresholds, (**Figure 1F**). In recent years a cheaper, more portable device has been designed, NerveCheck (Phi Med Europe S.L., Barcelona, Spain), which has shown good reproducibility (ICC values = 0.79, 0.71 and 0.86 for vibration, warm and cold sensation respectively) and comparable diagnostic accuracy (86%, 72% and 79% for vibration, warm and cold sensation testing respectively) to established QST equipment for the diagnosis of DPN (139).

Cold thresholds can be used to evaluate myelinated A-delta fiber function, whereas warm thresholds are used to assess the function of unmyelinated C-fibers. Published normative data sets are available for heat threshold detection (140–145), and recommendations for conducting QST in both clinical practice and research have previously been published by The International Association for the Study of Pain (NeuPSIG) (146).

QST has been found to have reasonable repeatability (50); however, inter-operator and inter-patient variability depend on several factors. Training of both examiner and patient, the methodology of assessment, baseline skin temperature, stimulus characteristics, location and number of stimuli sites and duration of intervals between tests have all affected QST measurements (52). Using standardized methodology with extensive training has significantly reduced interobserver variability (147, 148). However, this may be too time-consuming to be implemented.

When it comes to the effects of body fat on thermal detection thresholds, there are conflicting findings. Malmström et al. (149) failed to detect differences between obese and other groups for cold and warm thresholds at the suprailiac site (149). In contrast, Pryce and colleagues (150) found that obese participants had significantly higher cold and warm detection thresholds than normal BMI participants on the abdomen.

Two psychophysical algorithms can be used to determine thermal thresholds. These are the method of limits and the method of level (described in detail elsewhere (50, 151), with the method of limits used more commonly due to it being less timeconsuming (146). Measurements determined using limits have been reported as significantly higher than those measured by Level, irrespective of test location (52). However, the two methods correlate well with each other (52) and the 2013 consensus concluded that both were reliable (146). The major difference between these two methods is the effect of reaction time. For the method of limits, a patient has a longer reaction time due to age or height (causing a more extended sensory pathway) which may erroneously give a higher threshold.

Both warm and cold thresholds can be affected in patients with DPN, irrespective of how long the course of diabetes is, but the frequency of abnormal warm thresholds is significantly higher (141). A study found that cold detection thresholds significantly reduced in DM patients with no evidence of preclinical, sub-clinical and clinical DPN, respectively (152). A longitudinal study also found a significant positive correlation between deterioration of cold detection thresholds and pain intensity in painful DN, with warm detection thresholds also correlating at non-significant value (153).

One major issue with the use of QST is that it cannot differentiate between peripheral and central temperature perception causes. It involves sensory receptors, spinal cord pathways and termination sites in the thalamus. This means that if there is poor concentration, a language barrier or cognitive defect, subjects' results may affect their subjective nature (51).

CORNEAL NERVES AS A BIOMARKER FOR DPN

Anatomically and developmentally, the eye can be considered an extension of the central nervous system (CNS). The cornea is the most densely innervated tissue in the body. It is richly supplied by a large number of sensory nerve fibers and a lesser number of autonomic fibers (154). The cornea possesses small unmyelinated C-fibers and myelinated A δ -fibers for sensory innervation. These are derived from the trigeminal nerve's ophthalmic division and enter the corneal stroma at its periphery, in a radial fashion parallel to the corneal surface. As the fibers run forward toward the cornea center, they lose their myelin sheath; a necessary step to maintain corneal transparency (154).

Corneal C-fibers form a delicate three-dimensional network known as the 'sub-basal nerve plexus' (155), which is located beneath the basal layer of the corneal epithelium. Mapping of the cornea (156) has shown that this plexus forms a spiral or 'whorl like' pattern. The spiral center, often called the vortex, is located approximately 2-3 mm inferior and nasal to humans' corneal apex. Due to this arrangement, sub-basal nerves in the superior and human apical cornea are oriented vertically. In contrast, subbasal nerves in other corneal regions may be orientated horizontally or obliquely, consistent with their locations within the whorl-like plexus (157)

Corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) is a non-invasive, *in vivo* ophthalmic imaging technique that allows a detailed examination of the cornea, at high magnification, on a cellular level (**Figure 1J**) (158). By capturing multiple two-dimensional images at different depths, CCM imaging can delineate the corneal layers of the cornea (158), providing superior magnification compared to standard slit-lamp biomicroscopy. These properties allow CCM to acquire high-quality images of the corneal C-fibers in the sub-basal nerve plexus. Considering the known relationship between damage to these fibers and diabetic peripheral neuropathy, the potential for their use as a surrogate biomarker for DPN has been identified.

When analyzing the sub-basal nerve plexus, most studies report results from four morphological parameters: Corneal nerve fiber density (CNFD) which is the total number of main nerve fibers per mm², corneal nerve fiber length (CNFL) which is the sum of the length of all nerve fibers and branches (mm/ mm²), tortuosity coefficient (TC) which is a unitless measurement that uses deviation from a straight line to measure the tortuosity of the main nerve fibers independent of their orientation, and corneal nerve branch density (CNBD) which is defined as the number of branches emanating from all main nerve fibers. There is, however, a discrepancy in how this can be quantified between studies with the established protocol for these parameters described elsewhere (62).

Of these four parameters, CNFL has been the most frequently used parameter for DPN, with one study reporting superior reliability than other parameters (159). Some studies have assessed the diagnostic performance of CCM for DPN and reported the results for CNFL only (101, 105). Hertz et al. (159) reported that CNFL produced the highest intra-observer and inter-observer reproducibility (ICC of 0.72 and 0.73 respectively), with TC demonstrating the lowest (0.23 and 0.29 respectively).

Two other parameters that have been reported in research studies are nerve reflectivity (160) and nerve fiber beading (number/100 μ m) (161, 162). Nerve fiber reflectivity is usually assessed using grades as first outlined by Oliveira-Soto and Efron (160), whereby classification can be split into four grades according to a comparison with reference images. The number of beadings is defined as the number of beadings in a length of 100 µm of sub-basal nerves within a frame (163). Both parameters have demonstrated changes in dry eye conditions, where patients with Sjogren's syndrome have demonstrated significantly higher beading than dry eye patients of other

primary causes (164). However, both measures require subjective judgment. Beading can be challenging to quantify and may require special software and may have poor repeatability and reproducibility (163).

More recently, newer corneal parameters have been investigated. These include inferior whorl length (IWL) (165) defined as the length of the nerves at the inferior whorl of the superficial nerve plexus, nerve fiber width (166) and nerve fiber area (167). These new measures have previously shown significant differences between the non-neuropathic and clinically neuropathic groups in DM (168) with CNFW and CNFA, demonstrating 74% and 66% sensitivity-specificity equal error rate point, respectively when identifying non-neuropathic patients compared to control subjects (168). This indicates that these new measures may have the capacity to identify individuals with early neuropathy; however, research into these new parameters is currently limited.

Another type of cell found in the sub-basal layer and has been of interest in DPN research are dendritic cells. These antigenpresenting cells of the cornea are of paramount importance. They play a critical role in activating other immune systems in the ocular surface, influencing both suppression and induction of inflammation (169, 170).

Langerhans cells are usually up to 15μ m in diameter and can be seen in various forms (171). In their immature form, these cells have small dendritic processes or lack dendrites completely and are mainly located in the peripheral cornea's epithelium (172). In pathological states, Langerhans cells mature, form interlocking dendritic processes which may comprise a net-like structure, and migrate from the periphery into the central cornea (172).

Cross-sectional studies have shown an increase in the densities of Langerhans cells in the central cornea related to conditions such as dry eye with and without contact lens wear (171, 173) bacterial keratitis (174), thyroid eye disease (175) and diabetes (176, 177).

CCM for the Detection of DPN

In the early 2000s, a novel study by Rosenberg and colleagues reported the correlation between increasing severity of DPN, corneal sensitivity and progressive loss of corneal sub-basal nerve fibers (178). This was closely followed by a similar small study published in 2003 (179) which found that CCM was able to detect abnormalities in the corneal nerves of 18 patients with diabetes deemed to have only mild neuropathy using conventional tests. Similarly, Midena and colleagues (180) reported a significant decrease in corneal nerve fiber and branch number, along with decreased beading in patients with diabetes. It should be noted that these three studies used a light corneal confocal microscope, which is the first commercially available generation of the confocal imaging device with inferior image quality in comparison to the methods now commonly used.

Since then, the use of corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) for rapid, noninvasive clinical assessment of corneal nerves has grown substantially, especially in recent years. It has proven to be particularly useful as a diagnostic marker for detecting diabetic neuropathy and a range of other peripheral neuropathies (62, 100–106, 181–186). Some of them are reviewed in this paper.

Diagnostic Performance for Clinical DPN

Several cross-sectional studies have evaluated the ability of CCM to diagnose clinical levels of DPN in comparison to a range of other diagnostic tests (**Table 5**). It must be noted that most of these studies assessed patients with T1DM only, meaning there is limited published data available for the diagnostic sensitivity and specificity values when assessing patients with T2DM.

These studies used a cut-off point for the reference neuropathy test/combination of tests to determine whether a patient had a DPN. However, the reference test and cut-off points varied between studies meaning there were no universal diagnostic reference criteria. Some studies validated CCM against a single test of nerve conduction studies (NCS) (100, 101) or neuropathy disability score (NDS) (62). In contrast, other studies used a combination of the two (102) or NCS and clinical examination (104, 106). A combination of diagnostic tests will likely increase the efficiency of detecting DPN compared to one test used alone. This is significant as some studies compare CCM to one single test, which is not the gold standard in the case of NDS. NCS only measures large fiber function, which is affected later than small nerve fibers in DPN. One study (187), demonstrated that diagnostic ability of CNFL measurement in DM patients is significantly worse if using clinical signs and symptoms as a reference standard in comparison to electrophysiology, plus one sign/symptom as per the Toronto consensus guidelines, which highlights the importance of a standardized diagnostic reference (187).

To explore which of the many measurements derived from CCM could best distinguish patients with and without clinical DPN, as part of each study, the same patients were examined using CCM, and all nerve parameters were derived. For each nerve parameters tested, ROC curves were plotted to determine a CCM cut-off point used to distinguish between patients with and without DPN in the diabetic cohort only. A range of cut-off points was studied to identify the best sensitivity/specificity value for diagnosing DPN for each nerve parameter.

CNFL was the most commonly reported nerve parameter for these studies, with all nine assessing its diagnostic ability and finding significant differences between patients with and without DPN. A range of sensitivity values between 59 and 86% was found and a specificity range of 61-84%, depending on the cut-off value used for diagnosis. The earliest of these studies (62), examined patients using a Tomey confoscan CCM. It is well known that these images are of more inferior quality, making it more challenging to identify nerve fibers during analysis. This is likely the explanation for the significantly lower diagnostic threshold value reported in this study compared to the others presented (**Table 5**).

For corneal nerve fiber density (CNFD) six of the crosssectional studies (**Table 5**) reported a significant reduction in DM patients with DPN compared to both DM patients without DPN and healthy controls (62, 100, 102, 104, 106, 107). These studies reported sensitivity and specificity ranges as 6582% and 41-79% respectively. A significantly higher cut off point of 39.2 CNFD no/mm² was defined in T2DM patients in the consortium study, resulting in an increased sensitivity value to 69% (104). This may explain why its specificity is the lowest value of only 41%, as a higher cut-off value may create more falsepositive results. It is notable that based on their cohort, Scarr et al. (106) defined the lowest thresholds for diagnosis for both CNFD and CNFL out of the studies using the Heidelberg retinal tomograph (HRT) (III) CCM. This is likely due to their significantly older-aged cohort compared to the other crosssectional studies as CNFD and CNFL have been shown to reduce with age (188).

For corneal nerve branch density (CNBD), six cross-sectional studies (62, 100, 102, 104, 106, 107) reported a significant reduction in DM with DPN than without DPN. For diagnostic value, the sensitivity (17-100%) (62, 102) and specificity (45-96%) (62, 102) values were significantly more varied, suggesting that this parameter has shown the least promise for DPN diagnosis until now.

There are several strengths to each of the cross-sectional studies. Three used profile-matched healthy controls (101, 102, 106), meaning that differences in measurements between the two groups due to age should have been accounted for, giving a better representation of changes that have occurred due to DPN. Ahmed et al. (101) also looked at the option of combining two corneal nerve parameters for the identification of neuropathy. Two of the studies looked at both manual, and automated software for DPN diagnosis (102, 106) which is significant as automated software for analysis would be required if CCM were to be introduced in large-scale screening.

Perkins et al. (104) in a consortium multi-center study funded by NIH assessed data from a large cohort of 998 subjects. This large cohort of different ethnicities and T1DM and T2DM gave a more accurate representation of the population of people with diabetes instead of focusing on one specific sub-group. Another strength of this NIH funded study was that it suggested an alternative approach of using one lower value chosen to more confidently rule in the presence of neuropathy (maximize specificity) and one higher value determined to simultaneously, more confidently rule out the presence of neuropathy (maximize sensitivity). This combination of decision criteria aims to minimize false positive and negative results. The study found that using this criterion increased their sensitivity to 88% and specificity to 89% using manual methods of analysis. However, this method caused 57.8% of the subjects to be unclassified as they fell between the two limits.

There were several limitations to these cross-sectional studies. Some did not match the clinical profiles of their patients to the control subjects. For example, the patients' group in Alam et al. (100) being significantly older, with significantly longer disease duration than the T2DM group without neuropathy. Another limitation of two of these studies (101, 106) was that only 1 image per eye was used for analysis. One criterion for choosing this image in the Ahmed et al. (101) study was the most nervous frame. Using this method to choose 1 image per eye instead of calculating an average of 3 images or more may be less time TABLE 5 | Summary of studies assessing the clinical utility of corneal nerve parameters for the diagnosis of clinical levels of diabetic neuropathy compared to chosen reference standards.

	Study	Number subjects	Type of CCM device	Diabetes Type	Age (years)	Disease Duration (years)	Type of Neuropathy	Validated Against	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	CNFL Threshold (mm/mm²)	CNFD Threshold (no./mm²)	CNBD Threshold (no./mm²)	CNFT (TC)
Cross- sectional	Tavakoli et al. (62)	118 (101 DM, 17 HC)	Tomey ConfoScan P4	1,2	55 ± 4.8 (HC) 55 ± 1.9 (DPN-) 58 ± 2.1 (Mild DPN) 59 ± 2.5 (Mod DPN) 61 ± 2.05 (Sev DPN)	10.7 ± 1.82 (DPN-) 15.5 ± 2.08 (Mild DPN) 18.6 ± 3.06 (Mod DPN) 19.3 ± 2.85 (Sev DPN)	DSPN	NDS	64 (CNFL) 82 (CNFD) 91(CNBD)	79 (CNFL) 52 (CNFD) 45 (CNBD)	3.39	27.81	13.89	-
	Ahmed et al. (101)	153 (89 DM, 63 HC)	HRT (II)	1	38.9 ± 17.6 (HC) 34.9 ± 14.8 (DPN-) 50.0 ± 14.3 (DPN+)	17.6 ± 14.0 (DPN-) 31.4 ± 13.5 (DPN+)	DSPN	NCS, Clinical Examination	85	84	14	_	-	_
	Tavakoli et al. (107)	52 (34 DM, 18 HC)	HRT (III)	1,2	42 ± 0 (DAN-) 44 ± 3 (DAN+)	12 ± 3 (DAN-) 26 ± 2 (DAN +)	DAN	Composite autonomic scoring scale (CASS)	86 (CNFL) 86 (CNFD) 100 (CNBD)	78(CNFL) 79(CNFD) 56 (CNBD)	4.8	23.3	19.5	-
	Chen et al. (102)	89 (63 DM, 26 HC)	HRT (III)	1	44 ± 15 (HC) 44 ± 13 (DPN-) 59 ± 11 (DPN+)	23 ± 16 (DPN-) 39 ± 14 (DPN+)	DSPN	NCS, DNS/NDS	59 (CNFL) 82 (CNFD)	74 (CNFL) 71 (CNFD) 96 (CNBD)	16.5	24	15	-
	Alam et al. (100)	88 (61 DM, 27 HC)	HRT (III)	1	41 ± 114.9 (HC) 38.8 ± 12.5 (DPN-) 53.3 ± 11.9 (DPN+)	17.2 ± 12.0 (DPN-) 37.2 ± 13.1 (DPN+)	DSPN	NCS, Clinical Examination	74 (CNFL) 77(CNFD) 67 (CNBD)	61(CNFL) 79 (CNFD) 58 (CNBD)	16.8	25	36.5	_
	Scarr et al. (106)	137 (67DM, 69HC)	HRT(III)	1	(DFN+) 64 ± 8 (HCs) 65 ± 7 (T1DM)	52-58 (Median 54)	DSPN	NCS, Clinical Examination	73 (CNFL) 76(CNFD) 44 (CNBD)	75 (CNFL) 75(CNFD) 75 (CNBD)	13.7	18.8	15.6	-

Carmichael et al.

		Membran	90 - 100 F					Vettebule A testability				
	study	number subjects	CCM CCM device	Type	Age (years)	Ulsease Duration (years)	I ype or Neuropathy	Validated Against	Sensitivity (%)	Sensitivity Specificity (%) (%)	CNFL Threshold (mm/mm²)	CNFU Threshold (no./mm²)
	Perkins	866	Tomey		42 ± 19	21 ± 15	DSPN	NCS, Clinical Examination	71 (CNFL)		16.4	28
	CI CI (104)		0011000411						67 (CNBD)			
	(Consortium) (516 T1DM, 482	(516 T1DM, 482	P4, HRT (II),HRT (III)	0	62 ± 10	12 ± 9			65 (CNFL) 69 (CNFD)	69 (CNFL) 41(CNFD)	16.3	39.2
		T2DM)							69(CNBD)			
Longitudinal Pritchard	Pritchard	06	HRT (III)	-	42 ± 16	15 ± 12	DSPN	NCS,	63	74	14.1	I
	et al. (105)	(T1 DM)			(DPN-) 51 ± 14	(DPN-) 29 ± 16		DNSS/NDS				
					(DPN+)	(HNHO)						
	Lovblom	65	HRT (III)		34 ± 15	17 ± 12	DSPN	NCS, TCNS	82(CNFL)	69 (CNFL)	14.9	41.7

Advances in Diagnosis of Diabetic Neuropathy

consuming for analysis; however, it is likely to give the false elevation of measurements per patient instead of representing an accurate average.

Another significant issue with these studies is that most of them use the Toronto consensus as to the diagnostic criteria for DPN (100-102, 104, 106), i.e. one abnormal finding as part of NCS, in combination with a symptom or sign of neuropathy (41). As mentioned previously, NCS assesses large fiber function whereas CCM assesses small fiber function.

Despite the variation in results and limitations of the studies, these findings supported the expanded role of CCM in the assessment of diagnosis DPN as a supplement to the vast array of neurological tests currently in use.

Early Detection of Neuropathy

As there are currently no therapeutic agents approved for DPN treatment, early detection is essential to modify any risk factors. Several studies have specifically investigated CCM findings in early stages of DM and mild levels of DPN.

The published baseline characteristics of T1DM patients as part of the LANDMark study (189) were that corneal nerve fiber length was reduced in patients without clinical neuropathy, based on the Toronto criteria. Another paper written from the same study (190) assessed the use of CCM for distinguishing between control patients and DM patients (156 T1DM, 75 T2DM) with and without clinical DPN. For the patients with DPN, all cases were defined as mild (as defined by QST plus neurophysiology). This study reported a significant reduction in CNFL when comparing patients with and without mild neuropathy, suggesting that CNFL changes may occur early in the course of the disease.

One study (191) assessed the corneal sub-basal plexus in patients with recently diagnosed T2DM (mean duration 2.1± 1.6 years). This study reported significant differences between CNFD, CNBD and CNFL parameters when comparing the patient cohort to the control group, with CNFD emerging as the most sensitive in detecting corneal nerve pathology; indeed 21% of the patients fell below the 2.5th percentile of the control group. For this study, high-adapted software produced an image composed of an image stack. It reconstructed a combined mosaic image with an expanded field of view compared to standard imaging using CCM. This software is also able to correct for artefacts. As this method is not widely used, there is no direct comparison to other studies. To our knowledge, no other studies are assessing recently diagnosed patients with DM (<2 years duration). It must also be considered that in this study, even though patients were diagnosed newly, there may have been a delay in diagnosis, which could have varied between patients.

Another study assessing early nerve changes assessed patients with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) (192). This study reported evidence that CCM may detect changes in nerve parameters before established diabetes. They reported that in patients with IGT, CNFD and CNBD were significantly reduced with 40.5% of subjects with IGT having significant small-fiber damage based on CNFD reduction compared to control subjects. This agreed with a decrease in IENFD and significantly higher warm thresholds and vibration perception thresholds in the same cohort (192).

TC)

CNBD Threshold no./mm²)

37.6

44.8

15.9

36.

59(CNFD) 50 (CNBD) 72(CNFT)

32(CNBD) 55(CNFD) 73(CNFT)

21 ± 9 (DPN+)

(DPN-) 38 ± 16

Ĩ

E

et al. (103)

(HNHO)

(DPN-)

Data presented as standard units or mean \pm standard deviation

Studies presented are all published studies.

Langerhans Cells in DPN

The dominant antigen-presenting cells in the cornea and ocular surfaces are Langerhans cells (LCs) and Dendritic cells (DCs) which are derived from the bone marrow and can stimulate both primary and secondary T and B-cell responses (169). It has been shown that Corneal confocal microscopy provides a non-invasive means to readily demonstrate Langerhans cells (LCs) in the cornea of healthy subjects and a range of inflammatory ophthalmic conditions (**Figure 2**) (174, 193). Some studies demonstrated that the number of LCs increases in Diabetic Neuropathy (177, 194–196); however, the LCs activation mechanism is still unclear.

Zhivov et al. (176) assessed the corneal basal epithelial layer and the sub-basal nerve plexus for the presence of LCs in healthy subjects and found that 31% of subjects had LCs present. Tavakoli and colleagues (177) were the first to assess Langerhans cell density with differing severities of diabetic neuropathy (based on NDS scoring compared to controls). This study found a significant increase in the proportion of individuals with LCs in patients with T1DM and T2DM (73.8%) compared to control subjects (46.1%). The study also found that LC density was significantly increased in the patients with diabetes (17.73 ± 1.45) compared to control subjects (6.94 ± 1.58). However, with progression of neuropathy, patients with moderate and severe neuropathy showed a reduction in the LC density in comparison to patients with mild neuropathy and were not significantly different from control subjects. This may suggest that LCs have a role in the early phase of nerve damage. This study only focused on Bowman's layer which has been shown to have a lower density of LCs in comparison to the epithelial layer (197), so is not an accurate representation of overall LC density in the central cornea. Another limitation of the study was that the Tomey Confoscan CCM was used for imaging which has been shown to underestimate LCs density compared to newer the Heidelberg HRT III CCM (176) and cannot differentiate mature from immature LCs (176).

A more recent study, used the HRT (III) CCM to assess the density of LCs in a cohort of children and adolescents with diabetes and found a higher percentage of patients (85.9%) and controls (69.1%) with LCs present when compared to the

previous two studies (176, 177). This study was also able to distinguish between mature and immature cells by classing LCs of less than 50 μ m in length, without dendritic structures as immature cells and those greater than 50 μ m with dendritic structures were considered as mature cells. A significant increase in mature and immature cells was found, and a correlation existed between CNFD and LCs density (198). However, this study only assessed a specific age-group of the diabetic cohort, so it does not represent the whole diabetic population. Overall, studies investigating LCs density in patients with diabetes are still limited, and more information is required to conclude the effect of diabetes on LCs.

Comparing CCM and IENFD

Studies have found CCM to be comparable with measures of IENFD from biopsies in their diagnostic performance for detecting patients with clinical levels of DPN (100, 102) (**Figure 3**). Both studies found no significant difference in their diagnostic efficacy in patients with T1DM.

An older study using the Tomoscan confocal microscope (110) also concluded that both IENFD and CCM assessment accurately quantify small nerve fiber damage in patients with diabetes. Intraepidermal and corneal nerve fiber lengths were also both further reduced in patients with painful compared with painless diabetic neuropathy.

In comparison, one study's findings, using HRT (III) CCM were notably different (191). This study reported that CCM and IENFD were both able to detect nerve fiber loss in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes, but mainly in different patients. They, therefore, suggested a possible patchy manifestation pattern of small fiber neuropathy. Only 2.7% of the patients had both abnormal CNFD and IENFD. Abnormal CCM with normal IEND was noted in 20.5% of the diabetic group and 11.0% for vice versa. No correlation between the CCM measures and IENFD was observed. There are possible explanations for these contradictory findings. Firstly, the cohort of patients in this study was all patients with T2DM, all of who had been newly diagnosed (known diabetes duration of ≤ 1 year). The disease duration was significantly less than that of Chen et al. (102) (DPN+ 39 ± 14 DPN- 23 ± 15 years) and Alam et al. (100) (DSPN+ 37.2 ± 13.1







FIGURE 3 | Corneal confocal microscopy images of the corneal, sub-basal nerves (A–C). Healthy control (A) shows numerous corneal main nerve fibers (green arrowheads) with branching nerves (blue asterisks). CCM images of patients with diabetes and mild (B) or severe (C) neuropathy demonstrate reduced corneal nerves and branches. Skin biopsies (E, F) immunostained. Healthy control (E) shows numerous intraepidermal nerve fibers (red arrowheads) with a well-developed subepidermal nerve plexus (yellow arrowheads). A diabetic patient (F) demonstrates reduced subepidermal and minimal intraepidermal nerve fibers. Scale bar = 100 mm. (E, F) adapted from (186).

DSPN- 17.2 \pm 12.0 years). These two studies also used comparisons between patients with and without clinical DPN to compare IENFD and CCM, whereas Ziegler et al. (191) only compared patients with T2DM to healthy controls. Lastly, Ziegler et al. used a different location for the IENFD biopsy. This was taken from the lateral calf in comparison to the dorsum of the foot. This more proximal site may have been at less risk IENFD changes or may present a different pattern of loss, as DSPN is known to follow a distal-proximal course.

One issue with the comparison of IENFD with analysis of the corneal sub-basal nerve plexus is that intra-epidermal nerves consist of both unmyelinated C-fibers (90%) and myelinated A-delta fibers (10%) (199), which are both included in the measurement for IENFD. In contrast, the sub-basal nerve plexus is made up of C-fibers only. This means that a direct comparison cannot be made between the two measurements. Although the A-delta fibers only make up 10% of the total number in the epidermal layer, they may be affected differently in DPN than the unmyelinated C-fibers, affecting the overall results.

Longitudinal Studies for Application of CCM for Assessment DPN

Longitudinal studies suggest that CCM has good predictive value for subsequent DPN (187, 200). Longitudinal analysis of a T1DM cohort showed a mean 1-year change in CNFL was -1.6% in patients with unstable T1DM, while healthy volunteers showed a 5% increase per year (200).

As part of a 4-year follow up study, a study (103) (**Table 5**) found that three corneal nerve parameters were all significant predictors for the development of DPN, with a baseline CNFL of <14.9mm/mm² being the strongest single predictor when

compared to 11 other small and large fiber tests. Other studies (105, 201) also reported an association between lower baseline CNFL and DPN development. Pritchard et al. (105) (**Table 5**) found a significant association with longer diabetes duration, higher triglycerides, worsening retinopathy and nephropathy, impaired sensation to temperature and vibration and slower peroneal and sural nerve conduction velocities. However, studies with larger cohorts and patients with type 2 diabetes are needed to confirm these studies' findings and a more extended period of monitoring. Studies should also ensure a set number of follow-ups over a set period as for Lovblom et al. (103) more than half of the patients had just one follow up visit, meaning that true progression is statistically challenging to prove.

Another prospective study specifically looked at a group of patients with IGT (202). They found that in subjects with IGT, lower baseline CNFD, CNBD, CNFL, and lower mean dendritic length of IENF were the strongest predictors of progression to T2DM over three years. Although significance was not recorded, there appeared to be very similar baseline HbA1c measures between those patients who remained IGT vs those developing T2DM over the three years follow up (42.8 \pm 1.2 and 42.4 \pm 1.0 respectively(mmol/mol), suggesting that corneal nerve parameters may have been stronger predictors of conversion to T2DM in comparison to baseline HbA1c. Those subjects who returned to normoglycemia showed a significant improvement in their CCM parameters while IENF length continued to decline during the same period. These findings may suggest that corneal nerve fibers regenerate quicker than IENF when glycemic control is improved.

Another observational follow up study (203), examined a small cohort of patients with diabetes (15 T1DM and 10 T2DM) at baseline and follow-up at two years. At follow up, an

improvement in glycemic control, cholesterol levels and blood pressure were found and increased CNFD, with a significant correlation between a decrease in HbA1c and CNFD. This demonstrated that improvements in HbA1c might lead to morphological repair of corneal nerve fibers, however, due to the small sample size and mixing of T1DM and T2DM in analysis, it is unclear if these differences are occurring in both types. It must also be noted that this was not planned as an interventional study, meaning there were no placebo controls or randomization, which would need to take place to confirm or reject these findings.

CCM has been used to investigate the sub-basal nerve plexus changes in patients with T1DM post-simultaneous pancreas and Kidney (SPK) transplant. Tavakoli et al. (186) assessed 15 patients at 6 and 12 months SPK transplant and found a significant improvement in all CCM parameters at 12 months. Symptoms, neurophysiology, quantitative sensory testing and skin biopsy results remained unchanged in the same patients. A similar, earlier study using an older CCM model also reported similar findings, with CNFD and CNFL increasing significantly after just six months (204). These studies may demonstrate that CCM can provide a novel non-invasive means to evidence early nerve repair missed by currently advocated assessment techniques. However, an alternative interpretation of this data could be that corneal nerves respond well to the restoration of insulin and normoglycemia. In contrast, other peripheral nerves do not; therefore, CCM may be measuring something unique that is not an accurate biomarker of the condition of peripheral nerves.

CCM Application in Clinical Trials

Several DPN intervention trials have focused on large fiber function and have generally had ineffective outcomes. More recently, some studies have instead focused on CCM measures as markers for clinical trials of potential new treatments. In a recent pilot trial of seal oil omega-3, polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in patients with type 1 diabetes (disease duration 27 ± 14 years) over 12 months (205), there was a significant increase (30.4%) in corneal nerve fiber length, with no change found in NCS velocity or sensory function. Those subjects at high risk for future DPN and those with already diagnosed DPN (as determined by a Toronto clinical neuropathy score of \geq 1) showed the best treatment response. This study was a single-arm, open-label, proof of concept trial; therefore, no placebo group was used, which is necessary to reduce a trial's bias.

Another study to determine whether the peptide, ARA 290, improves metabolic control and neuropathic pain in patients with type 2 diabetes used CCM measurements as a co-primary endpoint. This study found that ARA 290 treatment was associated with an increase in corneal nerve fiber density correlated with changes in neuropathic symptoms (206). This study was a double-blind, placebo-controlled investigatorinitiated phase II clinical trial whose inclusion criteria were patients with T2DM who also had small fiber neuropathy symptoms. Whether allocation to the treatment and placebo groups was randomized was not discussed in the article. This study's limitation was that patients assigned to both groups generally had excellent metabolic control (HbA1c = 7.3 ± 0.4 and 6.9 ± 0.2 for treatment and placebo groups respectively), which does not truly represent the clinical population of patients with T2DM. It may be that this treatment is less or more effective for patients with poor metabolic control, comparatively. Finally, disease duration was also not mentioned, so it was unclear if there was a significant difference between the two groups.

These trials may be evidence that, like small fiber damage occurring before large fiber damage, small fibers are also the first to start regenerating after damage. Trials over a longer period, including other small fiber neuropathy measures, are required before these findings can be confirmed.

CONCLUSIONS

There is an un-met need for a simple, reliable and accurate test for the early detection of diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) which may help reduce the incidence of ulcers and amputations in people with diabetes which remains at an all-time high and increases by between 25-20% per annum. Current tests for DPN in primary care require HCPs to conduct and detect late neuropathy. Many people with diabetes do not have an annual foot check despite it being one of the most important of the 8 care processes mandated by NICE. In fact over 500,000 people in England alone never have an annual diabetes related foot examination. This places them at risk of having a first presentation with an active foot ulcer in A&E. Early diagnosis of DPN is critical since early damage to the small nerve fibers in the feet of people with diabetes can be stopped from progressing and even reversed while late signs of DPN and in particular lack of vital protective sensation in the feet cannot be reversed. Although a common and much feared complication, over 30% of people with diabetes remain unaware.

Diabetes UK consistently state that 80% of diabetes related foot complications are preventable yet no practical solution to this huge problem has been proposed. The only primary care test recommended by the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) is the 10g Semmes Weinstein monofilament examination (SWME) which is a crude, inaccurate and subjective test for lack of sensation in the feet of people with diabetes defined as 'late neuropathy' which cannot be reversed. Its evidence base is poor and outside NICE it is regarded as a particularly poor test for DPN.

Early diagnosis and timely intervention are thus essential in preventing its development. Whereas measurement of urinary albumin excretion and fundoscopic examinations serve as objective tests for early nephropathy and retinopathy respectively, a comparably objective, accurate test which is unbiased by the patient's subjective response is lacking for DPN.

Currently advocated diagnostic tests either focus on large nerve fibers, thus are not sensitive to early abnormalities, are too time-consuming and/or are too invasive to be used for repeated measures.

More recently, a number of non-invasive tests have been developed as surrogate measures of DPN. Of these, CCM has

shown great potential for the detection of small fiber neuropathy, the earliest manifestation of DPN. CCM has also demonstrated promising prognostic utility and has demonstrated early nerve regeneration post-SPK surgery and as part of several clinical trials.

Given that CCM is a rapid and non-invasive test, it is suitable for large-scale screening for DPN, and advancements in automated analysis software would further improve its promising potential.

In conclusion, there is no optimal biomarker and ideal endpoint available for DPN at the current time. Hence, there is an urgent need to identify the most accurate early biomarker of nerve damage to diagnose DPN in patients' clinical care better and, in particular, to permit a precise evaluation of future therapies in clinical trials. The global effort among scientists and clinicians, and researchers in the field should address these shortcomings to reduce incidence of complications and to achieve this; the search should continue for better and sensitive tests, screening, and early detection. We need to improve our systematic evaluation of the evidence and promote—from each translational step to the next—the biomarkers with the best evidence and performance at different populations. This will

REFERENCES

- Neeland IJ, Patel KV. Chapter 4 Diabetes: Key Markers of Injury and Prognosis. In: V Nambi, editor. *Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Disease*. Netherlands: Elsevier (2019). p. 41–51.
- Internation Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas*. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation (2019). Available at: https://diabetesatlas. org/en/sections/worldwide-toll-of-diabetes.html.
- Diabetes UK. Us, diabetes and a lot of facts and stats. London, UK: Diabetes UK (2019). Available at: https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources-s3/2019-02/ 1362B_Facts%20and%20stats%20Update%20Jan%202019_LOW%20RES_ EXTERNAL.pdf.
- Hicks CW, Selvin E. Epidemiology of Peripheral Neuropathy and Lower Extremity Disease in Diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rep* (2019) 19(10):86. doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1212-8
- Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJM, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic Neuropathy: A Position Statement by the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(1):136. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2042
- Sloan G, Shillo P, Selvarajah D, Wu J, Wilkinson ID, Tracey I, et al. A new look at painful diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2018) 144:177– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.08.020
- Albers JW, Herman WH, Pop-Busui R, Feldman EL, Martin CL, Cleary PA, et al. Effect of prior intensive insulin treatment during the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) on peripheral neuropathy in type 1 diabetes during the Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (EDIC) Study. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33(5):1090–6. doi: 10.2337/dc09-1941
- Kioskli K, Scott W, Winkley K, Kylakos S, McCracken LM. Psychosocial Factors in Painful Diabetic Neuropathy: A Systematic Review of Treatment Trials and Survey Studies. *Pain Med* (2019) 20(9):1756–73. doi: 10.1093/pm/ pnz071
- 9. Singh N, Armstrong DG, Lipsky BA. Preventing foot ulcers in patients with diabetes. *Jama* (2005) 293(2):217–28. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.2.217
- Ndip A, Ebah L, Mbako A. Neuropathic diabetic foot ulcers evidence-topractice. Int J Gen Med (2012) 5:129–34. doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S10328
- Smith BE. Chapter 3 Focal and entrapment neuropathies. In: DW Zochodne, editor. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, vol. 126. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2014). p. 31–43.

require evaluation of the wider biomarker research agenda. Such evaluation may also benefit more from fostering international collaborations rather than from the fragmented efforts of small, opportunistic studies. "We must learn to measure what we value rather than valuing what we can easily measure".

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JC wrote and revised the manuscript. HF, FI, and AS reviewed and revised the paper. MT designed, conceived the study, wrote the major revision and made comments, had full access to all data, and is the guarantor. MT and AS supervised JC. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Exeter NIHR Clinical Research Facility for support. Special thanks to Ptolemaios Sarrigiannis, Consultant in Clinical Neurophysiology for providing the NCS images and Mr. John Simpson for providing Neuropad images

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Diabetic foot problems: prevention and management. London, UK: NICE (2015). Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng19.
- Thorud JC, Plemmons B, Buckley CJ, Shibuya N, Jupiter DC. Mortality After Nontraumatic Major Amputation Among Patients With Diabetes and Peripheral Vascular Disease: A Systematic Review. J Foot Ankle Surg (2016) 55(3):591–9. doi: 10.1053/j.jfas.2016.01.012
- Manzano GM, Giuliano LMP, Nóbrega JAM. A brief historical note on the classification of nerve fibers. *Arquivos Neuro Psiquiatria* (2008) 66:117–9. doi: 10.1590/S0004-282X2008000100033
- Gregg EW, Gu Q, Williams D, de Rekeneire N, Cheng YJ, Geiss L, et al. Prevalence of lower extremity diseases associated with normal glucose levels, impaired fasting glucose, and diabetes among U.S. adults aged 40 or older. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2007) 77(3):485–8. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2007.01.005
- Tesfaye S, Chaturvedi N, Eaton SE, Ward JD, Manes C, Ionescu-Tirgoviste C, et al. Vascular risk factors and diabetic neuropathy. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 352(4):341–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032782
- Martin CL, Albers JW, Pop-Busui R. Neuropathy and Related Findings in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Study. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(1):31–8. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2114
- Trotta D, Verrotti A, Salladini C, Chiarelli F. Diabetic neuropathy in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2004) 5(1):44–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-543X.2004.00041.x
- Solders G, Thalme B, Aguirre-Aquino M, Brandt L, Berg U, Persson A. Nerve conduction and autonomic nerve function in diabetic children. A 10year follow-up study. *Acta Paediatrica* (1997) 86(4):361–6. doi: 10.1111/ j.1651-2227.1997.tb09023.x
- Ismail-Beigi F, Craven T, Banerji MA, Basile J, Calles J, Cohen RM, et al. Effect of intensive treatment of hyperglycaemia on microvascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes: an analysis of the ACCORD randomised trial. *Lancet* (2010) 376(9739):419–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60576-4
- Duckworth W, Abraira C, Moritz T, Reda D, Emanuele N, Reaven PD, et al. Glucose control and vascular complications in veterans with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* (2009) 360(2):129–39. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0808431
- 22. Jende JME, Groener JB, Oikonomou D, Heiland S, Kopf S, Pham M, et al. Diabetic neuropathy differs between type 1 and type 2 diabetes: Insights from magnetic resonance neurography. *Ann Neurol* (2018) 83(3):588–98. doi: 10.1002/ana.25182

- Andersen ST, Witte DR, Dalsgaard EM, Andersen H, Nawroth P, Fleming T, et al. Risk Factors for Incident Diabetic Polyneuropathy in a Cohort With Screen-Detected Type 2 Diabetes Followed for 13 Years: ADDITION-Denmark. *Diabetes Care* (2018) 41(5):1068–75. doi: 10.2337/dc17-2062
- Feldman EL, Callaghan BC, Pop-Busui R, Zochodne DW, Wright DE, Bennett DL, et al. Diabetic neuropathy. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2019) 5 (1):41. doi: 10.1038/s41572-019-0092-1
- Tesfaye S, Stevens LK, Stephenson JM, Fuller JH, Plater M, Ionescu-Tirgoviste C, et al. Prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy and its relation to glycaemic control and potential risk factors: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. *Diabetologia* (1996) 39(11):1377–84. doi: 10.1007/s001250050586
- Abbott CA, Garrow AP, Carrington AL, Morris J, Van Ross ER, Boulton AJ. Foot Ulcer Risk Is Lower in South-Asian and African-Caribbean Compared With European Diabetic Patients in the U.K. *Diabetes Care* (2005) 28 (8):1869–75. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.8.1869
- Fadavi H, Tavakoli M, Foden P, Ferdousi M, Petropoulos IN, Jeziorska M, et al. Explanations for less small fibre neuropathy in South Asian versus European subjects with type 2 diabetes in the UK. *Diabetes/Metab Res Rev* (2018) 34(7):e3044. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3044
- Tahrani AA, Altaf QA, Piya MK, Barnett AH. Peripheral and Autonomic Neuropathy in South Asians and White Caucasians with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Possible Explanations for Epidemiological Differences. J Diabetes Res (2017) 2017:1273789. doi: 10.1155/2017/1273789
- Zhou Z, Sun B, Huang S, Zhu C, Bian M. Glycemic variability: adverse clinical outcomes and how to improve it? *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2020) 19 (1):102. doi: 10.1186/s12933-020-01085-6
- Hirsch IB. Glycemic Variability and Diabetes Complications: Does It Matter? Of Course It Does! *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(8):1610–14. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2898
- Gaede P, Lund-Andersen H, Parving HH, Pedersen O. Effect of a multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med (2008) 358(6):580–91. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0706245
- 32. Ziegler D, Behler M, Schroers-Teuber M, Roden M. Near-normoglycaemia and development of neuropathy: a 24-year prospective study from diagnosis of type 1 diabetes. *BMJ Open* (2015) 5(6):e006559. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006559
- 33. Kluding PM, Pasnoor M, Singh R, Jernigan S, Farmer K, Rucker J, et al. The effect of exercise on neuropathic symptoms, nerve function, and cutaneous innervation in people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy. J Diabetes Complications (2012) 26(5):424–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2012.05.007
- Smith AG, Russell J, Feldman EL, Goldstein J, Peltier A, Smith S, et al. Lifestyle Intervention for Pre-Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29 (6):1294–9. doi: 10.2337/dc06-0224
- 35. Ishibashi F, Taniguchi M, Kosaka A, Uetake H, Tavakoli M. Improvement in Neuropathy Outcomes With Normalizing HbA1c in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2018) 42(1):110–8. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1560
- 36. Cardoso CRL, Leite NC, Moram CBM, Salles GF. Long-term visit-to-visit glycemic variability as predictor of micro- and macrovascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes: The Rio de Janeiro Type 2 Diabetes Cohort Study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2018) 17(1):33. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0677-0
- 37. Pinto MV, Rosa L, Pinto LF, Dantas JR, Salles GF, Zajdenverg L, et al. HbA1c variability and long-term glycemic control are linked to peripheral neuropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* (2020) 12:85. doi: 10.1186/s13098-020-00594-4
- American Diabetes Association. 11. Microvascular Complications and Foot Care: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43 (Suppl 1):S135–s51. doi: 10.2337/dc20-S011
- Bakker K, Apelqvist J, Schaper NC. Practical guidelines on the management and prevention of the diabetic foot 2011. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2012) 28 (Suppl 1):225–31. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2253
- Yang Z, Zhang Y, Chen R, Huang Y, Ji L, Sun F, et al. Simple tests to screen for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2018) 7: CD010975. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010975.pub2
- Tesfaye S, Boulton AJM, Dyck PJ, Freeman R, Horowitz M, Kempler P, et al. Diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33(10):2285–93. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1303

- Feng Y, Schlösser FJ, Sumpio BE. The Semmes Weinstein monofilament examination as a screening tool for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. J Vasc Surg (2009) 50(3):675–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2009.05.017
- Dros J, Wewerinke A, Bindels PJ, van Weert HC. Accuracy of monofilament testing to diagnose peripheral neuropathy: a systematic review. *Ann Fam Med* (2009) 7(6):555–8. doi: 10.1370/afm.1016
- Petropoulos IN, Ponirakis G, Khan A, Almuhannadi H, Gad H, Malik RA. Diagnosing Diabetic Neuropathy: Something Old, Something New. *Diabetes Metab J* (2018) 42(4):255–69. doi: 10.4093/dmj.2018.0056
- 45. Meijer JW, Smit AJ, Sonderen EV, Groothoff JW, Eisma WH, Links TP. Symptom scoring systems to diagnose distal polyneuropathy in diabetes: the Diabetic Neuropathy Symptom score. *Diabetes Med* (2002) 19(11):962–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00819.x
- 46. Young MJ, Boulton AJ, MacLeod AF, Williams DR, Sonksen PH. A multicentre study of the prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in the United Kingdom hospital clinic population. *Diabetologia* (1993) 36 (2):150–4. doi: 10.1007/BF00400697
- Zilliox LA, Ruby SK, Singh S, Zhan M, Russell JW. Clinical neuropathy scales in neuropathy associated with impaired glucose tolerance. J Diabetes Complications (2015) 29(3):372–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.01.011
- Sharma S, Kerry C, Atkins H, Rayman G. The Ipswich Touch Test: a simple and novel method to screen patients with diabetes at home for increased risk of foot ulceration. *Diabetes Med* (2014) 31(9):1100–3. doi: 10.1111/ dme.12450
- Rayman G, Vas PR, Baker N, Taylor CG Jr, Gooday C, Alder AI, et al. The Ipswich Touch Test: a simple and novel method to identify inpatients with diabetes at risk of foot ulceration. *Diabetes Care* (2011) 34(7):1517–8. doi: 10.2337/dc11-0156
- Zaslansky R, Yarnitsky D. Clinical applications of quantitative sensory testing (QST). J Neurol Sci (1998) 153(2):215–38. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X (97)00293-1
- Themistocleous AC, Ramirez JD, Serra J, Bennett DL. The clinical approach to small fibre neuropathy and painful channelopathy. *Pract Neurol* (2014) 14 (6):368–79. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2013-000758
- Lin Y-H, Hsieh S-C, Chao C-C, Chang Y-C, Hsieh S-T. Influence of aging on thermal and vibratory thresholds of quantitative sensory testing. *J Peripheral Nervous System* (2005) 10(3):269–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1085-9489.2005.10305.x
- 53. Lee JA, Halpern EM, Lovblom LE, Yeung E, Bril V, Perkins BA. Reliability and validity of a point-of-care sural nerve conduction device for identification of diabetic neuropathy. *PloS One* (2014) 9(1):e86515. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086515
- Perkins BA, Grewal J, Ng E, Ngo M, Bril V. Validation of a Novel Point-of-Care Nerve Conduction Device for the Detection of Diabetic Sensorimotor Polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29(9):2023. doi: 10.2337/dc08-0500
- Killian JM, Foreman PJ. Clinical utility of dorsal sural nerve conduction studies. *Muscle Nerve* (2001) 24(6):817–20. doi: 10.1002/mus.1074
- 56. Shabeeb D, Najafi M, Hasanzadeh G, Hadian MR, Musa AE, Shirazi A. Electrophysiological measurements of diabetic peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review. *Diabetes Metab Syndrome: Clin Res Rev* (2018) 12(4):591– 600. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2018.03.026
- Bril V. Role of Electrophysiological Studies in Diabetic Neuropathy. Can J Neurol Sci/J Canadien Des Sci Neurologiques (1994) 21(S4):S8–S12. doi: 10.1017/S0317167100040683
- Dyck PJ, Overland CJ, Low PA, Litchy WJ, Davies JL, Dyck PJB, et al. Signs and symptoms versus nerve conduction studies to diagnose diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy: Cl vs. NPhys trial. *Muscle Nerve* (2010) 42 (2):157–64. doi: 10.1002/mus.21661
- 59. Ragé M, Van Acker N, Knaapen MW, Timmers M, Streffer J, Hermans MP, et al. Asymptomatic small fiber neuropathy in diabetes mellitus: investigations with intraepidermal nerve fiber density, quantitative sensory testing and laser-evoked potentials. *J Neurol* (2011) 258(10):1852–64. doi: 10.1007/s00415-011-6031-z
- Løseth S, Stålberg E, Jorde R, Mellgren SI. Early diabetic neuropathy: thermal thresholds and intraepidermal nerve fibre density in patients with normal nerve conduction studies. J Neurol (2008) 255(8):1197–202. doi: 10.1007/ s00415-008-0872-0
- 61. Ostrovski I, Lovblom LE, Farooqi MA, Scarr D, Boulet G, Hertz P, et al. Reproducibility of In Vivo Corneal Confocal Microscopy Using an

Automated Analysis Program for Detection of Diabetic Sensorimotor Polyneuropathy. *PloS One* (2015) 10(11):e0142309. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0142309

- Tavakoli M, Quattrini C, Abbott C, Kallinikos P, Marshall A, Finnigan J, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy: a novel noninvasive test to diagnose and stratify the severity of human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33 (8):1792–7. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0253
- 63. Tavakoli M, Malik RA. Corneal confocal microscopy: a novel non-invasive technique to quantify small fibre pathology in peripheral neuropathies. *J Visualized Experiments: JoVE* 2011(47):e2194. doi: 10.3791/2194
- Tentolouris N, Achtsidis V, Marinou K, Katsilambros N. Evaluation of the Self-Administered Indicator Plaster Neuropad for the Diagnosis of Neuropathy in Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2008) 31(2):236. doi: 10.2337/dc07-1942
- Quattrini C, Jeziorska M, Tavakoli M, Begum P, Boulton AJM, Malik RA. The Neuropad test: a visual indicator test for human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetologia* (2008) 51(6):1046–50. doi: 10.1007/s00125-008-0987-y
- 66. Ponirakis G, Petropoulos IN, Fadavi H, Alam U, Asghar O, Marshall A, et al. The diagnostic accuracy of Neuropad for assessing large and small fibre diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetic Med: J Br Diabetic Assoc* (2014) 31(12):1673– 80. doi: 10.1111/dme.12536
- 67. Papanas N, Papatheodorou K, Christakidis D, Papazoglou D, Giassakis G, Piperidou H, et al. Evaluation of a new indicator test for sudomotor function (Neuropad) in the diagnosis of peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2005) 113(4):195–8. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-837735
- 68. Liatis S, Marinou K, Tentolouris N, Pagoni S, Katsilambros N. Usefulness of a new indicator test for the diagnosis of peripheral and autonomic neuropathy in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Diabetic Med* (2007) 24 (12):1375–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02280.x
- Kamenov ZA, Petrova JJ, Christov VG. Diagnosis of diabetic neuropathy using simple somatic and a new autonomic (neuropad) tests in the clinical practice. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2010) 118(4):226–33. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1247565
- Yajnik CS, Kantikar VV, Pande AJ, Deslypere JP. Quick and simple evaluation of sudomotor function for screening of diabetic neuropathy. *ISRN Endocrinol* (2012) 2012:103714. doi: 10.5402/2012/103714
- Smith AG, Lessard M, Reyna S, Doudova M, Singleton JR. The diagnostic utility of Sudoscan for distal symmetric peripheral neuropathy. J Diabetes its complications (2014) 28(4):511–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.02.013
- 72. Selvarajah D, Cash T, Davies J, Sankar A, Rao G, Grieg M, et al. SUDOSCAN: A Simple, Rapid, and Objective Method with Potential for Screening for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *PloS One* (2015) 10(10): e0138224. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138224
- Krieger S-M, Reimann M, Haase R, Henkel E, Hanefeld M, Ziemssen T. Sudomotor Testing of Diabetes Polyneuropathy. *Front Neurol* (2018) 9:803. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00803
- Casellini CM, Parson HK, Richardson MS, Nevoret ML, Vinik AI. Sudoscan, a noninvasive tool for detecting diabetic small fiber neuropathy and autonomic dysfunction. *Diabetes Technol Ther* (2013) 15(11):948–53. doi: 10.1089/dia.2013.0129
- Thaisetthawatkul P, Fernandes Filho JA, Herrmann DN. Contribution of QSART to the diagnosis of small fiber neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* (2013) 48 (6):883–8. doi: 10.1002/mus.23891
- Buchmann SJ, Penzlin AI, Kubasch ML, Illigens BM, Siepmann T. Assessment of sudomotor function. *Clin Auton Res* (2019) 29(1):41–53. doi: 10.1007/s10286-018-0530-2
- 77. Feldman EL, Stevens MJ, Thomas PK, Brown MB, Canal N, Greene DA. A practical two-step quantitative clinical and electrophysiological assessment for the diagnosis and staging of diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (1994) 17 (11):1281–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.17.11.1281
- Bennett M. The LANSS Pain Scale: the Leeds assessment of neuropathic symptoms and signs. *Pain* (2001) 92(1-2):147–57. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959 (00)00482-6
- Bril V. NIS-LL: the primary measurement scale for clinical trial endpoints in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Eur Neurol* (1999) 41(Suppl 1):8–13. doi: 10.1159/000052074
- 80. Bril V, Tomioka S, Buchanan RA, Perkins BA. Group tmS. Reliability and validity of the modified Toronto Clinical Neuropathy Score in diabetic

sensorimotor polyneuropathy. *Diabetic Med* (2009) 26(3):240-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02667.x

- Gupta H, Jin KH, Nguyen HQ, McCann MT, Unser M. CNN-Based Projected Gradient Descent for Consistent CT Image Reconstruction. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging* (2018) 37(6):1440–53. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2018.2832656
- 82. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) (2011) 63 Suppl 11:S240–52. doi: 10.1002/acr.20543
- 83. Herman WH, Pop-Busui R, Braffett BH, Martin CL, Cleary PA, Albers JW, et al. Use of the Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument as a measure of distal symmetrical peripheral neuropathy in Type 1 diabetes: results from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications. *Diabetes Med* (2012) 29(7):937–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03644.x
- 84. Meijer J-WG, Bosma E, Lefrandt JD, Links TP, Smit AJ, Stewart RE, et al. Clinical Diagnosis of Diabetic Polyneuropathy With the Diabetic Neuropathy Symptom and Diabetic Neuropathy Examination Scores. *Diabetes Care* (2003) 26(3):697. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.3.697
- Meijer JW, van Sonderen E, Blaauwwiekel EE, Smit AJ, Groothoff JW, Eisma WH, et al. Diabetic neuropathy examination: a hierarchical scoring system to diagnose distal polyneuropathy in diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2000) 23 (6):750–3. doi: 10.2337/diacare.23.6.750
- Spallone V, Morganti R, D'Amato C, Greco C, Cacciotti L, Marfia GA. Validation of DN4 as a screening tool for neuropathic pain in painful diabetic polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Med* (2012) 29(5):578–85. doi: 10.1111/ j.1464-5491.2011.03500.x
- Asad A, Hameed MA, Khan UA, Ahmed N, Butt MU. Reliability of the neurological scores for assessment of sensorimotor neuropathy in type 2 diabetics. J Pak Med Assoc (2010) 60(3):166–70.
- Melzack R, Katz J. The McGill Pain Questionnaire: Appraisal and current status. In: *Handbook of pain assessment, 2nd ed.* New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press (2001). p. 35–52.
- Melzack R. The short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Pain (1987) 30 (2):191-7. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(87)91074-8
- Dyck PJ, Sherman WR, Hallcher LM, John Service F, O'Brien PC, Grina LA, et al. Human diabetic endoneurial sorbitol, fructose, and myo-inositol related to sural nerve morphometry. *Ann Neurol* (1980) 8(6):590–6. doi: 10.1002/ana.410080608
- Abbott CA, Carrington AL, Ashe H, Bath S, Every LC, Griffiths J, et al. The North-West Diabetes Foot Care Study: incidence of, and risk factors for, new diabetic foot ulceration in a community-based patient cohort. *Diabetes Med* (2002) 19(5):377–84. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00698.x
- Bril V, Perkins BA. Validation of the Toronto Clinical Scoring System for diabetic polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2002) 25(11):2048–52. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.11.2048
- Moghtaderi A, Bakhshipour A, Rashidi H. Validation of Michigan neuropathy screening instrument for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2006) 108(5):477–81. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2005.08.003
- 94. Weisman A, Bril V, Ngo M, Lovblom LE, Halpern EM, Orszag A, et al. Identification and prediction of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy using individual and simple combinations of nerve conduction study parameters. *PloS One* (2013) 8(3):e58783. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058783
- Litchy WJ, Albers JW, Wolfe J, Bolton CF, Walsh N, Klein CJ, et al. Proficiency of nerve conduction using standard methods and reference values (Cl. NPhys Trial 4). *Muscle Nerve* (2014) 50(6):900–8. doi: 10.1002/ mus.24243
- Wahren J, Foyt H, Daniels M, Arezzo JC. Long-Acting C-Peptide and Neuropathy in Type 1 Diabetes: A 12-Month Clinical Trial. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39(4):596–602. doi: 10.2337/dc15-2068
- 97. Ruggenenti P, Lauria G, Iliev IP, Fassi A, Ilieva AP, Rota S, et al. Effects of manidipine and delapril in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: the delapril and manidipine for nephroprotection in diabetes (DEMAND) randomized clinical trial. *Hypertension* (2011) 58(5):776–83. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.174474

- Dyck PJ, Norell JE, Tritschler H, Schuette K, Samigullin R, Ziegler D, et al. Challenges in design of multicenter trials: end points assessed longitudinally for change and monotonicity. *Diabetes Care* (2007) 30(10):2619–25. doi: 10.2337/dc06-2479
- Callaghan BC, Burke JF, Rodgers A, McCammon R, Langa KM, Feldman EL, et al. Expenditures in the elderly with peripheral neuropathy: Where should we focus cost-control efforts? *Neurol Clin Pract* (2013) 3(5):421–30. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.0b013e3182a78fb1
- 100. Alam U, Jeziorska M, Petropoulos IN, Asghar O, Fadavi H, Ponirakis G, et al. Diagnostic utility of corneal confocal microscopy and intra-epidermal nerve fibre density in diabetic neuropathy. *PloS One* (2017) 12(7):e0180175. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180175
- 101. Ahmed A, Bril V, Orszag A, Paulson J, Yeung E, Ngo M, et al. Detection of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy by corneal confocal microscopy in type 1 diabetes: a concurrent validity study. *Diabetes Care* (2012) 35(4):821– 8. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1396
- 102. Chen X, Graham J, Dabbah MA, Petropoulos IN, Ponirakis G, Asghar O, et al. Small nerve fiber quantification in the diagnosis of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy: comparing corneal confocal microscopy with intraepidermal nerve fiber density. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(6):1138– 44. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2422
- 103. Lovblom LE, Halpern EM, Wu T, Kelly D, Ahmed A, Boulet G, et al. In Vivo Corneal Confocal Microscopy and Prediction of Future-Incident Neuropathy in Type 1 Diabetes: A Preliminary & Longitudinal Analysis. Can J Diabetes (2015) 39(5):390–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2015. 02.006
- 104. Perkins BA, Lovblom LE, Bril V, Scarr D, Ostrovski I, Orszag A, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy for identification of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy: a pooled multinational consortium study. *Diabetologia* (2018) 61(8):1856–61. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4653-8
- 105. Pritchard N, Edwards K, Russell AW, Perkins BA, Malik RA, Efron N. Corneal Confocal Microscopy Predicts 4-Year Incident Peripheral Neuropathy in Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(4):671–5. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2114
- 106. Scarr D, Lovblom LE, Lovshin JA, Boulet G, Farooqi MA, Orszag A, et al. Lower corneal nerve fibre length identifies diabetic neuropathy in older adults with diabetes: results from the Canadian Study of Longevity in Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2017) 60(12):2529–31. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4439-4
- 107. Tavakoli M, Begum P, McLaughlin J, Malik RA. Corneal confocal microscopy for the diagnosis of diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* (2015) 52(3):363–70. doi: 10.1002/mus.24553
- 108. Sharma S, Vas PR, Rayman G. Assessment of diabetic neuropathy using a point-of-care nerve conduction device shows significant associations with the LDIFLARE method and clinical neuropathy scoring. J Diabetes Sci Technol (2015) 9(1):123–31. doi: 10.1177/1932296814551044
- 109. Umapathi T, Tan WL, Loke SC, Soon PC, Tavintharan S, Chan YH. Intraepidermal nerve fiber density as a marker of early diabetic neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* (2007) 35(5):591–8. doi: 10.1002/mus.20732
- 110. Quattrini C, Tavakoli M, Jeziorska M, Kallinikos P, Tesfaye S, Finnigan J, et al. Surrogate markers of small fiber damage in human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes* (2007) 56(8):2148–54. doi: 10.2337/db07-0285
- 111. Lauria G, Hsieh ST, Johansson O, Kennedy WR, Leger JM, Mellgren SI, et al. European Federation of Neurological Societies/Peripheral Nerve Society Guideline on the use of skin biopsy in the diagnosis of small fiber neuropathy. Report of a joint task force of the European Federation of Neurological Societies and the Peripheral Nerve Society. *Eur J Neurol* (2010) 17(7):903–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03023.x
- 112. Lauria G, Cornblath DR, Johansson O, McArthur JC, Mellgren SI, Nolano M, et al. EFNS guidelines on the use of skin biopsy in the diagnosis of peripheral neuropathy. *Eur J Neurol* (2005) 12(10):747–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2005.01260.x
- 113. Provitera V, Nolano M, Stancanelli A, Caporaso G, Vitale DF, Santoro L. Intraepidermal nerve fiber analysis using immunofluorescence with and without confocal microscopy. *Muscle Nerve* (2015) 51(4):501–4. doi: 10.1002/mus.24338
- 114. Nolano M, Biasiotta A, Lombardi R, Provitera V, Stancanelli A, Caporaso G, et al. Epidermal innervation morphometry by immunofluorescence and

bright-field microscopy. J Peripher Nerv Syst (2015) 20(4):387-91. doi: 10.1111/jns.12146

- 115. Lauria G, Bakkers M, Schmitz C, Lombardi R, Penza P, Devigili G, et al. Intraepidermal nerve fiber density at the distal leg: a worldwide normative reference study. J Peripheral Nervous System (2010) 15(3):202–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8027.2010.00271.x
- Vlčková-Moravcová E, Bednařík J, Dušek L, Toyka KV, Sommer C. Diagnostic validity of epidermal nerve fiber densities in painful sensory neuropathies. *Muscle Nerve* (2008) 37(1):50–60. doi: 10.1002/mus.20889
- 117. Chien HF, Tseng TJ, Lin WM, Yang CC, Chang YC, Chen RC, et al. Quantitative pathology of cutaneous nerve terminal degeneration in the human skin. Acta Neuropathol (2001) 102(5):455–61. doi: 10.1007/ s004010100397
- 118. Shun CT, Chang YC, Wu HP, Hsieh SC, Lin WM, Lin YH, et al. Skin denervation in type 2 diabetes: correlations with diabetic duration and functional impairments. *Brain* (2004) 127(Pt 7):1593–605. doi: 10.1093/ brain/awh180
- 119. Lauria G, Morbin M, Lombardi R, Borgna M, Mazzoleni G, Sghirlanzoni A, et al. Axonal swellings predict the degeneration of epidermal nerve fibers in painful neuropathies. *Neurology* (2003) 61(5):631. doi: 10.1212/ 01.WNL.0000070781.92512.A4
- 120. Sorensen L, Molyneaux L, Yue DK. The relationship among pain, sensory loss, and small nerve fibers in diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29(4):883–7. doi: 10.2337/diacare.29.04.06.dc05-2180
- 121. Løseth S, Stålberg EV, Lindal S, Olsen E, Jorde R, Mellgren SI. Small and large fiber neuropathy in those with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: a 5-year follow-up study. *J Peripheral Nervous System* (2016) 21(1):15–21. doi: 10.1111/jns.12154
- 122. Malik RA, Veves A, Tesfaye S, Smith G, Cameron N, Zochodne D, et al. Small fibre neuropathy: role in the diagnosis of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2011) 27(7):678–84. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1222
- Illigens BMW, Gibbons CH. Sweat testing to evaluate autonomic function. *Clin Autonomic Res* (2008) 19(2):79–87. doi: 10.1007/s10286-008-0506-8
- 124. Tsapas A, Liakos A, Paschos P, Karagiannis T, Bekiari E, Tentolouris N, et al. A simple plaster for screening for diabetic neuropathy: a diagnostic test accuracy systematic review and meta-analysis. *Metabolism* (2014) 63(4):584– 92. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2013.11.019
- Tavakoli M, Quattrini C, Begum P, Fadavi H, Boulton A, Malik R. Neuropad and corneal confocal microscopy: new indicators for human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetologia* (2010) 53(S1112):443–4.
- 126. Ziegler D. Untersuchung von Polymorphismen in Kandidatengenen für periphere und kardiale autonome Neuropathie in einer bevölkerungsbezogenen Kohorte–Hans-Christian-Hagedorn-Projektförderung 2020–eine Kurzübersicht des Geförderten Dan Ziegler. *Diabetologie und Stoffwechsel* (2020) 15(06):450–3. doi: 10.1055/a-1247-1356
- 127. Ishibashi F, Kojima R, Kawasaki A, Yamanaka E, Kosaka A, Uetake H. Correlation between sudomotor function, sweat gland duct size and corneal nerve fiber pathology in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Invest (2014) 5(5):588–96. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12171
- 128. Papanas N, Giassakis G, Papatheodorou K, Papazoglou D, Monastiriotis C, Christakidis D, et al. Use of the New Indicator Test (Neuropad [®]) for the Assessment of the Staged Severity of Neuropathy in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Exp Clin Endocrinol diabetes: Off J German Soc Endocrinol [and] German Diabetes Assoc (2007) 115:58–61. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-955098
- 129. Manes C, Papanas N, Exiara T, Katsiki N, Papantoniou S, Kirlaki E, et al. The indicator test Neuropad in the assessment of small and overall nerve fibre dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes: a large multicentre study. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2014) 122(3):195–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1367061
- 130. Papanas N, Boulton AJ, Malik RA, Manes C, Schnell O, Spallone V, et al. A simple new non-invasive sweat indicator test for the diagnosis of diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Med* (2013) 30(5):525–34. doi: 10.1111/ dme.12000
- 131. Spallone V, Morganti R, Siampli M, Fedele T, D'Amato C, Cacciotti L, et al. Neuropad as a diagnostic tool for diabetic autonomic and sensorimotor neuropathy. *Diabetic Med* (2009) 26(7):686–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02760.x

- Mayaudon H, Miloche PO, Bauduceau B. A new simple method for assessing sudomotor function: Relevance in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab* (2010) 36 (6, Part 1):450–4. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2010.05.004
- 133. Gin H, Baudoin R, Raffaitin CH, Rigalleau V, Gonzalez C. Non-invasive and quantitative assessment of sudomotor function for peripheral diabetic neuropathy evaluation. *Diabetes Metab* (2011) 37(6):527–32. doi: 10.1016/ j.diabet.2011.05.003
- 134. Bordier L, Dolz M, Monteiro L, Névoret M-L, Calvet J-H, Bauduceau B. Accuracy of a Rapid and Non-Invasive Method for the Assessment of Small Fiber Neuropathy Based on Measurement of Electrochemical Skin Conductances. Front Endocrinol (2016) 7:7–18. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2016.00018
- 135. Mao F, Liu S, Qiao X, Zheng H, Xiong Q, Wen J, et al. Sudoscan is an effective screening method for asymptomatic diabetic neuropathy in Chinese type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. *J Diabetes Investig* (2017) 8(3):363–8. doi: 10.1111/ jdi.12575
- 136. Vinik AI, Smith AG, Singleton JR, Callaghan B, Freedman BI, Tuomilehto J, et al. Normative Values for Electrochemical Skin Conductances and Impact of Ethnicity on Quantitative Assessment of Sudomotor Function. *Diabetes Technol Ther* (2016) 18(6):391–8. doi: 10.1089/dia.2015.0396
- Novak P. Electrochemical Skin Conductance Correlates with Skin Nerve Fiber Density. Front Aging Neurosci (2016) 8:199. doi: 10.3389/ fnagi.2016.00199
- Rajan S, Campagnolo M, Callaghan B, Gibbons CH. Sudomotor function testing by electrochemical skin conductance: does it really measure sudomotor function? *Clin Autonomic Res* (2019) 29(1):31–9. doi: 10.1007/ s10286-018-0540-0
- 139. Ponirakis G, Odriozola MN, Odriozola S, Petropoulos IN, Azmi S, Fadavi H, et al. NerveCheck: An inexpensive quantitative sensory testing device for patients with diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2016) 113:101–7. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2015.12.023
- 140. Yarnitsky D, Granot M, Nahman-Averbuch H, Khamaisi M, Granovsky Y. Conditioned pain modulation predicts duloxetine efficacy in painful diabetic neuropathy. *PAIN* (2012) 153(6):1193–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2012.02.021
- 141. Rolke R, Magerl W, Campbell KA, Schalber C, Caspari S, Birklein F, et al. Quantitative sensory testing: a comprehensive protocol for clinical trials. *Eur J Pain* (2006) 10(1):77–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.02.003
- 142. Rolke R, Baron R, Maier C, Tölle TR, Treede RD, Beyer A, et al. Quantitative sensory testing in the German Research Network on Neuropathic Pain (DFNS): Standardized protocol and reference values. *Pain* (2006) 123 (3):231–43. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2006.01.041
- 143. Magerl W, Krumova EK, Baron R, Tölle T, Treede R-D, Maier C. Reference data for quantitative sensory testing (QST): Refined stratification for age and a novel method for statistical comparison of group data. *Pain* (2010) 151 (3):598–605. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.07.026
- 144. Dyck PJ, Dyck PJB, Kennedy WR, Kesserwani H, Melanson M, Ochoa J, et al. Limitations of quantitative sensory testing when patients are biased toward a bad outcome. *Neurology* (1998) 50(5). doi: 10.1212/WNL50.5.1213
- 145. Dyck PJ, Bushek W, Spring EM, Karnes JL, Litchy WJ, O'Brien PC, et al. Vibratory and cooling detection thresholds compared with other tests in diagnosing and staging diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (1987) 10(4):432– 40. doi: 10.2337/diacare.10.4.432
- 146. Backonja MM, Attal N, Baron R, Bouhassira D, Drangholt M, Dyck PJ, et al. Value of quantitative sensory testing in neurological and pain disorders: NeuPSIG consensus. *Pain* (2013) 154(9):1807–19. doi: 10.1016/ j.pain.2013.05.047
- 147. Attal N, Fermanian C, Fermanian J, Lanteri-Minet M, Alchaar H, Bouhassira D. Neuropathic pain: are there distinct subtypes depending on the aetiology or anatomical lesion? *Pain* (2008) 138(2):343–53. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2008.01.006
- 148. Attal N, Bouhassira D, Gautron M, Vaillant JN, Mitry E, Lepère C, et al. Thermal hyperalgesia as a marker of oxaliplatin neurotoxicity: A prospective quantified sensory assessment study. *Pain* (2009) 144(3):245–52. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2009.03.024
- 149. Malmström EM, Stjerna J, Högestätt ED, Westergren H. Quantitative sensory testing of temperature thresholds: Possible biomarkers for persistent pain? J Rehabil Med (2016) 48(1):43-7. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2024

- Price RC, Asenjo JF, Christou NV, Backman SB, Schweinhardt P. The role of excess subcutaneous fat in pain and sensory sensitivity in obesity. *Eur J Pain* (2013) 17(9):1316–26. doi: 10.1002/j.1532-2149.2013.00315.x
- 151. Meier PM, Berde CB, DiCanzio J, Zurakowski D, Sethna NF. Quantitative assessment of cutaneous thermal and vibration sensation and thermal pain detection thresholds in healthy children and adolescents. *Muscle Nerve* (2001) 24(10):1339–45. doi: 10.1002/mus.1153
- 152. Lysy Z, Lovblom LE, Halpern EM, Ngo M, Ng E, Orszag A, et al. Measurement of cooling detection thresholds for identification of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy in type 1 diabetes. *PloS One* (2014) 9(9): e106995. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0106995
- 153. Krämer HH, Rolke R, Bickel A, Birklein F. Thermal thresholds predict painfulness of diabetic neuropathies. *Diabetes Care* (2004) 27(10):2386–91. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.10.2386
- 154. Müller LJ, Marfurt CF, Kruse F, Tervo TMT. Corneal nerves: structure, contents and function. *Exp Eye Res* (2003) 76(5):521–42. doi: 10.1016/S0014-4835(03)00050-2
- 155. Marfurt C, Anokwute MC, Fetcko K, Mahony-Perez E, Farooq H, Ross E, et al. Comparative Anatomy of the Mammalian Corneal Subbasal Nerve Plexus. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2019) 60(15):4972–84. doi: 10.1167/iovs.19-28519
- 156. Kalteniece A, Ferdousi M, Petropoulos I, Azmi S, Adam S, Fadavi H, et al. Greater corneal nerve loss at the inferior whorl is related to the presence of diabetic neuropathy and painful diabetic neuropathy. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8 (1):3283. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21643-z
- Tavakoli M, Petropoulos IN, Malik RA. Corneal confocal microscopy to assess diabetic neuropathy: an eye on the foot. J Diabetes Sci Technol (2013) 7 (5):1179–89. doi: 10.1177/193229681300700509
- Tavakoli M, Hossain P, Malik RA. Clinical applications of corneal confocal microscopy. Clin Ophthalmol (Auckland NZ) (2008) 2(2):435–45. doi: 10.2147/OPTH.S1490
- 159. Hertz P, Bril V, Orszag A, Ahmed A, Ng E, Nwe P, et al. Reproducibility of *in vivo* corneal confocal microscopy as a novel screening test for early diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Med* (2011) 28(10):1253–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03299.x
- 160. Oliveira-Soto L, Efron N. Morphology of corneal nerves using confocal microscopy. Cornea (2001) 20(4):374–84. doi: 10.1097/00003226-200105000-00008
- 161. Maddaloni E, Sabatino F, Del Toro R, Crugliano S, Grande S, Lauria Pantano A, et al. In vivo corneal confocal microscopy as a novel non-invasive tool to investigate cardiac autonomic neuropathy in Type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Med* (2015) 32(2):262–6. doi: 10.1111/dme.12583
- 162. Ishibashi F, Kojima R, Taniguchi M, Kosaka A, Uetake H, Tavakoli M. The Expanded Bead Size of Corneal C-Nerve Fibers Visualized by Corneal Confocal Microscopy Is Associated with Slow Conduction Velocity of the Peripheral Nerves in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Diabetes Res (2016) 7. doi: 10.1155/2016/3653459
- 163. Labbé A, Alalwani H, Van Went C, Brasnu E, Georgescu D, Baudouin C. The relationship between subbasal nerve morphology and corneal sensation in ocular surface disease. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2012) 53(8):4926–31. doi: 10.1167/iovs.11-8708
- 164. del Castillo JMB, Wasfy MAS, Fernandez C, Garcia-Sanchez J. An In Vivo Confocal Masked Study on Corneal Epithelium and Subbasal Nerves in Patients with Dry Eye. *Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci* (2004) 45(9):3030–5. doi: 10.1167/iovs.04-0251
- 165. Petropoulos IN, Ferdousi M, Marshall A, Alam U, Ponirakis G, Azmi S, et al. The Inferior Whorl For Detecting Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy Using Corneal Confocal Microscopy. *Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci* (2015) 56 (4):2498–504. doi: 10.1167/iovs.14-15919
- 166. Kowtharapu BS, Winter K, Marfurt C, Allgeier S, Kohler B, Hovakimyan M, et al. Comparative quantitative assessment of the human corneal sub-basal nerve plexus by *in vivo* confocal microscopy and histological staining. *Eye* (*Lond*) (2017) 31(3):481–90. doi: 10.1038/eye.2016.220
- 167. Brines M, Culver DA, Ferdousi M, Tannemaat MR, van Velzen M, Dahan A, et al. Corneal nerve fiber size adds utility to the diagnosis and assessment of therapeutic response in patients with small fiber neuropathy. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8 (1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23107-w
- 168. Chen X, Graham J, Dabbah MA, Petropoulos IN, Tavakoli M, Malik RA. An Automatic Tool for Quantification of Nerve Fibers in Corneal Confocal

Microscopy Images. IEEE Trans BioMed Eng (2017) 64(4):786–94. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2016.2573642

- 169. Dana MR. Corneal Antigen-Presenting Cells: Diversity, Plasticity, and Disguise The Cogan Lecture. *Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci* (2004) 45 (3):722–7. doi: 10.1167/iovs.03-0803
- 170. Kalogeropoulos D, Papoudou-Bai A, Lane M, Goussia A, Charchanti A, Moschos M, et al. Antigen-presenting cells in ocular surface diseases. *Int Ophthalmol* (2020) 40:1603–18. doi: 10.1007/s10792-020-01329-0
- 171. Alzahrani Y, Colorado LH, Pritchard N, Efron N. Longitudinal changes in Langerhans cell density of the cornea and conjunctiva in contact lensinduced dry eye. *Clin Exp Optom* (2017) 100(1):33–40. doi: 10.1111/ cxo.12399
- Resch MD, Marsovszky L, Németh J, Bocskai M, Kovács L, Balog A. Dry eye and corneal langerhans cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Ophthalmol (2015) 2015:543835. doi: 10.1155/2015/543835
- 173. Machetta F, Fea AM, Actis AG, de Sanctis U, Dalmasso P, Grignolo FM. In vivo confocal microscopic evaluation of corneal langerhans cells in dry eye patients. Open Ophthalmol J (2014) 8:51-9. doi: 10.2174/ 1874364101408010051
- 174. Su P-Y, Hu F-R, Chen Y-M, Han J-H, Chen W-L. Dendritiform Cells Found in Central Cornea by In-Vivo Confocal Microscopy in a Patient with Mixed Bacterial Keratitis. *Ocular Immunol inflammation* (2006) 14:241–4. doi: 10.1080/09273940600732398
- 175. Wu LQ, Cheng JW, Cai JP, Le QH, Ma XY, Gao LD, et al. Observation of Corneal Langerhans Cells by In Vivo Confocal Microscopy in Thyroid-Associated Ophthalmopathy. *Curr Eye Res* (2016) 41(7):927–32. doi: 10.3109/02713683.2015.1133833
- 176. Zhivov A, Stave J, Vollmar B, Guthoff R. In vivo confocal microscopic evaluation of Langerhans cell density and distribution in the normal human corneal epithelium. *Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmology* (2005) 243 (10):1056–61. doi: 10.1007/s00417-004-1075-8
- 177. Tavakoli M, Boulton AJM, Efron N, Malik RA. Increased Langerhan cell density and corneal nerve damage in diabetic patients: role of immune mechanisms in human diabetic neuropathy. *Contact lens anterior eye: J Br Contact Lens Assoc* (2011) 34(1):7–11. doi: 10.1016/j.clae.2010.08.007
- Rosenberg ME, Tervo TM, Immonen IJ, Müller LJ, Grönhagen-Riska C, Vesaluoma MH. Corneal structure and sensitivity in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2000) 41(10):2915–21.
- 179. Malik RA, Kallinikos P, Abbott CA, van Schie CHM, Morgan P, Efron N, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy: a non-invasive surrogate of nerve fibre damage and repair in diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* (2003) 46(5):683–8. doi: 10.1007/s00125-003-1086-8
- 180. Midena E, Brugin E, Ghirlando A, Sommavilla M, Avogaro A. Corneal diabetic neuropathy: a confocal microscopy study. J Refract Surg (2006) 22:1047–52. doi: 10.3928/1081-597X-20061102-08
- 181. Bitirgen G, Turkmen K, Malik RA, Ozkagnici A, Zengin N. Corneal confocal microscopy detects corneal nerve damage and increased dendritic cells in Fabry disease. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1). doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30688-z
- Che N-N, Yang H-Q. Potential use of corneal confocal microscopy in the diagnosis of Parkinson's disease associated neuropathy. *Transl Neurodegener* (2020) 9(1). doi: 10.1186/s40035-020-00204-3
- 183. Cruzat A, Qazi Y, Hamrah P. In Vivo Confocal Microscopy of Corneal Nerves in Health and Disease. Ocul Surf (2017) 15(1):15–47. doi: 10.1016/ j.jtos.2016.09.004
- 184. Tavakoli M, Marshall A, Banka S, Petropoulos IN, Fadavi H, Kingston H, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects small-fiber neuropathy in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 1A patients. *Muscle Nerve* (2012) 46 (5):698–704. doi: 10.1002/mus.23377
- 185. Tavakoli M, Marshall A, Thompson L, Kenny M, Waldek S, Efron N, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy: A novel noninvasive means to diagnose neuropathy in patients with fabry disease. *Muscle Nerve* (2009) 40(6):976– 84. doi: 10.1002/mus.21383
- 186. Tavakoli M, Mitu-Pretorian M, Petropoulos IN, Fadavi H, Asghar O, Alam U, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects early nerve regeneration in diabetic neuropathy after simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(1):254–60. doi: 10.2337/db12-0574
- 187. Halpern EM, Lovblom LE, Orlov S, Ahmed A, Bril V, Perkins BA. The impact of common variation in the definition of diabetic sensorimotor

polyneuropathy on the validity of corneal *in vivo* confocal microscopy in patients with type 1 diabetes: a brief report. *J Diabetes its Complications* (2013) 27(3):240–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2012.10.011

- 188. Tavakoli M, Ferdousi M, Petropoulos IN, Morris J, Pritchard N, Zhivov A, et al. Normative values for corneal nerve morphology assessed using corneal confocal microscopy: a multinational normative data set. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(5):838–43. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2311
- 189. Pritchard N, Edwards K, Dehghani C, Fadavi H, Jeziorska M, Marshall A, et al. Longitudinal assessment of neuropathy in type 1 diabetes using novel ophthalmic markers (LANDMark): study design and baseline characteristics. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2014) 104(2):248–56. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.02.011
- 190. Edwards K, Pritchard N, Vagenas D, Russell A, Malik RA, Efron N. Utility of corneal confocal microscopy for assessing mild diabetic neuropathy: baseline findings of the LANDMark study. *Clin Exp Optometry* (2012) 95(3):348–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1444-0938.2012.00740.x
- 191. Ziegler D, Papanas N, Zhivov A, Allgeier S, Winter K, Ziegler I, et al. Early detection of nerve fiber loss by corneal confocal microscopy and skin biopsy in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2014) 63(7):2454–63. doi: 10.2337/db13-1819
- 192. Asghar O, Petropoulos IN, Alam U, Jones W, Jeziorska M, Marshall A, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects neuropathy in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(9):2643–6. doi: 10.2337/dc14-0279
- 193. Kawamoto K, Chikama T, Takahashi N, Nishida T. In vivo observation of Langerhans cells by laser confocal microscopy in Thygeson's superficial punctate keratitis. *Mol Vis* (2009) 15:1456–62.
- 194. Dauch JR, Bender DE, Luna-Wong LA, Hsieh W, Yanik BM, Kelly ZA, et al. Neurogenic factor-induced Langerhans cell activation in diabetic mice with mechanical allodynia. J Neuroinflamm (2013) 10:64. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-64
- 195. Davidson EP, Coppey LJ, Holmes A, Lupachyk S, Dake BL, Oltman CL, et al. Characterization of diabetic neuropathy in the Zucker diabetic Sprague-Dawley rat: a new animal model for type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Res (2014) e714273. doi: 10.1155/2014/714273
- 196. Leppin K, Behrendt AK, Reichard M, Stachs O, Guthoff RF, Baltrusch S, et al. Diabetes mellitus leads to accumulation of dendritic cells and nerve fiber damage of the subbasal nerve plexus in the cornea. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2014) 55(6):3603–15. doi: 10.1167/iovs.14-14307
- 197. Hamrah P, Zhang Q, Liu Y, Dana MR. Novel characterization of MHC class II-negative population of resident corneal Langerhans cell-type dendritic cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2002) 43(3):639–46.
- 198. Ferdousi M, Romanchuk K, Mah JK, Virtanen H, Millar C, Malik RA, et al. Early corneal nerve fibre damage and increased Langerhans cell density in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):8758. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-019-45116-z
- 199. Basantsova NY, Starshinova AA, Dori A, Zinchenko YS, Yablonskiy PK, Shoenfeld Y. Small-fiber neuropathy definition, diagnosis, and treatment. *Neurol Sci* (2019) 40(7):1343–50. doi: 10.1007/s10072-019-03871-x
- 200. Halpern EM, Lovblom LE, Orlov S, Bril V, Perkins BA eds. The existence of rapid small fiber decline in type 1 diabetes: a potential proxy for neuropathy progression using in vivo corneal confocal microscopy. In: 22nd Annual Meeting of the Diabetic Neuropathy Study Group. Dresden, Germany (2013).
- 201. Edwards K, Pritchard N, Dehghani C, Vagenas D, Russell A, Malik RA, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy best identifies the development and progression of neuropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Complications (2017) 31(8):1325–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.04.025
- 202. Azmi S, Ferdousi M, Petropoulos IN, Ponirakis G, Alam U, Fadavi H, et al. Corneal Confocal Microscopy Identifies Small-Fiber Neuropathy in Subjects With Impaired Glucose Tolerance Who Develop Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(8):1502–8. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2733
- 203. Tavakoli M, Kallinikos P, Iqbal A, Herbert A, Fadavi H, Efron N, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects improvement in corneal nerve morphology with an improvement in risk factors for diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetic Med: J Br Diabetic Assoc* (2011) 28(10):1261–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03372.x
- 204. Mehra S, Tavakoli M, Kallinikos PA, Efron N, Boulton AJ, Augustine T, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects early nerve regeneration after pancreas

transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2007) 30 (10):2608-12. doi: 10.2337/dc07-0870

- 205. Lewis EJH, Perkins BA, Lovblom LE, Bazinet RP, Wolever TMS, Bril V. Effect of omega-3 supplemensstation on neuropathy in type 1 diabetes: A 12month pilot trial. *Neurology* (2017) 88(24):2294–301. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.0000000000004033
- 206. Brines M, Dunne AN, van Velzen M, Proto PL, Ostenson C-G, Kirk RI, et al. ARA 290, a nonerythropoietic peptide engineered from erythropoietin, improves metabolic control and neuropathic symptoms in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Mol Med (Cambridge Mass)* (2015) 20(1):658–66. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2014.00215

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Carmichael, Fadavi, Ishibashi, Shore and Tavakoli. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

GLOSSARY

ACCORD	Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes
ACE	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme
BFI	Bright Field Immunohistochemistry
BMI	Body Mass Index
CCM	Corneal Confocal Microscopy
CNBD	Corneal Nerve Branch Density
CNFA	Corneal Nerve Fiber Area
CNFD	Corneal Nerve Fiber Density
CNFL	Corneal Nerve Fiber Length
CNFW	Corneal Nerve Fiber Width
CNS	Central Nervous System
CTBD	Corneal Total Branch Density
DAN	Diabetic Autonomic Neuropathy
DN4	Douleur Neuropathique en 4
DNE	Diabetic Neuropathy Examination
DNS	Diabetic Neuropathy Score
DPN	Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy
DSPN	Distal Symmetrical Polyneuropathy
EDIC	Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications
ESC	Electrochemical Skin Conductance
HbA1c	Glycated Hemoglobin
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HES	Hospital Eye Service
HRT	Heidelberg Retinal Tomograph
IENFD	Intra-epidermal Nerve Fiber Density
IF	Indirect Immunofluorescence
IGT	Impaired Glucose Tolerance
IWL	Inferior Whorl Length
LANSS	Leeds Assessment of Neuropathic Symptoms and Signs
LC	Langerhans Cell
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein
MNDS	Michigan Neuropathy Disability Score
MNSI	Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MTHFR	Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase
NCS NDS	Nerve Conduction Studies
NeuPSIG	Neuropathy Disability Score
NEURODIAB	International Association for the Study of Pain Diabetic Neuropathy Study Group of the European Association for
NEURODIAD	the Study of Diabetes
NIS-LL	Neuropathy Impairment Score in the Lower Limbs
NPQ	Neuropathic Pain Questionnaire
NPQ	Negative Predictive Value
NPSI	Neuropathic Pain Symptom Inventory
NSS	Neuropathy Symptoms Score
QSART	Quantitative Sudomotor Axon Testing
QST	Quantitative Sensory Testing
SFN	Small Fiber Neuropathy
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TC	Tortuosity Coefficient
TCNS	Toronto Clinical Neuropathy Score
UENS	Utah Early Neuropathy Scale





Gold Standard for Diagnosis of DPN

Yongchun Yu*

Department of Endocrinology, Lhasa People's Hospital, Lhasa, China

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is a common complication of diabetes mellitus. It often causes symmetrical paresthesia, loss of sensation, and hyperalgesia. Without early intervention, it might lead to diabetic foot ulceration, gangrene, and subsequent amputation in people with diabetes. DPN is an insidious disease and often underdiagnosed. This paper reviews the current national and international prevalence of DPN, screening methods for early DPN, including quantitative sensory measurement, neurological function scoring system, confocal microscopy, and high-frequency ultrasound, and summarizes the related research progress, clinical application, and development prospects of these methods in recent years.

Keywords: DPN, QST, neurological scoring system, CCM, HFUS

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rayaz A. Malik, Weill Cornell Medicine, Qatar

Reviewed by:

Uazman Alam, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom Georgios Ponirakis, Weill Cornell Medicine, Qatar

> ***Correspondence:** Yongchun Yu yyycc122@21cn.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 02 June 2021 Accepted: 30 July 2021 Published: 26 October 2021

Citation:

Yu Y (2021) Gold Standard for Diagnosis of DPN. Front. Endocrinol. 12:719356. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.719356

INTRODUCTION

The global prevalence of diabetes in 2019 is close to 500 million, and is expected to increase by 51% in 2045 (1). According to the Chinese diabetes epidemiological survey, the total prevalence of diabetes and the prevalence of prediabetes are 9.7% (10.6% for men and 8.8% for women) and 15.5%, respectively (2). Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is a common chronic complication of diabetes and mainly involves the small nerve fibers. It is diagnosed after the exclusion of other peripheral neuropathies, including autoimmune diseases (Sjogren's syndrome, lupus, rheumatoid arthritis), infections (HIV, hepatitis B and C), inherited (Charcot-Marie-Tooth), inflammatory (CIDP), tumors, vitamin B12 deficiency, hypothyroidism, alcoholism, and injury or pressure on the nerve. According to the Toronto DPN international consensus for DPN, a definite diagnosis requires at least one symptom and/or at least one sign of neuropathy and abnormality in NCS (3). However, the evaluation of abnormal myelinated nerve fibers in nerve conduction studies, including tactile, proprioceptive, vibration, and motor functions, is the late manifestation of DPN (4). On the contrary, small nerve fiber defects that affect C and A of the pulpless or thin pulp δ nerve fibers involved in thermal response, pain, and autonomic nervous function are thought to occur earlier in DPN (5). Prediabetes, persistent or sporadic pain is usually manifested in the absence of clinically detectable neuropathy, suggesting small nerve fiber defects. Intra-epidermal nerve fiber density from skin biopsy and corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) can detect small nerve fiber damage in prediabetes. Prediabetes is a risk factor for chronic axonal polyneuropathy, which is consistent with the initial involvement of small nerve fibers. This is the main cause of neuropathic pain and incidence rate, and also the starting factor of diabetic foot ulcers (6).

The onset of the disease is insidious and the progress is slow. A small number of patients show neuralgia, while most of the patients may not show symptoms in the early stage and progress to the

late stage. Late DPN can cause serious complications, such as diabetic foot ulcers, gangrene, and subsequent amputations, which seriously affect the quality of life of people with diabetes and brings a heavy economic burden.

DPN has a higher incidence in people with diabetes. Studies have shown that almost 50% of people with diabetes will have DPN (7), and in some areas, it can even be as high as 60% to 90% (8). In an epidemiological survey of patients with type 2 diabetes in eight communities in Wuhan and Changshu, China, it was found that the total prevalence of DPN was as high as 71.2% (9). With the improvement of social and economic level, the prevalence of diabetes in children and adolescents is also increasing, and the number of diabetes-related complications such as DPN has also increased (10). Some small cross-sectional studies have shown that the prevalence of DPN in children and adolescents with diabetes ranges from 5% to 62% (11, 12). In the United States, the prevalence of DPN in 1,734 patients with T1D and 258 patients with T2D was 7% and 22%, respectively (7). In Australia, the prevalence of DPN in 1,433 patients with T1D and 68 patients with T2D under 18 years old was 21% and 27% (13), respectively; In Denmark, the prevalence of DPN among 339 T1D adolescents was 62% (14).

The pathogenesis of DPN is complicated and has not yet been fully elucidated. The treatment is limited to intensive blood glucose control and symptomatic treatment. Studies have found that in the early stage of type 1 diabetes, paying attention to DPN and optimizing blood glucose management and control can effectively prevent or delay the occurrence of peripheral neuropathy (14). However, the progress of peripheral neuropathy can only be slowed down by management treatment for type 2 diabetes patients with DPN, but the loss of nerve cells is irreversible (15). Therefore, it is very important to screen and diagnose the peripheral neuropathy of people with diabetes in the early stage and take effective targeted measures in the treatment of DPN.

DIAGNOSTIC GOLD STANDARD OF DPN

DPN is defined as "the presence of symptoms and/or signs of peripheral nerve dysfunction in people with diabetes after the exclusion of other causes". Neuropathy includes the manifestations of the somatic and/or autonomic parts of the peripheral nervous system. It is recommended that there are at least two abnormalities from symptoms, signs, abnormal nerve conduction, quantitative sensory test, or quantitative autonomic nerve test (16). Peripheral neuropathy includes all the conditions leading to the injury of peripheral nervous system and is classified according to the site of nerve injury. Distal symmetrical polyneuropathy (DSP), mononeuropathy, and lumbar/cervical radiculopathy are the most common peripheral neuropathies. The rare sites of peripheral neuropathy include diffuse, lengthindependent neuropathy, multiple mononeuropathy, multiple radiculopathy, plexopathy, and nerve root exocrine neuropathy. Currently, the diagnosis of DPN is mainly based on characteristic symptoms and signs. Nerve conduction studies (NCS) is one of the gold standard techniques for diagnosing DPN (17). It evaluates the occurrence and development of DPN by detecting the ability of peripheral nerve to transmit electrical signals in patients with DN. NCS has the characteristics of being quantifiable, objective, and sensitive, but it has the following disadvantages: timeconsuming, high cost, poor experience, and the need for professional doctors to operate. It is difficult to implement in large sample screening (18). Moreover, NCS is also limited to evaluating large nerve fibers, while small nerve fibers are the first to be affected in DPN patients. These small fiber neuropathies cannot be evaluated by standard electrophysiological tests (19). The application of electrophysiology should be promoted only when the clinical presentation is atypical or the diagnosis is unclear (20). Therefore, it is necessary to apply some simple and effective methods to screen DPN for early intervention and control.

EARLY SCREENING METHODS FOR DPN

Quantitative Sensory Testing

Quantitative sensory testing (QST) is a technique for evaluating sensory neuropathy. It detects small fiber and large fiber neuropathy through standardized and quantified sensory differences such as stimulation, vibration, and temperature. Compared with NCS, this method is noninvasive and easy to operate. In people with diabetes, sensory dysfunction precedes symptoms such as painful neuropathy and foot ulcers (21). QST, which can reliably measure sensory loss and threshold, provides standardized and quantified stimuli and quantifies response levels. Brown et al. (22) found that cold and hot QST could detect the obvious changes of neurological function in patients with mild to moderate DPN after 12 months, while other indicators (vibration QST, neuropathy score, and monofilament examination) were not sensitive to the changes of neurological function in this population. However, the repeatability of QST has always been a difficult problem in clinical application, and there are significant differences between the treatment courses of the same patient. Relevant studies have shown that according to the severity of neuropathy, the sensitivity of the heat test is variable, with cold damage being 27%–98%, heat damage being 22%–98% (19), vibration testing sensitivity being 58%-84%, and the specificity being 51%-86% (23). A QST-based neural test is used to evaluate vibration perception threshold (VPT), cold perception threshold (CPT), warming perception threshold (WPT), and heat pain perception threshold (HPT). Its sensitivity to vibration test is as high as 84%, and its specificity is as high as 81%. Its sensitivity to heat test is high, and its specificity is medium, and has good repeatability and diagnostic accuracy in evaluating sensory loss (24). In China, Sun Yukai et al. believe that the sensitivity and specificity of VPT for DPN were 85.19% and 88.68%, respectively, and can be used for early screening of DPN lesions (25).

QST also has its limitations. First of all, QST can detect the integrity of the entire sensory nerve axis, which has no value in localization. Secondly, QST is a psychosomatic test, which lacks

the objectivity of NCS, and its results will change due to distraction, boredom, mental fatigue, drowsiness, or confusion. When patients consciously or unconsciously prefer abnormal QST results, no psychophysical test can reliably distinguish these patients from patients with organic diseases. Moreover, most of the QST measuring instruments are expensive, the cost is high, the test results are complex, and it is difficult to quantify sensory defects and other factors that hinder the wide application of QST in clinical practice (26).

Clinical Neurological Function Scoring System

The clinical neurological function scoring system is mainly used in epidemiological surveys for early screening and evaluation of DPN, which helps to grade the severity of the disease and can quantitatively evaluate clinical indicators such as physical examination. Currently, commonly used neurological scoring scales include Michigan neuropathy screening instrument (MNSI), Toronto clinical scoring system (TCSS), neuropathy symptom score (NSS), and neuropathy disability score (NDS).

MNSI was first proposed in 1994 (27), including patient questionnaire and physical examination. The total score is 10 points, and more than 2 points are considered abnormal. It is widely used in clinical practice and large-scale clinical trials to evaluate distal symmetrical peripheral neuropathy, including action to control cardiovascular risk in diabetes (ACCORD) (28) and bypass angioplasty revascularization investigation 2 diabetes (BARI 2D) (29). MDNS includes three parts: toe sensation, distal muscle strength of limbs, and tendon reflex score. The total score is 46 points, and >6 points are considered abnormal. Domestic research has found that the abnormal detection rate of MDNS is 84.5%, the abnormal detection rate of TCSS is 62.0%, the abnormal detection rate of NCV is 76.0%, and the abnormal detection rate of the combination of the three is 91.5%. The sensitivity of MDNS and TCSS are 92.9% and 77.6%, the specificity are 51.6% and 87.1%, the accuracy are 82.9% and 79.8%, the positive predictive value are 85.8% and 95.0%, the negative predictive value are 69.6.% and 55.1%, Youden coefficients are 0.445 and 0.647, Kappa values are 0.488 and 0.539 (p < 0.05), and AUC are 0.837 and 0.875, respectively (30). The MNSI composite index has advantages in DPN mid-term screening. TCSS can be used for DPN classification, and its combined application can increase the detection rate of DPN. Some domestic studies believe that with an MNS score of 4 points being the segmentation point (31) and a TCSS score of 5 points being the segmentation point (32), neurological abnormalities can be better diagnosed in China, and the detection rate of DPN has been significantly improved. The limitation of MNS is that when it is used in type 1 people with diabetes with relatively young age, long course of disease, and low prevalence of distal symmetric peripheral neuropathy, the positive predictive value is low and the false positive is high (33).

NSS is scored according to the symptoms, location, and pain relief methods of lower limbs; NDS is scored according to ankle reflex, dorsalis pedis acupuncturing sensation, toe vibration sensation, and temperature sensation. DPN is a mainly axonal disease that gradually develops from the distal end to the proximal end. The nerve damage starts from the most distal end of the limb (34). Early DPN generally occurs in the upper limbs and other parts. In the early stage, sensory neuropathy is more obvious than motor nerve (35). Therefore, NSS and NDS assess lower limb neurosensory function and can be used as a screening tool for early DPN. Liu Wenqu used NSS/NDS to diagnose 679 patients with type 2 diabetes. The results showed that the sensitivity and specificity were 68.0% and 77.2%, respectively, and the positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and Youden index were 86.5%, 53.5%, and 45.2% respectively, suggesting that NSS/NDS has good application value for early screening of DPN patients (36).

Corneal Confocal Microscope

Corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) is a non-invasive ophthalmic imaging technique for assessing the corneal nerve fiber morphology. With the use of an imaging software, the corneal nerve fiber morphology can be objectively quantified to the corneal nerve fiber density (CNFD), length (CNFL), and branch density (CNBD) of people with diabetes (37).

The application of CCM in diabetes was first proposed about 20 years ago (38), but at that time, due to the limited availability of equipment in general ophthalmology practice, the lack of experts with relevant professional knowledge in corneal scanning, the small field of vision of confocal microscope, the lack of clear consensus on the number of images needed for representative quantitative analysis, and other limitations, it was limited in clinical practice. In addition, severe dry eyes, severe corneal dystrophies, ocular trauma or surgery in the preceding 6 months, and glaucoma can affect the corneal nerve fiber morphology (39).

CCM has experienced three main development stages, namely, series scanning CCM, classified scanning CCM, and laser scanning CCM. At present, it is widely used in clinic. In the field of diabetes, the decrease of corneal nerve density was observed in diabetic animal models. After that, it was found that there were also some changes in the morphology of corneal nerve fibers in diabetic patients, and there was a certain correlation with the degree of peripheral neuropathy. Kallinikos and other scholars believe that this change in nerve fiber morphology is closely related to systemic neuropathy. Therefore, we can observe the changes of corneal nerve fibers through CCM to evaluate DPN.

The literature on the use of IVCM to quantify diabetic neuropathy shows that the density of the corneal basal nerve fibers and the curvature of nerve fibers in diabetic patients are increased. These nerve fiber changes are related to the stage or severity of peripheral neuropathy (39). In addition, ivcm can detect early peripheral neuropathy because the decrease of nerve density precedes the damage of corneal sensitivity. The significant correlation between corneal and cutaneous nerve degeneration in DPN strengthens the evidence that IVCM is a valuable tool for the diagnosis and assessment of DPN (40).

A meta-analysis on the value of CCM in the early diagnosis of DPN confirmed that compared with healthy controls and people with diabetes without DPN, CNFD, CNBD, and CNFL of DPN patients were significantly reduced, and CCM can detect corneal nerve changes in DPN patients (41). In a longitudinal study, 89 patients with type 1 diabetes and 64 healthy subjects were subjected to CCM and clinical and electrophysiological examinations at the same time. Among them, the CCM parameters of DNP subjects were significantly reduced, and the threshold of CNFL \leq 14.0 mm/mm (2) optimized the sensitivity and specificity of the diagnosis of DNP (sensitivity 85%, specificity 84%) (42).

However, CCM has the advantages of non-invasiveness, simple operation, short surface anesthesia time, and accurate and dynamic observation of corneal nerve changes, among others. In recent years, with the advancement of CCM technology including automatic scanning and analysis and wide-area imaging (43), it has a good application prospect for the evaluation of small nerve fiber damage in DPN, early diagnosis, and treatment effect evaluation.

High-Frequency Ultrasound

High-frequency ultrasound was first used in the clinical diagnosis of DPN as a supplement to NCS. It measures the size, blood vessels, echo, and mobility of the diseased nerve to show the damage of the nerve tissue, which can effectively improve the diagnostic efficiency of DPN and reduce the missed diagnosis rate and the misdiagnosis rate (44). In patients with DPN, the crosssectional area (CSA) and longitudinal section of the nerve are increased, and the echogenicity of the nerve, the boundary ambiguity, and the blood flow in the nerve are also significantly increased. The mean CSA in the examined nerves was higher in moderate to severe DPN than the mild DPN (45). Highresolution ultrasound has unique diagnostic advantages for early or subclinical neuropathy. High-frequency ultrasound can detect subclinical involvement of peripheral nerves and abnormalities in patients with normal electrical diagnosis (46).

Studies have shown that the maximum thickness of the median nerve and posterior tibial nerve tract, CSA, and hypoechoic area in people with diabetes are closely related to the degree of neuropathy (p < 0.0001) and are significantly greater than the control group (p < 0.05) (47), suggesting that high-frequency ultrasound can also be used to grade the severity of DPN. A study shows that the sensitivity and specificity of CSA and vascular proliferation in detecting DPN-induced carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) are 90.9%, 94.0%, 93.4%, and 90.0%, respectively. The severity of CTS is significantly related to various stages of vascular proliferation, and high-frequency ultrasound can be used to diagnose CTS early and estimate its severity (48). However, some studies have found that NCS is more sensitive than ultrasound when determining the severity of ulnar neuropathy, especially in mild or moderate neuropathy (49).

The ultrasound image of DPN lacks a unified definition, and its results are easily affected by the subjective factors of the examiner. Therefore, it is necessary to establish a complete and unified ultrasound image quantitative scoring system. Some ultrasound scoring systems have been developed. For example, the Bochum ultrasound score (BUS) can effectively distinguish between subacute chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) and acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (AIDP) (sensitivity 90%, specificity 90.4%) (50). The DCEC scoring system uses the total scores of definition, CSA, echo, and nerve entrapment as quantitative evaluation indicators. The critical value of peripheral nerves in the arms and legs is 14.5, which is a good indicator of the presence or absence of DPN (the area under the curve is 0.85) (sensitivity is 0.81; specificity is 0.80) (51).

In addition, the newly developed ultrasound elastography can evaluate the neuroelasticity of DPN. As a new type of instrument, it can measure the hardness or elasticity of the tissue, reflecting the change of the elasticity of the compressed tissue with the degree of tissue deformation (52). Few studies have previously evaluated the changes in peripheral nerve elasticity in patients with DPN, but some studies have shown that this may be a new breakthrough point. The thickening of the peripheral nerve sheath fibers leads to changes in the elasticity of the tibial nerve in type 2 people with diabetes. The nerve stiffness of people with diabetes without clinical or electrophysiological signs of DPN was significantly higher than that of the control group, with a critical stiffness value of 51.05 kPa, a sensitivity of 90%, and a specificity of 85% (53, 54).

High-frequency ultrasound has the advantages of noninvasiveness and good repeatability, and has broad application prospects in the auxiliary diagnosis and prognosis judgment of DPN. The combination of ultrasound and nerve conduction examination can improve the diagnostic value of DPN and avoid missed diagnosis and misdiagnosis. It is helpful to evaluate the severity and prognosis of DPN with fuzzy boundary, enlarged CSA, and hypoechoic area, but it has certain limitations for the exploration of the deep neuromuscular plexus and lumbosacral plexus. With the popularity of high-resolution ultrasound, especially shear wave elastography, it is expected to replace neuroelectrophysiological examination in the diagnosis of DPN.

In summary, the above methods and technologies have their own advantages and disadvantages and need to be verified and further developed by large samples. They have not been widely used at present and are generally used as a supplement to traditional neuroelectrophysiological examinations. In clinical practice, it is still necessary to establish a unified, accurate, and convenient early screening method and diagnostic grading method for DPN, so as to quantitatively assess the degree of nerve damage, carry out early intervention and management, and improve the quality of life of DPN patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, et al. Global and Regional Diabetes Prevalence Estimates for 2019 and Projections for 2030 and 2045: Results From the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th Edition. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2019) 157:107843. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843
- Whiting DR, Guariguata L, Weil C, Shaw J. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global Estimates of the Prevalence of Diabetes for 2011 and 2030. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2011) 94(3). doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2011.10.029
- Tesfaye S, Boulton AJM, Dyck PJ, Freeman R, Horowitz M, Kempler P, et al. Diabetic Neuropathies: Update on Definitions, Diagnostic Criteria, Estimation of Severity, and Treatments. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33:2285–93. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1303
- Alam U, Riley DR, Jugdey RS, Azmi S, Rajbhandari S, D'Août K, et al. Diabetic Neuropathy and Gait: A Review. *Diabetes Ther* (2017) 8:1253–64. doi: 10.1007/s13300-017-0295-y
- Hovaguimian A, Gibbons CH. Diagnosis and Treatment of Pain in Small-Fiber Neuropathy. *Curr Pain Headache Rep* (2011) 15:193–200. doi: 10.1007/ s11916-011-0181-7
- Kirthi V, Perumbalath A, Brown E, Nevitt S, Petropoulos IN, Burgess J, et al. Prevalence of Peripheral Neuropathy in Pre-Diabetes: A Systematic Review. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care (2021) 9(1):e002040. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-002040
- Faselis C, Katsimardou A, Imprialos K, Deligkaris P, Kallistratos M, Dimitriadis K. Microvascular Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* (2020) 18(2):117–24. doi: 10.2174/1570161117666190502103733
- Wang GF, Xu N, Yin D, Hui Y, Zhang JP, Han GJ. New Advances in the Diagnosis and Treatment of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Chin Gen Pract* (2012) 15(15):1661–3.
- Qin L, Niu JY, Zhou JY, Zhang QJ, Zhou F, Zhang N, et al. Prevalence and Risk Factors of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in Chinese Communities. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi* (2019) 40(12):1578–84.
- Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Saydah S, Imperatore G, Linder B, Divers J, et al. SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. Prevalence of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Among Children and Adolescents From 2001 to 2009. *JAMA* (2014) 311:1778–86. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.3201
- Blankenburg M, Kraemer N, Hirschfeld G, Krumova EK, Maier C, Hechler T, et al. Childhood Diabetic Neuropathy: Functional Impairment and Non-Invasive Screening Assessment. *Diabetes Med* (2012) 29:1425–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03685.x
- Weintrob N, Amitay I, Lilos P, Shalitin S, Lazar L, Josefsberg Z. Bedside Neuropathy Disability Score Compared to Quantitative Sensory Testing for Measurement of Diabetic Neuropathy in Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. J Diabetes Complications (2007) 21:13–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2005.11.002
- Eppens MC, Craig ME, Cusumano J, Hing S, Chan AKF, Howard NJ, et al. Prevalence of Diabetes Complications in Adolescents With Type 2 Compared With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29:1300–6. doi: 10.2337/dc05-2470
- 14. Olsen BS, Johannesen J, Sjølie AK, Borch-Johnsen K, Hougarrdss P, Thorsteinsson B, et al. Danish Study Group of Diabetes in Childhood. Metabolic Control and Prevalence of Microvascular Complications in Young Danish Patients With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Med* (1999) 16:79–85. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.1999.00024.x
- Hicks CW, Selvin E. Epidemiology of Peripheral Neuropathy and Lower Extremity Disease in Diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rep Oct* (2019) 19:86. doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1212-8
- Boulton AJ, Vinik AI, Arezzo JC, Bril V, Feldman EL, Freeman R, et al. Diabetic Neuropathies: A Statement by the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care* (2005) 28(4):956–62. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.4.956
- Feng Y, Schlösser FJ, Sumpio BE. The Semmes Weinstein Monofilament Examination as a Screening Tool for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. J Vasc Surg (2009) 50(3):675–82, 682.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2009.05.017
- Callaghan BC, Price RS, Chen KS, Feldman EL. The Importance of Rare Subtypes in Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Neuropathy: A Review. JAMA Neurol (2015) 72(12):1510–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.2347
- Chong PS, Cros DP. Technology Literature Review: Quantitative Sensory Testing. Muscle Nerve (2004) 29(5):734–47. doi: 10.1002/mus.20053

- Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJM, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic Neuropathy: A Position Statement by the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(1):136–54. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2042
- Malik R, Veves A, Tesfaye S, Smith G, Cameron N, Zochodne D, et al. Small Fiber Neuropathy: Role in the Diagnosis of Diabetic Sensorimotor Polyneuropathy. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2011) 27(7):678–84. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1222
- Brown MJ, Bird SJ, Watling S, Kaleta H, Hayes L, Eckert S, et al. Natural Progression of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in the Zenarestat Study Population. *Diabetes Care* (2004) 27(5):1153–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.5.1153
- 23. Martin CL, Waberski BH, Pop-Busui R, Cleary PA, Catton S, Albers JW, et al. Vibration Perception Threshold as a Measure of Distal Symmetrical Peripheral Neuropathy in Type 1 Diabetes: Results From the DCCT/EDIC Study. Diabetes Care (2010) 33(12):2635–41. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0616
- Ponirakis G, Odriozola MN, Odriozola S, Petropoulos IN, Azmi S, Fadavi H, et al. NerveCheck: An Inexpensive Quantitative Sensory Testing Device for Patients With Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2016) 113:101–7. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2015.12.023
- Sun ZK, Han YT, Wei J, Gao MD, Chen WJ. Application of VPT in the Early Screening of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Shandong Med* (2014) 54 (22):47–8.
- Siao P, Cros DP. Quantitative Sensory Testing. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am* (2003) 14(2):261–86. doi: 10.1016/S1047-9651(02)00122-5
- Feldman EL, Stevens MJ, Thomas PK, Brown MB, Canal N, Greene DA. A Practical Two-Step Quantitative Clinical and Electrophysiological Assessment for the Diagnosis and Staging of Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (1994) 17:1281–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.17.11.1281
- Pop-Busui R, Evans GW, Gerstein HC, Fonseca V, Fleg JL, Hoogwerf BJ, et al. Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group. Effects of Cardiac Autonomic Dysfunction on Mortality Risk in the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) Trial. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33:1688–90. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0125
- Pop-Busui R, Lu J, Lopes N, Jones TL. BARI 2d Investigators. Prevalence of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy and Relation to Glycemic Control Therapies at Baseline in the BARI 2D Cohort. J Peripher Nerv Syst (2009) 14:1–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8027.2009.00200.x
- Chen MY, Cai HM, Chen JY, Zhang N, Wang R. The Diagnostic Value of Michigan Diabetic Neuropathy Score and Toronto Clinical Scoring System in Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Chin Gen Pract* (2017) 20(04):427–31.
- Zhang CF, Xie Y, Yonzon P, Yin AL, Xu JY, Cui Z. The Diagnostic Value of Michigan Screening Scale for Diabetic Neuropathy. *Tianjin Med* (2013) 41 (03):208–11.
- Liu F, Mao JP, Yan X. Toronto Clinical Scoring System in Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Zhong Nan Da Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* (2008) 33(12):1137–41.
- 33. Herman WH, Pop-Busui R, Braffett BH, Martin CL, Cleary PA, Albers JW, et al. Use of the Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument as a Measure of Distal Symmetrical Peripheral Neuropathy in Type 1 Diabetes: Results From the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications. *Diabetes Med* (2012) 29(7):937–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03644.x
- Feldman EL, Nave KA, Jensen TS, Bennett DLH. New Horizons in Diabetic Neuropathy: Mechanisms, Bioenergetics, and Pain. *Neuron* (2017) 93 (6):1296–313. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.02.005
- Dewanjee S, Das S, Das AK, Bhattacharjee N, Dihingia A, Dua TK, et al. Molecular Mechanism of Diabetic Neuropathy and Its Pharmacotherapeutic Targets. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2018) 833:472–523. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.06.034
- 36. Liu WQ, Wang ZH, Li QF, Li R, Gong LL, Chen M, et al. The Correlation Between Neurological Symptoms/Neural Defect Scores and Nerve Conduction Velocity in the Diagnosis of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Chin J Diabetes* (2014) 6(04):224–8.
- Bondugulapati LN, Rao NN. Corneal Confocal Microscopy: Potential Usage in the Context of Diabetes Mellitus. *Pract Diabetes* (2021) 38(2). doi: 10.1002/ pdi.2328
- Rosenberg ME, Tervo TM, Immonen IJ, Müller LJ, Grönhagen-Riska C, Vesaluoma MH. Corneal Structure and Sensitivity in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2000) 41(10):2915–21.
- Cruzat A, Qazi Y, Hamrah P. In Vivo Confocal Microscopy of Corneal Nerves in Health and Disease. Ocul Surf (2017) 15(1):15–47. doi: 10.1016/ j.jtos.2016.09.004

- Quattrini C, Tavakoli M, Jeziorska M, Kallinikos P, Tesfaye S, Finnigan J, et al. Surrogate Markers of Small Fiber Damage in Human Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetes* (2007) 56(8):2148–54. doi: 10.2337/db07-0285
- 41. Xiong Q, Lu B, Ye HY, Liu SY, Zheng HP, Zhang RY, et al. Corneal Confocal Microscopy as a non-Invasive Test to Assess Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2018) Feb136:85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.11.026
- Ahmed A, Bril V, Orszag A, Paulson J, Yeung E, Ngo M, et al. Detection of Diabetic Sensorimotor Polyneuropathy by Corneal Confocal Microscopy in Type 1 Diabetes: A Concurrent Validity Study. *Diabetes Care* (2012) 35 (4):821–8. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1396
- Petropoulos IN, Ponirakis G, Khan A, Gad H, Almuhannadi H, Brines M, et al. Corneal Confocal Microscopy: Ready for Prime Time. *Clin Exp Optom* (2020) 103(3):265–77. doi: 10.1111/cxo.12887
- 44. Herraets IJT, Goedee HS, Telleman JA, van Eijk RPA, van Asseldonk JT, Visser LH, et al. Nerve Ultrasound Improves Detection of Treatment-Responsive Chronic Inflammatory Neuropathies. *Neurology* (2020) 94 (14):1–10. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000008978
- 45. Singh Y, Dixit R, Singh S, Garg S, Chowdhury N. High Resolution Ultrasonography of Peripheral Nerves in Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Neurol India* (2019) 67:S71–6. doi: 10.4103/0028-3886.250719
- 46. Pitarokoili K, Kerasnoudis A, Behrendt V, Labedi A, Ayzenberg I, Gold R, et al. Facing the Diagnostic Challenge: Nerve Ultrasound in People With Diabetes With Neuropathic Symptoms. *Muscle Nerve* (2016) 54:18–24. doi: 10.1002/mus.24981
- 47. Ishibashi F, Taniguchi M, Kojima R, Kawasaki A, Kosaka A, Uetake H. Morphological Changes of the Peripheral Nerves Evaluated by High-Resolution Ultrasonography are Associated With the Severity of Diabetic Neuropathy, But Not Corneal Nerve Fiber Pathology in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes Investig (2015) 6(3):334–42. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12299
- Kutlar N, Bayrak AO, Bayrak İlK, Canbaz S, Türker H. Diagnosing Carpal Tunnel Syndrome With Doppler Ultrasonography: A Comparison of Ultrasonographic Measurements and Electrophysiological Severity. J Neurol Res (2017) 39:126–32. doi: 10.1080/01616412.2016.1275455
- Omejec G, Podnar S. Utility of Nerve Conduction Studies and Ultrasonography in Ulnar Neuropathies at the Elbow of Different Severity[J]. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2020) 131(7):1672–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2020.02.019

- 50. Kerasnoudis A, Pitarokoili K, Behrendt V, Gold R, Yoon M-S. Bochum Ultrasound Score Versus Clinical and Electrophysiological Parameters in Distinguishing Acute-Onset Chronic From Acute Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy. J Muscle Nerve (2015) 51:846–52. doi: 10.1002/mus.24484
- Ou Y, Wu X, Lin Y, Tang C, Wu S. Ultrasonic Diagnostic Score for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Chin J Nervous Ment Dis* (2019) 45(4):197–201.
- Wee TC, Simon NG. Ultrasound Elastography for the Evaluation of Peripheral Nerves: A Systematic Review. *Muscle Nerve* (2019) 60:501–12. doi: 10.1002/mus.26624
- 53. Ishibashi F, Taniguchi M, Kojima R, Kawasaki A, Kosaka A, Uetake H. Elasticity of the Tibial Nerve Assessed by Sonoelastography was Reduced Before the Development of Neuropathy and Further Deterioration Associated With the Severity of Neuropathy in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes Investig (2016) 7(3):404–12. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12408
- 54. Jiang W, Huang S, Teng H, Wang P, Wu M, Zhou X, et al. Diagnostic Performance of Two-Dimensional Shear Wave Elastography for Evaluating Tibial Nerve Stiffness in Patients With Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Eur Radiol* (2019) 29(5):2167–74. doi: 10.1007/s00330-018-5858-4

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Yu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Troponin T Is Negatively Associated With 3 Tesla Magnetic Resonance Peripheral Nerve Perfusion in Type 2 Diabetes

Johann M. E. Jende¹, Christoph Mooshage¹, Zoltan Kender², Lukas Schimpfle², Alexander Juerchott¹, Peter Nawroth², Sabine Heiland³, Martin Bendszus¹, Stefan Kopf^{2,4} and Felix T. Kurz^{1,5*}

¹ Department of Neuroradiology, Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany, ² Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology and Clinical Chemistry (Internal Medicine 1) Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany, ³ Division of Experimental Radiology, Department of Neuroradiology, Heidelberg, Germany, ⁴ German Center of Diabetes Research, Associated Partner in the Deutsches Zentrum für Diabetesforschung (DZD), München-Neuherberg, Germany, ⁵ German Cancer Research Center, Division of Radiology, Heidelberg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Charumathi Sabanayagam, Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

Reviewed by:

Hiroyuki Nodera, Tenri Hospital, Japan Aixia Sun, Michigan State University, United States

*Correspondence: Felix T. Kurz felix.kurz@med.uni-heidelberg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 20 December 2021 Accepted: 29 March 2022 Published: 10 May 2022

Citation:

Jende JME, Mooshage C, Kender Z, Schimpfle L, Juerchott A, Nawroth P, Heiland S, Bendszus M, Kopf S and Kurz FT (2022) Troponin T Is Negatively Associated With 3 Tesla Magnetic Resonance Peripheral Nerve Perfusion in Type 2 Diabetes. Front. Endocrinol. 13:839774. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.839774 **Objective:** The pathogenesis of diabetic polyneuropathy (DN) is poorly understood and given the increasing prevalence of DN, there is a need for clinical or imaging biomarkers that quantify structural and functional nerve damage. While clinical studies have found evidence of an association between elevated levels of troponin T (hsTNT) and N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide (proBNP) with microvascular compromise in type 2 diabetes (T2D), their implication in mirroring DN nerve perfusion changes remains unclear. The objective of this study was, therefore, to investigate whether hsTNT and proBNP assays are associated with MRI nerve perfusion in T2D.

Methods: In this prospective cross-sectional single-center case-control study, 56 participants (44 with T2D, 12 healthy control subjects) consented to undergo magnetic resonance neurography (MRN) including dynamic contrast-enhanced (DCE) perfusion imaging of the right leg. Using the extended Tofts model, primary outcome parameters that were quantified are the sciatic nerve's microvascular permeability (K^{trans}), the extravascular extracellular volume fraction (v_e), and the plasma volume fraction (v_p), as well as hsTNT and proBNP values from serological workup. Further secondary outcomes were clinical, serological, and electrophysiological findings.

Results: In T2D patients, hsTNT was negatively correlated with K^{trans} (r=-0.38; p=0.012) and v_e (r=-0.30; p=0.048) but not with v_p (r=-0.16; p=0.294). HsTNT, K^{trans}, and v_e were correlated with peroneal nerve conduction velocities (NCVs; r=-0.44; p=0.006, r=0.42;

p=0.008, r=0.39; p=0.014), and tibial NCVs (r=-0.38;p=0.022, r=0.33; p=0.048, r=0.37; p=0.025). No such correlations were found for proBNP.

Conclusions: This study is the first to find that hsTNT is correlated with a decrease of microvascular permeability and a reduced extravascular extracellular volume fraction of nerves in patients with T2D. The results indicate that hsTNT may serve as a potential marker for the assessment of nerve perfusion in future studies on DN.

Keywords: diabetic neuropathy, magnetic resonance neurography, dynamic contrast enhancement, perfusion, troponin T

INTRODUCTION

Diabetic polyneuropathy (DN) is one of the most frequent and most disabling complications of diabetes mellitus (1). Especially in type 2 diabetes (T2D), the complex pathophysiological mechanisms that cause DN have not been understood completely (1-4). Evidence from clinical and histological studies suggests that nerve ischemia related to macro- and microangiopathy as well as cardiac insufficiency is a major contributor to demyelination and axonal damage in T2D (5-8). Recent studies have found cardiac biomarkers, high sensitivity troponin T (hsTNT) and N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide (proBNP), to be associated with microvascular complications in patients with T2D (9). It remains to be determined, however, whether hsTNT and proBNP are also associated with the occurrence of DN and whether both hsTNT and proBNP codify parameters of nerve perfusion such as plasma volume or microvascular permeability (9). To date, is has not been possible to assess the perfusion of peripheral nerves directly in the context of clinical studies. Magnetic resonance neurography (MRN) at 3 Tesla (3T) is a non-invasive method that allows to visualize and quantify structural and physiological changes of peripheral nerves along the entire anatomical course (10, 11). Recent studies on MRN in patients with T2D have found that structural nerve damage associated with demyelination in T2D is related to elevated levels of hsTNT but not proBNP (12). While there are several animal experimental MRI studies on the vascular supply of peripheral nerves and monitoring changes in microvasculature (13-16), only a recent pilot study on dynamic contrast enhanced (DCE) MRN in patients focusing on inflammatory neuropathies could, for the first time, demonstrate that DCE sequences allow investigating the perfusion of peripheral nerves by assessing parameters related to plasma volume and microvascular permeability (17). These parameters can be obtained from DCE MRN using the extended Tofts model, which allows calculating the constant of the examined nerve's capillary permeability (K^{trans}), the volume fraction of the plasma space (vp), and the volume fraction of the extracapillary extracellular space (v_e) (18, 19). The aim of this study was to combine DCE imaging of nerves at thigh level in patients with T2D with hsTNT and proBNP assays, and demographic, clinical, and electrophysiological data in order to investigate potential associations between hsTNT and proBNP with parameters of nerve microcirculation in patients with T2D.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Heidelberg University Hospital (HEIST-DiC, clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT03022721, local ethics number S-383/2016) and all participants gave written informed consent. Overall exclusion criteria were age <18, pregnancy, an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <60ml/min, any contraindications for MR imaging or administration of MRI contrast agents. Further reasons for exclusion were history of myocardial infarction, coronary heart disease, heart surgery, spine surgery, lumbar disc extrusion, risk factors for sarcopenia or neuropathy other than diabetes such as malignant diseases, alcoholism, hypovitaminosis, previous or ongoing exposure to neurotoxic agents, chronic neurological diseases such as Parkinson's disease, restless legs syndrome, or multiple sclerosis. The sample size was based on the results of previous MRN studies on DN (12, 20) and 44 patients with T2D (17 women, 27 men) and 12 controls (7 women, 5 men) were enrolled in this prospective single-center study between June 2016 and March 2020 and underwent DCE MRN with subsequent clinical, electrophysiological, and serological assessments.

Clinical and Electrophysiological Examination

For every participant, a detailed medical history was taken. Electrophysiological examinations (VikingQuest; Viasys Healthcare GmbH, Höchberg, Germany) included an assessment of nerve conduction velocities (NCVs) of the tibial, peroneal, and sural nerve, distal motor latencies (DMLs) of the right tibial and peroneal nerve, compound muscle action potentials (CMAPs) of the tibial and peroneal nerve, and sensory nerve action potentials (SNAPs) of the sural nerve of the right leg. Skin temperature was kept at 32°C throughout the examination. Electrophysiological studies were conducted by two specially trained medical technical assistants with more than 6 years of experience in electrophysiological assessments on patients with diabetes. An examination of neuropathic symptoms was performed comprising the neuropathy disability score (NDS) and the neuropathy severity scale (NSS) (21). In line with Gibbon's criteria for DN, patients with an NDS \geq 3 were assigned to the DN group (22).

MRI Imaging Protocol

All participants underwent high-resolution MRN of the right thigh in a 3.0 Tesla MR-scanner (Magnetom Tim TRIO, Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany). A 15-channel transmitreceive extremity coil was used and the following sequences were applied:

- 1) axial high resolution T2-weighted turbo spin echo (TSE) 2D sequence with spectral fat suppression; repetition time (TR) = 5970 ms, echo time (TE) = 55 ms, field of view (FOV) = $160 \times 160 \text{ mm}^2$, matrix size = 512×512 , slice thickness = 4 mm, no interslice gap, voxel size = $0.3 \times 0.3 \times 4.0 \text{ mm}^3$, 24 slices, 24 acquired images, total acquisition time = 4:42 min;
- 2) axial T1-weighted volume interpolated breathhold examination (VIBE) sequence; TR = 3.3 ms, TE = 1.11 ms, FOV = 160×160 mm², matrix size = 128×128 , slice thickness = 4 mm, interslice gap = 0.8 mm, voxel size = $1.3 \times 1.3 \times 4.0$ mm³; single acquisition at a flip-angle of 5°, 8°, 11°, 14°, 17° (24 slices = 144 acquired images), total acquisition time = 30s;
- 3) axial T1-weighted volume interpolated breathhold examination (VIBE) sequence; TR = 3.3 ms, TE = 1.11 ms, FOV = 160×160 mm², matrix size = 128×128 , slice thickness = 4 mm, interslice gap = 0.8 mm, voxel size = $1.3 \times 1.3 \times 4.0$ mm³ 50 repetitions (1200 acquired images) at a flip angle of 15°, contrast agent administration (Dotarem[®], Guerbet, France, 0.1 mmol/kg, flow rate 3.5ml/s) after completion of the sixth repetition, total acquisition time = 4:09 min.

The sequence was centered on the sciatic nerve bifurcation at distal thigh level in every participant.

MRI Data Analysis and Statistical Analysis

All images were pseudonymized and observers were blinded to all clinical data. For each patient, we segmented the sciatic nerve manually on all images of the T2-weighted sequence with ImageJ (23). T2-weighted images were also co-registered to the T1 VIBE sequence with affine transformations using custom-written code in Matlab (MathWorks, Natick, MA, R2020b) (24). The schematic process of image segmentation and co-registration is shown in Figure 1. We manually determined the arterial input function (AIF) by segmenting a region of interest of the femoral artery on a representative imaging slice. The average signal intensity of all artery voxels for consecutive imaging time points was then used to obtain the signal intensity curve during contrast administration. The signal intensity baseline end was determined as the last imaging time point before signal intensity would increase by more than 25% above the averaged signal intensity of all preceding imaging time points. The resulting AIF was smoothed with a moving average filter of 3 images.

We determined the relaxation time $T_{1,0}$ for the first imaging time point subsequently for each voxel in dependence on flip angle α by assigning $T_{1,x}(\alpha) = SI_0/\tan(\alpha)$ and $T_{1,y}(\alpha) = SI_0/\sin(\alpha)$, where SI_0 represents the initial signal intensity. Subsequent linear regression on $T_{1,x}$ and $T_{1,y}$ yields the slope m (25). Spin-lattice relaxation time $T_{1,0}$ follows as $T_{1,0} = -TR/\log(m)$, with repetition





time *TR*. Using $\alpha_R = 15^\circ$, we obtain with signal intensity SI_t and relaxation time $T_{1,t}$ at time *t*: $\frac{1}{T_{1,t}} = -\log\left(\frac{[1-C_a]}{1-\cos(\alpha_R)C_a}\right)/TR$, where $C_a = \frac{\frac{SI_t}{3V_0}[1-\exp\left(-\frac{TR}{T_{1,0}}\right)]}{[1-\cos(\alpha_R)\exp\left(-\frac{TR}{T_{1,0}}\right)]}$, c.f. Eq. (6) in (26). The tissue concentration C(t) at time *t* is then found as $C(t) = \frac{1}{r_1}\left[\frac{1}{T_{1,t}} - \frac{1}{T_{1,0}}\right]$ (26), where $r_1 = 3.43$ L/mmol/s represents the relaxivity of blood at 3 Tesla (27).

We chose the extended Tofts model (ETM) which is used as a default perfusion model in central nervous system imaging and diabetes, see e.g., (19). It consists of a plasma and an extravascular extracellular compartment. Simpler perfusion models, such as the Patlak model, assume a negligible diffusion of contrast agent from the extravascular space back to the intravascular space, however, this *a priori* assumption cannot be justified in diabetes where it was shown that the permeability of the blood-brain barrier is generally increased (28). In the ETM, we have (29): $C_M(t) = K^{trans} \int_0^t AIF(t') \exp(-\frac{K^{trans}[t-t']}{v_e}) dt' + v_p AIF(t)$, where K^{trans} represents the volume transfer constant between

where K^{trans} represents the volume transfer constant between plasma and the extravascular extracellular compartment, v_e represents the volume fraction of extravascular extracellular space per unit volume of tissue, v_p is blood plasma volume per unit volume of tissue, and $C_M(t)$ corresponds to the model tissue concentration at time *t*. To minimize the residual sum of least squares, $\Sigma_t [C_M(t) - C(t)]^2$, we used the Nelder-Mead simplex method for model parameters K^{trans} , v_e , and v_p with starting values $K^{trans} = 0.007/s$, $v_e = 0.15$, $v_p = 0.025$ (17, 30–32).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical data analysis was carried out with MATLAB (R2020b) and GraphPad Prism 7. The D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus normality test was used to test for Gaussian normal distribution. If a Gaussian normal distribution was given, t tests were used for comparisons of two groups, one-way ANOVAs were used for comparisons of more than two groups, and Pearson correlation coefficients were used for correlation analysis. If data were not Gaussian distributed, the Mann-Whitney test was used for comparisons of two groups, the Kruskal-Wallis test with *post-hoc* Dunn correction was used for multiple comparisons of more than two groups, and nonparametric Bonferroni-corrected Spearman correlation was used for one parameter, partial correlation analysis with controlling for confounding variables was performed.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Data

This study comprised 44 patients with T2D (17 women, 27 men, mean age 66.14 ± 7.12) and 12 controls (7 women, 5 men mean age 61.58 ± 7.79). Between T2D patients and controls, there were no significant differences for age, gender, BMI, or glomerular filtration rate. In the T2D group, 26 patients suffered from DN. On electrophysiological examination, lower tibial and peroneal NCVs and CMAPs were found in T2D patients compared to controls. A summary and comparison of demographic and clinical data of patients with T2D and controls is provided in **Table 1**.

TABLE 1 | Comparison of demographic, serologic, clinical, electrophysiological, and MRN imaging data of all study participants.

	T2D	Controls	р
K ^{trans} (min⁻¹)	0.040 ± 0.011	0.035 ± 0.011	0.207 ^T
v _p (%)	4.74 ± 0.82	4.63 ± 0.56	0.959 ^M
v _e (%)	3.28 ± 4.58	1.64 ± 1.71	0.118 ^M
Age (years)	66.14 ± 7.12	61.58 ± 7.79	0.076 ^T
Diabetes duration (years)	10.18 ± 9.53	n.a.	n.a.
Gender (w/m)	17 w/27m	7w/5m	0.229 ^M
BMI (kg/m ²)	28.68 ± 4.11	27.47 ± 3.64	0.359 ^T
hsTNT (pg/mL)	9.93 ± 4.04	7.25 ± 2.18	0.032 ^T
proBNP (pg/mL)	115.30 ± 121.60	75.92 ± 52.20	0.646 ^M
HbA1c %	6.88 ± 1.23	5.58 ± 0.55	<0.001 ^M
GFR (ml/min)	87.55 ± 15.05	87.50 ± 13.88	0.992 ^T
NDS	3.56 ± 3.08	1.33 ± 1.44	0.026 ^M
NSS	4.14 ± 3.43	2.33 ± 3.60	0.144 ^M
Sural nerve NCV (m/s)	45.13 ± 7.06	45.83 ± 4.82	0.758 ^M
Sural nerve SNAP (µV)	5.54 ± 3.20	7.89 ± 4.71	0.070 ^M
Peroneal NCV (m/s)	39.59 ± 5.40	45.08 ± 4.60	0.002 ^T
Peroneal CMAP (mV)	5.02 ± 4.01	8.88 ± 6.96	0.020 ^M
Peroneal DML (ms)	7.37 ± 13.13	3.94 ± 0.69	0.009 ^M
Tibial NCV (m/s)	40.81 ± 5.02	44.75 ± 4.00	0.017 [⊤]
Tibial CMAP (mV)	9.68 ± 6.41	16.58 ± 8.24	0.004 ^T
Tibial DML (ms)	5.00 ± 3.01	3.62 ± 0.53	0.014 ^M

All values are displayed as mean \pm standard deviation. K^{trans}, constant of permeability; v_p, plasma volume fraction; v_e, extracellular extravascular volume fraction; BMI, body-mass index; hsTNT, high sensitivity troponin T; proBNP, pro brain binatriuretic peptide; n.a., not applicable; NDS, neuropathy disability score; NSS, neuropathy severity scale; NCV, neve comnduction velocity; CMAP, compound motor action potential; SNAP, sensory nerve action potential; m/s, meters per second; ms, miliseconds; mV, millivolts; µV, microvolts; ^M, p value obtained from Mann-Whitney U test; ^T, value obtained from t-Test.

Group Comparisons of hsTNT and proBNP Levels for T2D Patients and Controls

Patients with T2D showed higher levels of hsTNT compared to controls (9.93 \pm 0.04 pg/mL versus 7.25 \pm 2.18 pg/mL, respectively, p=0.032), see **Table 1**. Also, ANOVA revealed that hsTNT was higher in T2D patients with DN compared to T2D patients without DN (11.67 \pm 3.50 vs. 8.65 \pm 4.05; p=0.015) and compared to controls (vs. 7.25 \pm 2.18; p=0.002), no such differences were found for proBNP. In T2D patients, hsTNT correlated negatively with tibial and peroneal NCVs and with tibial CMAPs. A positive correlation was found between hsTNT and age. No such correlations were found for proBNP. A summary of all correlations of hsTNT and proBNP in T2D patients and controls is provided in **Table 2**, and correlations of hsTNT with tibial and peroneal NCVs are illustrated in **Figures 2A, B**.

MRN Perfusion Parameters

No significant differences were found for perfusion parameters K^{trans} , v_{p} , and v_{e} between T2D patients and the control group. ANOVA found lower K^{trans} values in patients with DN compared to T2D patients without DN (0.037 ± 0.010 vs. 0.044 ± 0.010; p=0.042) but not compared to controls (0.037 ± 0.010 vs. 0.035 ± 0.011; p=0.882). In patients with T2D and in controls, K^{trans} was strongly correlated with v_{e} (r=0.75; p<0.001, and r=0.76; p=0.007, respectively). A summary of all correlations of perfusion parameters in T2D patients is provided in **Table 3**.

	hsTNT T2	2D (pg/mL)	proBNP T	2D (pg/mL)	hsTNT C	o (pg/mL)	proBNP Co (pg/mL)		
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	
K ^{trans} (min ⁻¹)	-0.38	0.012	-0.09	0.569	0.39	0.241	0.03	0.931	
v _p (%)	-0.16	0.294	-0.17	0.280	-0.20	0.558	-0.18	0.602	
v _e (%)	-0.30	0.048	-0.05	0.732	0.31	0.353	0.21	0.529	
Age (years)	0.35	0.018	0.13	0.393	0.23	0.479	0.55	0.063	
Diabetes duration (years)	-0.07	0.694	-0.12	0.499					
Gender	-0.16	0.291	0.41	0.006	-0.38	0.217	-0.23	0.463	
BMI (kg/m ²)	-0.03	0.824	0.17	0.274	0.06	0.860	-0.34	0.286	
hsTNT (pg/mL)			0.10	0.503			0.62	0.032	
proBNP (pg/mL)	0.10	0.503			0.62	0.032			
HbA1c %	0.24	0.120	-0.03	0.850	0.27	0.398	-0.06	0.849	
GFR (ml/min)	-0.25	0.123	-0.24	0.137	0.33	0.295	0.31	0.325	
NDS	0.45	0.003	0.09	0.556	0.17	0.588	-0.02	0.941	
NSS	0.17	0.276	0.12	0.431	0.27	0.403	0.54	0.068	
Sural nerve NCV (m/s)	-0.33	0.128	< 0.01	0.986	0.00	0.989	-0.23	0.472	
Sural nerve SNAP (µV)	-0.19	0.320	-0.16	0.398	-0.10	0.757	-0.16	0.616	
Peroneal NCV (m/s)	-0.53	0.001	-0.03	0.850	-0.31	0.326	-0.58	0.049	
Peroneal CMAP (mV)	-0.19	0.259	-0.18	0.284	0.15	0.637	-0.23	0.482	
Peroneal DML (ms)	0.12	0.468	-0.27	0.101	0.31	0.330	0.47	0.121	
Tibial NCV (m/s)	-0.51	0.001	0.254	0.124	0.22	0.500	0.04	0.905	
Tibial CMAP (mV)	-0.55	0.001	0.19	0.276	-0.70	0.012	-0.55	0.065	
Tibial DML (ms)	0.18	0.288	-0.04	0.823	0.44	0.155	0.55	0.064	

TABLE 2 | Correlations of hsTNT and proBNP with MRN perfusion parameters and demographic, serologic, clinical, and electrophysiological data.

K^{trans}, constant of permeability; v_ρ, plasma volume fraction; v_e, extracellular extravascular volume fraction; BMI, body-mass index; hsTNT, high sensitivity troponin T; proBNP, pro brain binatriuretic peptide; NDS, neuropathy disability score; NSS, neuropathy severity scale; NCV, nerve comnduction velocity; CMAP, compound motor action potential; SNAP, sensory nerve action potential; m/s, meters per second; ms, miliseconds; mV, millivolts; μV, microvolts; Co, controls.

Correlation of Perfusion Parameters With Demographic Data

In patients with T2D and controls, K^{trans} correlated positively with the BMI. Another correlation was found between v_e and BMI in patients with T2D. Parameter v_p was negatively correlated with age, while no such correlation was found for K^{trans} or v_e .

Correlation of Perfusion Parameters With Serological, Clinical, and Electrophysiological Data

In T2D patients, K^{trans} was positively correlated with NCVs of tibial, peroneal, and sural nerves. Parameter ve was positively correlated with tibial and peroneal NCVs and DMLs. Correlations of K^{trans} with tibial and peroneal NCVs are illustrated in **Figures 2C, D**. K^{trans} and v_e were negatively correlated with hsTNT (Figure 2E). In a partial correlation analysis, doublecontrolled for confounding variables age and BMI, correlations remained significant between K^{trans} and hsTNT (r=-0.42; p=0.005) and between ve and hsTNT (r=0.33; p=0.034). No such correlations were found for K^{trans} and v_e with proBNP, HbA1c, or the glomerular filtration rate. No correlations were found for v_p with hsTNT or electrophysiological parameters. A detailed summary of all correlations of MRN perfusion parameters with clinical and electrophysiological data in T2D patients and controls is provided in Table 3. Using a modified classification score for diabetic neuropathy severity based on electrophysiological parameters as proposed in (33), we allocated a score of 1 to patients with a sural nerve SNAP amplitude $\geq 5 \mu V$, and a score of 2, 3, and 4 to patients with a sural nerve SNAP amplitude < 5 μ V and a tibial nerve CMAP amplitude $\geq 5 \text{ mV}$, $\geq 2 \text{ mV}$ and $\leq 5 \text{ mV}$,

and < 2 mV, respectively, where neuropathy severity increases with score value. We subsequently found significant negative correlations between neuropathy severity score value and K^{trans} (r=-0.41; p=0.007), and v_e (r=-0.37; p=0.017), indicating that neuropathy severity is associated with reduced nerve perfusion in agreement with previous animal experimental studies, possibly due to the development of abnormal microvasculature and capillary dysfunction (34, 35).

DISCUSSION

This study used DCE 3T MRN to investigate potential associations of peripheral nerve perfusion with cardiac biomarkers hsTNT and proBNP in patients with T2D. The main findings were (i) in T2D patients, hsTNT was negatively correlated with K^{trans} and v_e , while no such correlation was found for proBNP; (ii) in T2D, hsTNT, K^{trans} , and v_e were correlated with electrophysiological parameters and an electrophysiology-based neuropathy severity score; and (iii) hsTNT was increased while K^{trans} and v_e were decreased in DN patients compared to patients without DN.

The results of this study confirm the hypothesis that hsTNT codifies parameters of nerve perfusion in patients with T2D (9, 12, 36). Specifically, the correlation of hsTNT with K^{trans} suggests that an increase in hsTNT is associated with a decrease in capillary permeability of peripheral nerves. The correlations of K^{trans} with v_e and between hsTNT and v_e further indicate that a decrease in nerve capillary permeability accompanied by elevated hsTNT levels is associated with a reduction of the extracapillary extracellular volume (EEV) fraction, which may ultimately result in nerve ischemia and demyelination. This assumption is further



FIGURE 2 | Correlations of the sciatic nerve's K^{trans} and hsTNT with electrophysiologic parameters: (A) correlation of hsTNT with tibial nerve conduction velocities (r=-0.51; p=0.001), (B) correlation of hsTNT and peroneal nerve conduction velocities (r=-0.53; p=0.001), (C) correlation of K^{trans} with tibial nerve conduction velocities (r=-0.53; p=0.001), (C) correlation of K^{trans} with tibial nerve conduction velocities (r=-0.53; p=0.001), (C) correlation of K^{trans} with tibial nerve conduction velocities (r=-0.53; p=0.002), (E) illustration of the correlation between K^{trans} and hsTNT (r=-0.38; p=0.012). Representative color-coded K^{trans} maps of the sciatic nerve are shown. Upper rectangle: T2D patient with hsTNT levels of 20pg/ml and a sciatic nerve's K^{trans} of 0.020 (min⁻¹), lower rectangle: T2D patient with hsTNT levels of 8pg/ml and a sciatic nerve's K^{trans} of 0.067 (min⁻¹).

supported by the finding that hsTNT was negatively correlated with nerve conduction velocities of tibial and peroneal nerves, while K^{trans} , and v_e were positively correlated with nerve conduction velocities. Since a decrease in nerve conduction velocity is generally assumed to represent myelin damage (37), these correlations indicate that a decrease in capillary permeability and EEV fraction result in demyelination. In addition, the finding that there were no correlations for v_p with hsTNT or any of the acquired electrophysiological parameters further implies that there is no relevant impact of the capillary plasma volume fraction on structural nerve damage in the examined patients. The absence of correlations between proBNP and any of the acquired clinical and serological parameters in T2D patients is of importance for an understanding of the origin of elevated hsTNT levels in patients with T2D, meaning, that while there was a correlation of hsTNT and proBNP in healthy controls, no such correlation was found in the T2D group. This finding is of particular interest since it indicates that the well-established correlation of hsTNT and proBNP (38) does not apply in the T2D group. Since proBNP is an indicator for myocardial insufficiency, the lack of a correlation between hsTNT and proBNP indicates that elevated hsTNT levels in T2D patients and correlations of MRN perfusion parameters

	K ^{trans} (n	nin ⁻¹) T2D	v _p (%) T2D	v _e (%	%) T2D	K ^{trans} (r	nin ⁻¹) Co	v _p (%	%) Co	v _e (%	%) Co
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р
K ^{trans} (min⁻¹)			0.01	0.935	0.75	<0.001			-0.35	0.292	0.76	0.007
v _p (%)	-0.10	0.533			0.36	0.015	-0.35	0.292			0.08	0.818
v _e (%)	0.64	< 0.001	0.36	0.015			0.76	0.007	0.08	0.818		
Age (years)	-0.24	0.120	-0.34	0.023	-0.34	0.022	0.13	0.706	0.17	0.622	0.39	0.232
Diabetes duration (years)	0.05	0.790	0.20	0.249	0.00	0.998	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Gender	0.15	0.332	-0.13	0.385	0.16	0.300	0.04	0.915	0.21	0.542	-0.11	0.754
BMI (kg/m ²)	0.55	< 0.001	0.31	0.038	0.47	0.001	0.74	0.009	-0.29	0.393	0.30	0.369
hsTNT (pg/mL)	-0.38	0.012	-0.16	0.294	-0.30	0.048	0.39	0.241	-0.20	0.558	0.31	0.353
proBNP (pg/mL)	-0.09	0.569	-0.17	0.280	-0.05	0.732	0.03	0.931	-0.18	0.602	0.21	0.529
HbA1c %	-0.11	0.464	0.17	0.256	-0.01	0.953	0.35	0.298	-0.02	0.950	0.31	0.351
GFR (ml/min)	-0.19	0.242	0.09	0.594	-0.09	0.586	-0.11	0.754	0.07	0.835	0.03	0.920
NDS	-0.19	0.240	-0.01	0.948	-0.29	0.069	0.67	0.023	-0.24	0.468	0.71	0.014
NSS	-0.19	0.233	-0.09	0.578	-0.20	0.204	0.20	0.548	0.01	0.970	0.37	0.260
Sural nerve NCV (m/s)	0.45	0.030	-0.23	0.283	0.22	0.314	0.35	0.293	0.17	0.616	0.25	0.457
Sural nerve SNAP (µV)	0.32	0.095	-0.12	0.548	0.36	0.058	0.12	0.726	0.12	0.733	-0.24	0.482
Peroneal NCV (m/s)	0.49	0.002	-0.02	0.930	0.39	0.014	0.05	0.882	0.03	0.929	-0.33	0.317
Peroneal CMAP (mV)	0.27	0.099	0.11	0.494	0.23	0.161	0.62	0.042	-0.58	0.061	0.10	0.760
Peroneal DML (ms)	-0.18	0.261	-0.15	0.355	-0.48	0.002	-0.13	0.711	-0.31	0.354	-0.13	0.703
Tibial NCV (m/s)	0.42	0.008	-0.123	0.650	0.40	0.014	0.07	0.842	0.44	0.172	-0.02	0.949
Tibial CMAP (mV)	0.14	0.401	0.08	0.640	0.21	0.214	-0.16	0.638	0.35	0.286	-0.06	0.870
Tibial DML (ms)	-0.33	0.044	-0.24	0.156	-0.48	0.003	-0.12	0.724	-0.27	0.414	-0.05	0.893

TABLE 3 | Correlations of MRN perfusion parameters with demographic, serological, clinical, and electrophysiological data.

K^{trans}, constant of permeability; v_p, plasma volume fraction; v_e, extracellular extravascular volume fraction; BMI, body-mass index; hsTNT, high sensitivity troponin T; proBNP, pro brain binatriuretic peptide; n.a., not applicable; NDS, neuropathy disability score; NSS, neuropathy severity scale; NCV, nerve comnduction velocity; CMAP, compound motor action potential; SNAP, sensory nerve action potential; m/s, meters per second; ms, miliseconds; mV, millivolts; µV, microvolts.

with hsTNT are not the consequence of myocardial insufficiency. Instead, our results are in line with previous studies suggesting that hsTNT represents myocardial damage due to microangiopathy that affects different organs in patients with T2D (9, 12). It remains to be determined, how much hyperglycemia or other metabolic factors, such as dyslipidemia, contribute to these microangiopathic changes (39–41).

One may of course argue, that hsTNT showed positive correlations with age while K^{trans} showed positive correlations with BMI, therefore, the findings of this study only represent ageand obesity-related changes of perfusion in peripheral nerves. It should be considered, however, that negative correlations of K^{trans} and v_e with hsTNT remained significant in a partial correlation analysis which was controlled for both age and BMI as confounding variables.

This study only found differences in perfusion parameters K^{trans} and ve between T2D patients with and without DN, while no such difference was found between controls and T2D patients with DN. This is in line with previous studies on animal models for diabetes that found an increased vascular permeability in nerves of diabetic rats without diabetic neuropathy, supposedly due to an increased permeability of the basement membrane in Schwann cells and a reduction of nerve permeability in rats with DN compared to rats without DN, supposedly due to microangiopathy (42, 43).

This study is limited by the fact that only patients without an impairment of renal function were included due to the administration of MRI contrast agent. Thus, we cannot draw conclusions on the impact of hsTNT levels on nerve perfusion in patients with impaired renal function, since hsTNT is usually elevated in those patients due to renal elimination. Another limitation is the cross-sectional nature of the study which does not allow any conclusions on the predictive value of hsTNT for the progression of DN. The study is further limited by the sample size of T2D patients and controls, which cannot rule out all potential confounders for the observed differences and correlations. It should be considered, however, that patients and controls were matched for age, BMI, and renal function to minimize confounding and that correlations between hsTNT and perfusion parameters remained stable in a double-controlled partial correlation analysis.

In summary, this study found correlations between hsTNT and parameters of nerve perfusion obtained from 3T DCE MRN. The results indicate that hsTNT codifies a decrease in capillary permeability of peripheral nerves which is associated with a decrease in extravascular extracellular volume that ultimately causes demyelination as a result of nerve ischemia. Further longitudinal studies on the predictive value of hsTNT for the progression of DN, including the effects of age and BMI on nerve perfusion, are warranted.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethikkommission der Medizinischen Fakultät

Troponin-T Codifies Peripheral Nerve Perfusion

HeidelbergAlte Glockengießerei 11/169115 Heidelberg. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JMEJ Study design and coordination, organization of participants, collection of MR data, image segmentation, data analysis and interpretation, literature search, writing of manuscript, arrangement of figures. CM: Collection of MR data, data analysis and interpretation, literature search, writing of manuscript, arrangement of figures. ZK: Collection of clinical, electrophysiological, and serological data, organization of participants; LS: Collection of clinical, electrophysiological, and serological data, organization of participants; Collection of participants; AJ: organization of participants, collection of MR data, data analysis; SH: Conception of MRN sequence protocol; PN: Study design and coordination; MB: Study design and coordination, development of MR sequence

REFERENCES

- Alleman CJM, Westerhout KY, Hensen M, Chambers C, Stoker M, Long S, et al. Humanistic and Economic Burden of Painful Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in Europe: A Review of the Literature. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2015) 109:215–25. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2015.04.031
- Toth PP, Simko RJ, Palli SR, Koselleck D, Quimbo RA, Cziraky MJ. The Impact of Serum Lipids on Risk for Microangiopathy in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2012) 11:109–9. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-11-109
- Feldman EL, Nave K-A, Jensen TS, Bennett DLH. New Horizons in Diabetic Neuropathy: Mechanisms, Bioenergetics, and Pain. *Neuron* (2017) 93:1296– 313. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.02.005
- Shillo P, Sloan G, Greig M, Hunt L, Selvarajah D, Elliott J, et al. Painful and Painless Diabetic Neuropathies: What Is the Difference? *Curr Diabetes Rep* (2019) 19:32–2. doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1150-5
- Dyck PJ, Karnes J, O'Brien P, Nukada H, Lais A, Low P. Spatial Pattern of Nerve Fiber Abnormality Indicative of Pathologic Mechanism. *Am J Pathol* (1984) 117:225–38.
- Dyck PJ, Lais A, Karnes JL, O'Brien P, Rizza R. Fiber Loss is Primary and Multifocal in Sural Nerves in Diabetic Polyneuropathy. *Ann Neurol* (1986) 19:425–39. doi: 10.1002/ana.410190503
- Johnson BF, Nesto RW, Pfeifer MA, Slater WR, Vinik AI, Chyun DA, et al. Cardiac Abnormalities in Diabetic Patients With Neuropathy: Effects of Aldose Reductase Inhibitor Administration. *Diabetes Care* (2004) 27:448– 54. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.2.448
- Tesfaye S, Chaturvedi N, Eaton SEM, Ward JD, Manes C, Ionescu-Tirgoviste C, et al. Vascular Risk Factors and Diabetic Neuropathy. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 352:341–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032782
- Li Q, Ryan L, Sattar N, Chalmers J, Woodward M, Poulter N, et al. Do Cardiac Biomarkers NT-proBNP and Hstnt Predict Microvascular Events in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes? Results From the ADVANCE Trial. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37:2202–10. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2625
- Jende JME, Groener JB, Kender Z, Rother C, Hahn A, Hilgenfeld T, et al. Structural Nerve Remodeling at 3-T MR Neurography Differs Between Painful and Painless Diabetic Polyneuropathy in Type 1 or 2 Diabetes. *Radiology* (2020) 294:405–14. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2019191347
- Jende JME, Kender Z, Mooshage C, Groener JB, Alvarez-Ramos L, Kollmer J, et al. Diffusion Tensor Imaging of the Sciatic Nerve as a Surrogate Marker for Nerve Functionality of the Upper and Lower Limb in Patients With Diabetes and Prediabetes. *Front Neurosci* (2021) 15:642589. doi: 10.3389/ fnins.2021.642589

protocol, writing of manuscript; SK: Development of clinical and electrophysiological study protocol, collection of clinical, electrophysiological, and serological data; FTK Study design and coordination, programming of image analysis tools, image segmentation, data analysis and interpretation, literature search, writing of manuscript, arrangement of figures. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The German Research Foundation (DFG, SFB 1158), the Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung (EKFS), and the International Foundation for Research in Paraplegia (Grant No. P179) provided financial support for personnel expenditure, MR imaging costs, and the technical equipment costs required for electrophysiological and serological analysis. The DFG, the EKFS, and the IRP had no influence on the study design, collection, and analysis of data or on the writing of the article.

- Jende JME, Groener JB, Kender Z, Hahn A, Morgenstern J, Heiland S, et al. Troponin T Parallels Structural Nerve Damage in Type 2 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Study Using Magnetic Resonance Neurography. *Diabetes* (2020) 69:713–23. doi: 10.2337/db19-1094
- Kurz FT, Ziener CH, Rückl M, Hahn A, Sturm VJF, Zhang K, et al. The Influence of Spatial Patterns of Capillary Networks on Transverse Relaxation. *Magn Reson Imaging* (2017) 40:31–47. doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2017.03.012
- Buschle LR, Ziener CH, Zhang K, Sturm VJF, Kampf T, Hahn A, et al. Vessel Radius Mapping in an Extended Model of Transverse Relaxation. *Magn Reson Mater Phys* (2018) 31:531–51. doi: 10.1007/s10334-018-0677-9
- Hahn A, Bode J, Schuhegger S, Krüwel T, Sturm VJF, Zhang K, et al. Brain Tumor Classification of Virtual NMR Voxels Based on Realistic Blood Vessel-Induced Spin Dephasing Using Support Vector Machines. *NMR Biomedi* (2020) 35(4):e4307–7. doi: 10.1002/nbm.4307
- Giron A, Cox C, MacKay B. Techniques for Imaging Vascular Supply of Peripheral Nerves. J Brachial Plex Peripher Nerve Inj (2021) 16:e24–30. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1731280
- Bäumer P, Reimann M, Decker C, Radbruch A, Bendszus M, Heiland S, et al. Peripheral Nerve Perfusion by Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Demonstration of Feasibility. *Invest Radiol* (2014) 49:518–23. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000046
- Sourbron SP, Buckley DL. On the Scope and Interpretation of the Tofts Models for DCE-MRI. Magn Reson Med (2011) 66:735–45. doi: 10.1002/ mrm.22861
- Xu Z, Zeng W, Sun J, Chen W, Zhang R, Yang Z, et al. The Quantification of Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption Using Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Aging Rhesus Monkeys With Spontaneous Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *NeuroImage* (2017) 158:480–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2016.07.017
- Vaeggemose M, Haakma W, Pham M, Ringgaard S, Tankisi H, Ejskjaer N, et al. Diffusion Tensor Imaging MR Neurography Detects Polyneuropathy in Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes its Complicat (2020) 34:107439. doi: 10.1016/ j.jdiacomp.2019.107439
- Young MJ, Boulton AJM, Macleod AF, Williams DRR, Onksen PHS. A Multicentre Study of the Prevalence of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in the United Kingdom Hospital Clinic Population. *Diabetologia* (1993) 36:150– 4. doi: 10.1007/BF00400697
- Gibbons CH, Freeman R, Veves A. Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33:2629–34. doi: 10.2337/DC10-0763
- Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, et al. Fiji: An Open-Source Platform for Biological-Image Analysis. *Nat Methods* (2012) 9:676–82. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2019

- Mattes D, Haynor DR, Vesselle H, Lewellen TK, Eubank W. PET-CT Image Registration in the Chest Using Free-Form Deformations. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging* (2003) 22:120–8. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2003.809072
- Cheng H-LM, Wright GA. Rapid High-Resolution T(1) Mapping by Variable Flip Angles: Accurate and Precise Measurements in the Presence of Radiofrequency Field Inhomogeneity. *Magn Reson Med* (2006) 55:566–74. doi: 10.1002/mrm.20791
- 26. Chikui T, Obara M, Simonetti AW, Ohga M, Koga S, Kawano S, et al. The Principal of Dynamic Contrast Enhanced MRI, the Method of Pharmacokinetic Analysis, and Its Application in the Head and Neck Region. *Int J Dentist* (2012) 2012:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2012/480659
- Shen Y, Goerner FL, Snyder C, Morelli JN, Hao D, Hu D, et al. T1 Relaxivities of Gadolinium-Based Magnetic Resonance Contrast Agents in Human Whole Blood at 1.5, 3, and 7 T. *Invest Radiol* (2015) 50:330–8. doi: 10.1097/ RLI.00000000000132
- Starr JM. Increased Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability in Type II Diabetes Demonstrated by Gadolinium Magnetic Resonance Imaging. J Neurolog Neurosurg Psychiatry (2003) 74:70–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.1.70
- 29. Tofts PS, Brix G, Buckley DL, Evelhoch JL, Henderson E, Knopp MV, et al. Estimating Kinetic Parameters From Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced T(1)-Weighted MRI of a Diffusable Tracer: Standardized Quantities and Symbols. J Magn Reson Imaging (1999) 10:223–32. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1522-2586(199909)10:3<223::aid-jmri2>3.0.co;2-s
- Lagarias JC, Reeds JA, Wright MH, Wright PE. Convergence Properties of the Nelder–Mead Simplex Method in Low Dimensions. SIAM J Optim. (1998) 9:112–47. doi: 10.1137/S1052623496303470
- Padhani AR, Hayes C, Landau S, Leach MO. Reproducibility of Quantitative Dynamic MRI of Normal Human Tissues. NMR Biomed (2002) 15:143–53. doi: 10.1002/nbm.732
- Faranesh AZ, Kraitchman DL, McVeigh ER. Measurement of Kinetic Parameters in Skeletal Muscle by Magnetic Resonance Imaging With an Intravascular Agent. Magn Reson Med (2006) 55:1114–23. doi: 10.1002/mrm.20884
- Himeno T, Kamiya H, Nakamura J. Diabetic Polyneuropathy: Progress in Diagnostic Strategy and Novel Target Discovery, But Stagnation in Drug Development. J Diabetes Investig (2020) 11:25–7. doi: 10.1111/jdi.13188
- Cameron NE, Eaton SE, Cotter MA, Tesfaye S. Vascular Factors and Metabolic Interactions in the Pathogenesis of Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetologia* (2001) 44:1973–88. doi: 10.1007/s001250100001
- 35. Østergaard L, Finnerup NB, Terkelsen AJ, Olesen RA, Drasbek KR, Knudsen L, et al. The Effects of Capillary Dysfunction on Oxygen and Glucose Extraction in Diabetic Neuropathy. *Diabetologia* (2015) 58:666–77. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3461-z
- 36. Jende JME, Kender Z, Morgenstern J, Renn P, Mooshage C, Juerchott A, et al. Fractional Anisotropy and Troponin T Parallel Structural Nerve Damage at the Upper Extremities in a Group of Patients With Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes – A Study Using 3t Magnetic Resonance Neurography. *Front Neurosci* (2022) 15:741494. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.741494
- 37. Chen S, Andary M, Buschbacher R, Del Toro D, Smith B, So Y, et al. Electrodiagnostic Reference Values for Upper and Lower Limb Nerve Conduction Studies in Adult Populations: AANEM Practice Topic. *Muscle Nerve* (2016) 54:371–7. doi: 10.1002/mus.25203

- Aimo A, Januzzi JL, Vergaro G, Ripoli A, Latini R, Masson S, et al. High-Sensitivity Troponin T, NT-proBNP and Glomerular Filtration Rate: A Multimarker Strategy for Risk Stratification in Chronic Heart Failure. *Int J Cardiol* (2019) 277:166–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.10.079
- 39. Jende JME, Groener JB, Rother C, Kender Z, Hahn A, Hilgenfeld T, et al. Association of Serum Cholesterol Levels With Peripheral Nerve Damage in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *JAMA Network Open* (2019) 2:e194798. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.4798
- Šimić S, Svaguša T, Prkačin I, Bulum T. Relationship Between Hemoglobin A1c and Serum Troponin in Patients With Diabetes and Cardiovascular Events. J Diabetes Metab Disord (2019) 18:693–704. doi: 10.1007/s40200-019-00460-9
- Jende JME, Kender Z, Rother C, Alvarez-Ramos L, Groener JB, Pham M, et al. Diabetic Polyneuropathy Is Associated With Pathomorphological Changes in Human Dorsal Root Ganglia: A Study Using 3t MR Neurography. Front Neurosci (2020) 14:570744. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.570744
- Seneviratne KN. Permeability of Blood Nerve Barriers in the Diabetic Rat1. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1972) 35:156–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.35.2.156
- Tuck RR, Schmelzer JD, Low PA. Endoneurial Blood Flow and Oxygen Tension in the Sciatic Nerves of Rats With Experimental Diabetic Neuropathy. Brain (1984) 107(Pt 3):935–50. doi: 10.1093/brain/107.3.935

Conflict of Interest: JJ received grants from the German Research Foundation (SFB 1158), the Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung, and from the International Foundation for Research in Paraplegia (Grant No. P179). ZK received grants from the Deutsches Zentrum für Diabetesforschung (DZD) e.V. SH received a grant from the Dietmar Hopp foundation and the German Research Council (DFG, SFB 1118). MB received grants and personal fees from Codman, Guerbet, Bayer and Novartis, personal fees from Roche, Teva, Springer, Boehringer, Grifols, Braun and grants from the European Union, Siemens, the Dietmar Hopp foundation, Stryker and the German Research Council (DFG, SFB 1118) and 1158). FK was supported by the German Research Foundation (KU 3555/1-1), the Hoffmann-Klose foundation and a research grant from Heidelberg University Hospital.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jende, Mooshage, Kender, Schimpfle, Juerchott, Nawroth, Heiland, Bendszus, Kopf and Kurz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Risk Factors for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy, Peripheral Artery Disease, and Foot Deformity Among the Population With Diabetes in Beijing, China: A Multicenter, Cross-Sectional Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Charumathi Sabanayagam, Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

Reviewed by:

Chun Wang, Sichuan University, China Zilin Sun, Southeast University, China

*Correspondence:

Xiaohui Guo bdyyguoxiaohui@sina.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 29 November 2021 Accepted: 09 May 2022 Published: 06 June 2022

Citation:

Liu J, Yuan X, Liu J, Yuan G, Sun Y, Zhang D, Qi X, Li H, Zhang J, Wen B and Guo X (2022) Risk Factors for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy, Peripheral Artery Disease, and Foot Deformity Among the Population With Diabetes in Beijing, China: A Multicenter, Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Endocrinol. 13:824215. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.824215 Jiayi Liu^{1†}, Xiaoyong Yuan^{1†}, Jin Liu², Geheng Yuan¹, Yalan Sun¹, Donghui Zhang¹, Xin Qi², Huijuan Li², Junqing Zhang¹, Bing Wen² and Xiaohui Guo^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, ² Plastic and Burn Surgery Department, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), peripheral artery disease (PAD), and foot deformity are the most common causes of diabetic foot, which can considerably worsen the patient's quality of life. In this study, we aimed to investigate the prevalence and risk factors associated with DPN, PAD, and foot deformity among patients with diabetes living in Beijing, China. In total, 3,898 diabetes patients from 11 hospitals in Beijing were evaluated using questionnaires and physical examinations, and 3,758 patients were included in the analysis. We compared the demographic, clinical, biological characteristics, and comorbidities of patients with and without DPN, PAD, or foot deformity, and used binary logistic regression analysis to identify potential factors associated with these outcomes. Overall, 882 patients (23.5%) had DPN, 437 patients (11.6%) had PAD, and 1,117 patients (29.7%) had foot deformities, including callus. The risk factors for DPN included: age ≥40 years, a ≥10+year duration of diabetes, a body mass index of <18.5 kg/m² or \geq 24 kg/m², a systolic blood pressure (SBP) of \geq 140 mm Hg, a hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}) level of \geq 7%, chronic kidney disease, and cerebrovascular disease. The risk factors for PAD included: a 15+ year diabetes duration, a body mass index of <18.5 kg/m², a SBP of \geq 140 mm Hg, a HbA_{1c} level of \geq 7%, chronic kidney disease, coronary heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease. The risk factors for skeletal foot deformities included: women, age ≥40 years, a SBP ≥140 mm Hg, and hyperlipidemia. The risk factors for callus formation included: women, a SBP ≥140 mm Hg, and hyperlipidemia. In conclusion, the prevalence of foot deformities was higher than DPN and PAD in patients with diabetes. Managing the risk factors for DPN, PAD, and foot deformity is important for reducing the risk of diabetic foot.

Keywords: peripheral neuropathy, peripheral artery disease, foot deformity, risk factors, diabetes

INTRODUCTION

Diabetic foot is a serious complication of diabetes, associated with a high prevalence and mortality, as well as an enormous medical burden. The annual incidence of diabetic foot is roughly 2%, with a lifetime incidence rate of 15-20% (1). Curing diabetic foot is difficult; even if the ulcer heals, the 1-year recurrence rate is 30-40% (2, 3). The early identification of at-risk patients is therefore crucial.

Intrinsic conditions, including neuropathy, vascular disease, and foot deformity, cause diabetic foot, as do extrinsic risk factors, such as unexpected trauma and infection. The most common extrinsic risk factors for diabetic foot are diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) and peripheral artery disease (PAD) (4, 5). International consensus guidelines define DPN as the presence of symptoms or signs of peripheral nerve dysfunction in patients with diabetes after all other causes have been ruled out (6). The International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot (IWGDF) proposed the concept of graded at-risk foot screenings, which emphasizes the importance of screening for high-risk factors of foot disease among diabetic patients, including DPN, PAD, foot deformity, foot ulcers, and partial foot or leg amputation history (7). Early screening for PAD can reduce the occurrence of diabetic foot (8). In our previous research, through Delphi consultation, we developed the "Construction of the standardized process of at-risk foot screening, stratification and intervention for diabetic patients" (hereafter referred to as the Screening Process criteria), which provides a framework for the comprehensive management of diabetic foot in China (9). Overall, 47.1% of patients with diabetes who met the Screening Process criteria had foot diseases, including DPN, PAD, and foot deformity (10). Therefore, patients with diabetes who meet the Screening Process criteria have a higher risk of developing diabetic foot, and should be given special attention towards preventing this complication.

To the best of our current knowledge, there are limited data on this patient population. This study screened patients with diabetes in multiple outpatient clinics in Beijing, China using the Screening Process. We aimed to estimate the prevalence and risk factors associated with DPN, PAD, and foot deformity among patients with type 1 and 2 diabetes, and potentially enhance preventive measures and care for patients with diabetes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

The sample consisted of 3,898 consecutively enrolled outpatients who underwent a screening for diabetic foot between June 1, 2017 and January 14, 2019 and were diagnosed with diabetes across 11 hospitals located in Beijing, China. Peking University First Hospital, Dongzhimen Hospital Beijing University of Chinese Medicine, Beijing Jishuitan Hospital, Air Force General Hospital of PLA, Peking University Shougang Hospital, Aerospace Center Hospital, Beijing Pinggu Hospital, Beijing Miyun Hospital, Beijing Shijingshan Hospital, Beijing Shichahai Community Service Center, and the Beijing Xinjiekou Community Service Center participated in the study.

Men and women with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus who were conscious, without language communication barriers, and willing to actively cooperate with the evaluation were eligible to participate. Diabetes was diagnosed based on the 1999 World Health Organization criteria (11). If the patient met any of the following criteria(Screening Process criteria) (9), he or she was included in this study: age > 60 years old; duration of diabetes > 8 years; history of PAD; history of DPN; history of diabetic nephropathy; history of diabetic retinopathy; history of foot deformity, including skeletal deformity of the foot and callus; history of diabetic foot and/or amputation. Exclusion criteria included: patients with existing foot ulcers, and patients whose medical records were missing relevant data (e.g., foot examination or the ankle-brachial index [ABI] results) (**Figure 1**).

In total, 3,758 patients with diabetes were included in the final sample. The institutional review board at each study site approved this study, and informed consent was obtained from all participants before the survey was conducted.

Data Collection

Prior to study initiation, all doctors and nurses at each site were adequately trained in operations manual. Data on sex, age, diabetes duration, and accompanying disease history (e.g., hypertension, hyperlipidemia, chronic kidney disease, coronary heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease) were collected upon admission. Systolic blood pressure (SBP) and height and weight (excluding shoes and heavy clothes) were also measured on admission. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as the weight in kilograms (kg) divided by the height in meters squared (m^2). The most recent hemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}) and



FIGURE 1 | Flow chart of diabetic patient enrollment.

low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c) levels were verified. HbA_{1c} and LDL-c are uniformly tested by the central laboratory. The symptoms of DPN and PAD, including rest pain, intermittent claudication, numbness, and paresthesia, were collected by trained nurses. Physical examinations to diagnose DPN, PAD, or foot deformity were conducted by trained doctors. The examinations included measurement of the foot temperature sensation. For this procedure, a testing tool is placed onto the foot skin with its metal side (cooler) and polymer side (warmer); positivity was defined as inability to differentiate the two sides of the Tip Therm in either side of the foot. Besides examining the ABI and Achilles tendon reflex, a 10g monofilament was gently bent for 1-2 s, and one side was pushed upon the arm skin to give the patient a reference for pressure sensation. The patient closed both eyes. For each foot, the pressure sensation was tested at the plantar surface of the great toe, the lateral side of the anterior sole, and medial side of the anterior sole. Positivity was defined as loss of pressure sensation in any tested sites of either foot. For vibration sensation, a 128 Hz tuning fork was placed onto the wrist or elbow to give the patient with a reference point for vibration or non-vibration. The patient closed both eyes. A vibrating tuning fork was then placed onto the dorsal surface of the metatarsal joint of the great toe. The patient was asked whether a vibration was felt. The test was repeated three times for both sides. Positivity was defined as two or three wrong answers for either side. Foot deformity included skeletal deformities of the foot (e.g., hallux valgus, toe deformity, Charcot foot) and callus formation. A history of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, chronic kidney disease, coronary heart disease and cerebrovascular disease were obtained from previous medical records.

Diagnostic Criteria

Diagnostic criteria for DPN and PAD were based on the Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Type 2 Diabetes in China (2017 Edition). Patients with clinical symptoms of neuropathy and one abnormal result from five examinations (ankle reflex, acupuncture pain sensation, vibration sensation, pressure sensation, and temperature sensation) were diagnosed with DPN. Patients without clinical symptoms of neuropathy and two abnormal results from the five examinations were also diagnosed with DPN. If the patient's symptoms were in line with a diabetes diagnosis and they had an ABI of ≤0.9 at rest, then PAD was diagnosed. Foot deformity included skeletal deformities of the foot (hallux valgus, hammer toe, claw toe, mallet toe, and Charcot foot), and callus. Hallux valgus was defined as deformity of the great toe by abduction valgus and pronation associated with bone prominence on the inner edge of the metatarsal (bunion) (12). Hammer toe was defined as plantar flexion of the distal and middle interphalangeal joint in comparison to the proximal phalanx. Claw toe was defined as the dorsal flexion of the metatarsophalangeal joint associated with hammer toe (13). Mallet toe was defined as flexion of the distal phalanx over the middle phalanx due to a contracture at the distal interphalangeal joint (14). Charcot foot was defined as non-infectious destruction of bone and joint tissue including loss of foot arches, i.e., rocker bottom deformity (15). Callus was

defined as a broad, diffuse area of hyperkeratosis with a relatively even thickness (16).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 19.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Normally distributed continuous variables were expressed as means ± standard deviations (SD). First, we compared characteristics such as age, sex, diabetes duration, SBP, BMI, HbA1c, and LDL-c levels between patients with and without DPN, PAD, or foot deformity. From a clinical point of view, we grouped age, duration of diabetes, BMI, SBP, HbA1c and LDL-C into categories. Categorical variables were compared using the Chisquared test and reported as frequencies and proportions. Then we performed binary logistic regression analysis with the variables which show significant difference among the patients with and without DPN/PAD/foot deformity in order to identify potential risk factors for DPN, PAD, or foot deformity. All significant variables were added to the model simultaneously. Statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

Table 1 presents the baseline characteristics of the study sample. In total, 3,758 patients were included in the analyses; 39 patients had type 1 diabetes, and 3,719 had type 2 diabetes. There were 2,024 (53.9%) men and 1,734 (46.1%) women, the median age was 62.97 years, and the median diabetes duration was 11.33 years. The only different in clinical characteristics between men and women is that the average age of women was higher than that of men (64.76 \pm 10.67 years vs 61.40 \pm 11.67 years, p<0.001). Overall, 882 (23.5%) patients had DPN, 437 (11.6%) had PAD, and 1,117 (29.7%) had a foot deformity (including callus) (**Table 2**). In patients with foot deformity (n=1117), 566 were diagnosed with skeletal deformity of the foot, accounting for 15.1% of the total patient sample overall. In addition, 904 patients were diagnosed with callus, accounting for 24.1% of the total patient sample overall. The other diagnoses in patients

 TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study participants.

Study participants (n = 3758)
62.97 ± 11.40
1734 (46.1%)
11.33 ± 7.91
25.53 ± 3.73
131.58 ± 15.66
7.64 ± 1.74
2.46 ± 0.81
2491(66.3%)
1990 (53.0%)
149 (4.0%)
1077 (28.7%)
725 (19.3%)

BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; HbA $_{1 \circ}$ glycosylated hemoglobin; LDL-c, low density lipoprotein.

TABLE 2 | Prevalence of DPN, PAD and Foot Deformity in study participants.

Foot screening	n (%)
DPN	882 (23.5%)
PAD	437 (11.6%)
Foot Deformity	1117 (29.7%)

DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; PAD, peripheral artery disease.

with foot deformity were hallux valgus (n=503), toe deformity (n=95), and Charcot foot (n=3).

DPN Risk Factors

We chose the variables which show significant difference among the patients with and without DPN (**Supplementary Table 1**). **Table 3** presents the logistic regression model outputs with DPN as the binary outcome. Age between 40-50, 50-60, 60-70, and \geq 70 years, a 10-15 year and 10+ year diabetes duration, BMI <18.5 kg/m² or \geq 24 kg/m², SBP \geq 140 mm Hg, HbA_{1c} level \geq 7%, chronic kidney disease, and cerebrovascular disease were risk factors for DPN. Among these risk factors, the OR for BMI<18.5 kg/m² was the highest (**Table 3**). BMI levels appear to be nonlinear in relation to DPN, so we further conducted smooth curve fitting(**Supplementary Figure 1**). Smooth curve fitting shows that there is a non-linear relationship between BMI and DPN. Further threshold effect analysis shows that the knee(K) is BMI=20.24kg/m² (**Supplementary Table 2**). That is, if BMI is

TABLE 3	Logistic regression analysis for factors associated with DPN.
THE C	

	OR (95%CI)	P-value
Age (years)		
<40	Reference	
40-50	1.960 (1.020, 3.766)	0.043
50-60	2.537 (1.387, 4.642)	0.003
60-70	2.549 (1.402, 4.636)	0.002
≥70	2.627 (1.431, 4.822)	0.002
Duration of diabetes (years)		
<5	Reference	
5-10	1.000 (0.763, 1.311)	NS
10-15	1.629 (1.261, 2.106)	< 0.001
≥15	1.898 (1.483, 2.429)	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m ²)		
<18.5	3.560 (1.932, 6.562)	< 0.001
18.5-23.9	Reference	
24-27.9	1.238 (1.024, 1.496)	0.027
≥28	1.353 (1.083, 1.691)	0.008
SBP≥140mmHg	1.684 (1.416, 2.003)	< 0.001
HbA _{1c} (%)		
<6.5	Reference	
6.5-6.9	0.930 (0.710, 1.217)	NS
7-7.9	1.396 (1.095, 1.779)	0.007
≥8.0	1.995 (1.590, 2.504)	< 0.001
LDL-c(mmol/L)		
<1.8	Reference	
1.8-2.6	0.839 (0.680, 1.035)	NS
≥2.6	0.751 (0.606, 0.931)	0.009
Hyperlipoidemia	1.156 (0.981, 1.362)	NS
Chronic kidney disease	2.278 (1.597, 3.250)	< 0.001
Coronary heart disease	0.859 (0.712, 1.035)	NS
Cerebrovascular disease	1.538 (1.267, 1.866)	< 0.001

DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; $HbA_{1\circ}$ glycosylated hemoglobin; LDL-c, low density lipoprotein; NS, not significance.

less than 20.24 kg/m², BMI is negatively correlated with the prevalence of DPN. If BMI is greater than 20.24 kg/m², BMI is positively correlated with the prevalence of DPN. LDL-c seems to be a protective factor for DPN. We further conducted subgroup analysis and interaction testing. As we can see in the **Supplementary Table 3**, there were no interaction between age, duration of diabetes, BMI, Hyperlipoidemia, Chronic kidney disease, Coronary heart disease, Cerebrovascular disease and LDL-c.

PAD Risk Factors

We chose the variables which show significant difference among the patients with and without PAD (**Supplementary Table 4**). **Table 4** presents the logistic regression model outputs with DBN as the binary outcome. A 15+ year diabetes duration, BMI <18.5 kg/m², SBP ≥140 mm Hg, a HbA_{1c} level of ≥7%, chronic kidney disease, coronary heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease were significant risk factors for PAD. Interestingly, the same as DPN, the OR value of BMI<18.5 kg/m² was the highest value. But BMI≥24 kg/m² were not risk factors for PAD.

Foot Deformity Risk Factors

We chose the variables which show significant difference among the patients with and without foot skeletal deformity (**Supplementary Table 5**) or callus (**Supplementary Table 6**).

TABLE 4 | Logistic regression analysis for factors associated with PAD.

	OR (95%CI)	P-value
Age (years)		
<40	Reference	
40-50	0.670 (0.308, 1.459)	NS
50-60	0.768 (0.392, 1.504)	NS
60-70	1.094 (0.571, 2.098)	NS
≥70	1.507 (0.777, 2.922)	NS
Duration of diabetes (years)		
<5	Reference	
5-10	0.879 (0.610, 1.267)	NS
10-15	1.236 (0.872, 1.752)	NS
≥15	1.565 (1.131, 2.167)	0.007
BMI (kg/m ²)		
<18.5	2.464 (1.189, 5.104)	0.015
18.5-23.9	Reference	
24-27.9	1.169 (0.912, 1.497)	NS
≥28	1.188 (0.886, 1.592)	NS
SBP≥140mmHg	1.261 (1.001, 1.588)	0.049
HbA _{1c} (%)		
<6.5	Reference	
6.5-6.9	1.016 (0.708, 1.457)	NS
7-7.9	1.468 (1.063, 2.028)	0.020
≥8.0	1.877 (1.385, 2.542)	< 0.001
LDL-c (mmol/L)		
<1.8	Reference	
1.8-2.6	0.868 (0.663, 1.137)	NS
≥2.6	0.850 (0.645, 1.119)	NS
Hypertension	0.875 (0.683, 1.121)	NS
Hyperlipoidemia	1.226 (0.984, 1.527)	NS
Chronic kidney disease	1.793 (1.183, 2.717)	0.006
Coronary heart disease	1.518 (1.205, 1.912)	< 0.001
Cerebrovascular disease	1.511 (1.189, 1.921)	< 0.001

PAD, peripheral artery disease; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; HbA_{1c} glycosylated hemoglobin; LDL-c, low density lipoprotein; NS, not significance.
Tables 5 and **6** present the logistic regression model outputs for foot skeletal deformity and callus as the binary outcomes, respectively. Women, aged \geq 40 years, SBP \geq 140 mm Hg, and hyperlipidemia were risk factors for skeletal deformities of the foot. The risk factors for callus included women, SBP \geq 140 mm Hg and hyperlipidemia. As we can see in **Table 5** and **Table 6**,

 TABLE 5 | Logistic regression analysis for factors associated with foot skeletal deformity.

	OR (95%CI)	P-value
women	1.815 (1.501, 2.195)	<0.001
Age(years)		
<40	Reference	
40-50	2.981 (1.114, 7.977)	0.030
50-60	4.314 (1.711, 10.877)	0.002
60-70	4.980 (1.993, 12.446)	< 0.001
≥70	5.855 (2.323, 14.755)	< 0.001
Duration of diabetes(years)		
<5	Reference	
5-10	0.637 (0.480, 0.847)	0.002
10-15	0.792 (0.601, 1.045)	NS
≥15	0.838 (0.643, 1.092)	NS
BMI(kg/m²)		
<18.5	1.285 (0.612, 2.697)	NS
18.5-23.9	Reference	
24-27.9	0.876 (0.710, 1.079)	NS
≥28	0.713 (0.545, 0.933)	0.014
SBP≥140mmHg	1.556 (1.269, 1.907)	< 0.001
HbA _{1c} (%)		
<6.5	Reference	
6.5-6.9	0.878 (0.672, 1.147)	NS
7-7.9	0.903 (0.698, 1.167)	NS
≥8.0	0.521 (0.400, 0.679)	< 0.001
LDL-c(mmol/L)		
<1.8	Reference	
1.8-2.6	0.696 (0.543, 0.893)	0.004
≥2.6	0.882 (0.690, 1.128)	NS
Hyperlipoidemia	1.313 (1.086, 1.586)	0.005
Coronary heart disease	0.580 (0.462, 0.728)	<0.001

BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; HbA_{1c}, glycosylated hemoglobin; LDL-c, low density lipoprotein; NS, not significance.

	OR (95%CI)	p-value
women	1.344 (1.146-1.577)	<0.001
Duration of diabetes (years)		
<5	Reference	
5-10	0.565 (0.443-0.720)	< 0.001
10-15	0.705 (0.555-0.896)	0.004
≥15	0.935 (0.749-1.167)	NS
SBP≥140 mmHg	1.577 (1.321-1.884)	< 0.001
HbA _{1c} (%)		
<6.5	Reference	
6.5-7.0	1.037 (0.822-1.308)	NS
7.0-8.0	1.009 (0.806-1.263)	NS
≥8.0	0.507 (0.404-0.636)	< 0.001
Hypertension	0.673 (0.564-0.802)	< 0.001
Hyperlipoidemia	1.662 (1.408-1.962)	< 0.001
Coronary heart disease	0.828 (0.684-1.002)	NS
Cerebrovascular disease	0.865 (0.697-1.074)	NS

HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; LDL-c, low density lipoprotein; NS, not significance.

age significantly affects the risk of foot skeletal deformity, while age was not a risk factor for callus.

DISCUSSION

DPN, PAD, and foot deformity are common in patients with diabetes, which brings physical and mental suffering to the patient and their family members, and negatively affects their quality of life. Understanding the prevalence and risk factors of DPN, PAD, and foot deformity are necessary to formulate a prevention strategy for diabetic foot in Chinese patients with diabetes. Therefore, we conducted a multicenter survey of 3,758 cases across 11 hospitals in Beijing to clarify the prevalence and risk factors of diabetic foot in a representative sample of Chinese patients with type I or type II diabetes.

DPN is an important risk factor in diabetic foot. The risk of diabetic foot ulcers is reported to be seven times greater in patients with DPN and sensory deficits than in patients without DPN and sensory deficits (17). A Chinese survey showed that 63.6% of diabetic foot ulcers were caused by DPN (18). DPN was defined as a major risk factor for diabetic foot by the IWGDF (1). In this study, we found that age \geq 40 years, a \geq 10-year duration of diabetes, underweight (BMI<18.5 kg/m²) or overweight and obesity $(BMI > 24 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, SBP $\geq 140 \text{ mm Hg}$, a HbA₁ level of $\geq 7\%$, chronic kidney disease, and cerebrovascular disease were all risk factors of DPN. Consistent with our findings, The Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) trial suggested that lowering blood sugar slowed the occurrence of DPN (19). Further, a meta-analysis identified diabetes duration, age, glycosylated hemoglobin, and diabetic retinopathy as risk factors for DBN (20). The results of our study showed that chronic kidney disease and underweight also increased the risk of DPN. Chronic kidney disease, especially renal insufficiency, can lead to systemic vascular diseases, including microvascular diseases (21, 22). Microvascular diseases lead to a decrease in peripheral nerve blood flow, causing DPN. Underweight is often accompanied by nutrient deficiency, which causes a decrease in neurotrophic factors and leads to DPN (23). Another interesting finding is that the DPN risk was lower in patients with an LDL-c level of \geq 2.6 mmol/L than in patients with an LDL-c of <1.8 mmol/L. However, hyperlipidemia did not reduce the risk of DPN. We suspect that lipid-lowering drugs may influence neuropathy, but further research is needed to confirm this hypothesis.

In this study, we found that a diabetes duration of \geq 15 years, underweight (BMI<18.5 kg/m²), SBP of \geq 140 mm Hg, HbA_{1c} level of \geq 7%, chronic kidney disease, and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases were risk factors for PAD. Previous research has shown that age, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and smoking are PAD risk factors (24). Furthermore, patients aged >50 years with cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, dyslipidemia, hypertension, smoking, or diabetes for more than 5 years are recommended to undergo screening for PAD every year for early detection (25, 26). Coronary heart disease or cerebrovascular disease indicates atherosclerosis in the blood vessels of the heart or brain. PAD is not a specific complication of diabetes, but one of the most common manifestations of atherosclerosis in the lower extremities. Therefore, it is not difficult to understand that coronary heart disease or cerebrovascular disease were risk factors for PAD. Patients with chronic kidney disease are at increased risk of atherosclerosis (27), this could explain chronic kidney disease as a risk factor for PAD.

According to the results of this study, the prevalence of foot deformity was higher than DPN and PAD. However, IWGDF pays more attention to DPN than PAD and foot deformity. Therefore, foot deformities may be missed in many patients. In this study, we found both risk and protective factors for foot deformity in patients with diabetes. The risk of skeletal deformity of the foot increased with age, and was higher in women than in men, which could be attributed to walking and inappropriate shoes. However, coronary heart disease, obesity, and an elevated HbA_{1c} level may be protective factors for skeletal foot deformity, potentially related to changes in activity habits. Foot deformity leads to a change in plantar pressure, increasing the incidence of foot ulcers (28). In the non-diabetic population, foot deformity is related to shoes or environmental factors (29). Angina pectoris and cardiac insufficiency caused by coronary heart disease lead to decreased activity tolerance, reducing the risk of skeletal foot deformity. Obesity and elevated blood sugar are also related to a sedentary lifestyle and inactivity. Thus, the protective effect of obesity and an elevated HbA1c level on skeletal foot deformities may also come from reduced activity. This kind of obesity paradox was also found in foot ulceration risk (30) and lowerextremity amputation risk (31), but lacked a valid explanation. In our study, lipids affected skeletal foot deformities in two ways. On one hand, hyperlipidemia increased the risk of skeletal deformity; on the other hand, an LDL-c level of ≤1.8 mmol/L did not reduce the risk of skeletal foot deformities, perhaps owing to cholesterol or statin use. Further research is needed in order to confirm this.

Callus increase plantar pressure, plantar pressure duration (32, 33), and the risk of diabetic foot ulcers. Callus are caused by excessive pressure and friction of the skin of the foot, often related to shoes. Similar to skeletal foot deformities, women had a greater risk of callus, likely resulting from shoe habits. An increased HbA_{1c} level may be related to insufficient activity. Compared to a diabetes duration of fewer than 5 years, the risk of callus decreased when the diabetes duration was 5–15 years but was similar when the duration was more than 15 years. Thus, diabetes duration is a protective factor for callus. A history of hypertension reduced the risk of callus, but a higher SBP increased the risk, suggesting that some antihypertensive drugs may have a protective effect regarding callus, but further research is required.

There are certain limitations to our study. First, nerve conduction studies were not performed, potentially leading to missed diagnoses. Patients with PAD may have a noncompressible ABI due to medial calcinosis, which would be undetected using only the criterion of lower than 0.90. We also did not examine smoking history, which is a known risk factor for PAD. Second, our study focused on patients visiting clinics and did not cover a large number of patients who were unaware of their condition or unwilling to be treated. The cross-sectional nature of this study limits our ability to infer any causal effects. A prospective follow-up study is required to evaluate the associations between exposures and outcomes.

In conclusion, despite the high prevalence of DPN, PAD, and foot deformity in Chinese patients with diabetes, these complications were underdiagnosed and undertreated. Strengthening the management of risk factors for diabetic foot might improve the quality of life and lifespan of patients with diabetes and reducing their medical burden.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Biomedical Research Ethics Committee, Peking University First Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JYL, XY, and JL designed the study, and conducted the literature research. JYL and XY carried out the data interpretation, and drafted the manuscript. YS, DZ, and HL carried out data acquisition. GY, XQ, JZ, BW, and XG contributed to interpretation of the data and significantly improved the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission (grant number D141107005314003 and Z181100001718121).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2022. 824215/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Schaper NC, Van Netten JJ, Apelqvist J, Lipsky BA, Bakker K, International Working Group on the Diabetic Foot. Prevention and Management of Foot Problems in Diabetes: A Summary Guidance for Daily Practice 2015, Based on the IWGDF Guidance Documents. . *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2016) 32 (Suppl 1):7–15. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2695
- Pound N, Chipchase S, Treece K, Game F, Jeffcoate W. Ulcer-Free Survival Following Management of Foot Ulcers in Diabetes. *Diabetes Med* (2005) 22:1306–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01640.x
- Bus SA, Waaijman R, Arts M, de Haart M, Busch-Westbroek T, van Baal J, et al. Effect of Custom-Made Footwear on Foot Ulcer Recurrence in Diabetes: A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36:4109– 16. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0996
- Brownrigg JR, Apelqvist J, Bakker K, Schaper NC, Hinchliffe RJ. Evidence-Based Management of PAD & the Diabetic Foot. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2013) 45:673–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2013.02.014
- Rhim B, Harkless L. LPrevention: Can We Stop Problems Before They Arise? Semin Vasc Surg (2012) 25:122–8. doi: 10.1053/j.semvascsurg.2012.05.002
- Boulton AJ, Gries FA, Jervell JA. Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Outpatient Management of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. *Diabetes Med* (1998) 15:508–14. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199806)15:6<508::AID-DIA613>3.0.CO;2-L
- van Netten JJ, Price PE, Lavery LA, Monteiro-Soares M, Rasmussen A, Jubiz Y, et al. Prevention of Foot Ulcers in the at-Risk Patient With Diabetes: A Systematic Review. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2016) 32 Suppl 1:84–98. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2701
- Hinchliffe RJ, Forsythe RO, Apelqvist J, Boyko EJ, Fitridge R, Hong JP, et al. Guidelines on Diagnosis, Prognosis, and Management of Peripheral Artery Disease in Patients With Foot Ulcers and Diabetes (IWGDF 2019 Update). *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2020) 36 Suppl 1:e3276. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3276
- Jin L, Xiaoyong Y, Geheng Y, Junqing Z, Bing W, Xin Q, et al. Construction of the Standardized Process of at-Risk Foot Screening, Stratification and Intervention for Diabetic Patients. *Chin J Diabetes Mellitus* (2017) 9:281–5. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-5809.2017.05.003
- Xiaoyong Y, Jin L, Geheng Y, Yalan S, Donghui Z, Xin Q, et al. A Multi-Centered Study in Diabetic at-Risk Foot Screening and Risk Factor Analysis in Beijing. *Chin J Diabetes Mellitus* (2020) 28:486–91. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1006-6187.2020.07.002
- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and its Complications. Part 1: Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus Provisional Report of a WHO Consultation. *Diabetes Med* (1998) 15:539–53. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199807)15:7<539::AID-DIA668>3.0.CO;2-S
- Nix S, Smith M, Vicenzino B. Prevalence of Hallux Valgus in the General Population: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Foot Ankle Res (2010) 3:21. doi: 10.1186/1757-1146-3-21
- Coughlin MJ. Mallet Toes, Hammer Toes, Claw Toes, and Corns. Causes and Treatment of Lesser-Toe Deformities. *Postgrad Med* (1984) 75:191–8. doi: 10.1080/00325481.1984.11698001
- Molloy A, Shariff R. Mallet Toe Deformity. Foot Ankle Clin (2011) 16:537–46. doi: 10.1016/j.fcl.2011.08.004
- Sella EJ, Barrette C. Staging of Charcot Neuroarthropathy Along the Medial Column of the Foot in the Diabetic Patient. J Foot Ankle Surg (1999) 38:34–40. doi: 10.1016/S1067-2516(99)80086-6
- Singh D, Bentley G, Trevino SG. Callosities, Corns, and Calluses. BMJ (Clin Res Ed) (1996) 312:1403–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7043.1403a
- Amin N, Doupis J. Diabetic Foot Disease: From the Evaluation of the "Foot at Risk" to the Novel Diabetic Ulcer Treatment Modalities. World J Diabetes (2016) 7:153–64. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v7.i7.153
- Lin SD, Lin CJ, Wang AH, Zhao S, Yan L, Wang PH, et al. A Multicenter Survey on the Diabetic Foot and its Neuropathy in China. *Zhonghua Yi Xue* Za Zhi (2007) 87:1241–4. doi: 10.3760/j:issn:0376-2491.2007.18.006
- Ismail-Beigi F, Craven T, Banerji MA, Basile J, Calles J, Cohen RM, et al. Effect of Intensive Treatment of Hyperglycaemia on Microvascular Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes: An Analysis of the Accord Randomised Trial. *Lancet* (2010) 376:419–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60576-4

- Liu X, Xu Y, An M, Zeng Q. The Risk Factors for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy: A Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One* (2019) 14:e0212574. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0212574
- Checheriță IA, Smarandache D, David C, Ciocâlteu A, Ion DA, Lascăr I. Vascular Calcifications in Chronic Kidney Disease–Clinical Management. *Rom J Morphol Embryol* (2012) 53:7–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-142X.2011.00527.x
- Meola M, Samoni S, Petrucci I. Clinical Scenarios in Chronic Kidney Disease: Vascular Chronic Diseases. *Contrib Nephrol* (2016) 188:81–8. doi: 10.1159/ 000445470
- Faselis C, Katsimardou A, Imprialos K, Deligkaris P, Kallistratos M, Dimitriadis K. Microvascular Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* (2020) 18:117–24. doi: 10.2174/1570161117666190502103733
- 24. Zhang X, Ran X, Xu Z, Cheng Z, Shen F, Yu Y, et al. Epidemiological Characteristics of Lower Extremity Arterial Disease in Chinese Diabetes Patients at High Risk: A Prospective, Multicenter, Cross-Sectional Study. J Diabetes Complications (2018) 32:150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp. 2017.10.003
- Ferket BS, Spronk S, Colkesen EB, Hunink MG. Systematic Review of Guidelines on Peripheral Artery Disease Screening. Am J Med (2012) 125:198–208.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.06.027
- Chinese Diabetes Society. Guidelines for the prevention and control of type 2 diabetes in China (2017 Edition). Chinese Journal of Practical Internal Medicine. (2018) 38:292–344. doi: 10.19538/j.nk2018040108
- Ohtake T, Kobayashi S. Chronic Kidney Disease and Atherosclerosis: An Important Implication of Carotid Intima-Media Thickness. J Atheroscler Thromb (2021) 28:471–3. doi: 10.5551/jat.ED146
- Tang UH, Zügner R, Lisovskaja V, Karlsson J, Hagberg K, Tranberg R. Foot Deformities, Function in the Lower Extremities, and Plantar Pressure in Patients With Diabetes at High Risk to Develop Foot Ulcers. *Diabetes Foot Ankle* (2015) 6:27593. doi: 10.3402/dfa.v6.27593
- Munteanu SE, Menz HB, Wark JD, Christie JJ, Scurrah KJ, Bui M, et al. Hallux Valgus, by Nature or Nurture? A Twin Study. *Arthritis Care Res* (2017) 69:1421–8. doi: 10.1002/acr.23154
- Sohn MW, Budiman-Mak E, Lee TA, Oh E, Stuck RM. Significant J-Shaped Association Between Body Mass Index (BMI) and Diabetic Foot Ulcers. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2011) 27:402–9. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1193
- Sohn MW, Budiman-Mak E, Oh EH, Park MS, Stuck RM, Stone NJ, et al. Obesity Paradox in Amputation Risk Among Nonelderly Diabetic Men. Obes (Silver Spring) (2012) 20:460–2. doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.301
- Lavery LA, Armstrong DG, Wunderlich RP, Tredwell J, Boulton AJ. Predictive Value of Foot Pressure Assessment as Part of a Population-Based Diabetes Disease Management Program. *Diabetes Care* (2003) 26:1069–73. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.4.1069
- 33. Pataky Z, Golay A, Faravel L, Da Silva J, Makoundou V, Peter-Riesch B, et al. The Impact of Callosities on the Magnitude and Duration of Plantar Pressure in Patients With Diabetes Mellitus. A Callus may Cause 18,600 Kilograms of Excess Plantar Pressure Per Day. *Diabetes Metab* (2002) 28:356–61. doi: 10.1177/014572170202800616

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Liu, Yuan, Liu, Yuan, Sun, Zhang, Qi, Li, Zhang, Wen and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Nomogram Prediction for the Risk of Diabetic Foot in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Jie Wang¹, Tong Xue², Haopeng Li^{1*} and Shuai Guo¹

¹ Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China, ² Department of Neonatology, Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China

Aims: To develop and validate a nomogram prediction model for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and evaluate its clinical application value.

Methods: We retrospectively collected clinical data from 1,950 patients with T2DM from the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University between January 2012 and June 2021. The patients were divided into training cohort and validation cohort according to the random number table method at a ratio of 7:3. The independent risk factors for diabetic foot among patients with T2DM were identified by multivariate logistic regression analysis. Then, a nomogram prediction model was developed using the independent risk factors. The model performances were evaluated by the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC), calibration plot, Hosmer–Lemeshow test, and the decision curve analysis (DCA).

Results: Multivariate logistic regression analysis indicated that age, hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), total cholesterol (TC), smoke, and drink were independent risk factors for diabetic foot among patients with T2DM (P < 0.05). The AUCs of training cohort and validation cohort were 0.806 (95% CI: 0.775~0.837) and 0.857 (95% CI: 0.814~0.899), respectively, suggesting good discrimination of the model. Calibration curves of training cohort and validation cohort and validation cohort were 0.826 and 0.480, respectively, suggesting a high calibration of the model. When the threshold probability was set as 11.6% in the DCA curve, the clinical net benefits of training cohort and validation cohort were 58% and 65%, respectively, indicating good clinical usefulness of the model.

Conclusion: We developed and validated a user-friendly nomogram prediction model for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM. Nomograms may help clinicians early screen and identify patients at high risk of diabetic foot.

Keywords: type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), diabetic foot, orthopedics, nomogram, individual risk prediction model

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Åke Sjöholm, Gävle Hospital, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Angelica Amato, University of Brasilia, Brazil Jin Shang, First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, China

> *Correspondence: Haopeng Li Ihp_3993@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 05 March 2022 Accepted: 13 June 2022 Published: 13 July 2022

Citation:

Wang J, Xue T, Li H and Guo S (2022) Nomogram Prediction for the Risk of Diabetic Foot in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Front. Endocrinol. 13:890057. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.890057

INTRODUCTION

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), previously referred to as noninsulin-dependent diabetes or adult-onset diabetes and accounting for 90%-95% of all diabetes, is a disease caused by a gradual decrease in insulin secretion from β cells in the context of insulin resistance (1, 2). T2DM is a disease involving the interaction between genetic and environmental risk factors leading to the underlying pathophysiology of beta cell dysfunction as well as insulin resistance in liver and muscle (3, 4). Poorly controlled T2DM can lead to chronic diabetic complications such as microangiopathy (retinopathy and kidney disease), atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, peripheral neuropathy (sensory dysfunction), and diabetic foot (5-10). In the above complications, the diabetic foot negatively affects the quality of both work and life of patients. The decline in daily living activities of patients with diabetic foot results in substantial physical and psychological burdens on the patients.

Diabetic foot is one of the most serious and costly chronic complications of diabetes. It refers to foot ulcer, infection, or deep tissue destruction related to peripheral neuropathy in the lower extremity and peripheral vascular disease (11, 12). Mild diabetic foot patients usually present with foot deformities, hypoesthesia, skin dryness, and loss of skin elasticity. Patients with severe diabetic foot may develop foot ulcers and gangrene. Diabetic foot is the main reason for non-traumatic amputations in orthopedics. At present, there are many studies on the individual risk factors of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM, but no consensus has been reached. Although there are relevant clinical guidelines as the reference basis for the formulation of clinical treatment plans, how to predict the probability of diabetic foot according to risk factors and determine the timing of interventional treatment is an urgent problem to be solved at present.

The nomogram is drawn by the individual risk factors determined by multivariate logistic regression analysis. The nomogram can graphically represent the numerical relationship between specific disease and risk factors and intuitively predict the incidence of adverse events through a scoring system without any complicated calculation formula (13). The nomogram can provide accurate and individualized risk predictions for each individual. It is convenient for clinicians to effectively screen out high-risk patients and timely take interventions. Therefore, this study aimed to develop a nomogram prediction model for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM. Early screening and identification of highrisk patients can provide the reliable reference basis for early clinical intervention.

METHODS

Research Subjects

We retrospectively collected and analyzed clinical data from patients with diabetes mellitus from the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University between January 2012 and June 2021. Baseline-including criteria included (1) T2DM, diagnosis is made according to relevant criteria (fasting plasma glucose \geq 7.0 mmol/L or 2-h plasma glucose \geq 11.1 mmol/L or hemoglobin A1c \ge 6.5%) (14); (2) both lower extremity arteries (femoral artery, superficial femoral artery, popliteal artery, anterior tibial artery, posterior tibial artery, and dorsalis pedis artery) of patients were examined by color Doppler ultrasonography for intima-media thickness, blood vessel diameter, and filling defects in blood flow; (3) orthopedic examination of the foot and ankle, including visual examination/palpation (skin condition and gait), mobility of foot and ankle (range of motion of the ankle joint, varus/valgus, and pronation/supination), and special examination (ankle anterior drawer test, varus/valgus stress test, and external rotation examination); and (4) patients gave oral informed consent. Baseline-excluding criteria included (1) type 1 diabetes mellitus, (2) gestational diabetes, (3) thromboangiitis obliterans, (4) combined with cancer, and (5) incomplete clinical data.

After the above screening, a total of 1,950 patients with T2DM were enrolled in the study. The patients were divided into training cohort (n = 1,365) and validation cohort (n = 585) according to the random number table method at a ratio of 7:3. The detailed flowchart is shown in **Figure 1**.

The study was approved by the medical ethics committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University (Approval number: 2021234), which was consistent with medical ethics. The study was a retrospective cohort study and the data of included patients were anonymous. Oral informed consent was obtained from each enrolled patient before discharge.

Observation Indexes

Clinical data including gender, age, course of disease, body mass index (BMI), oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) 2-h plasma glucose, hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol(TC),smoke, drink, hypertension history, family history of T2DM, and exercise of patients were collected. The above data were collected and checked by three researchers to ensure the completeness and validity of the data.



FIGURE 1 | Flowchart of patients included in this study.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (Version 25.0, USA) and R software (Version 3.6.2, USA). Continuous variables were presented as means ± standard deviation or median (interquartile range). Categorical variables were presented using counts and percentages. Continuous variables were analyzed by t test or Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical variables were analyzed using the χ^2 test or Fisher exact test. The independent risk factors for diabetic foot among patients with T2DM were identified by univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis of the training cohort. Then, a nomogram prediction model was developed using the independent risk factors. The discrimination, calibration, and clinical usefulness of the nomogram prediction model were validated in training cohort and validation cohort. The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) and C index were used to evaluate the discrimination. The calibration was evaluated by calibration plot and Hosmer-Lemeshow test. The clinical usefulness was evaluated by cutoff value combined with decision curve analysis (DCA) curve. P < 0.05 indicated statistically significant differences.

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the patients in the training cohort and validation cohort.

RESULTS

General Characteristics of Research Subjects

A total of 1,950 patients, including 1,365 patients in training cohort and 585 patients in validation cohort, were enrolled in this study (**Table 1**). In the training cohort, 203 patients developed diabetic foot, giving a frequency of 14.9%. In the validation cohort, 86 patients developed diabetic foot, giving a frequency of 14.7%. There were no statistically significant differences in gender, age, course of disease, BMI, etc. between training cohort and validation cohort (P > 0.05), indicating comparability between the two groups.

Multivariate Logistic Regression Analysis

Univariate logistic regression analysis showed that the risk factors with statistically significant differences were age, course of disease, BMI, HbA1c, LDL, TC, smoke, and drink in training cohort (P < 0.05, **Table 2**). Then, the above risk factors were included in the multivariate logistic regression analysis. The results of multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that the independent risk factors for diabetic foot among patients with T2DM were age, HbA1c, LDL, TC, smoke, and drink (P < 0.05, **Table 3**).

Characteristics	Training cohort (n=1365)	Validation cohort (n=585)	t/Ζ/χ²	Р
Gender [n(%)]			0.845	0.358
Male	863 (63.2)	357 (61.0)		
Female	502 (36.8)	228 (39.0)		
Age (year)	46.79±2.71	45.12±2.70	0.533	0.601
Course of disease (year)	19.79±1.93	19.10±2.51	1.071	0.298
BMI [n(%)]			2.108	0.349
<18.5kg/m ²	109 (8.0)	53 (9.1)		
18.5-24 kg/m ²	846 (62.0)	374 (63.9)		
>24 kg/m ²	410 (30.0)	158 (27.0)		
OGTT 2h (mmol/L)	14.05±1.85	13.90±1.57	0.441	0.664
HbA1c (%)	10.17±0.96	10.14±0.98	0.679	0.506
LDL (mmol/L)	3.73±1.04	3.79±0.90	1.341	0.180
TG [n(%)]			2.213	0.331
<1.7 mmol/L	478 (35.0)	193 (33.0)		
1.7-2.3 mmol/L	315 (23.1)	153 (26.2)		
>2.3 mmol/L	572 (41.9)	239 (40.8)		
TC (mmol/L)	5.56±1.00	5.58±0.97	0.478	0.633
Smoke [n(%)]			0.244	0.622
No	546 (40.0)	241 (41.2)		
Yes	819 (60.0)	344 (58.8)		
Drink [n(%)]			0.963	0.327
No	642 (47.0)	261 (44.6)		
Yes	723 (53.0)	324 (55.4)		
Hypertension [n(%)]			0.876	0.349
No	802 (58.8)	357 (61.0)		
Yes	563 (41.2)	228 (39.0)		
Family history of type 2 diabetes [n(%)]			0.702	0.402
No	328 (24.0)	151 (25.8)		
Yes	1037 (76.0)	434 (74.2)		
Exercise [n(%)]	. ,		1.222	0.269
No	892 (65.3)	367 (62.7)		
Yes	473 (34.7)	218 (37.3)		

BMI, Body Mass Index; OGTT, Oral Glucose Tolerance Test; HbA1c, Hemoglobin A1c; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; TG, Triglyceride; TC, Total Cholesterol.

TABLE 2 | Univariate logistic regression analysis of patients in the training cohort.

Characteristics	Diabetic foot group (n=203)	Non-diabetic foot group (n=1162)	$t/Z/\chi^2$	Р
Gender [n(%)]			1.001	0.317
Male	122(60.1)	741(63.8)		
Female	81(39.9)	421(36.2)		
Age (year)	47.22±2.98	46.71±2.65	6.081	0.014
Course of disease (year)	20.09±2.00	19.73±1.91	5.848	0.016
BMI [n(%)]			6.426	0.011
<18.5kg/m ²	15(7.4)	94(8.1)		
18.5-24 kg/m ²	109(53.7)	737(63.4)		
>24 kg/m ²	79(38.9)	331(28.5)		
OGTT 2h (mmol/L)	14.16±1.98	14.03±1.83	0.877	0.349
HbA1c (%)	10.86±0.97	10.05±0.91	112.052	< 0.00
LDL (mmol/L)	4.19±0.83	3.65±1.06	42.974	< 0.00
TG [n(%)]			2.193	0.139
<1.7 mmol/L	59(29.1)	419(36.0)		
1.7-2.3 mmol/L	54(26.6)	261(22.5)		
>2.3 mmol/L	90(44.3)	482(41.5)		
TC (mmol/L)	5.99±0.75	5.48±1.02	41.716	< 0.00
Smoke [n(%)]			6.271	0.012
No	65(32.0)	481(41.4)		
Yes	138(68.0)	681(58.6)		
Drink [n(%)]			7.032	0.008
No	78(38.4)	564(48.5)		
Yes	125(61.6)	598(51.5)		
Hypertension [n(%)]	- ()		1.263	0.261
No	112(55.2)	690(59.4)		
Yes	91(44.8)	472(40.6)		
Family history of type 2 diabetes [n(%)]		()	0.565	0.452
No	53(26.1)	275(23.7)		
Yes	150(73.9)	887(76.3)		
Exercise [n(%)]		\/	1.132	0.287
No	126(62.1)	766(65.9)		
Yes	77(37.9)	396(34.1)		

BMI, Body Mass Index; OGTT, Oral Glucose Tolerance Test; HbA1c, Hemoglobin A1c; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; TG, Triglyceride; TC, Total Cholesterol.

Development of a Diabetic Foot-predicting Nomogram

A nomogram prediction model for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM was developed using above independent risk factors (**Figure 2**). The application of the nomogram prediction model was as follows. According to the nomogram, we could obtain the score corresponding to each predictor index, and then the sum of these score was recorded as the total score. The predicted probability corresponding to the total score was the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM.

Validation of a Diabetic Foot-Predicting Nomogram

Discrimination

Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves of the training cohort and validation cohort were drawn (**Figure 3**). The AUC of the training cohort was 0.806 (95% CI: 0.775~0.837). The cutoff value was 11.6% (P < 0.05). The C index was 0.806. The AUC of the validation cohort was 0.857 (95% CI 0.814~0.899), (P < 0.05). The C index was 0.857. The C indexes of the nomogram prediction model in the training cohort and validation cohort were greater than 0.75, indicating good discrimination of the model.

Variable	В	SE	Wald	OR	95%CI	Р
Age(year)	0.098	0.031	9.855	1.103	1.038-1.173	0.002
HbA1c (%)	0.920	0.092	100.327	2.509	2.096-3.004	<0.001
LDL (mmol/L)	0.585	0.096	37.078	1.796	1.487-2.168	<0.001
TC(mmol/L)	0.524	0.098	28.877	1.690	1.395-2.046	<0.001
Smoke	0.431	0.179	5.813	1.539	1.084-2.186	0.016
Drink	0.341	0.172	3.931	1.407	1.004-1.971	0.047
Constant	-21.765	2.041	113.677	0.000	_	<0.001

TABLE 3 | Multivariate logistic regression analysis of patients in the training cohort.

HbA1c, Hemoglobin A1c; LDL, Low-Density Lipoprotein; TC, Total Cholesterol.



Calibration

Calibration curves of the nomogram prediction model in the training cohort and validation cohort showed a favorable consistency between the predicted probability and the actual probability (**Figure 4**). In addition, the results of Hosmer–Lemeshow test of the nomogram prediction model in training cohort and validation cohort were $\chi^2 = 4.336$ (P = 0.826) and $\chi^2 = 7.532$ (P = 0.480), respectively. The P values of Hosmer–Lemeshow test of the nomogram prediction model in training cohort and validation cohort were greater than 0.05, suggesting no statistical significance. It indicated that the calibration of the model was high.

Clinical usefulness

DCA curves of the training cohort and validation cohort were drawn (**Figure 5**). When the threshold probability was in the range of 3%~62% and 3%~99%, respectively, the net benefit of patients was higher than that of the other two extreme curves (The horizontal line indicated that no diabetic foot occurred in all patients and no treatment, and the net benefit was 0. The oblique line indicated that all patients developed diabetic foot and received treatment, and the net benefit was a negative slope backslash line.). Within the above range, the nomogram prediction model has good clinical usefulness. The cutoff value

(11.6%) obtained from the ROC curve of the training cohort was within the threshold probability range of the above two DCA curves, indicating that the nomogram prediction model has good clinical usefulness. A further analysis of the DCA curves of the nomogram prediction model showed that the net clinical benefit of the training cohort and validation cohort was 58% and 65%, respectively, when 11.6% was set as the threshold probability value for diagnosing diabetic foot and taking intervention. In other words, 58 and 65 of every 100 patients with T2DM who were diagnosed with diabetic foot using the nomogram prediction model in the training cohort and validation cohort would respectively have clinical benefits.

Visualization Application of a Diabetic Foot-Predicting Nomogram

Take a patient with T2DM as an example, the relevant clinical data of this patient were as follows: age 50, HbA1c 10.2%, LDL 4.7 mmol/L, TC 5.8 mmol/L, smoke, and drink. According to the nomogram prediction model (**Figure 6**), the predicted risk of diabetic foot for this patient was 22.5%, higher than the threshold probability (11.6%). At this time, according to the DCA curve, we should take intervention to reduce the risk of patients developing diabetic foot.

DISCUSSION

Diabetic foot was one of the serious complications of diabetes mellitus. Diabetic foot imposed significant economic burdens on patients and society. T2DM accounted for a large proportion of diabetes mellitus. In patients with T2DM, the incidence of diabetic foot was as high as 12% to 15% (15–17). The overall incidence of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM in this study was approximately 14.9%. The incidence was similar to that reported in the above literature. Patients with T2DM who developed diabetic foot often had no obvious clinical symptoms and signs in the early stage, and sometimes only





FIGURE 4 | Calibration plots of the nomogram prediction for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM in the training cohort (A) and validation cohort (B).

showed their decline of protective sensation. This made it easy to neglect the condition of the patient (18–20). Therefore, how to predict the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM at an early stage and timely take intervention for high-risk patients is crucial.

Most of the current research on the relevant risk factors of diabetic foot has focused on intervening in the progression of diabetic foot to prevent severe ulcers and amputations (21–24). Although these studies are important, we believe that how to prevent diabetic patients from developing diabetic foot is more important and critical. On the one hand, there are few studies in this area. On the other hand, there is no consensus in this regard. In our study, univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis found that the independent risk factors for diabetic foot in patients with T2DM were age, HbA1c, LDL, TC, smoke, and drink.

The pathogeneses of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM are as follows:

(1) Peripheral neuropathy

Patients with T2DM have various degree of neuropathy of distal lower extremities. Neuropathy of distal lower extremities mainly includes sensory, motor, and autonomic peripheral neuropathy (25). Sensory neuropathy is mainly characterized by the reduction or loss of vibration sensation (pallhypesthesia) and superficial sensation (pressure and touch) as well as subjective paresthesia. The sensation of pain in the foot is substantially declined as a consequence of chronic sensory neuropathy. As a result, the risk of foot trauma is significantly higher (26–29). Foot injuries and ulcers are neglected by patients and doctors due to the lack of pain symptoms (30, 31). Hence, foot injuries and ulcers often go undetected by doctors for weeks. Motor neuropathy of the foot is characterized by muscle atrophy,





motor paralysis, and loss of muscle self-reflexes. The combination of sensory and motor peripheral neuropathy results in severe foot load accompanied by gait abnormality. As the disease progresses, the lesions of the foot will worsen due to neuropathy and increased plantar pressure load. Secretion of sweat is dysfunctional by motor paralysis due to autonomic neuropathy. Perspiration dysfunction could lead to dry skin on the foot and a reduced protective skin function, which increases the risk of injury and ulcers. Through multivariate logistic regression analysis, our study found that age, HbA1c, and drink were related to the occurrence of diabetic foot, and their OR values were 1.103, 2.509, and 1.407, respectively. According to our analysis of the patients, the sensory function of distal lower extremities of elderly patients with T2DM was worse than that of young patients, so the risk of foot injuries and ulcers was higher than that of young patients. HbA1c reflects the level of recent plasma glucose control of patients. The increase of HbA1c beyond the normal range usually indicates that the patient's level of plasma glucose control is not ideal, leading to the occurrence of hyperglycemia. Previous studies showed that metabolic abnormalities due to hyperglycemia cause neuropathy (32). Hyperglycemia leads to nerve damage through four mechanisms, including increased levels of intracellular advanced glycation end products, activation of protein kinase C, hexosamine pathway, and polyol pathway (33). Alcohol has chronic neurotoxic effects (34), especially in patients with T2DM. This has a certain adverse effect on the sensory nerves of distal lower extremities of patients with T2DM, which leads to a decrease in the damage-sensing capacity of foot and increase the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM.

(2) Peripheral vascular disease

Peripheral vascular disease is often present in the course of T2DM. Peripheral vascular disease is an atherosclerotic occlusive disease of the lower extremity. Patients with T2DM have a higher risk of peripheral vascular disease (35). In patients with T2DM, peripheral vascular disease is an important cause of the occurrence and development of diabetic foot (36). Patients with T2DM have a higher incidence of thickened basement membranes of the capillaries, atherosclerosis, endothelial cell hyperplasia, and arteriolosclerosis (37). As a result, patients with T2DM suffer from a lack of blood supply to their arteries. Poor peripheral blood supply can lead to poor wound healing of foot and worsen the condition. Patients with T2DM have reduced

blood perfusion in the foot. As a result, the patients are at risk of ulcers and infections and eventually developing diabetic foot. Through multivariate logistic regression analysis, our study found that LDL, TC, and smoke were related to the occurrence of diabetic foot, and their OR values were 1.796, 1.690, and 1.539, respectively. After analyzing the patients, we believed that patients with T2DM would have a great risk of diabetic foot if their LDL and TC were higher than the normal range.LDL, a cholesterol-rich lipoprotein, is one of the risk factors for atherosclerosis (38). After chemical modification, LDL is ingested by phagocytes, forming foamy cells, and remaining in the vascular wall, resulting in a large amount of cholesterol deposition, which contributes to the formation of atheromatous plaque in the arterial wall (39-41). Thus, elevated LDL increases the risk of peripheral vascular disease in patients with T2DM, resulting in poor blood supply to the foot. In this context, diabetic foot ensues. TC is one of the risk factors for atherosclerosis in clinic (42). Therefore, increased TC will increase the risk of peripheral vascular atherosclerosis in patients. Increased TC has adverse effects on the blood supply to the foot of patients with T2DM, leading to the development of diabetic foot. Smoking can reduce the release of prostacyclin in patients, and then platelets tend to adhere to the arterial wall (43, 44). Smoking can also reduce high density lipoprotein cholesterol and increase TC in blood, resulting in atherosclerosis (45-47). Hence, smoking predisposes the patients with T2DM to atherosclerosis, which reduces peripheral blood supply to the foot. This increases the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM.

At present, the preventive measures for diabetic foot mainly include the following. On the premise of glycemic control, the foot of the patients with T2DM should be checked regularly and protected preventatively (such as wearing loose-fitting shoes and socks). In clinical work, how to identify which patients need early clinical intervention is worth pondering. Meanwhile, there is a lack of related research on the nomogram prediction model for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM. Hence, we developed and validated a nomogram prediction model for the risk of diabetic foot in patients with T2DM and evaluated its clinical application value. In our study, when the cutoff value (11.6%) was taken as the threshold of DCA curve, we observed that the net clinical benefit of patients was higher than that of the other two extreme curves. This suggests that when the risk of diabetic foot is higher than 11.6% predicted by the nomogram prediction model, immediate intervention will benefit the patients clinically. When the risk of diabetic foot is lower than 11.6% predicted by the nomogram prediction model, doctors and patients can temporarily not take intervention and continue to pay attention to the dynamic changes of the disease. This facilitates clinical decision making in patients with T2DM.

There are some limitations to this study. First of all, it is a retrospective study, which requires further prospective studies in the later stage. Secondly, this study is a single-center study at the present stage. If the data of the patients from multiple centers can be included in the later stage to increase the sample size and the range of observed variables, we will further strengthen the nomogram prediction model.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study found that the independent risk factors for diabetic foot among patients with T2DM were age, HbA1c, LDL, TC, smoke, and drink. In addition, our study developed an individualized nomogram prediction model, which made the prediction model visualized and easy for clinical application. The nomogram prediction model has good discrimination, calibration, and clinical usefulness in both training cohort and validation cohort. This facilitates early prediction and identification of patients at high risk of developing diabetic foot.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Medical Ethics Committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University. The patients/

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care (2010) 33 (Suppl 1):S62-9. doi: 10.2337/ dc10-S062
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(Suppl 1):S14–31. doi: 10.2337/dc20-S002
- Defronzo RA. Banting Lecture. From the Triumvirate to the Ominous Octet: A New Paradigm for the Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(4):773–95. doi: 10.2337/db09-9028
- Cerf ME. Beta Cell Dysfunction and Insulin Resistance. Front Endocrinol (2013) 4:37. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00037
- Rahman MH, Kamrul-Hasan AB, Islam MR, Hasan AY, Chowdhury FQ, Miah OF, et al. Frequency and Risk Factors of Diabetic Retinopathy Among Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Single-Center Study From Bangladesh. *Mymensingh Med J* (2020) 29(4):807–14.
- Christofides EA, Desai N. Optimal Early Diagnosis and Monitoring of Diabetic Kidney Disease in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Addressing the Barriers to Albuminuria Testing. J Prim Care Community Health (2021) 12:21501327211003683. doi: 10.1177/21501327211003683
- Raggi P. Screening for Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Controversies and Guidelines. *Can J Diabetes* (2020) 44(1):86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2019.08.009
- Javed S, Hayat T, Menon L, Alam U, Malik RA. Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in People With Type 2 Diabetes: Too Little Too Late. *Diabetes Med* (2020) 37(4):573–9. doi: 10.1111/dme.14194
- Karki DB, Yadava SK, Pant S, Thusa N, Dangol E, Ghimire S. Prevalence of Sensory Neuropathy in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Its Correlation With Duration of Disease. *Kathmandu Univ Med J* (2016) 14(54):120–4.
- Noor S, Zubair M, Ahmad J. Diabetic Foot Ulcer-A Review on Pathophysiology, Classification and Microbial Etiology. *Diabetes Metab* Syndr (2015) 9(3):192-9. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2015.04.007
- Khanolkar MP, Bain SC, Stephens JW. The Diabetic Foot. QJM (2008) 101 (9):685–95. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcn027

participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Study conception and design: JW and HL; data collection and data analysis: JW and TX; manuscript drafting: JW, TX, and SG. All authors were involved in the revision of the manuscript and approved the final version of the paper.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (No. ZRZD2017008).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all patients who allowed their data to be used for this study. We gratefully thank the doctors and nurses of orthopedics and internal medicine at the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xi'an Jiaotong University for their help in this study.

- Zubair M, Malik A, Ahmad J. Clinico-Microbiological Study and Antimicrobial Drug Resistance Profile of Diabetic Foot Infections in North India. *Foot (Edinb)* (2011) 21(1):6–14. doi: 10.1016/j.foot.2010.10.003
- Peng B, Min R, Liao Y, Yu A. Development of Predictive Nomograms for Clinical Use to Quantify the Risk of Amputation in Patients With Diabetic Foot Ulcer. J Diabetes Res (2021) 2021:6621035. doi: 10.1155/2021/6621035
- International Expert Committee. International Expert Committee Report on the Role of the A1C Assay in the Diagnosis of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2009) 32(7):1327–34. doi: 10.2337/dc09-9033
- Ahmad J. The Diabetic Foot. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2016) 10(1):48–60. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2015.04.002
- Kalish J, Hamdan A. Management of Diabetic Foot Problems. J Vasc Surg (2010) 51(2):476–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2009.08.043
- Brem H, Sheehan P, Rosenberg HJ, Schneider JS, Boulton AJ. Evidence-Based Protocol for Diabetic Foot Ulcers. *Plast Reconstr Surg* (2006) 117(7 Suppl):193S– 209S; discussion 210S-211S. doi: 10.1097/01.prs.0000225459.93750.29
- Monteiro-Soares M, Boyko EJ, Jeffcoate W, Mills JL, Russell D, Morbach S, et al. Diabetic Foot Ulcer Classifications: A Critical Review. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2020) 36 Suppl 1:e3272. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3272
- Tavee J, Zhou L. Small Fiber Neuropathy: A Burning Problem. Cleve Clin J Med (2009) 76(5):297–305. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.76a.08070
- Volmer-Thole M, Lobmann R. Neuropathy and Diabetic Foot Syndrome. Int J Mol Sci (2016) 17(6):917. doi: 10.3390/ijms17060917
- Pastore D, Deja-Simoni A, De Stefano A, Pacifici F, Cela E, Infante M, et al. Risk Factors for Diabetic Foot Ulcers: An Albanian Retrospective Study of Inpatients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2022) 26 (2):558–72. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_202201_27883
- Rodrigues BT, Vangaveti VN, Urkude R, Biros E, Malabu UH. Prevalence and Risk Factors of Lower Limb Amputations in Patients With Diabetic Foot Ulcers: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2022) 16(2):102397. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2022.102397
- 23. Hüsers J, Hafer G, Heggemann J, Wiemeyer S, John SM, Hübner U. Development and Evaluation of a Bayesian Risk Stratification Method for Major Amputations in Patients With Diabetic Foot Ulcers. *Stud Health Technol Inform* (2022) 289:212–5. doi: 10.3233/SHTI210897

- 24. Yunir E, Hidayah CD, Harimurti K, Kshanti IAM. Three Years Survival and Factor Predicting Amputation or Mortality in Patients With High Risk for Diabetic Foot Ulcer in Fatmawati General Hospital, Jakarta. J Prim Care Community Health (2022) 13:21501319211063707. doi: 10.1177/ 21501319211063707
- Gilbey SG. Neuropathy and Foot Problems in Diabetes. Clin Med (Lond) (2004) 4(4):318–23. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.4-4-318
- Zilliox LA, Russell JW. Physical Activity and Dietary Interventions in Diabetic Neuropathy: A Systematic Review. *Clin Auton Res* (2019) 29(4):443–55. doi: 10.1007/s10286-019-00607-x
- Peltier A, Goutman SA, Callaghan BC. Painful Diabetic Neuropathy. BMJ (2014) 348:g1799. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1799
- Kamenov ZA, Traykov LD. Diabetic Somatic Neuropathy. Adv Exp Med Biol (2012) 771:155–75. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0_14
- Perrin BM, Southon J, McCaig J, Skinner I, Skinner TC, Kingsley MIC. The Effect of Structured Exercise Compared With Education on Neuropathic Signs and Symptoms in People at Risk of Neuropathic Diabetic Foot Ulcers: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Medicina (Kaunas)* (2021) 58(1):59. doi: 10.3390/ medicina58010059
- Marshall A, Alam U, Themistocleous A, Calcutt N, Marshall A. Novel and Emerging Electrophysiological Biomarkers of Diabetic Neuropathy and Painful Diabetic Neuropathy. *Clin Ther* (2021) 43(9):1441–56. doi: 10.1016/ j.clinthera.2021.03.020
- Azmi S, Petropoulos IN, Ferdousi M, Ponirakis G, Alam U, Malik RA. An Update on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Diabetic Somatic and Autonomic Neuropathy. *F1000Res* (2019) 8:F1000 Faculty Rev–186. doi: 10.12688/ f1000research.17118.1
- Zochodne DW. The Challenges of Diabetic Polyneuropathy: A Brief Update. Curr Opin Neurol (2019) 32(5):666–75. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000723
- Brownlee M. The Pathobiology of Diabetic Complications: A Unifying Mechanism. *Diabetes* (2005) 54(6):1615–25. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.6.1615
- de la Monte SM, Kril JJ. Human Alcohol-Related Neuropathology. Acta Neuropathol (2014) 127(1):71–90. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1233-3
- Bandyk DF. The Diabetic Foot: Pathophysiology, Evaluation, and Treatment. Semin Vasc Surg (2018) 31(2-4):43–8. doi: 10.1053/j.semvascsurg.2019.02.001
- 36. Eleftheriadou I, Tentolouris A, Grigoropoulou P, Tsilingiris D, Anastasiou I, Kokkinos A, et al. The Association of Diabetic Microvascular and Macrovascular Disease With Cutaneous Circulation in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Diabetes Complications (2019) 33(2):165–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.jdiacomp.2018.10.008
- Chawla A, Chawla R, Jaggi S. Microvasular and Macrovascular Complications in Diabetes Mellitus: Distinct or Continuum? *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 20(4):546–51. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.183480
- Vaverkova H, Karasek D, Novotny D, Jackuliakova D, Lukes J, Halenka M, et al. Apolipoprotein B Versus LDL-Cholesterol: Association With Other Risk Factors for Atherosclerosis. *Clin Biochem* (2009) 42(12):1246–51. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2009.05.004
- 39. Sokolov AV, Kostevich VA, Runova OL, Gorudko IV, Vasilyev VB, Cherenkevich SN, et al. Proatherogenic Modification of LDL by Surface-

Bound Myeloperoxidase. Chem Phys Lipids (2014) 180:72-80. doi: 10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2014.02.006

- Satchell L, Leake DS. Oxidation of Low-Density Lipoprotein by Iron at Lysosomal Ph: Implications for Atherosclerosis. *Biochemistry* (2012) 51 (18):3767–75. doi: 10.1021/bi2017975
- Poznyak AV, Nikiforov NG, Markin AM, Kashirskikh DA, Myasoedova VA, Gerasimova EV, et al. Overview of OxLDL and Its Impact on Cardiovascular Health: Focus on Atherosclerosis. *Front Pharmacol* (2021) 11:613780. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.613780
- 42. Quispe R, Elshazly MB, Zhao D, Toth PP, Puri R, Virani SS, et al. Total Cholesterol/HDL-Cholesterol Ratio Discordance With LDL-Cholesterol and non-HDL-Cholesterol and Incidence of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in Primary Prevention: The ARIC Study. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* (2020) 27(15):1597–605. doi: 10.1177/2047487319862401
- Nadler JL, Velasco JS, Horton R. Cigarette Smoking Inhibits Prostacyclin Formation. *Lancet* (1983) 1(8336):1248–50. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(83) 92698-3
- 44. Carrier E, Brochu I, de Brum-Fernandes AJ, D'Orléans-Juste P. The Inducible Nitric-Oxide Synthase Modulates Endothelin-1-Dependent Release of Prostacyclin and Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation Ex Vivo in the Mouse. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2007) 323(3):972–8. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.125690
- Mureddu GF, Brandimarte F, De Luca L. High-Density Lipoprotein Levels and Risk of Cardiovascular Events: A Review. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) (2012) 13(9):575–86. doi: 10.2459/JCM.0b013e32834bb3c8
- 46. Chelland Campbell S, Moffatt RJ, Stamford BA. Smoking and Smoking Cessation – the Relationship Between Cardiovascular Disease and Lipoprotein Metabolism: A Review. *Atherosclerosis* (2008) 201(2):225–35. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.04.046
- Haptonstall KP, Choroomi Y, Moheimani R, Nguyen K, Tran E, Lakhani K, et al. Differential Effects of Tobacco Cigarettes and Electronic Cigarettes on Endothelial Function in Healthy Young People. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2020) 319(3):H547–56. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00307.2020

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Xue, Li and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christian Stevns Hansen, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen (SDCC), Denmark

REVIEWED BY

Pang Chunyang, Wenzhou Medical University, China Jian Wang, Shanghai Children's Medical Center, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Hongwei Jiang jianghw@haust.edu.cn Huiqin Zhuo zhuohuiqin@xmu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 13 April 2022 ACCEPTED 27 June 2022 PUBLISHED 15 July 2022

CITATION

Peng H, Wang J, Liu Y, Yang H, Li L, Ma Y, Zhuo H and Jiang H (2022) Case Report: Case Report: A novel WRN mutation in Werner syndrome patient with diabetic foot disease and myelodysplastic syndrome. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:918979. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.918979

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Peng, Wang, Liu, Yang, Li, Ma, Zhuo and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case Report: A novel *WRN* mutation in Werner syndrome patient with diabetic foot disease and myelodysplastic syndrome

Huifang Peng¹, Jie Wang¹, Yanyun Liu¹, Haiping Yang², Liping Li¹, Yujin Ma¹, Huiqin Zhuo^{3*} and Hongwei Jiang^{1*}

¹Endocrine and Metabolic Disease Center, Medical Key Laboratory of Hereditary Rare Diseases of Henan, Luoyang Sub-Center of National Clinical Research Center for Metabolic Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, and College of Clinical Medicine of Henan University of Science and Technology, Luoyang, China, ²Department of Hematology, The First Affiliated Hospital, and College of Clinical Medicine of Henan University of Science and Technology, Luoyang, China, ³Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Zhongshan Hospital of Xiamen University, Xiamen, China

Werner syndrome is an autosomal recessive rare disease caused by a *WRN* gene mutation, which is rarely reported in the Chinese population. We report the clinical and genetic data of a Chinese patient with Werner syndrome. The proband was a 40-year-old male patient who presented with diabetic foot ulcers, accompanied by short stature, cataracts, hypogonadism, and hair thinning, and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) occurred after 18 months. Genetic sequencing showed there were compound heterozygous mutations as c.3384-1G>C and c.3744dupA in the *WRN* gene. The c.3744dupA mutation is a novel pathogenic variation for Werner syndrome.

KEYWORDS

Werner syndrome, myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), diabetic foot disease, WRN gene, novel mutation

Introduction

WRN, belonging to the DNA helicases family, is associated with DNA glycosylase, nonhomologous end joining (NEIL1), base excision repair (BER), and homologous recombination (HR) (1). Werner syndrome (the Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man #277700) was caused by *WRN* gene mutation as autosomal recessive in humans, with mainly clinical symptoms as type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypogonadism, osteoporosis, atherosclerosis and malignancies, short stature, and other common age-related diseases (2), and the reports in a Chinese population were just a few (3). In this study, we report a 40-year-old man who

10.3389/fendo.2022.918979

was hospitalized due to diabetic foot ulcers, with short stature, sparse hair, and uneven fat distribution, and with a history of cataracts, osteonecrosis of the femoral head, and supraventricular tachycardia and hypophysis. Genetic test results showed that there were compound heterozygous mutations of *WRN* c.3384-1G>C and c.3744dupA (p.Ala1248fs) in the proband. The proband was diagnosed with Werner syndrome, while during follow-up, 18 months later, the patient developed myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and was hospitalized again.

Case

The proband, a 40-year-old man, was hospitalized with a diabetic foot ulcer as the main complaint. Physical examination showed that he was 147 cm tall, weighed 38 kg, had a body mass index (BMI) of 17.6 kg/m², a temperature of 36.7°C, a respiratory rate of 16 breaths/min, a blood pressure of 121/82 mmHg, a pulse rate of 97 beats/min, and had lost 5 kg in the previous 3 months. His hair, eyebrows, and beard were sparse (Figure 1A). The limbs were slender and out of proportion to the trunk, and with reduced subcutaneous fat (Figures 1B, C). The skin of the face, hands, and feet was waxy, thin, and with low elasticity (Figures 1D, E). The stretched penile length was 6 cm, the bilateral testicles were 2 ml, and the pubic hair Tanner stage was 1–2. There were 0.8 cm \times 0.8 cm wounds with purulent secretion on the dorsal side of the left toe and 0.5 cm \times 0.5 cm wounds at the lateral metatarsal joint of the left foot (Figures 1E, F). There was no deformity of the chest and spine. Clinical history (Figure 1G) was as follows: the height of the patient increased more slowly than their peers since childhood and delayed puberty. Nose bleeding was caused by trauma at age of 12 and then occurred intermittently for 2 years. Binocular cataracts occurred at the age of 20 with surgical treatment. Aseptic ischemia of the right femoral head was detected at the age of 35. At the age of 37, the right clavicle and knee joint were injured in a car accident and underwent surgical treatment. Thirsty, polydipsia, and polyuria occurred at the age of 39 and were not treated. Furthermore, consequential symptoms such as numbness, chills, and pain in both feet were not addressed and thus went untreated. Three months before this time of hospitalization, he received a test of fasting blood glucose (FBG) at 14.9 mmol/L (reference values 3.90-6.10 mmol/L) in the outpatient department, and metformin and Xiaoke pills were taken. Two months before this time of hospitalization, the foot skin was broken, accompanied by purulent secretion, and the pain was aggravated, so he went to the Endocrinology Department of our hospital. Family history has shown that there was no similar patient, and both parents and two older sisters were healthy.

Laboratory tests

There were some abnormal indexes of glucose metabolism and islet function, serum lipids, thyroid function, adrenal function, liver

and kidney function, and sexual hormones, and the results are shown in Table 1. Diabetes-related antibodies were negative, including insulin autoantibody, islet cell antibody, and glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibody. The culture of secretion bacteria from feet wounds showed Shigella. Muck's routine examination demonstrated occult blood. Electrocardiogram results showed sinus rhythm with 88 beats/min and ventricular preshock type A. Peripheral nerve damage of the lower limbs was detected using an electromyogram, which showed the following (1): the sensory conduction velocity of the right sural nerve decreased (ankle-lower leg, 170.00 mm, 39.00 m/s) and the latency prolonged (4.40 ms); (2) the velocities of bilateral median and ulnar nerves were at the lower limit of normal value; (3) the amplitude of motor conduction of the left median (wrist-elbow, 190.00 mm, elbow 5.81 mV) and ulnar nerves (wrist-elbow, 220.00 mm, elbow 5.62 mV) decreased, and distal latency prolonged (median elbow 9.20 ms, ulnar elbow 8.20 ms); (4) the motor conduction velocity (36 m/s) and amplitude (ankle 0.22 mV) of the right peroneal nerve decreased, and the distal latency prolonged (fibula-head 13.30 ms); (5) left peroneal and tibial nerves motor conduction potential wave were not extracted. The results of color Doppler ultrasound showed that the patient had fatty liver, intrahepatic bile duct stones, testicular volume reduction with testicular microlithiasis, and no obvious abnormality was found in the heart and lower limb arteries.

The karyotype result for the first time showed a completely normal male karyotype as 46,XY from peripheral blood cells. The whole exome sequencing (WES) for proband (Figure 2A, II-5) using peripheral blood demonstrated that there are heterozygous variants of the WRN gene (NM_000553) c.3384-1G>C (GRCh37, Chr8:31004568) and c.3744dupA p.Ala1248fs (Figure 2B). Family Sanger sequencing showed that the mother and younger sister (Figures 2A, I-2, II-4) had the same c.3384-1G>C variant. The c.3744dupA variants were not detected in the mother and two sisters. The father (Figure 2A, I-1) refused any genetic testing. Although we do not know the genetic status of the patient's father, the c.3384-1G>C variant has been detected in two family members (mother and younger sister), so we believe that the patient carries compound heterozygous mutations of c.3384-1G>C and c.3744dupA in the WRN gene. The c.3384-1G>C was a splice mutation, and according to the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics/ Association for Molecular Pathology (ACMG/AMP) variant pathogenicity guidelines (4), this mutation was judged to be pathogenic (PVS1+PM2+PP3). The c.3744dupA mutation, which was not included in the gnomAD database and the frequency in people was not known, was judged to be pathogenic (PVS1+PM2+PM3).

Diagnosis, treatments, and follow-up

Combined with clinical manifestations and WES results, the patient was diagnosed with Werner syndrome caused by *WRN* gene



mutations. For glucose control, insulin was used at 45 IU in total daily, metformin tablets at 0.5 g three times a day, pioglitazone dispersible tablets at 15 mg twice a day before breakfast and dinner, mecobalamin at 0.5 mg three times daily, and aspirin enteric-coated tablets at 0.1 g every night. Debridement and anti-infection treatments were carried out for diabetic foot disease, and the patient left the hospital after 40 days of treatments.

Eighteen months later, he was hospitalized in the Hematology Department, and the MDS was definitely

diagnosed by bone marrow puncture morphology, biopsy, and chromosome karyotype analysis. The second time of karyotype analysis showed that the chromosomes had structural and numerical abnormalities in marrow cells as 45~46,XY,add(3) (p13),-5,del(7)(q22),+8,-20,+marl,+mar2[cp12]/46,XY[1]. The patient refused chemotherapy and instead received allogeneic red blood cells and erythropoietin to treat anemia, cefuroxime to treat infection, and an ibuprofen capsule as an analgesic. Patients have been informed of the severe adverse prognosis of Werner
 TABLE 1
 Laboratory investigations of the proband.

Items	Results	Reference value		
Blood glucose (mmol/L)				
Fasting	7.13	3.90-6.10		
30 min after OGTT	12.39	3.90-11.10		
60 min after OGTT	17.75	6.70-9.40		
120 min after OGTT	18.33	3.90-7.80		
180 min after OGTT	18.04	3.90-6.70		
C-Peptide (ng/ml)				
Fasting	2.21	1.10-4.40		
30 min after OGTT	4.47	-		
60 min after OGTT	7.23	_		
120 min after OGTT	12.69	_		
180 min after OGTT	11.98	_		
HbA1c (%)	8.00	4.50-6.50		
Urine glucose	+++	_		
Serum lipids				
Triacylglycerol (mmol/L)	11.19	0.90-1.72		
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	9.06	3.40-5.17		
LDL-c (mmol/L)	3.05	2.59-3.34		
HDL-c (mmol/L)	2.23	1.16-1.42		
Thyroid function test				
TSH (µIU/ml)	7.49	0.55-4.78		
FT3 (pg/ml)	2.46	2.30-4.20		
FT4 (ng/dl)	0.96	0.89-1.76		
TPOAb (IU/ml)	<28.00	_		
Adrenal function	120100			
ACTH (pg/ml)	44.60	_		
Cor (8 am) (µg/dl)	39.00	4.80-20.60		
Cor (16 am) (μ g/dl)	12.90	4.80-20.60		
Cor (0 am) (μ g/dl)	3.30	4.80-20.60		
Serum sexual hormones	0.00	100 2000		
FSH (mIU/ml)	30.40	1.70-7.70		
LH (mIU/ml)	8.17	2.10-14.70		
PRL (ng/ml)	8.13	1.90-25.00		
T (ng/dl)	53.54	262.00-1,593.00		
E2 (pg/ml)	12.15	(0.00-56.00)		
P (ng/ml)	0.47	(0.28–1.22)		
HCG excitation test (T (ng/dl))	0.17	(0.20 1.22)		
-15 min	40.62	_		
0 min	41.56	_		
24 h	50.26	_		
48 h	62.12			
72 h	66.67	_		
Blood routine examination	00.07	_		
Hb	117.00	110.00-150.00		
Platelet (×10 ⁹ /L)	352.00	125.00-350.00		
Serum GGT (U/L)	77.00	125.00-550.00		
	77.00	59.00-104.00		
Serum creatinine (µmol/L)		37.00-104.00		
Urine protein	+	-		

+, positive; +++, strongly positive.

syndrome and need to pay attention to how their condition changes over time.

Discussion

The WRN protein contains an N-terminal 3' to 5' exonuclease domain, an ATP-dependent helicase domain, and a RecQ helicase domain in the central region and a helicase RNase D C-terminal domain and a nuclear localization signal (5). The c.3744dupA mutation, detected in this patient, might affect the nuclear localization signal of WRN helicase since it is a frameshift mutation. Also, this mutation was not reported before and is not contained in the gnomAD database. We wanted to say that WRN c.3744dupA was a novel pathogenic mutation for Werner syndrome.

An extremely high prevalence of diabetes mellitus was mentioned in Werner syndrome. Over half of the patients with the clinical features of diabetes mellitus or impaired glucose tolerance (67.5%, 27/40) and accumulated visceral fat, high insulin resistance, and low BMI (6). Metformin, thiazolidine, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, or glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists could be carried out for diabetes treatment in Werner syndrome (7). Insulin, metformin tablets, and pioglitazone dispersible tablets were used in our patient, and for 18 months of treatment, there were no adverse reactions. The probability of skin ulcers in Werner syndrome was about 40%, and ulcers were often located at the distal one-third of the lower legs (8). Skin ulcers in Werner syndrome patients might be a double effect of the WRN gene abnormality and poor blood glucose control. Moreover, this may partly be because osteogenesis-related gene expression is upregulated while adipogenic and chondrogenic genes are downregulated in dermal fibroblasts from the foot in comparison with the trunk, resulting in uneven distribution of fat and skin ulcers in Werner syndrome (9). Nonsurgery, surgery, or invasive surgery should be considered for ulcer treatments under appropriate conditions, and anti-infection should be given more attention. The dressing of functional peptide (SR-0379) was proved safe, well-tolerated, and effective for leg ulcers in Werner syndrome, and the reduction rate of ulcer size was 22.9% in men after 4 weeks of treatment (n = 4) (10). In our patient, the ulcers in the foot were treated with skin flap repair, and some recovery was obtained after 40 days of dressing change cure.

MDS is a kind of clonal disorder in hematopoietic stem cell progenitors, with ineffective hematopoiesis, morphologic dysplasia, and a high risk of acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Almost 90% of MDS patients were detected carrying a somatic mutation in at least one gene, and the mutation genes were mainly implicated in the pathways of RNA splicing, DNA damage response, epigenetic regulators, signal transduction, and transcription factors (11). Werner syndrome patients with *WRN* mutations were easy to obtain *p53* gene mutations or related chromosomal abnormalities, and this was different from other MDS/AML patients' changes in cellular or molecular genetic material. In hematopoietic stem cells, WRN function



loss could result in p53 inactivation and acquirer of competitive fitness and then develop into myeloid malignancies (12), which may increase chemosensitivity. CHK1-related homologous recombination repair (HRR) in WRN defection cells was the key approach for repairing double-strand breaks (DSB) caused by ionizing radiation, which resulted in hyper-radiosensitization (13). The specific molecular mechanism of tumorigenesis in Werner syndrome patients may lead to therapeutic differences.

The treatments for MDS in Werner syndrome were very limited. Chemotherapy could be difficult for Werner syndrome patients, and a 44-year-old male Werner syndrome patient with AML was treated using a combined chemotherapy regimen of cytarabine, mitoxantrone, and etoposide, while the abnormal toxicity occurred on day 5, which did not occur in other patients with the same treatment regimen (14). Cord blood transplantation (CBT) has some effects on the MDS of Werner syndrome. A 44year-old male patient with MDS underwent CBT and obtained a 15-month survival period, during which time he had MDS remission and no treatment-related toxicity (15). Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) may be feasible for Werner syndrome-related AML, and an 18-year-old female patient with AML obtained a 5-year survival after HCT without severe chemotherapy or transplant-induced toxicities (16). Anemia is one of the major concerns in MDS patients. Transfusions and erythropoiesis-stimulating agents could be used. MDS accounted for 7.2% of all transfused patients, which was the second cause of hematologic prescriptions in Europe and the USA (17). In this study, the patient just received supportive treatment such as blood transfusion, and the effect was limited. In general, the WRN gene mutation made the treatment of MDS in Werner syndrome very difficult, and the effects of supportive or chemotherapy were very few, while CBT and HCT may have better effects.

In conclusion, we report a Chinese Werner syndrome male patient with diabetic foot ulcers and MDS. The c.3744dupA

mutation of the *WRN* gene in our patient was a novel pathogenic variation for Werner syndrome.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Henan University of Science and Technology. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

HP, HJ, and HZ contributed to the conception and design of the study. HP and JW wrote the draft of the manuscript. YL, HY, LL, and YM collect data. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and read and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the Joint Coconstruction Project of Henan Medical Science and Technology Research Plan (No. LHGJ20210598) and The Science and Technology Plan Medical and Health Project in Luoyang (No. 2101048A).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Das T, Pal S, Ganguly A. Human RecQ helicases in transcription-associated stress management: Bridging the gap between DNA and RNA metabolism. *Biol Chem* (2021) 402(5):617–36. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2020-0324

2. Oshima J, Sidorova JM, Monnat RJJr. Werner Syndrome: Clinical features, pathogenesis and potential therapeutic interventions. *Ageing Res Rev* (2017) 33:105–14. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2016.03.002

3. Wang X, Liu S, Qin F, Liu Q, Wang Q. Werner Syndrome presenting as earlyonset diabetes: A case report. *J Diabetes Investig* (2022) 13(3):592–98. doi: 10.1111/ jdi.13682

4. Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, Bick D, Das S, Gastier-Foster J, et al. Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: a joint consensus recommendation of the American college of medical genetics and genomics and the association for molecular pathology. *Genet Med* (2015) 17(5):405–24. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.30

5. Yamaga M, Takemoto M, Takada-Watanabe A, Koizumi N, Kitamoto T, Sakamoto K, et al. Recent trends in WRN gene mutation patterns in individuals with Werner syndrome. *J Am Geriatr Soc* (2017) 65(8):1853–56. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14906

6. Koshizaka M, Maezawa Y, Maeda Y, Shoji M, Kato H, Kaneko H, et al. Time gap between the onset and diagnosis in Werner syndrome: a nationwide survey and the 2020 registry in Japan. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2020) 12(24):24940–56. doi: 10.18632/aging.202441

7. Takemoto M, Kubota Y, Taniguchi T, Motegi SI, Taniguchi A, Nakagami H, et al. Management guideline for Werner syndrome 2020. 3. diabetes associated with Werner syndrome. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2021) 21(2):142–45. doi: 10.1111/gi.14083

8. Kubota Y, Takemoto M, Taniguchi T, Motegi SI, Taniguchi A, Nakagami H, et al. Management guideline for Werner syndrome 2020. 6. skin ulcers associated with Werner syndrome: Prevention and non-surgical and surgical treatment. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2021) 21(2):153–59. doi: 10.1111/ggi.14096

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Kato H, Maezawa Y, Takayama N, Ouchi Y, Kaneko H, Kinoshita D, et al. Fibroblasts from different body parts exhibit distinct phenotypes in adult progeria Werner syndrome. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2021) 13(4):4946–61. doi: 10.18632/aging.202696

10. Nakagami H, Sugimoto K, Ishikawa T, Koshizaka M, Fujimoto T, Kiyohara E, et al. Investigator-initiated clinical study of a functional peptide, SR-0379, for limb ulcers of patients with Werner syndrome as a pilot study. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2019) 19(11):1118–23. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13782

11. Chiereghin C, Travaglino E, Zampini M, Saba E, Saitta C, Riva E, et al. The genetics of myelodysplastic syndromes: Clinical relevance. *Genes (Basel)* (2021) 12 (8):1144. doi: 10.3390/genes12081144

12. Kato H, Maezawa Y, Nishijima D, Iwamoto E, Takeda J, Kanamori T, et al. A high prevalence of myeloid malignancies in progeria with Werner syndrome is associated with p53 insufficiency. *Exp Hematol* (2022) (109):11–17. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2022.02.005

13. Gupta P, Saha B, Chattopadhyay S, Patro BS. Pharmacological targeting of differential DNA repair, radio-sensitizes WRN-deficient cancer cells *in vitro* and in vivo. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2021) 186:114450. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114450

14. Seiter K, Qureshi A, Liu D, Galvin-Parton P, Arshad M, Agoliati G, et al. Severe toxicity following induction chemotherapy for acute lyelogenous leukemia in a patient with werner's syndrome. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2005) 46(7):1091–5. doi: 10.1080/10428190500102688

15. Hayashi K, Tasaka T, Kondo T, Ishikawa Y, Goto M, Matsuhashi Y, et al. Successful cord blood transplantation in a Werner syndrome patient with high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. *Intern Med* (2019) 58(1):109–13. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.0317-17

16. Fiegle E, Crysandt M, Bouillon AS, Silling G, Elbracht M, Begemann M, et al. Successful allogeneic stem cell transplantation of a patient with Werner syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. *Leuk Res* (2021) 108:106609. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2021.106609

17. Kaphan E, Laurin D, Lafeuillade B, Drillat P, Park S. Impact of transfusion on survival in patients with myelodysplastic syndromes: Current knowledge, new insights and transfusion clinical practice. *Blood Rev* (2020) 41:100649. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2019.100649

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Charumathi Sabanayagam, Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

REVIEWED BY Ren Xinping, Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China M. D. Bashar, All India Institute of Medical Sciences Gorakhpur, India Roozbeh Naemi, Staffordshire University, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Guorong Lyu lgr_feus@sina.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 08 April 2022 ACCEPTED 01 July 2022 PUBLISHED 22 July 2022

CITATION

Dong B, Lyu G, Yang X, Wang H and Chen Y (2022) Shear wave elastography as a quantitative biomarker of diabetic peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Public Health* 10:915883. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.915883

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Dong, Lyu, Yang, Wang and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Shear wave elastography as a quantitative biomarker of diabetic peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Bingtian Dong¹, Guorong Lyu^{1,2*}, Xiaocen Yang³, Huaming Wang¹ and Yongjian Chen¹

¹Department of Ultrasound, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Quanzhou, China, ²Department of Clinical Medicine, Quanzhou Medical College, Quanzhou, China, ³Department of Ultrasound, Chenggong Hospital, Xiamen University, Xiamen, China

Background: Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is one of the most common chronic complications of diabetes and the strongest initiating risk factor for diabetic foot ulceration. Early diagnosis of DPN through screening measures is, therefore, of great importance for diabetic patients. Recently, shear wave elastography (SWE) has been used as a method that is complementary to neuroelectrophysiological examination in the diagnosis of DPN. We aimed to conduct a meta-analysis based on currently available data to evaluate the performance of tibial nerve stiffness on SWE for diagnosing DPN.

Methods: Both PubMed, EMBASE, the Cochrane Library, and Web of Science were searched for studies that investigated the diagnostic performance of SWE for DPN up to March 1th, 2022. Three measures of diagnostic test performance, including the summary area under receiver operating characteristics curve (AUROC), the summary sensitivity and specificity, and the summary diagnostic odds ratios were used to assess the diagnostic accuracy of SWE. All included studies were published between 2017 and 2021.

Results: Six eligible studies (with 170 DPN patients, 28 clinically defined DPN patients, 168 non-DPN patients, and 154 control participants) that evaluated tibial nerve stiffness were included for meta-analysis. The summary sensitivity and specificity of SWE for tibial nerve stiffness were 75% (95% confidence interval [CI]: 68–80%) and 86% (95% CI: 80–90%), respectively, and the summary AUROC was 0.84 (95% CI: 0.81–0.87), for diagnosing DPN. A subgroup analysis of five two-dimensional SWE studies revealed similar diagnostic performance, showing the summary sensitivity and specificity of 77% (95% CI: 69–83%) and 86% (95% CI: 79–91%), respectively, and a summary AUROC value of 0.86 (95% CI: 0.83–0.89).

Conclusions: SWE is found to have good diagnostic accuracy for detecting DPN and has considerable potential as an important and noninvasive adjunctive tool in the management of patients with DPN.

KEYWORDS

biomarker, diabetic peripheral neuropathy, diagnosis, stiffness measurement, shear wave elastography

Introduction

Diabetes is one of the most common chronic diseases worldwide and has become an important public health problem recently (1). According to the data of International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (2), \sim 463 million adults around the world were suffering from diabetes in 2019, and the diabetic population is expected to reach 700 million people by 2045 (about 10% of the global population).

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), the main type of diabetic neuropathy, is one of the most common and serious complication of diabetes and the strongest initiating risk factor for diabetic foot ulceration, occurring in about 50% of patients with diabetes (3, 4). This percentage is even higher, up to 60–90% in some areas (5, 6). DPN is the leading cause of lower-limb amputation and disabling neuropathic pain (7), which has a devastating effect on the quality of life and long-term survival of patients with diabetes and brings a heavy economic burden. It is worth noting that major amputations in patients with diabetes are associated with a low life expectancy, with a 5-year mortality ranging from 52 to 80% (8). Therefore, early diagnosis of the DPN in people with diabetes is of great importance for taking effective targeted measures, thereby preventing the development of foot ulcers and amputations.

However, in clinical settings, the assessment of DPN can be challenging and is mainly based on characteristic symptoms and signs (3, 9). At present, nerve conduction studies (NCS) is widely considered to be one of the gold standard methods for evaluating DPN (10). NCS is a quantifiable, objective, and sensitive method. Nevertheless, there are some limitations of this technique, such as invasiveness, time-consuming, high cost, and the need for qualified professionals to perform (9), which has largely restricted their practical applications. Notably, NCS is limited to evaluating large nerve fibers, while small nerve fibers are the first to be affected in DPN patients (9). So this technique does not assess early neuropathic changes (3). Moreover, NCS has usage difficultly for screening in large sample sizes (11). Therefore, there is a pressing need for portable, reliable, and valid tools to detect DPN.

Over the past few years, shear wave elastography (SWE) has gathered considerable attention. SWE is a non-invasive imaging technique that maps the elastic properties of tissues by assessing the velocity of shear wave propagation in the particular tissue (12). The shear wave speed is directly related to tissue stiffness (12). This modality offers a new type of high-quality ultrasound examination and has been widely applied in many organs such as the liver (13, 14), thyroid (15, 16), and the breast (17, 18). As an exciting and rapidly evolving adjunctive diagnostic tool to conventional ultrasound, SWE provides more quantitative information of tissue properties that used in the routine clinical evaluation of various traumatic and pathological conditions of the musculoskeletal system, which may contribute to diagnosis (19). Interestingly, a recent study in which SWE

technique was used as a method that is complementary to neuroelectrophysiological examination in the diagnosis of DPN has been found that the stiffness of the affected nerves of diabetic patients with DPN was significantly greater than that of diabetic patients without DPN and healthy control individuals (20).

Although several studies have evaluated the diagnostic performance of SWE in detecting DPN, most have included a relatively small sample size (20–23). Furthermore, a consensus for the value of SWE that used as a biomarker in the diagnosis of DPN has not been reached. Generating an evidence-based summary of the SWE performance characteristics would be of high clinical importance for improved management of DPN in diabetic patients. Given this, in the present study, we aimed to conduct a meta-analysis based on currently available data to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of SWE for the detection of DPN.

Methods

Literature search strategy

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) 2020 guidelines were followed for reporting this systemic review and meta-analysis (24). Both PubMed, EMBASE, the Cochrane Library, and Web of Science were systematically searched from inception to March 1th, 2022 using the following keywords: (("diabetes") OR ("diabetic peripheral neuropathy") OR (DPN) OR ("diabetic foot") OR ("diabetic foot ulcers") OR (DFU) OR ("diabetic complications")) AND ((elastography)). In addition, references of the identified articles were manually examined for other relevant publications. In our study, the references were managed using EndNote X9 software (Clarivate Analytics, Philadelphia, PA, United States).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The original research articles were included in the present study if they conformed the following criteria: (1) the study examined the diagnostic performance of SWE for detecting DPN; (2) the SWE was included as an index test; (3) all the research patients were patients with diabetes; (4) the study enrolled at least 10 patients with diabetes, and; (5) at least one 2×2 table (i.e., true-positive, false-positive, false-negative, and true-negative) of test performance can be constructed using the data extracted from the study. Studies fulfilling any of the following criteria were excluded: (1) studies were not relevant to SWE diagnosis (e.g., studies that used only strain elastography); (2) reviews, guidelines, conference abstracts, and author comments; (3) animal studies; (4) data incomplete; (5) duplicate publications, and; (6) studies published in non-English or non-Science Citation Index (SCI) journals.

Data extraction

Two investigators (B.T. Dong and X.C. Yang) read the articles, and checked the study eligibility and quality independently. In our meta-analysis, Microsoft Excel 2019 was used to pre-design the data extraction form. The patients' data including number of patients, age, sex, and body mass index (BMI) were collected from each included article. Moreover, the outcome indicators including cut-off values, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), and area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) values were also extracted from the included studies.

As for the technical characteristics of SWE, the various aspects of this technique were assessed as follows: (1) vendors; (2) type of elastography; (3) probes; (4) target nerve; (5) the number of repeated measurements performed per patient; (6)

the representative value of elasticity (mean or median); (7) number of readers; (8) blinding to the reference standard, and; (9) time interval between SWE and reference.

Quality assessment

The quality of the included studies was assessed by the Quality Assessment of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies 2 (QUADAS-2) tool (25). The four steps of searching literatures, selecting studies, extracting data, and checking the study quality were separately performed by B.T. Dong and X.C. Yang in this meta-analysis. All discrepancies were resolved by consensus of these three authors (B.T. Dong, X.C. Yang, and G.R. Lyu).

Data synthesis and analysis

Stata version 15.0 (STATA Corp., TX, USA) was selected to perform all statistical analyses. Review Manager (version 5.4.1; Cochrane Collaboration, https://training.cochrane.org/online-



References, region	Study period	Center	Study design	Subject	Size	Median/mean age, years	BMI, kg/m ²	Male, %
Dikici et al. (20), Turkey	Nov 2013–Jul 2014	One center	Prospective	DPN	20	60.0	31.4	50.0
				Non-DPN	20	61.0	29.8	40.0
				CG	20	58.0	28.7	45.0
Jiang et al. (21), China	Nov 2017–May 2018	One center	Prospective	DPN	25	66.2	24.3	44.0
				CDDPN ^a	25	60.9	24.2	24.0
				Non-DPN	20	57.1	25.4	40.0
				CG	20	57.8	24.2	50.0
He et al. (12), China	Nov 2016–Jul 2017	One center	NA	DPN	40	60.43	25.11	42.5
				Non-DPN	40	58.63	24.72	55.0
				CG	40	55.20	22.38	60.0
Wei et al. (22), China	Jun 2017–Sep 2017	One center	Prospective	Type 2 DM	30 ^b	60.10	23.43	60.0
				CG	20	57.35	22.95	76.7
Chen et al. (23), China	Oct 2018–Aug 2019	One center	Prospective	DPN	30	54.43	25.67	60.0
				Non-DPN	33	54.85	26.19	45.5
				CG	33	51.51	23.28	42.4
Wang et al. (27), China	Dec 2017–Dec 2019	One center	NA	DPN	41	59.05	24.72	68.3
				Non-DPN	42	58.50	24.75	64.3
				CG	21	56.05	23.46	38.1

TABLE 1 Basic characteristics of the included studies.

BMI, body mass index; CDDPN, clinically defined diabetic peripheral neuropathy; CG, control group; DM, diabetes mellitus; DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; NA, not available; Non-DPN, non-diabetic peripheral neuropathy.

^aCDDPN, clinically defined DPN, which is defined as diabetic patients with clinical signs or symptoms of DPN but normal nerve conduction study (NCS).

^bThe 30 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus included 14 patients with a diagnosis DPN and 13 patients without a diagnosis of DPN, and 3 patients had positive symptoms or signs of neuropathy, but the NCS results were negative.

learning/core-software/revman/revman-5-download) software was used to assess the methodological quality of the included studies (26). First, we extracted the raw data from all the included studies, and then 2 \times 2 tables were reconstructed for further analysis. In our meta-analysis, three measures of diagnostic test performance, including the summary AUROC, the summary diagnostic odds ratio (DOR), and the summary sensitivity and specificity, were used with the aim of examining the accuracy of SWE for diagnosing DPN. Positive likelihood ratio (LR) and negative LR were also calculated. For each summary statistic, we computed the 95% confidence intervals (CIs). In addition, we also conducted a subgroup analysis in order to evaluate the diagnostic performance of the typical type of SWE technique (two-dimensional SWE). Further, the summary receiver operating characteristic (SROC) curve was constructed using the data from the studies included in our meta-analysis to calculate the summary AUROC of SWE for detecting DPN.

Assessment of heterogeneity and publication bias

The Spearman correlation coefficient was calculated to evaluate the threshold effect of the included studies. The existence of threshold heterogeneity was considered when the P < 0.05. To evaluate the non-threshold heterogeneity of included studies, the Cochran's *Q*-test and inconsistency index (I^2) statistic was used. I^2 value was calculated in our analysis, and then used to describe the amount of non-threshold heterogeneity. Using the Cochran's *Q*-test and I^2 statistic, P < 0.05 indicated statistically significant heterogeneity; an I^2 value >50% may be considered as substantial heterogeneity. Furthermore, the Deeks' funnel plot was used to assess the potential publication bias of the SWE studies with regard to their performance in detecting DPN, with a P < 0.05 suggested significant bias.

Results

Characteristics of the retrieved studies

The flow diagram of study identification is shown in Figure 1. Using the search strategies presented, a total of 1,146 records were retrieved. After removal of 596 duplicates, 550 studies were initially screened. However, 544 studies were excluded for some reasons, such as reviews, only abstract, not relevant to DPN diagnosis, or not relevant to SWE diagnosis, etc. Finally, six studies were included for evaluation and meta-analysis (12, 20–23, 27).

Table 1 displays the basic characteristics of the studies included in this review. Most of the studies were published between 2019 and 2021, except one study that was published in 2017. One study cohort was from the Turkey, while the others were from the China. In addition, all six studies were conducted in a single-center setting. Among the included studies, there were 4 prospective studies. In terms of a reference standard used for diagnosis of DPN, three studies used the NCS, two used the electrophysiology examination, and one used the NCS and positive symptoms or signs of neuropathy. The articles included in this meta-analysis were published in six different journals, the mean impact factor of these journals was 4.638 (range: 1.889-11.105).

Characteristics of the study populations

In total, 520 subjects were included in this meta-analysis. Specifically, they were 170 DPN patients, 28 clinically defined DPN patients (i.e., patients with clinical signs or symptoms of DPN but normal NCS), 168 non-DPN patients, and 154 control participants. In the DPN group, the study populations were all patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Moreover, all the included subjects were adults. Figure 2 shows the distribution of research population of the included studies.

Technical characteristics of shear wave elastography

The technical characteristics of the SWE technique used in the included studies are summarized in Table 2. Among the included studies, SWE was performed using two types of devices, including Aixplorer in five studies and Acuson S2000



References, region	Technique	Elastograph systems	y Probe	No. of measurements	Representative values	Readers	Blinding	Time between Reference Standard and SWE	Reference standard
Dikici et al.	2D-SWE	Aixplorer ^a	4-15	3	Mean	2	Yes	<1 week	NCS
(20), Turkey			MHz LAT						
Jiang et al.	2D-SWE	Aixplorer ^a	4-15	4	Mean	2	Yes	NA	NCS
(21), China			MHz LAT						
He et al. (12),	2D-SWE	Aixplorer ^a	4-15	3	Mean	2	Yes	NA	NCS
China			MHz LAT						
Wei et al. (22),	p-SWE	Virtual Touch	9L4 LAT	3	Mean	2	Yes	NA	NCS and positive
China		Q ^b							symptoms or
									signs of
									neuropathy
Chen et al.	2D-SWE	Aixplorer ^a	4-15	5	Mean	NA	NA	NA	Electrophysiology
(23), China			MHz LAT						test
Wang et al.	2D-SWE	Aixplorer ^a	4-15	3	Mean	1	Yes	<1 week	Electrophysiology
(27), China			MHz LAT						test

TABLE 2 Technical characteristics of the elastography/reference standard used in the included studies.

LAT, linear array transducer; NA, not available; NCS, nerve conduction study; p-SWE; point shear wave elastography; SWE, shear wave elastography; 2D-SWE, two-dimensional shear wave elastography.

^aSuperSonic Imagine, Aix-en-Provence, France.

^bSiemens AG, Erlangen, Germany.

in one study. Based on the technique used in this metaanalysis, SWE can be categorized as either point SWE, i.e., Virtual Touch Q (Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany), or as twodimensional SWE, i.e., Aixplorer (SuperSonic Imagine, Aix-en-Provence, France). The SWE technique used in examination of nerves is illustrated in Figure 3. Of note, all the 6 included studies measured tibial nerve stiffness, and two of these reports also included median nerve stiffness and common peroneal nerve stiffness measurements, respectively. Furthermore, as the measure of nerve stiffness, four two-dimensional SWE studies used elasticity, expressed in kilopascals (kPa), and one twodimensional SWE study and one point SWE study used the shear wave speed, which expressed in meters per second.

Diagnostic accuracy

Six studies investigated SWE diagnostic performance for the prediction of DPN. As is shown in Table 3, in the 6 studies evaluating the tibial nerve stiffness using SWE for diagnosing DPN, the mean AUROC value was 0.864 (range: 0.712–0.941). Figure 4 demonstrates that, for the tibial nerve stiffness using SWE, the summary sensitivity and specificity were 75% (95% CI: 68–80%) and 86% (95% CI: 80–90%), respectively. For diagnosing DPN, the summary AUROC of SWE for tibial nerve stiffness was 0.84 (95% CI: 0.81–0.87), as shown in Table 4. The summary DOR was 18 (95% CI: 10–33), when tibial nerve stiffness was used to diagnose DPN. It is worth mentioning that



tibial nerve stiffness measured by SWE had a sensitivity and specificity value of 90.0 and 85.0%, respectively, and an AUROC value of 0.941, at a cut-off value of 51.1 kPa, for predicting DPN.

Reference

TABLE 3 Summary of diagnostic accuracy of SWE for diagnosing DPN.

region	larget herve	Optimal El outcome	Cut-on value	AUROC	Sensitivity, 70	specificity, 70	11 v, /0	141 4, 70
Dikici et al. (20),	TN	Mean	51.1 kPa	0.941	90.0	85.0	75.0	94.4
Turkey								
Jiang et al. (21),	TN	Min	45.7 kPa	0.867	74.0	87.6	88.2	72.9
China								
He et al. (12), China	TN	Mean	4.1 m/s	0.927	81.3	88.7	78.3	90.5
	MN	Mean	4.1 m/s	0.899	80.0	85.0	72.7	89.5
Wei et al. (22),	TN	Mean	2.6 m/s	0.836	63.3	92.5	92.7	62.7
China								
Chen et al. (23),	TN	Mean	32.7 kPa	0.902	73.3	90.9	78.6	88.2
China								
	CPN	Mean	NA	0.653	NA	NA	NA	NA
Wang et al. (27),	TN	Mean	71.3 kPa	0.712	68.3	73.8	62.9	78.2
China								

Target nerve Optimal FLoutcome Cut-off value AUROC Sensitivity % Specificity % PPV % NPV %

AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; CPN, common peroneal nerve; EI, elasticity indices; MN, median nerve; NA, not available; NPV, negative predictive value; PPV, positive predictive value; SWE, shear wave elastography; TN, tibial nerve.

Furthermore, a subgroup analysis of five two-dimensional SWE studies revealed similar diagnostic performance, showing the summary sensitivity and specificity of 77% (95% CI: 69–83%) and 86% (95% CI: 79–91%), respectively, and a summary AUROC value of 0.86 (95% CI: 0.83–0.89) (Figure 5). Table 5 shows that the summary DOR of two-dimensional SWE for tibial nerve stiffness was 20 (95% CI: 10–39), for predicting DPN.

Notably, there was one study in which SWE measurements were performed on both the median nerve and tibial nerve; this study simultaneously reported the diagnostic performance of median nerve stiffness (cut-off value, 4.1 m/s; sensitivity, 80.0%; specificity, 85.0%; AUROC, 0.899) and tibial nerve stiffness (cut-off value, 4.1 m/s; sensitivity, 81.3%; specificity, 88.7%; AUROC, 0.927). Additionally, another study also reported that common peroneal nerve measured by SWE had an AUROC of 0.653 for diagnosing DPN.

Heterogeneity and publication bias

No threshold effect was found in the present metaanalysis, as depicted by the Spearman correlation coefficient value of 0.257 (P = 0.623). When SWE technique was used to diagnose DPN, the Cochran's Q-test (sensitivity, P = 0.23; specificity, P = 0.06) showed no statistically significant heterogeneity evidence both with regard to the summary sensitivity and specificity. This can be seen in Figure 4. Deeks' funnel plot of SWE used to assess publication bias is illustrated in Figure 6. In this meta-analysis, there was no evidence of publication bias among the six included studies with a P value of 0.64.

Discussion

DPN is the most important risk factor for the occurrence of diabetic foot ulcers, which seriously affect the quality of life and survival of patients with diabetes (3, 9). Early diagnosis of DPN is, therefore, of increasing importance. Unfortunately, in routine clinical practice, there are currently no simple biomarkers for early detection of DPN (3). In this regard, a novel diagnostic tool known as SWE technique may provide valuable alternatives, which has recently been introduced for the detection of DPN. In view of this, we wondered whether SWE can be used as a biomarker for the diagnosis of DPN. Our meta-analysis presents a comprehensive summary of the SWE performance characteristics for DPN, and, to our knowledge, this is the first meta-analysis of published studies that provides evidence of SWE being a novel and non-invasive tool for diagnosing DPN.

In this systematic review and meta-analysis, we identified six (170 DPN patients, 28 clinically defined DPN patients, 168 non-DPN patients, and 154 control participants) original articles with enough data to assess the performance of SWE for the prediction of DPN. Our study has revealed that tibial nerve stiffness measurement by SWE has good diagnostic performance for DPN, showing a summary sensitivity and specificity of 75 and 86%, respectively, and a summary AUROC of 0.84. A subgroup analysis of five two-dimensional SWE studies revealed similar diagnostic performance. The summary sensitivity and



No. of studies (Subjects)	Summary sensitivity (95% CI, %)	Summary specificity (95% CI, %)	Summary LR+ (95% CI)	Summary LR- (95% CI)	Summary AUROC (95% CI)	Summary DOR (95% CI)
6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN,	75 (68–80)	86 (80-90)	5.3 (3.5-7.9)	0.30 (0.22-0.39)	0.84 (0.81-0.87)	18 (10–33)
28; Non-DPN, 168; CG,						
154)						
	(Subjects) 6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN, 28; Non-DPN, 168; CG,	(Subjects) sensitivity (95% CI, %) 6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN, 28; Non-DPN, 168; CG, 75 (68-80)	(Subjects) sensitivity (95% CI, %) specificity (95% CI, %) 6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN, 28; Non-DPN, 168; CG, 75 (68-80) 86 (80-90)	(Subjects) sensitivity (95% CI, %) specificity (95% CI, %) (95% CI) 6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN, 28; Non-DPN, 168; CG, 75 (68–80) 86 (80–90) 5.3 (3.5–7.9)	(Subjects) sensitivity (95% CI, %) specificity (95% CI, %) (95% CI) (95% CI) 6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN, 28; Non-DPN, 168; CG, 75 (68-80) 86 (80-90) 5.3 (3.5-7.9) 0.30 (0.22-0.39)	(Subjects) sensitivity (95% CI, %) specificity (95% CI, %) (95% CI) (95% CI) AUROC (95% CI) 6 (DPN, 170; CDDPN, 28; Non-DPN, 168; CG, 75 (68-80) 86 (80-90) 5.3 (3.5-7.9) 0.30 (0.22-0.39) 0.84 (0.81-0.87)

TABLE 4 Meta-analysis results of the stiffness of the tibial nerve using SWE for prediction of DPN.

AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; CDDPN, clinically defined diabetic peripheral neuropathy; CG, control group; CI, confidence interval; DOR, diagnostic odds ratio; DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; LR+, positive likelihood ratio, LR-, negative likelihood ratio; SWE, shear wave elastography.



TABLE 5 Meta-analysis results of the stiffness of the tibial nerve using 2D-SWE for prediction of DPN.

	No. of studies (Subjects)	Summary sensitivity (95% CI, %)	Summary specificity (95% CI, %)	Summary LR+ (95% CI)	Summary LR- (95% CI)	Summary AUROC (95% CI)	Summary DOR (95% CI)
Target nerve							
Tibial nerve	5 (DPN, 156; CDDPN,	77 (69–83)	86 (79–91)	5.3 (3.5-8.3)	0.27 (0.20-0.38)	0.86 (0.83-0.89)	20 (10-39)
	25; Non-DPN, 155; CG,						
	134)						

AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curve; CDDPN, clinically defined diabetic peripheral neuropathy; CG, control group; CI, confidence interval; DOR, diagnostic odds ratio; DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; LR+, positive likelihood ratio, LR-, negative likelihood ratio; SWE, shear wave elastography; 2D-SWE, two-dimensional shear wave elastography.

specificity were 77 and 86%, respectively, and the summary AUROC was 0.86. These results thus indicate that SWE can

be used as a potential novel, useful, and quantitative tool for diagnosing DPN.



Tibial nerve is the most frequently involved site in diabetic polyneuropathy (20). Indeed, previous work has clearly shown that, when measured with SWE, the tibial nerve is stiffer in patients with diabetes. Several pathophysiological mechanisms may be used to explain changes in nerve stiffness as reflected by SWE measurements. The DPN developed because of the metabolic disorders associated with chronic hyperglycemia; edema within the nerve fascicle can increase intraneural pressure and then make the nerve stiffer (21, 27).

Of interest, even in diabetic patients without DPN, the stiffness of the tibial nerve was significantly higher than that of healthy control subjects (20). However, both neuroelectrophysiological examination and cross-sectional area (CSA) at ultrasound examination did not reflect such a change between diabetic patients without DPN and healthy control subjects (20). Notably, in the previous original study conducted by Jiang et al. (21), the results had shown that clinically defined DPN patients, i.e., patients with clinical signs or symptoms of DPN but normal NCS which often occurs in the early stages of DPN (28), had significantly greater tibial nerve stiffness than both diabetic patients may have already suffered some nerve damage, although normal electrophysiological examination results exists (23). Which suggests that the SWE technique may be able to detect DPN before it becomes evident clinically or on NCS (29). This finding also shows that SWE, compared to electrophysiology test, exhibits a better correlation with clinical findings (21). Therefore, SWE technique has more potential value in early subelectrophysiological DPN detection. Early diagnosis of DPN is important, as early treatment at the earliest stages of DPN decreases both short-term and long-term morbidity (30, 31). Nevertheless, in view of the limited sample size, future studies using the SWE technique to assess the nerve stiffness in patients with clinically defined DPN are clearly needed.

In our meta-analysis, five of the six included studies used two-dimensional SWE technique for nerve stiffness assessment, and the other used point SWE technique. Both of these techniques rely on the acoustic radiation force impulse (ARFI) technique, which generates shear waves using focused, shortduration acoustic pulses (32). In contrast, two-dimensional SWE represents a relatively new ultrasound elastography technology for quantitative estimation of tissue stiffness (33). Two-dimensional SWE is a real-time and noninvasive imaging technique, which has distinct strengths for the evaluation of peripheral neuromuscular disorders. Surprisingly, one of the earliest studies using this technique showed that two-dimensional SWE displayed high sensitivity (90%) and specificity (85%) in the diagnosis of DPN, outperforming the CSA measurements (20). Thus, two-dimensional SWE has the considerable potential to be a promising non-invasive tool for diagnosing DPN. Considering the limited number of included studies, however, we were unable to compare these two SWE techniques in this meta-analysis. Additional studies are therefore needed to further investigate the performance differences between two-dimensional SWE and point SWE.

Notably, across the studies included in our meta-analysis, the cut-off values used to diagnose DPN varied. Several factors, such as imaging plane (longitudinal or axial) and the size of the region of interest while performing the elastography, limb position, different anatomic regions, and sometimes a variable distribution of the severity of diabetes, may have contributed to these differences. A previous study has examined the effect of limb position on the stiffness of the tibial nerve measurement by SWE technique (34). There may also be other factors that may simultaneously affect the cut-off value. In actual clinical practice, determining the optimal cut-off value for nerve SWE measurements is very important in order to ensure its general clinical applicability. Additionally, if used in combination with other methods such as the Toronto clinical scoring system (TCSS), SWE technique could potentially further improve the diagnostic value for DPN (27).

This meta-analysis has some limitations that should be noted. First, of the six included studies, five were from China. Therefore, the generalization of the present metaanalysis findings is relatively limited. Second, DPN is a multiple peripheral nerve disease; we only summarized the diagnostic value of SWE in the detection of DPN of the tibial nerve. It is worth stating that, in two of the six included studies (12, 23) that also reported the diagnostic performance of median nerve and common peroneal nerve, respectively, the results showed that the tibial nerve on SWE had better performance for diagnosing DPN. Third, our meta-analysis maybe have several intrinsic heterogeneities, such as techniques, reference standards, and SWE measurements. Furthermore, the optimal thresholds were not determined in this meta-analysis. Therefore, further studies with a larger sample size are needed. Finally, we only focused on the full-articles published with English, which may bias the results.

References

- 1. Stohr J, Barbaresko J, Neuenschwander M, Schlesinger S. Bidirectional association between periodontal disease and diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:13686. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-93062-6
- 2. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th Edn (2019). Available online at: https://www.diabetesatlas.org (accessed January 16, 2022).

In conclusion, our meta-analysis demonstrated that SWE shows good performance in diagnosing DPN and has considerable potential as an important and noninvasive adjunctive tool in the management of patients with DPN. Further studies focusing on the identification of optimal cut-off value for nerve SWE measurements are required in order to ensure its general clinical applicability.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

BD, YC, and GL contributed to the study design and literature search. XY, HW, and YC completed the data analysis. BD, HW, and YC generated and improved the figures and tables. BD completed the manuscript. BD and GL proofread the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

4. Hicks CW, Selvin E. Epidemiology of peripheral neuropathy and lower extremity disease in diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2019) 19:86. doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1212-8

5. Wang GF, Xu N, Yin D, Hui Y, Zhang JP, Han GJ. New advances in the diagnosis and treatment of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Chin Gen Pract.* (2012) 15:1661–3. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-9572.2012. 15.001

6. Qin L, Niu JY, Zhou JY, Zhang QJ, Zhou F, Zhang N, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in Chinese

^{3.} Carmichael J, Fadavi H, Ishibashi F, Shore AC, Tavakoli M. Advances in screening, early diagnosis and accurate staging of diabetic neuropathy. *Front Endocrinol.* (2021) 12:671257. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.671257

communities. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi. (2019) 40:1578–84. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2019.12.014

7. Selvarajah D, Kar D, Khunti K, Davies MJ, Scott AR, Walker J, et al. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy: advances in diagnosis and strategies for screening and early intervention. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2019) 7:938–48. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30081-6

8. Thorud JC, Plemmons B, Buckley CJ, Shibuya N, Jupiter DC. Mortality after nontraumatic major amputation among patients with diabetes and peripheral vascular disease: a systematic review. *J Foot Ankle Surg.* (2016) 55:591–9. doi: 10.1053/j.jfas.2016.01.012

9. Yu Y. Gold Standard for Diagnosis of DPN. Front Endocrinol. (2021) 12:719356. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.719356

10. Feng Y, Schlosser FJ, Sumpio BE. The Semmes Weinstein monofilament examination as a screening tool for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *J Vasc Surg.* (2009) 50:675–682.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2009.05.017

11. Callaghan BC, Price RS, Chen KS, Feldman EL. The importance of rare subtypes in diagnosis and treatment of peripheral neuropathy: a review. JAMA Neurol. (2015) 72:1510–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.2347

12. He Y, Xiang X, Zhu BH, Qiu L. Shear wave elastography evaluation of the median and tibial nerve in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Quant Imaging Med Surg.* (2019) 9:273–82. doi: 10.21037/qims.2019.02.05

13. Kakegawa T, Sugimoto K, Kuroda H, Suzuki Y, Imajo K, Toyoda H, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of two-dimensional shear wave elastography for liver fibrosis: a multicenter prospective study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 20:e1478–82. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2021.08.021

14. Herrmann E, de Lédinghen V, Cassinotto C, Chu WC, Leung VY, Ferraioli G, et al. Assessment of biopsy-proven liver fibrosis by two-dimensional shear wave elastography: an individual patient data-based meta-analysis. *Hepatology.* (2018) 67:260–72. doi: 10.1002/hep.29179

15. Kim HJ, Kwak MK, Choi IH, Jin SY, Park HK, Byun DW, et al. Utility of shear wave elastography to detect papillary thyroid carcinoma in thyroid nodules: efficacy of the standard deviation elasticity. *Korean J Intern Med.* (2019) 34:850–7. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2016.326

16. Shang H, Wu B, Liu Z, Liu Y, Cheng W. The effectiveness of shear wave elastography in the diagnosis of PTMC. *Technol Health Care*. (2020) 28:221–6. doi: 10.3233/THC-191895

17. Altintas Y, Bayrak M, Alabaz Ö, Celiktas M. A qualitative and quantitative assessment of simultaneous strain, shear wave, and point shear wave elastography to distinguish malignant and benign breast lesions. *Acta Radiol.* (2021) 62:1155–62. doi: 10.1177/0284185120961422

18. Luo T, Zhang JW, Zhu Y, Jia XH, Dong YJ, Zhan WW, et al. Virtual touch imaging quantification shear-wave elastography for breast lesions: the diagnostic value of qualitative and quantitative features. *Clin Radiol.* (2021) 76:316.e1–316.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2020.10.016

19. Taljanovic MS, Gimber LH, Becker GW, Latt LD, Klauser AS, Melville DM, et al. Shear-wave elastography: basic physics and musculoskeletal applications. *Radiographics*. (2017) 37:855–70. doi: 10.1148/rg.2017160116

20. Dikici AS, Ustabasioglu FE, Delil S, Nalbantoglu M, Korkmaz B, Bakan S, et al. Evaluation of the tibial nerve with shear-wave elastography: a potential sonographic method for the diagnosis of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Radiology.* (2017) 282:494–501. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2016160135

21. Jiang W, Huang S, Teng H, Wang P, Wu M, Zhou X, et al. Diagnostic performance of two-dimensional shear wave elastography for evaluating tibial nerve stiffness in patients with diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Eur Radiol.* (2019) 29:2167–74. doi: 10.1007/s00330-018-5858-4

22. Wei M, Ye X. Feasibility of point shear wave elastography for evaluating diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *J Ultrasound Med.* (2020) 39:1135–41. doi: 10.1002/jum.15198

23. Chen R, Wang XL, Xue WL, Sun JW, Dong XY, Jiang ZP, et al. Application value of conventional ultrasound and real-time shear wave elastography in patients with type 2 diabetic polyneuropathy. *Eur J Radiol.* (2020) 126:108965. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.108965

24. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

25. Whiting PF, Rutjes AW, Westwood ME, Mallett S, Deeks JJ, Reitsma JB, et al. QUADAS-2: a revised tool for the quality assessment of diagnostic accuracy studies. *Ann Intern Med.* (2011) 155:529–36. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-8-201110180-00009

26. Review Manager (RevMan) [Computer program]. Version 5.4. The Cochrane Collaboration (2020).

27. Wang F, Zheng M, Hu J, Fang C, Chen T, Wang M, et al. Value of shear wave elastography combined with the Toronto clinical scoring system in diagnosis of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Medicine*. (2021) 100:e27104. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000027104

28. Bae JS, Kim BJ. Subclinical diabetic neuropathy with normal conventional electrophysiological study. *J Neurol.* (2007) 254:53–9. doi: 10.1007/s00415-006-0261-5

29. Wee TC, Simon NG. Ultrasound elastography for the evaluation of peripheral nerves: a systematic review. *Muscle Nerve.* (2019) 60:501–12. doi: 10.1002/mus.26624

30. Olaleye D, Perkins BA, Bril V. Evaluation of three screening tests and a risk assessment model for diagnosing peripheral neuropathy in the diabetes clinic. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2001) 54:115–28. doi: 10.1016/S0168-8227(01)0 0278-9

31. Asadov R, Erdal A, Bugdayci O, Gündüz OH, Ekinci G. The effectiveness of ultrasonography and ultrasonographic elastography in the diagnosis of carpal tunnel syndrome and evaluation of treatment response after steroid injection. *Eur J Radiol.* (2018) 108:172–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2018. 09.027

32. Hu X, Huang X, Chen H, Zhang T, Hou J, Song A, et al. Diagnostic effect of shear wave elastography imaging for differentiation of malignant liver lesions: a meta-analysis. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2019) 19:60. doi: 10.1186/s12876-01 9-0976-2

33. Tsuchida W, Yamakoshi Y, Matsuo S, Asakawa M, Sugahara K, Fukaya T, et al. Application of the novel estimation method by shear wave elastography using vibrator to human skeletal muscle. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:22248. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79215-z

34. Greening J, Dilley A. Posture-induced changes in peripheral nerve stiffness measured by ultrasound shear-wave elastography. *Muscle Nerve.* (2017) 55:213–22. doi: 10.1002/mus.25245

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Charumathi Sabanayagam, Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

REVIEWED BY Yan Zhang, Sun Yat-sen University, China Kun Bi, Southeast University, China Rahul Pratap Kotian, Gulf Medical University, United Arab Emirates Yifan Li, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Yun Chen chenyunnju@163.com Jie Yang yj197912@163.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 09 March 2022 ACCEPTED 01 July 2022 PUBLISHED 27 July 2022

CITATION

Chen J, Wu J, Huang X, Sun R, Xiang Z, Xu Y, Chen S, Xu W, Yang J and Chen Y (2022) Differences in structural connectivity between diabetic and psychological erectile dysfunction revealed by networkbased statistic: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:892563. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.892563

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Wu, Huang, Sun, Xiang, Xu, Chen, Xu, Yang and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Differences in structural connectivity between diabetic and psychological erectile dysfunction revealed by network-based statistic: A diffusion tensor imaging study

Jianhuai Chen^{1†}, Jindan Wu^{2†}, Xinfei Huang^{1†}, Rui Sun², Ziliang Xiang¹, Yan Xu¹, Shi Chen³, Weilong Xu³, Jie Yang^{4,5*} and Yun Chen^{1*}

¹Department of Andrology, Jiangsu Province Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ²Department of Endocrinology, Nanjing First Hospital, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ³Department of Endocrinology, Jiangsu Province Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing

University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ⁴Department of Urology, Jiangsu

Provincial People's Hospital, First Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ⁵Department of Urology, People's Hospital of Xinjiang Kizilsu Kirgiz Autonomous Prefecture, Artux, Xinjiang, China

Introduction: Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) has been found to be associated with abnormalities of the central and peripheral vascular nervous system, which were considered to be involved in the development of cognitive impairments and erectile dysfunction (ED). In addition, altered brain function and structure were identified in patients with ED, especially psychological ED (pED). However, the similarities and the differences of the central neural mechanisms underlying pED and T2DM with ED (DM-ED) remained unclear.

Methods: Diffusion tensor imaging data were acquired from 30 T2DM, 32 ED, and 31 DM-ED patients and 47 healthy controls (HCs). Then, whole-brain structural networks were constructed, which were mapped by connectivity matrices (90 \times 90) representing the white matter between 90 brain regions parcellated by the anatomical automatic labeling template. Finally, the method of network-based statistic (NBS) was applied to assess the group differences of the structural connectivity.

Results: Our NBS analysis demonstrated three subnetworks with reduced structural connectivity in DM, pED, and DM-ED patients when compared to HCs, which were predominantly located in the prefrontal and subcortical areas. Compared with DM patients, DM-ED patients had an impaired subnetwork with increased structural connectivity, which were primarily located in the parietal regions. Compared with pED patients, an altered subnetwork with increased

structural connectivity was identified in DM-ED patients, which were mainly located in the prefrontal and cingulate areas.

Conclusion: These findings highlighted that the reduced structural connections in the prefrontal and subcortical areas were similar mechanisms to those associated with pED and DM-ED. However, different connectivity patterns were found between pED and DM-ED, and the increased connectivity in the frontal-parietal network might be due to the compensation mechanisms that were devoted to improving erectile function.

KEYWORDS

type 2 diabetes mellitus, erectile dysfunction, diffusion tensor imaging, networkbased statistic, psychological erectile dysfunction

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a chronic metabolic disorder characterized by hyperglycemia, insulin secretion dysfunction, and insulin resistance, which can lead to inflammation, oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction (1-3). T2DM has been identified to be associated with a variety of nervous system-related diseases and macro- and microvascularrelated complications (4-6). The population-based studies suggested that the incidence of mild cognitive impairment in diabetic patients was around 21.8% in China and varied from 28 to 31.5% worldwide (7-9). An epidemiological study suggested that the prevalence of diabetes was increasing rapidly, and the prevalence of erectile dysfunction (ED) among diabetic patients varied from 35 to 90% (10). Compared with the general population, patients with T2DM have a higher risk for cognitive decline, which is one of the central nervous system complications associated with abnormalities of brain function and structure (11-13). In addition, T2DM patients are at higher risk of developing male sexual dysfunction, including ED and retrograde ejaculation, which are two common peripheral microvascular and neurological complications associated with oxidative stress-induced penile vascular endothelial cell injury and peripheral neuropathy (14–17).

ED is defined, in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V) (18), as the inability to achieve and/ or maintain an adequate erection until the completion of a sexual activity on 75% of attempts at a partnered sexual activity for satisfactory sexual intercourse or a marked decrease in turgidity ≥ 6 months with unsatisfactory sexual intercourse. Normal penile erection and detumescence is a complex neurovascular event that is regulated by the balance between the contraction and relaxation of cavernous smooth muscles (19). The etiological factors of ED can be classified as organic (neurogenic, arterial/venous, hormonal, and druginduced) and psychological (20). Diabetes mellitus is considered as an important cause of organic ED (21, 22), while psychogenic ED (pED) is predominantly and exclusively attributed to psychological or interpersonal factors, such as performance anxiety and relationship stress (23). Hyperglycemia was considered to be associated with the development of impaired vasodilatory signaling, smooth muscle cell hypercontractility, and veno-occlusive disorder, which were all the mechanisms causing ED in T2DM patients and often led to resistance to current therapy (24, 25). Endothelial dysfunction was an important mechanism for the development of T2DM-related ED, and chronic hyperglycemia might lead to inflammation and contribute to the formation of reactive oxygen species, which were related to the development of endothelial dysfunction in T2DM-related ED (24). In addition, pED has been found to be related to impaired activity/functional connectivity and abnormal gray matter/ white matter of the brain in recent functional and structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies (26-29). However, the neural mechanisms underlying T2DM, T2DM with ED (DM-ED), and pED remain unclear.

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is a noninvasive MRI method that can be used to detect microstructural alterations of the white matter, which cannot be revealed by conventional structural MRI scan (30, 31). The integrity of nerve fibers can be measured by the parameter of fractional anisotropy (FA), which indicates the strength and direction of water molecules' motion within the nerve fibers (32). Decreased FA values (values range from 0 to 1) indicate impaired microstructural tissue integrity of the white matter (33). A variety of white matter regions with microstructural alterations were found in T2DM patients by the technique of DTI (34). In addition, the structural brain networks [two elements: nodes defined by automated anatomical labeling

(AAL) template; edges defined by white matter] of pED were constructed by the method of graph theory analysis, and the topological measures were compared with healthy controls (HCs) in our previous DTI study (26). The results showed that white matter fiber tracts connected with the left inferior frontal gyrus(triangular), amygdale, right inferior temporal gyrus, and rolandic operculum exhibited decreased strength of structural connectivity in pED patients, which was measured by FA value-weighted edges in the structural brain network (26).

Network-based statistic (NBS) is a validated nonparametrical statistical approach for elucidating the organization of brain while controlling family-wise error. It is frequently applied to clinical applications, which can reveal altered connective strength in the brain network. To further identify different structural connections between pED and DM-ED, DTI data were acquired, and the approach of NBS was used in this study. We hypothesized that these patients would show a different structural connectivity located in key regions for sexual behavior regulation of the brain.

Materials and methods

Participants

In this cross-sectional study, a total of 93 patients, including 30 T2DM, 32 pED, and 31 DM-ED patients, were enrolled in this study. In addition, 47 age- and education-matched HCs were recruited by local advertisements. The protocol and informed consent document were approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Jiangsu Province Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine. Written informed consents were obtained from all individuals before their participation in this study.

The inclusion criteria for all subjects were as follows: (1) righthanded, (2) educated for at least 9 years, and (3) aged between 20 and 60 years. The level of HbA1c was measured for the diagnosis of T2DM, and all participants were asked to fill in the five-item version of the international index of erectile function (IIEF-5) questionnaire to determine the presence of ED (35). T2DM patients met the diagnosis of T2DM according to the latest criteria published by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) (2014) (36): (1) fasting plasma glucose (FPG) level \geq 7.0 mmol/L or (2) 2-h oral glucose tolerance test glucose level \geq 11.1 mmol/L. Patients with DM met the diagnosis of T2DM based on ADA criteria with IIEF-5 scores >21. Patients with pED met the diagnosis of ED based on DSM-V criteria with IIEF-5 scores ≤21 and normal erection during sleeping (normal morning erection) or masturbation (the penis could maintain an erection until ejaculation during masturbation) was reported by themselves as well as normal penile hemodynamics rated by the color duplex doppler ultrasonography combined with intracavernous injection. DM-ED patients met the diagnosis of T2DM (within 2 years) with

the presence of ED (IIEF-5 scores \leq 21; abnormal erection during sleeping and masturbation without obvious psychological factors, such as depression, anxiety, *etc.*). HCs were defined as individuals with normal FPG (<7.0 mmol/L), HbA1c (<6.5) level, and IIEF-5 scores >21.

The exclusion criteria for all individuals were as follows: (1) other types of diabetes, (2) history of severe hyperglycemia coma and hypoglycemia, (3) major medical illnesses or complications, such as severe liver, kidney, or cardiovascular disease or tumors, (4) psychiatric or neurologic disorders, (5) alcohol or other substance abuse, (6) organic brain lesions, such as brain injury, cerebrovascular lesions, or tumors, and (7) any MRI contraindication.

MRI data acquisition

The MRI data were obtained with a 3.0-T MRI scanner (Siemens, Germany). All participants were instructed to relax with their eyes closed, keeping their heads still an avoid deliberate thinking and falling asleep during scanning. High-resolution sagittal three-dimensional T1-weighted images and DTI images were acquired with the parameters that have been described in our previous studies (37–40).

Data preprocessing and network construction

T1-weighted and DTI data were preprocessed using the diffusion toolbox of Functional MRI of the Brain software library (41). Then, whole-brain tractography was performed for the definition of edges in the brain network using the software of Diffusion Toolkit. In addition, the AAL template was used to define the nodes of the brain network (42). The detailed steps of preprocessing and construction of the whole-brain white matter network were performed (Figure 1) as reported in our previous studies (37–40).

NBS analysis

NBS is a statistical method based on the graph theory and is often used to explore differences of the structural connectivity in the brain white matter network, which may be related to the diagnostic statue (43). NBS analysis is usually conducted to identify subnetworks comprising pairs of nodes and connections for which the strength of structural connectivity is significantly different between groups (44, 45). Firstly, two-sample *t*-tests were performed for all pairs (90 × 89/2 = 4,005) of nodes to test the null hypothesis of equality between groups in mean structural connectivity with respect to the size of interconnected subnetwork/component of edges rather than individually at



each connection. Among the structural connections exceeding 2.5 (test-statistic threshold), the search was performed to identify any connected subnetwork, including a collection of regions and a set of suprathreshold connections. The size of the identified subnetwork was determined by the number of suprathreshold connections it comprised. Secondly, permutation tests were conducted to calculate the corrected P-value for each network. The size of the largest subnetwork was recorded, and the null distribution was generated for calculating the family-wise errorcorrected statistical threshold across the set of all connections. Finally, the corrected *P*-value for the identified subnetwork (size = K) in the un-permuted/actual data was computed as the proportion of permutations for which the size of the subnetwork was equal or greater than K. Therefore, NBS is a statistical approach that controls the family-wise error rate across all connections of the brain network, which offers more power than the method of false discovery rate.

Statistical analysis

The group differences of demographic and clinical variables were compared by using the SPSS software package (IBM, USA). The data normality was evaluated by Kolmogorov–Smirnov test,

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics.

and the variance homogeneity was measured by Levene's test. The one-way ANOVA was used to detect demographic and clinical differences among the three groups, while two sample *t*-test was performed to reveal differences of variables between two groups. The statistical significance threshold was set at P < 0.05.

One-way ANOVA and *post-hoc* analysis with two-sample *t*-test were applied to identify the group differences of structural connectivity in the white matter brain network by the method of NBS. The connected subnetworks were considered to be significantly different if the corrected P < 0.05 at the whole-network level with the preliminary statistic threshold 2.5 (50,000 permutations).

Results

Demographic and clinical characteristics

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the three groups are presented in Table 1. No significant differences were found in the age and educational level. Patients with pED and DM-ED had decreased IIEF-5 scores when compared to those with DM and HCs. In addition, there were no significant differences in the level of HbA1c between patients with DM and DM-ED.

Variables	DM $(n = 30)$	pED $(n = 32)$	DM-ED $(n = 31)$	HCs $(n = 47)$	F/t	Р
Age (years)	44.30 ± 8.03	42.69 ± 3.95	43.55 ± 9.82	43.19 ± 7.34	0.25	0.86
Education level (years)	14.80 ± 2.68	14.47 ± 2.51	14.48 ± 2.68	14.45 ± 1.60	0.17	0.92
IIEF-5 scores	23.53 ± 1.11	10.56 ± 5.07	15.23 ± 3.15	22.72 ± 0.68	153.63	< 0.00
HbA1c (%)	8.24 ± 2.61	-	9.52 ± 2.52	-	-1.94	0.06

P <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

DM, diabetes mellitus; pED, psychological erectile dysfunction; DM-ED, diabetic erectile dysfunction; HCs, healthy controls; IIEF, international index of erectile function.

Differences of structural connectivity revealed by NBS analysis

As shown in Table 2 and Figure 2, the subnetworks that showed significant differences between groups were identified. Compared to HCs, DM patients showed significantly decreased structural connectivity in a subnetwork comprising four brain regions (four right and zero left) and three connections (zero interhemispheric and three intrahemispheric). This subnetwork involved right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part), thalamus, putamen, and caudate nucleus. A subnetwork comprising five brain regions (four right and one left) and four reduced structural connections (one interhemispheric and three intrahemispheric) was identified in patients with pED when compared with HCs. In this subnetwork, the five well-connected brain regions were the left superior frontal gyrus (medial orbital) and right superior frontal gyrus (orbital part), inferior frontal gyrus (orbital part), middle frontal gyrus (orbital part), and putamen. The NBS analysis also revealed that a subnetwork was significantly different between DM-ED patients and HCs. The subnetwork consisted of four brain regions, including the right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part), thalamus, putamen, pallidum (four right and zero left) and four reduced structural connections (zero interhemispheric and four intrahemispheric).

In addition, the DM-ED patients demonstrated a subnetwork with five brain regions (five right and zero left) and four increased connections (zero interhemispheric and four intrahemispheric) when compared with DM patients. The regions of this subnetwork were located in the right superior parietal gyrus, inferior parietal gyrus, postcentral gyrus, angular gyrus, and superior occipital gyrus. Moreover, DM-ED patients had a different subnetwork comprising five brain regions (two right and three left) and four increased connections (one interhemispheric and three intrahemispheric) when compared with pED patients. The subnetwork consisted of the left middle

Subnetwork	E	t	Р	
	Node 1	Node 2		
DM < HCs	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right thalamus	2.76	< 0.05
	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right putamen	3.43	< 0.05
	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right caudate nucleus	3.30	< 0.05
DM > HCs				
pED < HCs	Left superior frontal gyrus (medial orbital)	Right superior frontal gyrus (orbital part)	2.53	< 0.05
	Right superior frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right inferior frontal gyrus (orbital part)	3.21	< 0.05
	Right inferior frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	4.22	< 0.05
	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right putamen	2.52	< 0.05
pED > HCs		No significant edge was found		
DM-ED < HCs	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right thalamus	2.81	< 0.05
	Right middle frontal gyrus (orbital part)	Right putamen	3.78	< 0.05
	Right thalamus	Right putamen	3.74	< 0.05
	Right thalamus	Right pallidum	3.12	< 0.05
DM-ED > HCs		No significant edge was found		
DM < DM-ED	Right superior parietal gyrus	Right inferior parietal gyrus	3.26	< 0.05
	Right inferior parietal gyrus	Right postcentral gyrus	3.16	< 0.05
	Right superior parietal gyrus	Right angular gyrus	3.18	< 0.05
	Right superior parietal gyrus	Right superior occipital gyrus	2.91	< 0.05
DM > DM-ED		No significant edge was found		
pED < DM-ED	Left middle frontal gyrus	Left caudate nucleus	4.21	< 0.05
	Left middle frontal gyrus	Left anterior cingulate gyrus	3.16	< 0.05
	Left anterior cingulate gyrus	Right median cingulate gyrus	2.70	< 0.05
	Right median cingulate gyrus	Right postcentral gyrus	2.90	< 0.05
pED > DM-ED		No significant edge was found		

TABLE 2 Subnetworks identified to be significantly different among the DM, pED, DM-ED, and HC groups using network-based statistical analysis.

To identify the significance of each subnetwork, nonparametric permutation statistic (test statistic threshold = 2.5; 5,000 permutations; P < 0.05) was performed with network-based statistical correction, and network size was measured with intensity.

DM, diabetes mellitus; pED, psychological erectile dysfunction; DM-ED, diabetic erectile dysfunction; HC, healthy controls.



frontal gyrus, anterior cingulate gyrus, caudate nucleus, right median cingulate gyrus, and postcentral gyrus.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the differences of structural connectivity between patients with pED and DM-ED by the method of NBS analysis. The findings demonstrated that decreased structural connectivity was found in patients with DM, pED, and DM-ED when compared with HCs. The abnormal brain regions were mainly distributed in the prefrontal and subcortical areas. In addition, DM-ED patients presented increased subnetworks consisting of parietal regions and prefrontal–cingulate areas when compared with DM patients and pED patients, respectively. These findings highlighted the importance of structural network analysis in understanding the different central neural mechanisms underlying diabetic and psychological ED.

In this study, we used DTI data to investigate the different topological properties of brain network between pED and DM-ED. Abnormal structural connectivity of white matter in the brain network were found in DM, pED, and DM-ED patients. The microstructural changes of white matter were speculated to be caused by the compromise of myelin sheath and the impairment or decrement of axons, which might lead to decreased neuronal signal transmission (34). The measure of FA, representing white matter integrity, is more sensitive than structural MRI metrics (33). DTI can detect and quantify subtle abnormalities of white matter before those are detectable by conventional structural MRI scans (30). Therefore, these findings might serve as imaging biomarkers for early diagnosis, monitoring disease progression, and response to therapy of brain disorders (46–48).

In recent years, DTI has been actively used in the investigation of brain structural connectivity alterations in sexual dysfunction patients including ED and premature ejaculation to understand the neuropathophysiology of these two disorders related to some psychological factors (26, 40). Our previous study showed that pED patients had damaged white matter in the left prefrontal and limbic cortex by the method of graph theoretical analysis (26). In addition, white matter microstructural changes were also found in pED patients by the method of tract-based spatial statistics based on DTI data (49). In this study, both pED and DM-ED patients showed lower structural connectivity in the prefrontal and subcortical areas when compared with HCs. Reduced structural connectivity was identified in the left superior frontal gyrus, right frontal regions, and putamen in pED patients, while DM-ED patients exhibited decreased structural connectivity in the right middle frontal gyrus, thalamus, putamen, and pallidum. This finding suggested that pED patients had more impairments in the frontal regions; however, DM-ED patients had more abnormalities in the subcortical areas. Previous studies demonstrated that the subcortical areas and, in particular, the thalamus seemed to be susceptible to T2DM. In addition, pED, owing predominantly to psychological factors including anxiety, depression, and introversion, was found to be more vulnerable to structural and functional changes in the prefrontal regions (26, 27, 38). Therefore, our findings were in agreement with the central neural mechanisms of pED and DM in previous neuroimaging studies (11, 38, 50).

The putamen was a key subcortical region receiving inputs from the prefrontal regions and projecting to other portions of the subcortical areas (51). The putamen, a critical component of the reward network, was considered to facilitate the integration of information from different brain areas and played an important role in reward-related behaviors (52). Sexual
behavior was a subjectively pleasurable experience and activity which, in the putamen, could be triggered by visual sexual stimuli, which acted like rewarding stimuli (53-55). In previous neuroimaging studies, activation in the putamen was found to be associated with male sexual arousal and penile turgidity (56, 57). The interactions between the prefrontal and putamen were known to be important for reward and sexual behavior (58, 59). Impaired gray matter of the putamen was found in pED patients (60). The structural connectivity between the prefrontal and putamen might be abnormal and associated with the underlying neural mechanisms of pED. With the exception of the putamen, more subcortical regions, including thalamus and pallidum, were found to have reduced structural connectivity in DM-ED patients. The thalamus was considered as an integration center for different brain regions, and it was found to be a critical structure for cognitive dysfunction in T2DM patients (61, 62). Decreased FA value was found in the thalamus in diabetes mellitus patients when compared with HCs, and the decreased FA was associated with worse neurocognitive performance of patients (63). Both the putamen and pallidum were two important components of the striatum, which played a key role in various brain functions, including cognitive function and reward, through the cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical pathway (64-66). T2DM was often accompanied with ED, which might be also associated with the structural abnormalities in the brain as manifested by decreased structural connectivity in the striatothalamo-frontal circuit.

In this study, increased structural connectivity was found in the frontal-parietal network of DM-ED when compared with DM and pED. The frontal-parietal network played a vital role in cognitive function, including attention, executive function, and working memory, and it was often activated by executive function-related tasks (67). In previous studies, the inferior parietal lobule was activated in response to visual sexual stimuli, and the regional cerebral blood flow of this region was found to be positively correlated with the level of penile tumescence (56, 68). The initiation and level of penile tumescence in response to visual sexual stimuli was controlled by the frontal-network (69). In addition, increased activation was found in the frontal-parietal network in youth with type 1 diabetes when compared with HCs (70). Therefore, the increased structural connectivity in the frontal-parietal network might indicate compensatory changes for DM-ED patients. However, the complex mechanisms underlying the compensatory changes needed to be explored in further studies with a larger sample size.

In addition, several limitations should be taken into consideration in this study. Firstly, the relatively small sample size and cross-sectional study might limit the generalizability of these findings. Secondly, more demographic and clinical characteristics should be obtained, and their relationships with altered structural connectivity in the brain network should also be explored in our future studies. Finally, future studies entailing longitudinal studies with treatment were needed to evaluate the alterations in brain structural connectivity under treatment and might provide new insight into the treatment strategy of ED.

Conclusion

In summary, this might be the first study to investigate the differences of structural connectivity between diabetic and psychological ED by the method of NBS analysis based on DTI data. Our results showed that both DM-ED and pED had decreased structural connectivity in the frontal-subcortical regions. In addition, DM-ED patients presented increased structural connectivity in the frontal-parietal network, which might be a compensatory mechanism. These findings provided the first evidence of the common and different central neural mechanisms between diabetic and psychological factors related ED.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the medical ethics committee of Jiangsu Province Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JC, YC, JY, and JW designed the experiments. JC, JY, JW, XH, RS, ZX, YX, SC, and WX contributed to clinical data collection and assessment. JC, XH, ZX, YX, JW, and JY analyzed the results. JC, JY, JW, and XH wrote the manuscript. JC, YC, JY, and JW approved the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (nos. 81701433 and 81871154), Key Project of Jiangsu Provincial Health Commission (no. ZDA2020025), Natural Science Foundation of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine (no. XZR2020003), Special Project of Innovation and Development Fund of Jiangsu Province Hospital of Chinese Medicine (no. Y2021CX24), and General Project of Natural Science Foundation of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (2022D01A23).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Banik S, Ghosh A. The association of oxidative stress biomarkers with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Sci Rep* (2021) 4 (4):e389. doi: 10.1002/hsr2.389

2. Zhou Z, Collado A, Sun C, Tratsiakovich Y, Mahdi A, Winter H, et al. Downregulation of erythrocyte miR-210 induces endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2022) 71(2):285–97. doi: 10.2337/db21-0093

3. Rohm TV, Meier DT, Olefsky JM, Donath MY. Inflammation in obesity, diabetes, and related disorders. *Immunity* (2022) 55(1):31–55. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2021.12.013

4. Pourabbasi A, Tehrani-Doost M, Qavam SE, Arzaghi SM, Larijani B. Association of diabetes mellitus and structural changes in the central nervous system in children and adolescents: a systematic review. *J Diabetes Metab Disord* (2017) 16:10. doi: 10.1186/s40200-017-0292-8

5. Issar T, Tummanapalli SS, Borire AA, Kwai NCG, Poynten AM, Arnold R, et al. Impact of the metabolic syndrome on peripheral nerve structure and function in type 2 diabetes. *Eur J Neurol* (2021) 28(6):2074–82. doi: 10.1111/ene.14805

6. Weiss JS, Sumpio BE. Review of prevalence and outcome of vascular disease in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2006) 31(2):143–50. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2005.08.015

7. Li W, Sun L, Li G, Xiao S. Prevalence, influence factors and cognitive characteristics of mild cognitive impairment in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2019) 11:180. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00180

8. Gorska-Ciebiada M, Saryusz-Wolska M, Ciebiada M, Loba J. Mild cognitive impairment and depressive symptoms in elderly patients with diabetes: prevalence, risk factors, and comorbidity. *J Diabetes Res* (2014) 2014:179648. doi: 10.1155/2014/179648

9. Luchsinger JA, Reitz C, Patel B, Tang MX, Manly JJ, Mayeux R. Relation of diabetes to mild cognitive impairment. *Arch Neurol* (2007) 64(4):570-5. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.4.570

10. Malavige LS, Levy JC. Erectile dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. J Sexual Med (2009) 6(5):1232–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1743-6109.2008.01168.x

11. Lei H, Hu R, Luo G, Yang T, Shen H, Deng H, et al. Altered structural and functional MRI connectivity in type 2 diabetes mellitus related cognitive impairment: A review. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2021) 15:755017. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2021.755017

12. You Y, Liu Z, Chen Y, Xu Y, Qin J, Guo S, et al. The prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Diabetologica* (2021) 58(6):671–85. doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01648-9

13. Rosenberg J, Lechea N, Pentang GN, Shah NJ. What magnetic resonance imaging reveals - a systematic review of the relationship between type II diabetes and associated brain distortions of structure and cognitive functioning. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2019) 52:79–112. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.10.001

14. Fan J, Peng T, Hui J, Ding W, He B, Zhang H, et al. Erectile dysfunction in type-2 diabetes mellitus patients: Predictors of early detection and treatment. *Urologia Internationalis* (2021) 105(11-12):986–92. doi: 10.1159/ 000514700

15. Fedder J, Kaspersen MD, Brandslund I, Højgaard A. Retrograde ejaculation and sexual dysfunction in men with diabetes mellitus: a prospective, controlled study. *Andrology* (2013) 1(4):602–6. doi: 10.1111/j.2047-2927.2013.00083.x

16. Zhou B, Chen Y, Yuan H, Wang T, Feng J, Li M, et al. NOX1/4 inhibitor GKT-137831 improves erectile function in diabetic rats by ROS reduction and endothelial nitric oxide synthase reconstitution. *J Sexual Med* (2021) 18(12):1970–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2021.09.007

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

17. Vinik AI, Maser RE, Mitchell BD, Freeman R. Diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2003) 26(5):1553–79. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.5.1553

18. Segraves RT. Considerations for diagnostic criteria for erectile dysfunction in DSM V. *J Sexual Med* (2010) 7(2 Pt 1):654-60. doi: 10.1111/j.1743-6109.2009.01684.x

19. Giuliano F. Neurophysiology of erection and ejaculation. J Sexual Med (2011) 8 Suppl 4:310-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1743-6109.2011.02450.x

20. Burnett AL, Nehra A, Breau RH, Culkin DJ, Faraday MM, Hakim LS, et al. Erectile dysfunction: AUA guideline. *J Urol* (2018) 200(3):633–41. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2018.05.004

21. Yuan C, Jian Z, Gao X, Jin X, Wang M, Xiang L, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus increases risk of erectile dysfunction independent of obesity and dyslipidemia: A mendelian randomization study. *Andrology* (2022) 10(3):518–24. doi: 10.1111/andr.13132

22. Maiorino MI, Bellastella G, Esposito K. Diabetes and sexual dysfunction: current perspectives. *Diabetes Metab Syndrome Obes* (2014) 7:95-105. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S36455

23. Yang Y, Song Y, Lu Y, Xu Y, Liu L, Liu X. Associations between erectile dysfunction and psychological disorders (depression and anxiety): A crosssectional study in a Chinese population. *Andrologia* (2019) 51(10):e13395. doi: 10.1111/and.13395

24. Hidalgo-Tamola J, Chitaley K. Review type 2 diabetes mellitus and erectile dysfunction. *J Sexual Med* (2009) 6(4):916–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1743-6109.2008.01116.x

25. Phé V, Rouprêt M. Erectile dysfunction and diabetes: a review of the current evidence-based medicine and a synthesis of the main available therapies. *Diabetes Metab* (2012) 38(1):1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2011.09.003

26. Chen J, Chen Y, Gao Q, Chen G, Dai Y, Yao Z, et al. Brain structural network topological alterations of the left prefrontal and limbic cortex in psychogenic erectile dysfunction. *Int J Neurosci* (2018) 128(5):393-403. doi: 10.1080/00207454.2017.1387116

27. Chen J, Chen Y, Chen G, Dai Y, Yao Z, Lu Q. Altered brain networks in psychogenic erectile dysfunction: a resting-state fMRI study. *Andrology* (2017) 5 (6):1073–81. doi: 10.1111/andr.12411

28. Ma Z, Ren F, Huang X, Yang X, Li H, Li G, et al. Decreased gray matter volume of the anterior insular cortex in patients with psychogenic erectile dysfunction: A voxel-based morphometry study. *J Psychiatr Res* (2021) 145:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.12.006

29. Wang Y, Dong M, Guan M, Wu J, He Z, Zou Z, et al. Aberrant insulacentered functional connectivity in psychogenic erectile dysfunction patients: A resting-state fMRI study. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2017) 11:221. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2017.00221

30. Zhao Y, Yang L, Gong G, Cao Q, Liu J. Identify aberrant white matter microstructure in ASD, ADHD and other neurodevelopmental disorders: A metaanalysis of diffusion tensor imaging studies. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2022) 113:110477. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2021.110477

31. Jiang J, Zhao YJ, Hu XY, Du MY, Chen ZQ, Wu M, et al. Microstructural brain abnormalities in medication-free patients with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (2017) 42(3):150–63. doi: 10.1503/jpn.150341

32. Yang X, Cao D, Liang X, Zhao J. Schizophrenia symptomatic associations with diffusion tensor imaging measured fractional anisotropy of brain: a meta-analysis. *Neuroradiology* (2017) 59(7):699-708. doi: 10.1007/s00234-017-1844-9

33. Papanikolaou N, Karampekios S, Papadaki E, Malamas M, Maris T, Gourtsoyiannis N. Fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity measurements on normal human brain: comparison between low-and high-resolution diffusion tensor imaging sequences. *Eur Radiol* (2006) 16(1):187–92. doi: 10.1007/s00330-005-2833-7

34. Xiong Y, Sui Y, Zhang S, Zhou XJ, Yang S, Fan Y, et al. Brain microstructural alterations in type 2 diabetes: diffusion kurtosis imaging provides added value to diffusion tensor imaging. *Eur Radiol* (2019) 29(4):1997–2008. doi: 10.1007/s00330-018-5746-y

35. Rosen RC, Cappelleri JC, Smith MD, Lipsky J, Peña BM. Development and evaluation of an abridged, 5-item version of the international index of erectile function (IIEF-5) as a diagnostic tool for erectile dysfunction. *Int J Impotence Res* (1999) 11(6):319–26. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijir.3900472

36. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes–2014. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37 Suppl 1:S14–80. doi: 10.2337/dc14-S014

37. Chen J, Huang X, Liu S, Lu C, Dai Y, Yao Z, et al. Disrupted topological properties of brain networks in erectile dysfunction patients owing predominantly to psychological factors: a structural and functional neuroimaging study. *Andrology* (2020) 8(2):381–91. doi: 10.1111/andr.12684

38. Chen J, Chen Y, Gao Q, Chen G, Dai Y, Yao Z, et al. Impaired prefrontalamygdala pathway, self-reported emotion, and erection in psychogenic erectile dysfunction patients with normal nocturnal erection. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2018) 12:157. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2018.00157

39. Chen J, Yang J, Huang X, Lu C, Liu S, Dai Y, et al. Variation in brain subcortical network topology between men with and without PE: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Sexual Med* (2020) 17(1):48–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2019.10.009

40. Chen J, Yang J, Xiang Z, Huang X, Lu C, Liu S, et al. Graph theory analysis reveals premature ejaculation is a brain disorder with altered structural connectivity and depressive symptom: A DTI-based connectome study. *Eur J Neurosci* (2021) 53(6):1905–21. doi: 10.1111/ejn.15048

41. Jenkinson M, Beckmann CF, Behrens TE, Woolrich MW, Smith SM. FSL. NeuroImage (2012) 62(2):782–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.015

42. Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Landeau B, Papathanassiou D, Crivello F, Etard O, Delcroix N, et al. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *NeuroImage* (2002) 15(1):273–89. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0978

43. Zalesky A, Fornito A, Bullmore ET. Network-based statistic: identifying differences in brain networks. *NeuroImage* (2010) 53(4):1197–207. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.06.041

44. Zalesky A, Cocchi L, Fornito A, Murray MM, Bullmore E. Connectivity differences in brain networks. *NeuroImage* (2012) 60(2):1055–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.068

45. Korgaonkar MS, Fornito A, Williams LM, Grieve SM. Abnormal structural networks characterize major depressive disorder: a connectome analysis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 76(7):567–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.02.018

46. Taylor KI, Sambataro F, Boess F, Bertolino A, Dukart J. Progressive decline in Gray and white matter integrity in *de novo* parkinson's disease: An analysis of longitudinal Parkinson progression markers initiative diffusion tensor imaging data. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2018) 10:318. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00318

47. Grieve SM, Korgaonkar MS, Gordon E, Williams LM, Rush AJ. Prediction of nonremission to antidepressant therapy using diffusion tensor imaging. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2016) 77(4):e436–443. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09577

48. Podwalski P, Szczygieł K, Tyburski E, Sagan L, Misiak B, Samochowiec J. Magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging in psychiatry: a narrative review of its potential role in diagnosis. *Pharmacol Rep* (2021) 73(1):43–56. doi: 10.1007/ s43440-020-00177-0

49. Zhang P, Liu J, Li G, Pan J, Li Z, Liu Q, et al. White matter microstructural changes in psychogenic erectile dysfunction patients. *Andrology* (2014) 2(3):379–85. doi: 10.1111/j.2047-2927.2014.00191.x

50. Lu L, Sedor JR, Gulani V, Schelling JR, O'Brien A, Flask CA, et al. Use of diffusion tensor MRI to identify early changes in diabetic nephropathy. *Am J Nephrol* (2011) 34(5):476–82. doi: 10.1159/000333044

51. Haber SN. Corticostriatal circuitry. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* (2016) 18(1):7–21. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.1/shaber

52. Balleine BW, Delgado MR, Hikosaka O. The role of the dorsal striatum in reward and decision-making. *J Neurosci* (2007) 27(31):8161–5. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1554-07.2007

53. Gola M, Wordecha M, Marchewka A, Sescousse G. Visual sexual stimuli-cue or reward? a perspective for interpreting brain imaging findings on human sexual behaviors. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2016) 10:402. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00402

54. Bruijnzeel AW. Kappa-opioid receptor signaling and brain reward function. Brain Res Rev (2009) 62(1):127-46. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.09.008

55. Holstege G, Georgiadis JR, Paans AM, Meiners LC, van der Graaf FH, Reinders AA. Brain activation during human male ejaculation. *J Neurosci* (2003) 23 (27):9185–93. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-27-09185.2003

56. Redouté J, Stoléru S, Grégoire MC, Costes N, Cinotti L, Lavenne F, et al. Brain processing of visual sexual stimuli in human males. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2000) 11(3):162–77. doi: 10.1002/1097-0193(200011)11:3<162::AID-HBM30>3.0.CO;2-A

57. Arnow BA, Desmond JE, Banner LL, Glover GH, Solomon A, Polan ML, et al. Brain activation and sexual arousal in healthy, heterosexual males. *Brain* (2002) 125(Pt 5):1014–23. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf108

58. Wang J, Zhang P, Li W, Wen Q, Liu F, Xu J, et al. Right posterior insula and putamen volume mediate the effect of oxytocin receptor polygenic risk for autism spectrum disorders on reward dependence in healthy adults. *Cereb Cortex (New York NY 1991)* (2021) 31(2):746–56. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhaa198

59. Cheng JC, Secondary J, Burke WH, Fedoroff JP, Dwyer RG. Neuroimaging and sexual behavior: identification of regional and functional differences. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2015) 17(7):55. doi: 10.1007/s11920-015-0593-x

60. Cera N, Delli Pizzi S, Di Pierro ED, Gambi F, Tartaro A, Vicentini C, et al. Macrostructural alterations of subcortical grey matter in psychogenic erectile dysfunction. *PloS One* (2012) 7(6):e39118. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039118

61. Zhou Y, Si X, Chen Y, Chao Y, Lin CP, Li S, et al. Hippocampus- and thalamus-related fiber-specific white matter reductions in mild cognitive impairment. *Cereb Cortex (New York NY 1991)* (2021). doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bhab407 Epub ahead of print.

62. Sanjari Moghaddam H, Ghazi Sherbaf F, Aarabi MH. Brain microstructural abnormalities in type 2 diabetes mellitus: A systematic review of diffusion tensor imaging studies. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2019) 55:100782. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2019.100782

63. Xuan DS, Zhao X, Liu YC, Xing QN, Shang HL, Zhu PY, et al. Brain development in infants of mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Comput Assisted Tomography* (2020) 44(6):947–52. doi: 10.1097/RCT.000000000001110

64. Loonen AJ, Ivanova SA. Circuits regulating pleasure and happinessmechanisms of depression. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2016) 10:571. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2016.00571

65. Gomes FV. Altered ventral striatum-hippocampus connectivity during reward processing as an endophenotype for psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2022) 91 (2):e7–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.10.019

66. de Kloet SF, Bruinsma B, Terra H, Heistek TS, Passchier EMJ, van den Berg AR, et al. Bi-directional regulation of cognitive control by distinct prefrontal cortical output neurons to thalamus and striatum. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):1994. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22260-7

67. Ray KL, Ragland JD, MacDonald AW, Gold JM, Silverstein SM, Barch DM, et al. Dynamic reorganization of the frontal parietal network during cognitive control and episodic memory. *Cognitive Affect Behav Neurosci* (2020) 20(1):76–90. doi: 10.3758/s13415-019-00753-9

68. Stoléru S, Redouté J, Costes N, Lavenne F, Bars DL, Dechaud H, et al. Brain processing of visual sexual stimuli in men with hypoactive sexual desire disorder. *Psychiatry Res* (2003) 124(2):67–86. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4927(03)00068-4

69. Moulier V, Mouras H, Pélégrini-Issac M, Glutron D, Rouxel R, Grandjean B, et al. Neuroanatomical correlates of penile erection evoked by photographic stimuli in human males. *NeuroImage* (2006) 33(2):689–99. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.06.037

70. Mazaika PK, Marzelli M, Tong G, Foland-Ross LC, Buckingham BA, Aye T, et al. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy detects increased activation of the brain frontal-parietal network in youth with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2020) 21(3):515–23. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12992

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christian Stevns Hansen, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen (SDCC), Denmark

REVIEWED BY Che-Yu Lin, National Taiwan University, Taiwan Christopher Bibbo, Sinai Hospital of Baltimore, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiang Geng xianggenghuashan@yeah.net Xin Ma maxinhuashan@yeah.net

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 11 March 2022 ACCEPTED 07 July 2022 PUBLISHED 17 August 2022

CITATION

Yang X-g, Teng Z-l, Zhang Z-m, Wang K, Huang R, Chen W-m, Wang C, Chen L, Zhang C, Huang J-z, Wang X, Ma X and Geng X (2022) Comparison of material properties of heel pad between adults with and without type 2 diabetes history: An *in-vivo* investigation during gait. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:894383. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.894383

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Yang, Teng, Zhang, Wang, Huang, Chen, Wang, Chen, Zhang, Huang, Wang, Ma and Geng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Comparison of material properties of heel pad between adults with and without type 2 diabetes history: An *in-vivo* investigation during gait

Xiong-gang Yang^{1†}, Zhao-lin Teng^{1†}, Zhen-ming Zhang¹, Kan Wang², Ran Huang³, Wen-ming Chen³, Chen Wang¹, Li Chen¹, Chao Zhang¹, Jia-zhang Huang¹, Xu Wang¹, Xin Ma^{1*} and Xiang Geng^{1*}

¹Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ²Department of Radiology, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ³Academy for Engineering & Technology, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Objective: This study was aimed to compare the material properties of heel pad between diabetes patients and healthy adults, and investigate the impact of compressive loading history and length of diabetes course on the material properties of heel pad.

Methods: The dual fluoroscopic imaging system (DFIS) and dynamic footground contact pressure-test plate were used for measuring the material properties, including primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus and energy dissipation ratio (EDR), both at time zero and following continuous loading. Material properties between healthy adults and DM patients were compared both at time zero and following continuous weight bearing. After then, comparison between time-zero material properties and properties following continuous loading was performed to identify the loading history-dependent biomechanical behaviour of heel pad. Subgroup-based sensitivity analysis was then conducted to investigate the diabetes course (<10 years vs. \geq 10 years) on the material properties of heel pad.

Results: Ten type II DM subjects (20 legs), aged from 59 to 73 (average: 67.8 \pm 4.9), and 10 age-matched healthy adults (20 legs), aged from 59 to 72 (average: 64.4 \pm 3.4), were enrolled. Diabetes history was demonstrated to be associated with significantly lower primary thickness (t=3.18, p=0.003**), higher peak strain (t=2.41, p=0.021*), lower stiffness (w=283, p=0.024*) and lower viscous modulus (w=331, p<0.001***) at time zero, and significantly lower primary thickness (t=3.30, p=0.002**), higher peak strain (w=120, p=0.031*) and lower viscous modulus (t=3.42, p=0.002**) following continuous loading. The continuous loading was found to be associated with significantly lower primary thickness (paired-w=204, p<0.001***) and viscous modulus (paired-t=5.45, p<0.001***) in healthy adults, and significantly lower primary thickness

(paired-w=206, p<0.001***) and viscous modulus (paired-t=7.47, p<0.001***) in diabetes group. No any significant difference was found when conducting the subgroup analysis based on length of diabetes course (<10 years vs. \geq 10 years), but the regression analysis showed that the length of diabetes history was positively associated with the peak strain, at time zero (r=0.506, p<0.050) and following continuous loading (r=0.584, p<0.010).

Conclusions: Diabetes patients were found to be associated with decreased primary thickness and viscous modulus, and increased peak strain, which may contribute to the vulnerability of heel pad to injury and ulceration. Precompression history-dependent behaviour is observable in soft tissue of heel pad, with lowered primary thickness and viscous modulus.

KEYWORDS

material properties, diabetes, heel pad, dual fluoroscopic system, gait, loading history

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a 21st century epidemic, affecting about 9.3% of the world's population at 2019 (1). This figure is estimated to be as high as 10.2% and 10.9% by 2030 and 2045 respectively, according to the 9th International Diabetes Federation (IDF) Conference (1). Diabetic foot ulcer (DFU), as one of the most common, serious and destructive complications, would be experienced by about 25% of the DM patients over their course of disease (2, 3). Despite an advanced team cooperation, many ulcerous foots must be amputated within 4 years due to unsatisfactory treatment effect, comprising up to one-third of the direct expense of diabetic care (4-6). It is estimated that 10% and 19% of the DFU patients would encounter major amputation and minor amputation respectively, within 1 year of diagnosis (7). Although the heel ulcerations are less common than forefoot ulcerations, they are generally more challenging to treat, difficult to heal and associated with larger morbidity and higher costs (8, 9). It is reported that the limb salvage success rate of heel ulcers is 2~3 times less than that of the forefoot ulcers (8). As the first point of contact between the foot and ground during human locomotion, the heel acts as an efficient shock absorber to dampen the impact stress transferred to the skeletal system (10-12). The heel fat pad is histologically composed of honeycombed fat globules formed by clustered fat cells in whorls of fibroelastic septa (13). The intact configurations of the adipocyte cluster and fibrous envelop are necessary for heel pad to resist the external compressive loads during the stance phase of gait cycle (11, 13, 14). However, the histomorphology of the heel pad would be significantly altered, including breaking of collagen bundles and fragmentation of elastin strands in septa, and relative

shrinking of adipocytes, in pathological condition of diabetes (10, 11, 15–17). These alterations, subsequently, would lead to further modifications on the material properties, causing increased stiffness of septa, decreased damping ability, and increased vulnerability of tissue to injury (10, 13, 15–18).

To date, researchers have developed plenty of footwear and custom insole designs to prevent the ulceration of the plantar soft tissue in diabetes. These designs, predominately, depended on the premise that the elevated barefoot pressure (or peak stress) is the main cause of diabetic plantar ulceration (19-21). Subsequently, the major goal of the footwear and insole is to reduce or redistribute the pressure on the plantar surface at locations with risk of ulceration. Additionally, the pressure relieving effect has been widely adopted as the primary index to evaluate the treatment efficacy (19-21). However, diabetes patients sometimes develop ulcers at the locations with normal pressure, or the elevated peak pressure is available in some healthy adults (22, 23). Veves et al. (24) reported that only 38% of the DFU locations matched with the peak pressure areas in plantar surface. Healy et al. (25) indicated that over 42% of the diabetic amputations were caused by improper footwear. To accurately identify the comprehensive mechanical parameters more than peak pressure, therefore, is essential for guiding the designing of footwear and insole to compensate the atrophy and degeneration of diabetic plantar tissue. Several methods have been established to investigate the viscoelastic material properties of heel pad through either in vitro cadaver or in vivo volunteer experiments (14, 26-37). The uniaxial compression and stress-relaxation experiments with in-vitro tissue cut from cadaveric plantar pad was firstly performed to test the material properties (14, 27, 28). These tests, nevertheless, have been proven to overestimate the stiffness (six times higher)

and underestimate the energy dissipation ratio (EDR, three times lower) compared to in-vivo testing, because of the inclusion of entire lower leg for in vivo tests (29-31). More recently, some novel in vivo methods, such as indentation test (26, 32), drop impact test (29), ballistic pendulum (33) and ultrasound elastography approach (34, 35), have been widely applied to quantify the static or quasi-static material properties of plantar soft tissue. These methods, nevertheless, are not able to replicate the actual loading conditions experienced by the heel when contacting with the ground during dynamic gait cycle, as the heel pad is loaded at a fixed position without movement. To overcome this limitation, De Clercq et al. (36) and Gefen et al. (37) developed an innovative method by incorporating of the fluoroscopy (cine-radiography) and simultaneous pressure test plate beneath the foot to measure the in vivo material properties during dynamic gait (36, 37). Up until then, it was possible to dynamically investigate the material properties of heel pad. However, this method was based on two-dimensional fluoroscopy, which would lead to bias on measured strain due to varying shooting angle. Instead, the dual fluoroscopic imaging system (DFIS) could capture two perpendicularly intersected images for reconstructing a three-dimensional structure, and has been recently applied in many situations to help investigate the structural and locational indexes. In a previous preliminary study, we have established a novel system for testing the material properties of heel pad, and performed pilot investigation within several healthy adults (38).

In this study, we set out to: (i) identify the material properties of heel pad in DM patients; (ii) compare the material properties of heel pad between DM patients and healthy adults; (iii) perform subgroup analysis according to diabetes history with the aim of comparing the material properties between DM patients with <10 and \geq 10 years of DM history; (iv) investigate the effect of continuous compression load on the material properties of heel pad.

Materials and methods

Inclusion of subjects

In accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and upon attaining the ethical approval from the Institutional Review Board of Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, 10 type II DM subjects and 10 age-matched healthy adult subjects were enrolled. The DM subjects fulfill the Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Type 2 Diabetes in China (2017 edition) (39). All subjects received their informed consent at the time before examination. All subjects had palpable pulse at their dorsalis pedis and posterior tibial arteries. Participants with pathological conditions other than diabetes that could affect the properties of heel pad, including heel pain, rheumatoid arthritis, foot deformity, dysvascula of foot, history of foot surgery, and trauma of foot, were excluded. Each subject received CT scan on foot before the experiment, for building models of calcaneus that were used in 2D-3D registration with Mimics Medical 21.0 (Materialize, Belgium).

Instrumentation and experiment design

A diagram of the equipment is presented in Figure 1A. Two C-arm fluoroscopes (BV Pulsera, Phillips Medical, USA) placed orthogonally were utilized for capturing the *in vivo* compressive strain of the heel pad, with pre-set frame rate of 50 Hz, resolution of 1024×1024 pixels and beam energy setting of 75kV•40mA. At beginning of the experiment, a single cubic and a pair of retiform custom-made calibrators were used for obtaining calibration images, which were then used for calibrating the distortions of fluoroscopies before model-image registration. At the same time, a dynamic foot-ground contact pressure-test plate (zebris PDM-XS, 570*400*15mm, Germany) was embedded in the custom gait platform (with length of 3.5m and width of 0.8m) to continuously record the evolution of compressive pressure.

A cube calibrator and a pair of retiform calibrators matching the biplane were placed at the intersection of the two fluorescent projections, and placed on the two receivers of the fluoroscopes, respectively. Following gathering of the calibration images with the aid of software XMAlab (https://bitbucket.org/xromm/ xmalab/), subjects were trained to walk barefooted on the gait platform with the aid and protection of researchers, until they could locomote deftly and stably without any aid. To eliminate the impact of strain rate on the material properties of heel fat pad, the subjects were required to move with an approximate gait velocity of 1.0 m/s by visual inspection. A "two-step" gait cycle was performed for all subjects, with the second step striking at a marked position on the force plate with the heel to maintain the location of the tested foot to be in the view of fluoroscopes. Both the left and right heels were measured using the identical procedures. After all subjects were familiar with the experiment procedure, their foots were kept in relaxation and free of load for one hour. Then, the subjects were taken back to test the timezero (i.e., the status without continuous loading on the heel pad) material properties. Next, with the aim of investigating the impact of loading history on material properties, the subjects were required to keep their foots on continuous loading by sustaining standing or roaming in the laboratory room for 15 minutes, after which the material properties of the heel pad were measured.

Data processing

The data obtained by DFIS were handled with software Rhinoceros 5.0 (Robert McNeel & Associates, Washington,



USA), to get the time-dependent strain rate of heel pad. The time-matched data recorded by contact force plate were exported as xml file to calculate the heel-ground contact stress. As shown in Figure 1B, the thickness of the heel pad was measured on each continuous frame, to figure out the perpendicular distance between the ground and the base of the calcaneus. The "primary thickness" was defined as the thickness measured on the frame where skin of heel initially contacts with force plate. Strain (\mathcal{E}_c) was change in thickness divided by primary thickness. Stress (6c) was defined as heelground contact force of heel area divided by acreage in each frame. Stress-strain curve, depicting a cycle of loading and unloading process of heel pad, was then generated using strain values and stress values matched according to time points. A case of stress-strain curve is shown in Figure 1C. The "peak stress" and "peak strain" were defined as the stress and strain at the most right point in stress-strain curve. The stress-strain data of each foot were fitted to the Kelvin-Voigt model ($\delta_c = -E_c - \eta \mathcal{E}_c \dot{\varepsilon}_c$), and the Young's modulus (E) and viscous modulus (η) were obtained according to the least squares method (Figure 1D). The energy dissipation was defined as the area in the hysteresis loop bounded by the loading and unloading curves, and the EDR was expressed as the ratio of energy dissipation and the area under the loading curve.

Statistical analyses

Continuous variables were presented as mean \pm SD (standard deviation) in case of meeting the normality distribution, or presented as median and range in case of not

meeting normality distribution. Age and BMI between healthy and diabetes groups were compared with student-t test as fulfilling the normality and homoscedasticity.

When comparing the material properties (time zero, following continuous loading, and difference between two statuses) between healthy adults and DM patients, student-t test (meet the normal distribution and homoscedasticity assumptions), Welch-t test (meet the normal distribution and but not homoscedasticity) or Wilcoxon rank sum test (not meet the normal distribution assumption) were selected for statistical analyses. When comparing the material properties (healthy adults and DM patients) between two loading statuses, pairedt test (difference between two statuses must meet normal distribution) or paired-Wilcoxon test (difference between two statuses not meet normal distribution) were selected for statistical analyses.

Subgroup analysis was performed according to the diabetes history, including the groups with diabetes course of <10 years and \geq 10 years. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA, meet the normal distribution and homoscedasticity assumptions), Brown-Forsythe test (meet the normal distribution and but not homoscedasticity), or Kruskal-Wallis test (H test, not meet the normal distribution assumption) were performed to compare the difference among healthy group and two diabetes groups. After that, post hoc analyses, including SNK-q (for ANOVA), Tamhane's T2 (for Brown-Forsythe test) and Dunn's (for H test) tests were selected to conduct pair-wise comparison for the three groups. For the two subgroups of diabetes subjects and the subgroups of left and right legs, the material properties at time-zero and following continuous loading were compared with paired-t test (difference between two statuses meet normal distribution) or paired-Wilcoxon test (difference between two statuses not meet normal distribution) were selected for statistical analyses.

In healthy adults, correlation matrices were generated for properties measured at time zero and following continuous loading, and for the differences of properties measured at two statuses. In diabetes subjects, correlation matrices were generated for properties measured at time zero and following continuous loading, and for the differences of properties measured at two statuses, with subgroup analysis for the length of diabetes course (either <10 or \geq 10 years). Pearson's correlation analysis was used to detect the correlation between continuous variables in matrices, and correlation efficient (R) was calculated to depict the magnitude of the correlativity.

The above statistical analyses were conducted with R version 4.0.5 (Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). Significance level was defined as p value of less than 0.050. The normality test and homogeneity test of variances were conducted with Shapiro-Wilk test (W test, p<0.05 indicates significant non-

normality) and modified Bartlett's test (p<0.05 indicates significant non-homoscedasticity).

Results

Baseline characteristics

The baseline characteristics of the enrolled patients are available in Table 1. A total of 10 type II DM subjects (9 male and 1 female, 20 legs), aged from 59 to 73 (average: 67.8 ± 4.9), and 10 age-matched healthy adult subjects (9 male and 1 female, 20 legs), aged from 59 to 72 (average: 64.4 ± 3.4), were enrolled. The median value of the length of diabetes course was 9.5 (range: 2~25) years in diabetes group, with five subjects have a diabetes history of <10 years (mean: 4.8 ± 2.8 years) and five \geq 10 years (mean: 16.2 ± 5.9 years). No significant difference was presented for age (t=1.80, p=0.088) and BMI (t=0.43, p=0.676) between healthy group and diabetes group. Between the subgroups with diabetes courses of <10 and \geq 10 years, similar age (t=0.122, p=0.906) and BMI (t=0.11, p=0.917) were demonstrated.

Impact of diabetes and loading history on material properties of heel pad

Using the DFIS incorporated with force plate, timedependent strain and stress applied to heel pad were concurrently obtained. The summaries of the material properties of heel pad, including the mean/median values of properties at time zero and following continuous loading and the differences between two loading statuses, are presented in Table 2. Figure 2 shows the rain-cloud plot depicting the material properties of heel pad in healthy and diabetes subjects. Diabetes history was demonstrated to be associated with significantly lower primary thickness (Figure 2A, t=3.18, p=0.003**), higher peak strain (Figure 2B, t=2.41, p=0.021*), lower stiffness (Figure 2D, w=283, p=0.024*) and lower viscous modulus (Figure 2E, w=331, p<0.001***) at time zero, and significantly lower primary thickness (Figure 2A, t=3.30, p=0.002**), higher peak strain (Figure 2B, w=120, p=0.031*) and lower viscous modulus (Figure 2E, t=3.42, p=0.002**) following continuous loading. The continuous loading history was found to be associated with significantly lower primary thickness (Figure 2A, paired-w=204, p<0.001***) and viscous modulus (Figure 2E, paired-t=5.45, p<0.001***) in healthy adults, and significantly lower primary thickness (Figure 2A, paired-w=206, p<0.001***) and viscous modulus (Figure 2E, paired-t=7.47, p<0.001***) in diabetes group. There was no any significant difference when comparing the difference of material properties between two groups of subjects.

Variables	Normal group (n=10)		Diabetic foot gro	oup	p value (normal vs. whole diabetic foot)	p value (diabetes history <10y vs. diabetes history ≥10y)
		Whole group (n=10)	Diabetes history (<10 y, n=5)	Diabetes history (≥10 y, n=5)		
Age	64.4±3.4	67.8±4.9	67.6±3.7	72 (range: 59~73) [#]	T=1.80, p=0.088	T=0.122, p=0.906
BMI	24.1±2.2	24.7±3.9	25.4±3.5	25.1±4.3	T=0.43, p=0.676	T=0.11, p=0.917
Length of diabetes history	NA	9.5 (range: 2~25) [#]	4.8±2.8	16.2±5.9	NA	NA
Sex						
Male-n(%)	9	9	4	5	NA	NA
Female-n(%)	1	1	1	0		

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the enrolled patients.

*data are presented with the median values as well as the minimum-to-maximum ranges, as they don't follow a normal distribution. NA, not applicable; BMI, body mass index.

Subgroup analyses basing on course of diabetes and side of leg

Subgroup analyses were performed basing on length of diabetes course (<10 and \geq 10 years, marked as diabetes A and diabetes B groups respectively), and the rain-cloud plot is available in Figure 3. Generally, significantly different primary thickness (Figure 3A, ANOVA: F=5.81, p=0.006**; ANOVA:

F=5.68, p=0.007**), and viscous modulus (Figure 3E, Kruskal-Wallis: H=14.05, p<0.001***; ANOVA: F=6.17, p=0.005**) were demonstrated both at time zero and following continuous loading. *Post hoc* analyses demonstrated significantly higher primary thickness (Figure 3A, time zero: SNK, p=0.014*/ p=0.027*; following continuous loading: SNK, p=0.029*/ p=0.038*) and viscous modulus (Figure 3E, time zero: Dunn's, p=0.001**/p=0.048*; following continuous loading: SNK,

TABLE 2 Summaries of the material properties of plantar soft tissue at heels of normal adults and adults with diabetic foot.

Properties	Normal group (n=20)	Diabetic foot group			
		Whole group (n=20)	Diabetes history (<10 y, n=10)	Diabetes history (≥10 y, n=10)	
Time zero					
-Primary thickness (mm)	14.85±2.81	12.25±2.34	12.69±2.16	12.54±2.62	
-Peak strain (%)	52.30±10.09	60.65±11.73	58.80±10.44	62.50±13.18	
-Peak stress (kPa)	144.80±25.56	138.95±31.93	135.70±35.40	142.20±29.59	
-Young's modulus (kPa)	265.50 (range: 154.79~306.28) [#]	214.39±48.04	206.50±43.08	221.30±53.69	
-Viscous modulus (kPa•s)	66.59 (range: 36.70~137.97) [#]	42.28±18.93	36.20±14.37	47.60±21.74	
-EDR (%)	19.45±13.49	19.05±10.29	18.00±8.35	20.10±12.30	
Following continuous loading					
-Primary thickness (mm)	14.55±2.74	11.95±2.21	11.90±2.13	12.00±2.40	
-Peak strain (%)	51.55 (range: 41.09~71.85)#	58.61 (range: 40.64~92.92)#	57.23±8.72	58.96 (range: 48.12~92.92) [#]	
-Peak stress (kPa)	153.74 (range: 90.80~178.55)#	141.82±30.95	138.10±32.63	144.60±30.71	
-Young's modulus (kPa)	236.40±47.21	209.95±49.04	204.60±34.58	215.30±61.79	
-Viscous modulus (kPa•s)	46.30±19.99	26.45±16.55	23.10±11.12	29.80±20.72	
-EDR (%)	16.00±10.23	14.44 (range: 1.20~47.52) [#]	14.20±8.28	21.30±14.41	
Difference between time-zero a	nd continuously loaded heel pads				
-Primary thickness (mm)	0.19 (range: -0.06~2.80) [#]	0.13 (range: -0.02~2.33)#	0.17 (range: 0.04~2.33) [#]	0.09±0.11	
-Peak strain (%)	0.39±3.57	1.57 (range: -19.53~10.65) [#]	2.36±5.79	1.11 (range: -19.53~6.99) [#]	
-Peak stress (kPa)	0.80±25.41	-2.35±30.72	-2.22±38.40	-2.48±23.86	
-Young's modulus (kPa)	10.75±25.97	3.95±31.48	1.86±33.37	6.25±31.84	
-Viscous modulus (kPa•s)	19.85±16.72	15.00±9.23	12.92±9.89	17.72±8.71	
-EDR (%)	3.59±17.83	5.10 (range: -19.56~12.48) [#]	3.98±8.74	-1.10±10.88	

[#]data are presented with the median values as well as the minimum-to-maximum ranges, as they don't follow a normal distribution.



the difference between two loading statuses didn't follow the normal distribution; +, meet the homoscedasticity assumption; -, didn't meet the homoscedasticity assumption. "t", "t", and "w" represent the statistical effect sizes for T test, Welch's T test, and Wilcoxon test, respectively. Error bar represents the mean value and standard deviation; box plot represent the median value and quartiles. EDR= energy dissipation rate. *, p<0.050; **p<0.010; **p<0.001.

p=0.010*/p=0.034*) both at time zero and following continuous loading, for healthy subjects when compared with diabetes A and diabetes B groups. When comparing the material properties between two loading statuses, the continuous loading was found to be associated with significantly lower primary thickness (Figure 3A, healthy adults: paired-w=55, p=0.002**; diabetes subjects: paired-w=51, p=0.014*) and viscous modulus (Figure 3E, healthy adults: paired-t=4.32, p=0.002**; diabetes subjects: paired-t=6.45, p<0.001***) both for healthy adults and diabetes subjects. No any significant difference was found when comparing the difference of material properties among three subgroups of subjects.

The rain-cloud plot depicting the subgroup analysis comparing the material properties of left and right sides is available in Supplementary Figure 1. The material properties at time zero (A-F) and following continuous loading (G-L) were compared, and no any significant difference was detected between two groups.

Correlation analysis for material properties of heel pad

The correlation matrices for BMI, age, and the properties of heel in healthy adults at time zero and following continuous loading are available in Figures 4, 5, respectively. As a result, at time zero, primary thickness was shown to be significantly correlated with BMI (R=0.509, p<0.050*) and age (R=-0.505, p<0.050*); peak strain was significantly correlated with age (R=0.467, p<0.050*) and primary thickness (R=-0.827, p<0.001***); stiffness was significantly correlated with BMI (R=0.524, p<0.050*), primary thickness (R=0.589, p<0.010**), peak strain (R=0.-0.633, p<0.010**) and peak stress (R=0.534, p<0.050*); viscous modulus was significantly correlated with primary thickness (R=0.468, p<0.050*), peak strain (R=-0.468, p<0.050*) and stiffness (R=0.600, p<0.010**). Following continuous loading, primary thickness was shown to be significantly correlated with BMI (R=0.462, p<0.050*) and age



⁽R=-0.471, p<0.050*); peak strain was significantly correlated with age (R=0.521, p<0.050*) and primary thickness (R=-0.705, p<0.001***); peak stress was significantly correlated with BMI (R=0.540, p<0.050*); stiffness was significantly correlated with BMI (R=0.592, p<0.010**), primary thickness (R=0.525, p<0.050*), peak strain (R=0.-0.497, p<0.050*) and peak stress (R=0.610, p<0.010*); viscous modulus was significantly correlated with primary thickness (R=0.629, p<0.010**), peak strain (R=-0.619, p<0.010**) and stiffness (R=0.601, p<0.010**); EDR was significantly correlated with viscous modulus (R=-0.521, p<0.050*).

The correlation matrices for length of diabetes course, BMI, age, and the properties of heel in diabetes subjects at time zero and following continuous loading are available in supplementary Figures 2, 3, respectively. The regression analysis results showed that the length of diabetes history was positively associated with the peak strain, at time zero (r=0.506, p<0.050) and following continuous loading (r=0.584, p<0.010). The correlation matrices for BMI, age, and the properties of heel in diabetes subjects at time zero and following continuous loading, with subgroup

analyses based on course of diabetes, are available in Figures 6, 7, respectively. At time zero, stiffness was significantly correlated with primary thickness (R=0.578, p<0.010**), peak stress (R=0.711, p<0.001***) and EDR (R=-0.473, p<0.050*); primary thickness was significantly correlated with viscous modulus (R=0.482, p<0.050*). Following continuous loading, stiffness was significantly correlated with primary thickness (R=0.648, p<0.010**), peak strain (R=-0.545, p<0.050*) and peak stress (R=0.607, p<0.010**); viscous modulus was significantly correlated with primary thickness (R=0.607, p<0.010**); viscous modulus was significantly correlated with primary thickness (R=0.570, p<0.010**), peak strain (R=-0.526, p<0.050*) and stiffness (R=0.661, p<0.010**).

Discussion

Main findings

In this study, using our previously reported novel method, further investigation of the material properties of heel pad in diabetes patients was conducted, with combination of the DFIS



The correlation matrix for time-zero BMI, age, primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus, and EDR of heel in healthy adults. The values displayed in the right-upper triangle represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients (R values). The lower-left triangle displays the scatter plots and regression lines. The plots on the diagonal line present the distribution density of the variables in the matrix. BMI: body mass index; EDR= energy dissipation rate. P values:.p<0.100, *p<0.050, **p<0.010, **p<0.001.

and force plate. The main findings of the current study include: (i) diabetes disease was associated with decreased primary thickness and viscous modulus, and increased peak strain both at time zero and following continuous loading; (ii) loading history (continuous weight-bearing) was related to decreased primary thickness and viscous modulus both for healthy adults and diabetes subjects; (iii) length of diabetes course has no obvious impact on the material properties of heel pad.



FIGURE 5

The correlation matrix for BMI, age, primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus, and EDR of heel in healthy adults following continuous loading. The values displayed in the right-upper triangle represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients (R values). The lower-left triangle displays the scatter plots and regression lines. The plots on the diagonal line present the distribution density of the variables in the matrix. BMI: body mass index; EDR= energy dissipation rate. P values:.p<0.100, *p<0.050, **p<0.010, **p<0.001.



FIGURE 6

The correlation matrix for time-zero BMI, age, primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus, and EDR of heel in diabetes subjects. The values displayed in the right-upper triangle represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients (R values). The lower-left triangle displays the scatter plots and regression lines. The plots on the diagonal line present the distribution density of the variables in the matrix. Subgroup analysis was conducted basing on the diabetes course (<10 years and \geq 10 years), and red colour represents subgroup of <10 years while cyan colour represents subgroup of \geq 10 years. BMI: body mass index; EDR= energy dissipation rate. P values:.p<0.100, *p<0.050, **p<0.010, ***p<0.001.

Material properties of heel pad in DM patients

The biomechanical changes in DM patients have been widely investigated with various methods (9, 28, 35, 40-46). However, it remains a difficulty to accurately measure the material properties of heel pad during normal gait with noninvasive approach. To replicate the stance phase of normal gait as far as possible, "two step method" was adopted in this study. Although "midgait method" has been widely used in the past, it is limited when applied for diabetes subjects, with the following considerations: (i) diabetic patients have difficulty on accurately reaching the relatively small force plate in a longer step due to impaired coordination caused by neuropathy and possibly associated visual impairment; (ii) many attempts are required to achieve an accurate measurement, which can lead to fatigue that changes the normal gait and testing results; (iii) extensive gait testing also increases the risk of plantar soft tissue damage in diabetic foot patients. McPOIL et al. (47) indicated that through 3~5 times of repeated tests, similar local peak pressure and pressure-time integration could be obtained using the "two-step method" as that measured by "mid-gait method". Additionally, the DFIS helps the researcher dynamically monitor the thickness change in a 3-dimensional perspective, which could also improve the precision of thickness measuring.

In diabetes patients, a series of chemical reactions would take place between reducing glucose and cellular proteins, which generates advanced glycation end products (AGEs) (48, 49). The accumulation of the AGEs is the major cause of pathophysiologic changes of diabetes tissue (22, 50). Many histomorphometric studies demonstrated thicker, and fragmented fibrous septa, and smaller adipocyte area and diameter in diabetic plantar tissue (10, 16, 17). In this study, we found decreased thickness in diabetes subjects both at time zero (12.25 \pm 2.34 mm vs. 14.85 \pm 2.81 mm) and following continuous loading (11.95 \pm 2.21 mm vs. 14.55 \pm 2.74 mm), compared with that of the healthy adults. It could be speculated that this phenomenon is caused by the atrophy of the adipose tissue and degeneration of septa that form the specific honeycomb structure. The peak strain was found to be significantly increased in diabetes patients in our results. This may also be related with the breaking of collagen bundles and fragmentation of elastin strands in septa, which provide elastic constraining force for the fatty chambers. Undoubtedly, the increased deformation during gait makes the heel pad more vulnerable to mechanical trauma and is associated with higher risk of ulceration. Thus, some authors have developed novel methods, such as 3D digital image correlation (3D-DIC) (51, 52), optical coherence tomography (OCT) (53), 3D scanning technology (54), multi-view stereoscopic technology (55) and motion capture system (56), to investigate the surface deformation and strain of plantar tissue. However, these instruments were primarily designed to recorded the surface displacement and strain, and cannot be used for investigating the viscoelastic mechanical characteristics for heel pad.

The cushioning ability of plantar soft tissue is largely depended on the tissue's viscoelastic characteristic. Thus, if the tissue losses the viscoelasticity due to the continuous accumulation of the AGEs, its capacity of absorbing the shock and uniformly distributing loads during weight bearing activity will be reduced (36). In the previous studies, stiffness has always been the mostly concerned material property of heel pad, and most of them demonstrated increased stiffness for plantar tissue of diabetes patients (9, 28, 35, 40-46). However, in our results, we detected minor decrease of stiffness in diabetes patients compared with that of healthy subjects at time zero, and similar stiffness was found following continuous loading. The slope of loading line in stress-strain curve represents the stiffness, according to modified Kelvin-Voigt viscoelastic model. Thus, the increased magnitude of strain in diabetes patients would be the cause of the decreased stiffness. The significantly negative correlation between stiffness and peak strain in Figures 4-7 could further verify this assumption. What's more, to eliminate the impact of the age, the subjects in healthy group were matched according to age. As a result, the age in healthy group was relatively older, which consequently would increase the stiffness of this group (57). It is of particular importance to evaluate the time-dependent behaviour (i.e., viscous properties) of heel fat pad, as it has been widely recognized as the major origin of the ability of shock absorption at heel strike (58). What's more, the modifications on viscous properties may be even more sensitive to pathological conditions, such as diabetes, than other commonly evaluated material properties (such as stiffness) (40). Using our novel system, in consequence, clinicians could easily obtain the viscous parameter to assist the diagnoses and interventions of pathological states at heel. In our results, we demonstrated significantly lower viscous modulus for diabetes patients both at time zero and following continuous loading. Thus, the change on viscous constant can be used as an instructive factor to predict the risk of ulceration., **3**

Loading history and diabetes course on material properties of heel pad

The history-dependent viscoelastic properties have been widely reported in other soft tissues (59–61). Sommer et al. (59) determined the biaxial extension and triaxial shear properties of the passive human ventricular myocardium, and found that under quasi-static and dynamic multiaxial loadings it is a nonlinear, anisotropic, viscoelastic and history-dependent soft biological material. This study showed clearly higher Cauchy stresses at the same stretch level, caused by history-dependent behaviour (strain softening). The similar strain softening behaviour was also observed during shearing whenever the shear level was increased. Weickenmeier et al. (60) performed



FIGURE 7

The correlation matrix for BMI, age, primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus, and EDR of heel in diabetes subjects following continuous loading. The values displayed in the right-upper triangle represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients (R values). The lower-left triangle displays the scatter plots and regression lines. The plots on the diagonal line present the distribution density of the variables in the matrix. Subgroup analysis was conducted basing on the diabetes course (<10 years and \geq 10 years), and red colour represents subgroup of <10 years. BMI: body mass index; EDR= energy dissipation rate. P values:.p<0.100, *p<0.050, **p<0.010.

a combined experimental and numerical investigation of the mechanical response of superficial facial tissues, and demonstrated location, time and loading history dependent material properties of the facial skin and superficial musculoaponeurotic system. In plantar soft tissue, unfortunately, to date the experiments observing the historydependent material properties are seldom available. In the present study, we investigated the impact of loading history (continuous weight bearing) on the material characteristics of heel pad, showing decreased primary thickness and viscous modulus both in healthy and diabetes groups. This phenomenon indicates that fatigue status would be related to lowered capacity of shock absorbing with the decreased viscosity, which in turn leads to higher vulnerability to injury and ulceration.

No any significant difference was found when subgroup analysis was perform based on length of diabetes course, however, the regression analysis demonstrated significant positive correlation bewteen the peak strain and length of diabetes history. In study of Sacco et al. (62), they also introduced obvious heterogeneity on the findings about biomechanical characteristics in diabetes, and they speculated that the inconsistent findings may be due to the divergent classification/grouping criteria adopted. Hence, material properties of heel pad in diabetes patients is not uniquely dependent on the length of diabetes course, but many other factors, such as diabetic polyneuropathy, history of ulceration (63) and blooding sugar value (35), should be taken into consideration at the same time. Concerning the impact of dominate leg on the material properties, Flanagan et al. (64) proposed that the dominate leg was related with decreased deformity than non-dominated leg, and speculated that the dominate legs of subjects may contributed to the differences between two legs. While in study of Ugbolue et al. (52), no significant different displacement was evident when comparing the non-dominant and dominant heels. The current study did not found significant differences on material properties between two sides. However, the predominate leg of the participants may be either the left or the right leg, which may cause potential bias on the results. Thus, future researches with large sample size focusing on the influence of dominate leg on heel pad properties is desired.

Limitations

This study, nevertheless, has some limitations that must be pointed out. Firstly, the strain rate applied to the heel pad has been widely proven to obviously impact the material properties of heel pad (14, 26, 28). While in the stance phase of gait, it is non-possible to precisely control the strain rate as that performed in *in-vitro* machine-based loading. To overcome this problem, subjects were trained prior to measurement to ensure an approximate gait velocity of 1.0 m/s. Then, with the aim of investigating the impacts of diabetes course and side of legs on the material properties, subgroup analyses were conducted. However, the sample sizes (10 legs) in the subgroups are relatively small, which may increase the risk of type II error. Thus, the results of the subgroup analyses should be interpreted with caution at this stage, and some future studies with larger sample size are required to further investigate the impact of diabetes course.

Conclusions

Utilizing the novel measurement approach, the material properties of heel pad in healthy and diabetes subjects were investigated, in the stance phase of normal gait. As a result, diabetes patients were found to be associated with decreased primary thickness and viscous modulus, and increased peak strain, which may contribute to the vulnerability of heel pad to injury and ulceration. Pre-compression history by continuous weight bearing could significantly lower the primary thickness and viscous modulus of heel pad. Thus, the fatigue status is a risk factor that decrease the cushioning ability of heel pad, which in turn causes ulceration. Among diabetes patients, the length of diabetes course could not be used as the single factor to predict the degree of degeneration, but multiple conditions in diabetes should be taken into consideration.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Huashan Hospital, Fudan University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

XGY, ZLT and XG: methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing-original draft, writing-reviewing and editing, and project administration. ZMZ, KW, RH and WMC: investigation, and data processing. CW, LC, CZ, JZH and XW: validation, writing-reviewing and editing. XG, and XM: project administration. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81902175 & 82172378) and the Shanghai Shen Kang Hospital Development Center (Award number(s): SHDC2020CR3071B). The sponsors or funders had no involvement in any part of this study. All authors confirmed the independence of researchers from funding sources.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the international diabetes federation diabetes atlas, 9th edition. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2019) 157:107843. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843

2. Manickum P, Mashamba-Thompson T, Naidoo R, Ramklass S, Madiba T. Knowledge and practice of diabetic foot care - a scoping review. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2021) 15:783–93. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2021.03.030

3. Tan MKH, Goodall R, Hughes W, Langridge B, Shalhoub J, Davies AH. A methodological assessment of diabetic foot syndrome clinical practice guidelines. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* (2020) 60:274–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2020.04.028

4. Singh N, Armstrong DG, Lipsky BA. Preventing foot ulcers in patients with diabetes. JAMA (2005) 293:217–28. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.2.217

5. Armstrong DG, Swerdlow MA, Armstrong AA, Conte MS, Padula WV, Bus SA. Five year mortality and direct costs of care for people with diabetic foot complications are comparable to cancer. *J Foot Ankle Res* (2020) 13:16. doi: 10.1186/s13047-020-00383-2

6. Kerr M, Barron E, Chadwick P, Evans T, Kong WM, Rayman G, et al. The cost of diabetic foot ulcers and amputations to the national health service in England. *Diabetes Med* (2019) 36(8):995–1002. doi: 10.1111/dme.13973

7. Van GH, Amouyal C, Bourron O, Aubert C, Carlier A, Mosbah H, et al. Diabetic foot ulcer management in a multidisciplinary foot centre: one-year healing, amputation and mortality rate. *J Wound Care* (2021) 30:S34–41. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2021.30.Sup6.S34

8. Cevera JJ, Bolton LL, Kerstein MD. Options for diabetic patients with chronic heel ulcers. *J Diabetes Complications* (1997) 11:358–66. doi: 10.1016/s1056-8727 (96)00125-0

9. Bus SA, Akkerman EM, Maas M. Changes in sub-calcaneal fat pad composition and their association with dynamic plantar foot pressure in people

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.894383/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Paired box plot comparing the material properties between left and right foots, before (A-F) and after (G-L) continuous loading. ##, the difference between two loading statuses follow the normal distribution; \$\$, the difference between two loading statuses didn't follow the normal distribution; "t" and "w" represent the statistical effect sizes for paired-T test, and paired-Wilcoxon test, respectively. EDR, energy dissipation rate.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

The correlation matrix for duration of diabetes history, BMI, age, primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus, and EDR of heel in diabetes subjects at time zero. The values displayed in the right-upper triangle represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients (R values). The lower-left triangle displays the scatter plots and regression lines. The plots on the diagonal line present the distribution density of the variables in the matrix. BMI: body mass index; EDR, energy dissipation rate. P values:.p<0.100, *p<0.050, **p<0.010, **p<0.001.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3

The correlation matrix for duration of diabetes history, BMI, age, primary thickness, peak strain, peak stress, stiffness, viscous modulus, and EDR of heel in diabetes subjects following continuous loading. The values displayed in the right-upper triangle represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients (R values). The lower-left triangle displays the scatter plots and regression lines. The plots on the diagonal line present the distribution density of the variables in the matrix. BMI: body mass index; EDR, energy dissipation rate. P values:.p<0.100, *p<0.050, **p<0.010, **p<0.001.

with diabetic neuropathy. Clin Biomech (Bristol Avon) (2021) 88:105441. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2021.105441

10. Buschmann WR, Jahss MH, Kummer F, Desai P, Gee RO, Ricci JL. Histology and histomorphometric analysis of the normal and atrophic heel fat pad. *Foot Ankle Int* (1995) 16:254–8. doi: 10.1177/107110079501 600502

11. Jahss MH, Michelson JD, Desai P, Kaye R, Kummer F, Buschman W, et al. Investigations into the fat pads of the sole of the foot: anatomy and histology. *Foot Ankle* (1992) 13:233–42. doi: 10.1177/107110079201300502

12. Jones FW. Structure and function as seen in the foot. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* (19492001) 391):3-6. doi: 10.1097/00003086-200110000-00002

13. Rome K. Mechanical properties of the heel pad: Current theory and review of the literature. *Foot* (1998) 8:179-85. doi: 10.1016/S0958-2592(98)90026-8

14. Ledoux WR, Blevins JJ. The compressive material properties of the plantar soft tissue. J Biomech (2007) 40:2975–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2007.02.009

15. Alcántara E, Forner A, Ferrús E, García AZ, Ramiro J. Influence of age, gender, and obesity on the mechanical properties of the heel pad under walking impact conditions. *J Appl Biomech* (2002) 18:345–56. doi: 10.1123/jab.18.4.345

16. Wang YN, Lee K, Shofer JB, Ledoux WR. Histomorphological and biochemical properties of plantar soft tissue in diabetes. *Foot (Edinb)* (2017) 33:1-6. doi: 10.1016/j.foot.2017.06.001

17. Wang YN, Lee K, Ledoux WR. Histomorphological evaluation of diabetic and non-diabetic plantar soft tissue. *Foot Ankle Int* (2011) 32:802–10. doi: 10.3113/FAI.2011.0802

18. Wearing SC, Smeathers JE, Yates B, Urry SR, Dubois P. Bulk compressive properties of the heel fat pad during walking: a pilot investigation in plantar heel pain. *Clin Biomech (Bristol Avon)* (2009) 24:397–402. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.01.002

19. Chanda A, Unnikrishnan V. Novel insole design for diabetic foot ulcer management. Proc Inst Mech Eng H (2018) 232:1182–95. doi: 10.1177/0954411918808330

20. Shalamberidze M, Sokhadze Z, Tatvidze M. The design of individual orthopedic insoles for the patients with diabetic foot using integral curves to describe the plantar over-pressure areas. *Comput Math Methods Med* (2021) 2021:9061241. doi: 10.1155/2021/9061241

21. Charanya G, Patil KM, Narayanamurthy VB, Parivalavan R, Visvanathan K. Effect of foot sole hardness, thickness and footwear on foot pressure distribution parameters in diabetic neuropathy. *Proc Inst Mech Eng H* (2004) 218:431–43. doi: 10.1243/0954411042632117

22. Cavanagh PR, Simoneau GG, Ulbrecht JS. Ulceration, unsteadiness, and uncertainty: the biomechanical consequences of diabetes mellitus. *J Biomech* (1993) 26 Suppl 1:23–40. doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(93)90077-r

23. Veves A, Van Ross ER, Boulton AJ. Foot pressure measurements in diabetic and nondiabetic amputees. *Diabetes Care* (1992) 15:905-7. doi: 10.2337/ diacare.15.7.905

24. Veves A, Murray HJ, Young MJ, Boulton AJ. The risk of foot ulceration in diabetic patients with high foot pressure: a prospective study. *Diabetologia* (1992) 35:660–3. doi: 10.1007/BF00400259

25. Healy A, Naemi R, Chockalingam N. The effectiveness of footwear as an intervention to prevent or to reduce biomechanical risk factors associated with diabetic foot ulceration: a systematic review. *J Diabetes Complications* (2013) 27:391–400. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.03.001

26. Negishi T, Ito K, Kamono A, Lee T, Ogihara N. Strain-rate dependence of viscous properties of the plantar soft tissue identified by a spherical indentation test. J Mech Behav BioMed Mater (2020) 102:103470. doi: 10.1016/j.jmbbm.2019.103470

27. Grigoriadis G, Newell N, Carpanen D, Christou A, Bull AMJ, Masouros SD. Material properties of the heel fat pad across strain rates. *J Mech Behav BioMed Mater* (2017) 65:398–407. doi: 10.1016/j.jmbbm.2016.09.003

28. Pai S, Ledoux WR. The compressive mechanical properties of diabetic and non-diabetic plantar soft tissue. *J Biomech* (2010) 43:1754–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.02.021

29. Kinoshita H, Francis PR, Murase T, Kawai S, Ogawa T. The mechanical properties of the heel pad in elderly adults. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* (1996) 73:404–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00334416

30. Bennett MB, Ker RF. The mechanical properties of the human subcalcaneal fat pad in compression. *J Anat* (1990) 171:131–8.

31. Aerts P, Ker RF, De Clercq D, Ilsley DW, Alexander RM. The mechanical properties of the human heel pad: a paradox resolved. *J Biomech* (1995) 28:1299–308. doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(95)00009-7

32. Suzuki R, Ito K, Lee T, Ogihara N. *In-vivo* viscous properties of the heel pad by stress-relaxation experiment based on a spherical indentation. *Med Eng Phys* (2017) 50:83–8. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2017.10.010

33. Aerts P, Ker RF, de Clercq D, Ilsley DW. The effects of isolation on the mechanics of the human heel pad. J Anat (1996) 188:417–23.

34. Mo F, Li J, Yang Z, Zhou S, Behr M. *In vivo* measurement of plantar tissue characteristics and its indication for foot modeling. *Ann BioMed Eng* (2019) 47:2356–71. doi: 10.1007/s10439-019-02314-0

35. Naemi R, Romero Gutierrez SE, Allan D, Flores G, Ormaechea J, Gutierrez E, et al. Diabetes status is associated with plantar soft tissue stiffness measured using ultrasound reverberant shear wave elastography approach. *J Diabetes Sci Technol* (2022) 16:478–90. doi: 10.1177/1932296820965259

36. De Clercq D, Aerts P, Kunnen M. The mechanical characteristics of the human heel pad during foot strike in running: an *in vivo* cineradiographic study. *J Biomech* (1994) 27:1213–22. doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(94)90275-5

37. Gefen A, Megido-Ravid M, Itzchak Y. *In vivo* biomechanical behavior of the human heel pad during the stance phase of gait. *J Biomech* (2001) 34:1661–5. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9290(01)00143-9

38. Teng ZL, Yang XG, Geng X, Gu YJ, Huang R, Chen WM, et al. Effect of loading history on material properties of human heel pad: an *In-vivo* pilot investigation during gait. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* (2022) 23:254. doi: 10.1186/s12891-022-05197-w

39. Chinese Elderly Type 2 Diabetes Prevention and Treatment of Clinical Guidelines Writing Group; Geriatric Endocrinology and Metabolism Branch of Chinese Geriatric Society; Geriatric Endocrinology and Metabolism Branch of Chinese Geriatric Health Care Society; Geriatric Professional Committee of Beijing Medical Award Foundation; National Clinical Medical Research Center for Geriatric Diseases (PLA General Hospital). Clinical guidelines for prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in the elderly in China (2022 edition). Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi (2022) 61:12-50. doi: 10.3760/cma.jcn112138-20211027-00751

40. Hsu TC, Lee YS, Shau YW. Biomechanics of the heel pad for type 2 diabetic patients. *Clin Biomech (Bristol Avon)* (2002) 17:291-6. doi: 10.1016/s0268-0033 (02)00018-9

41. Teoh JC, Lee T. Identification of potential plantar ulceration among diabetes patients using plantar soft tissue stiffness. J Mech Behav BioMed Mater (2020) 103:103567. doi: 10.1016/j.jmbbm.2019.103567

42. Hsu TC, Wang CL, Shau YW, Tang FT, Li KL, Chen CY. Altered heel-pad mechanical properties in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Med* (2000) 17:854–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2000.00394.x

43. Cheung YY, Doyley M, Miller TB, Kennedy F, Lynch FJr, Wrobel JS, et al. Magnetic resonance elastography of the plantar fat pads: Preliminary study in diabetic patients and asymptomatic volunteers. *J Comput Assist Tomogr* (2006) 30:321–6. doi: 10.1097/00004728-200603000-00031

44. Chatzistergos PE, Naemi R, Sundar L, Ramachandran A, Chockalingam N. The relationship between the mechanical properties of heel-pad and common clinical measures associated with foot ulcers in patients with diabetes. *J Diabetes Complications* (2014) 28:488–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.03.011

45. Chao CY, Zheng YP, Cheing GL. Epidermal thickness and biomechanical properties of plantar tissues in diabetic foot. *Ultrasound Med Biol* (2011) 37:1029–38. doi: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2011.04.004

46. Hsu CC, Tsai WC, Hsiao TY, Tseng FY, Shau YW, Wang CL, et al. Diabetic effects on microchambers and macrochambers tissue properties in human heel pads. *Clin Biomech (Bristol Avon (2009) 24:682–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.06.005*

47. McPoil TG, Cornwall MW, Dupuis L, Cornwell M. Variability of plantar pressure data. a comparison of the two-step and midgait methods. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc* (1999) 89:495–501. doi: 10.7547/87507315-89-10-495

48. Boyko EJ, Ahroni JH, Stensel V, Forsberg RC, Davignon DR, Smith DG. A prospective study of risk factors for diabetic foot ulcer. the Seattle diabetic foot study. *Diabetes Care* (1999) 22:1036–42. doi: 10.2337/diacare.22.7.1036

49. Ahmed N, Thornalley PJ. Advanced glycation endproducts: what is their relevance to diabetic complications? *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2007) 9:233–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2006.00595.x

50. Boucek P. Advanced diabetic neuropathy: A point of no return? Rev Diabetes Stud (2006) 3:143-50. doi: 10.1900/RDS.2006.3.143

51. Ugbolue UC, Yates EL, Wearing SC, Gu Y, Lam WK, Valentin S, et al. Sex differences in heel pad stiffness during *in vivo* loading and unloading. *J Anat* (2020) 237:520–8. doi: 10.1111/joa.13207

52. Ugbolue UC, Yates EL, Rowland KE, Wearing SC, Gu Y, Lam WK, et al. A novel simplified biomechanical assessment of the heel pad during foot plantarflexion. *Proc Inst Mech Eng H* (2021) 235:197–207. doi: 10.1177/0954411920971069

53. Maiti R, Gerhardt LC, Lee ZS, Byers RA, Woods D, Sanz-Herrera JA, et al. *In vivo* measurement of skin surface strain and sub-surface layer deformation induced by natural tissue stretching. *J Mech Behav BioMed Mater* (2016) 62:556–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jmbbm.2016.05.035

54. Thabet AK, Trucco E, Salvi J, Wang W, Abboud RJ. Dynamic 3D shape of the plantar surface of the foot using coded structured light: a technical report. *J Foot Ankle Res* (2014) 7:5. doi: 10.1186/1757-1146-7-5

55. Kimura M, Mochimaru M, Kanade T. Measurement of 3D foot shape deformation in motion. In: *Proceedings of the 5th ACM/IEEE international workshop on projector camera systems - PROCAMS* '08. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press (2008). p. 1.

56. Wessendorf AM, Newman DJ. Dynamic understanding of human-skin movement and strain-field analysis. *IEEE Trans BioMed Eng* (2012) 59:3432-8. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2012.2215859

57. Kwan RL, Zheng YP, Cheing GL. The effect of aging on the biomechanical properties of plantar soft tissues. *Clin Biomech (Bristol Avon)* (2010) 25:601–5. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2010.04.003

58. Jørgensen U. Achillodynia and loss of heel pad shock absorbency. Am J Sports Med (1985) 13:128–32. doi: 10.1177/036354658501300209

59. Sommer G, Schriefl AJ, Andrä M, Sacherer M, Viertler C, Wolinski H, et al. Biomechanical properties and microstructure of human ventricular myocardium. *Acta Biomater* (2015) 24:172–92. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2015.06.031

60. Weickenmeier J, Jabareen M, Mazza E. Suction based mechanical characterization of superficial facial soft tissues. *J Biomech* (2015) 48:4279-86. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2015.10.039

61. Bircher K, Ehret AE, Mazza E. Mechanical characteristics of bovine glisson's capsule as a model tissue for soft collagenous membranes. *J Biomech Eng* (2016) 138(8). doi: 10.1115/1.4033917

62. Sacco IC, Hamamoto AN, Tonicelli LM, Watari R, Ortega NR, Sartor CD. Abnormalities of plantar pressure distribution in early, intermediate, and late stages of diabetic neuropathy. *Gait Posture* (2014) 40:570–4. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.06.018

63. Naemi R, Chatzistergos P, Sundar L, Chockalingam N, Ramachandran A. Differences in the mechanical characteristics of plantar soft tissue between ulcerated and non-ulcerated foot. *J Diabetes Complications* (2016) 30:1293–9. doi: 10.1016/jjdiacomp.2016.06.003

64. Flanagan EP, Harrison AJ. Muscle dynamics differences between legs in healthy adults. J Strength Cond Res (2007) 21:67. doi: 10.1519/00124278-200702000-00013

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Charumathi Sabanayagam, Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

REVIEWED BY Chenlong Liao, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Ming-Hong Chang, National Chung Hsing University, Taiwan

*CORRESPONDENCE Jian-bin Su sujbzjx@163.com; sujbzjx@ntu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 27 April 2022 ACCEPTED 28 July 2022 PUBLISHED 23 August 2022

CITATION

Zhuang L, Yu C, Xu F, Zhao L-h, Wang X-h, Wang C-h, Ning L-y, Zhang X-l, Zhang D-m, Wang X-q and Su J-b (2022) Increased plasma D-dimer levels may be a promising indicator for diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:930271. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.930271

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhuang, Yu, Xu, Zhao, Wang, Wang, Ning, Zhang, Zhang, Wang and Su. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Increased plasma D-dimer levels may be a promising indicator for diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes

Lei Zhuang¹, Chao Yu², Feng Xu³, Li-hua Zhao³, Xiao-hua Wang³, Chun-hua Wang³, Li-yan Ning⁴, Xiu-lin Zhang², Dong-mei Zhang⁵, Xue-qin Wang³ and Jian-bin Su ^{3*}

¹Department of Endocrinology, Second People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China, ²Department of Clinical Laboratory, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University, and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China, ³Department of Endocrinology, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University, and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China, ⁴Department of Administration, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University, and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China, ⁵Medical Research Center, Affiliated Hospital 2 of Nantong University, and First People's Hospital of Nantong City, Nantong, China

Background: Increased plasma D-dimer levels have been reported to be associated with a range of adverse health outcomes. This study aimed to determine whether plasma D-dimer is connected to diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D).

Methods: This study was part of a series exploring the potential risks for DPN. All patients were questioned for neurologic symptoms, examined for neurologic signs, and received nerve conduction studies to collect nerve action potential onset latency, amplitude, and nerve conduction velocity (NCV). Composite *Z* scores of latency, amplitude, and NCV were calculated. DPN was confirmed as both at least a neurologic symptom/sign and an abnormality of nerve conduction studies. Coagulation function indices, such as plasma D-dimer levels, were also synchronously detected.

Results: We finally recruited 393 eligible patients for this study, of whom 24.7% (n = 97) were determined to have DPN. The plasma D-dimer level was found to be closely associated with the composite Z score of latency, amplitude, and NCV after adjusting for other coagulation function indices and clinical covariates (latency: $\beta = 0.134$, t = 2.299, p = 0.022; amplitude: $\beta = -0.138$, t = -2.286, p = 0.023; NCV: $\beta = -0.139$, t = -2.433, p = 0.016). Moreover, the prevalence of DPN in the first, second, third, and fourth quartiles (Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4) of the D-dimer level was 15.2%, 15.9%, 26.4%, and 42.7%, respectively (p for trend < 0.001). The corresponding adjusted odds ratios and 95% Cls for DPN in D-dimer quartiles were 1, 0.79 (0.21–2.99), 1.75 (0.49–6.26), and 5.17 (1.38–19.42), respectively. Furthermore, the optimal cutoff value of the plasma D-dimer level to discriminate DPN was ≥ 0.22 mg/L (sensitivity = 67.01%,

specificity = 58.78%, and Youden index = 0.26) after analysis by the receiver operating characteristic curve.

Conclusions: Increased plasma D-dimer levels may be a promising indicator for DPN in patients with T2D.

KEYWORDS

D-dimer, neuropathy, type 2 diabetes, risk, diagnosis

Introduction

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), a primary complication of diabetes, is the main facilitative factor for falls, fractures, foot ulcerations, and amputation (1, 2). Moreover, rather than a purely peripheral neuropathy, DPN is also associated with central nervous system structural alterations (such as reduction in cervical cord cross-sectional area and somatosensory cortex gray matter volume) (3, 4) and functional abnormalities (such as abnormal thalamocortical connectivity) (5). Hence, patients with DPN are more susceptible to suffer from disability, encounter a poor quality of life, and experience reduced psychosocial wellbeing (6, 7). The pathogenesis of DPN is not very clear, but it involves the interaction between multiple factors. Therefore, it is worthwhile to explore additional risk factors for DPN, which may help develop approaches to prevent or ameliorate DPN.

D-dimer is a degradation product from fibrinolysis, and its increment in plasma serves as a traditional biomarker of hypercoagulability (8). Plasma D-dimer levels were reported to be associated with an increased risk of coronary events (8), ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke (9, 10), cardiovascular disease (CVD)specific mortality, and cancer incidence and prognosis in the general population (11), let alone be indicative of venous thrombus formation (12). Moreover, increased plasma D-dimer levels were also documented to be partly responsible for angiopathic complications in patients with diabetes, such as microalbuminuria (13), renal dysfunction (14), diabetic retinopathy (15), atherosclerotic plaque (16), and poor cardiovascular outcomes (17). Furthermore, plasma D-dimer can be used to reflect the progressive nature of diabetes and cardiovascular complications (18). However, the relationship between plasma D-dimer and DPN in type 2 diabetes (T2D) has not been well studied. In light of the above, we hypothesized that increased plasma D-dimer levels may be a potential risk factor for DPN in T2D.

Therefore, we designed the present study to determine whether increased plasma D-dimer levels are connected to DPN in T2D.

Methods

Participant recruitment

This study was part of a series we designed to explore the potential risks for DPN. We recruited participants for the study from First People's Hospital of Nantong City and Second People's Hospital of Nantong City between November 2017 and December 2021. The inclusion criteria for participants were as follows: (1) between 20 and 80 years of age; (2) met the diagnostic criteria of T2D (2015 Edition, American Diabetes Association) (19); (3) normal coagulation function; (4) plasma D-dimer level < 2.0 mg/ L; and (5) voluntarily agreed to take part in the study. The exclusion criteria for participants were described below: (1) positive for insulin antibody; (2) thyroid hormonal abnormality; (3) history of cancer; (4) severe cardio-cerebral vascular diseases (e.g., myocardial infarction); (5) chronic kidney disease, and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) < 60 ml/min/1.73 m²; (6) acute or chronic infectious diseases; (7) autoimmune diseases; (8) connective tissue diseases; (9) use of drugs with side effects of neurotoxicity; (10) deficiencies of folate or vitamin B12; (11) spinal or foraminal stenosis; (12) neurodegenerative diseases; (13) inflammatory demyelinating neuropathies; (14) suffered from trauma in the last 3 months; (15) history of vascular interventional surgery; (16) use of anticoagulants or antiplatelet drugs in the last 3 months; (17) thrombotic diseases; and (18) coagulopathy and platelet

Abbreviations: T2D, type 2 diabetes; DPN, diabetic peripheral neuropathy; lnD-dimer, natural logarithm transformed D-dimer; NCV, nerve conduction velocity; SBP/DBP, systolic/diastolic blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; TZDs, thiozolindiones; AGIs, α -glucosidase inhibitors; DPP-4Is, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors; SGLT-2Is, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors; GLP-1RAs, glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; HDLC, highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol; LDLC, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; UA, uric acid; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin A1c; PT, prothrombin time; APTT, activated partial prothrombin time; MN, median nerve; UN, ulnar nerve; CPN, common peroneal nerve; PTN, posterior tibial nerve; SN, sural nerve; SPN, superficial peroneal nerve.

dysfunction. We finally recruited 393 eligible patients for this study. The study was initiated and academically supported by First People's Hospital of Nantong, so the study protocol was reviewed and approved by the First People's Hospital of Nantong. In addition, the processes of the study followed the Declaration of Helsinki, and all participants provided informed consent when recruited into the study.

Clinical data collection

Clinical data from all participants were collected by trained clinical staff. These data included age, sex, body mass index (BMI), systolic/diastolic blood pressure (SBP/DBP), diabetes duration, hypertension status, statin use, and antidiabetic treatments. Hypertension was identified as reported in our previous studies (20, 21). Antidiabetic treatments in our study were divided into nine categories: drug naïve, insulin, secretagogues, metformin, thiozolindiones (TZDs), α -glucosidase inhibitors (AGIs), dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors (DPP-4Is), sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors (SGLT-2Is), and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists (GIP-1RAs).

Plasma was isolated from blood specimens (stored by tubes with 3.2% sodium citrate solution) to detect coagulation function indices, such as international normalized ratio (INR), prothrombin time (PT), activated partial prothrombin time (APTT), fibrinogen, and D-dimer. PT, APTT, and fibrinogen were measured by the solidification method, and D-dimer was measured by the immunoturbidimetric method in a fully automated blood coagulation analyzer (CS5100, Sysmex, Japan). Serum was isolated from fasting blood samples to detect alanine aminotransferase (ALT), triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (TC), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDLC), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDLC), uric acid (UA), and C-peptide. Whole blood specimens were drawn to detect glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c). Plasma was also isolated to detect glucagon. Serum creatinine was also detected to calculate the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) using the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease equation (22).

Screening for DPN and nerve conduction studies

Screening for DPN was carried out as reported in our previous studies (20, 21, 23). Confirmation of DPN is dependent on both at least a neurologic symptom/sign and an abnormality of peripheral nerve conduction studies (24).

Neurological symptoms and signs were collected by detailed history taking and physical examinations. Neurologic symptoms included numbness, pain (such as tingling, stabbing, burning, shooting, and electrical shock pain), and paresthesia (such as abnormal cold or heat sensation, allodynia, and hyperalgesia), and neurologic signs were defined as reduced ankle reflexes or reduced distal sensation (such as touch sensation, thermal discrimination, nociception, vibration perception, equilibrioception, and proprioception).

Nerve conduction studies were implemented by an experienced neurological technician using an electromyogram (MEB-9200K, Nihon Kohden). The nerve conduction parameters included the onset latency, nerve action potential amplitude, and nerve conduction velocity (NCV). Motor nerve studies were conducted on two sides of the median nerve (MN), ulnar nerve (UN), common peroneal nerve (CPN), and posterior tibial nerve (PTN). Sensory nerve studies were conducted on the sides of the MN, UN, sural nerve (SN), and superficial peroneal nerve (SPN). Data of nerve latency, amplitude, and NCV were then *Z* score transformed. Furthermore, the composite *Z* score of latency was calculated by taking the average value of the latency *Z* score of all motor and sensory nerves of the upper and lower limbs, which was also described in our previous study (23). In the same way, the composite *Z* scores of amplitude and NCV were calculated.

Statistical analysis

We used SPSS for Windows (Version 25.0, IBM Corp.) to pool and analyze clinical data, and statistical significance was identified when the *p*-value < 0.05.

First, descriptive statistics were performed for all patients and four subgroups categorized by the quartiles of plasma Ddimer levels. Means and standard deviations were for normally distributed quantitative data, medians and interquartile ranges were for skew-distributed quantitative data, and frequencies and percentages were for qualitative data. To analyze the changes in trends of clinical data among the four subgroups, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with linear polynomial contrasts (*F* value), the Jonckheere–Terpstra test (standard *Z* value), and the chi-squared test with linear-by-linear association (χ^2 value) were used as appropriate. The plasma D-dimer level was skew-distributed and was natural-logarithm transformed (lnD-dimer) for further correlation and regression analysis.

Second, Pearson's correlation was used to assess univariate correlation between plasma D-dimer and nerve conduction indices. Moreover, given that HbA1c or fibrinogen may exert an effect on these correlations, partial correlation was used to adjust the effect of HbA1c or fibrinogen on these correlations.

Third, to determine the independent effects of plasma Ddimer on nerve conduction indices, we used multivariable linear regression analyses to control for other coagulation function indices and clinical covariates. Meanwhile, we used multivariable logistic regression analyses to determine unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for DPN in four subgroups of plasma D-dimer quartiles.

Finally, we used receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves to assess the diagnostic capability of plasma D-dimer to confirm DPN and to determine the optimal cutoff value of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN. HbA1c and plasma fibrinogen were wellestablished risk factors for DPN in our previous studies and other previous studies (21, 25, 26). To explore whether the predictive ability of plasma D-dimer is beyond traditional risk factors, we set a reference model including age, sex, diabetes duration, BMI, SBP, DBP, hypertension, statin treatment, ALT, lipid profiles, UA, eGFR, fasting C-peptide, fasting glucagon, PT, APTT, and antidiabetic treatments. Then, we used ROC analysis to compare the performance of the reference model adding D-dimer with the reference model alone, the reference model adding fibrinogen, and the reference model adding HbA1c (methods by DeLong et al.).

Results

Clinical features of recruited patients

The clinical features of all eligible patients are exhibited in Table 1. The range of plasma D-dimer levels of all patients was 0.10-1.65 mg/L, and those of the first, second, third, and fourth quartiles (Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4) were 0.10-0.14 mg/L, 0.15-0.22 mg/L, 0.23-0.45 mg/L, and 0.46-1.65 mg/L, respectively. In addition, with quartiles of ascending plasma D-dimer, age, SBP, diabetes duration, plasma fibrinogen, and PT were increased, while ALT, TC, LDLC, fasting C-peptide, and glucagon were decreased. However, sex distribution, DBP, hypertension history, statin use, TG, HDLC, UA, eGFR, HbA1c, and plasma APTT displayed no differences among the four subgroups. Regarding antidiabetic treatments, insulin use tended to increase plasma Ddimer within a certain range (p = 0.041), while SGLT-2Is use tended to decrease plasma D-dimer, but this failed to reach statistical significance (p = 0.052). However, drug naïve, uses of secretagogues, metformin, TZDs, AGIs, DPP-4Is, and GLP-1RAs were comparable among the four subgroups.

Correlations between plasma D-dimer and nerve conduction indices

With increasing quartiles of plasma D-dimer, the composite *Z* score of latency was increased, while the composite *Z* score of amplitude and NCV were markedly decreased (Table 1). Univariate correlation analysis demonstrated that the plasma D-dimer level was linked to the composite *Z* score of nerve latency, amplitude and NCV (r = 0.210, -0.209, and -0.270, respectively, p < 0.001) (Figure 1). After controlling for the potential effect of HbA1c on these correlations by partial correlation analysis, plasma D-dimer levels remained linked to composite *Z* scores of nerve latency, amplitude, and NCV (r = 0.188, -0.192, and -0.256, respectively, p < 0.001) (Figure 2). Meanwhile, after controlling for the potential effect of fibrinogen on these correlations, plasma D-dimer levels remained linked to

composite *Z* scores of nerve latency, amplitude and NCV (r = 0.170, -0.175, and -0.217, respectively, <math>p < 0.001) (Figure 3).

Moreover, we used multivariable linear regression analyses to determine the effects of plasma D-dimer on nerve conduction indices (Table 2). After gradually adjusting for other coagulation function indices and clinical covariates (from model 0 to model 4), plasma D-dimer levels remained independently associated with nerve conduction indices. The fully adjusted model 4 demonstrated that plasma D-dimer level was independently and positively related to the composite Z score of latency ($\beta = 0.134$, t = 2.299, p = 0.022) and was independently and negatively related to the composite Z score of amplitude ($\beta = -0.138$, t = -2.286, p = 0.023) and NCV ($\beta = -0.139$, t = -2.433, p = 0.016), respectively.

Risks for DPN at differential levels of plasma D-dimer quartiles

After DPN assessment, 24.7% (n = 97) of recruited patients were determined to have DPN. The prevalence of DPN in Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4 of the D-dimer level was 15.2%, 15.9%, 26.4%, and 42.7%, respectively (p for trend < 0.001). Moreover, the ORs and 95% CIs for DPN in Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4 of the D-dimer level were 1, 1.06 (0.50–2.25), 2.01 (0.98–4.12), and 4.18 (2.11–8.26), respectively (Table 3). Furthermore, after adjusting for other coagulation function indices and clinical covariates by multivariable logistic regression analyses, the corresponding ORs and 95% CIs for DPN in the Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4 plasma D-dimer quartiles were 1, 0.79 (0.21–2.99), 1.75 (0.49–6.26), and 5.17 (1.38–19.42), respectively (Table 3).

Potential capability of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN

Figure 4 exhibits the capability of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN after ROC curve analysis. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) of plasma D-dimer was 0.659 (95% CI: 0.610–0.706). Additionally, ROC analysis also determined that the optimal cutoff value of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN was \geq 0.22 mg/L, with a Youden index of 0.26, a sensitivity of 67.01%, and a specificity of 58.78%.

Performance of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN after adjustment for traditional risk factors

Moreover, to explore whether the predictive ability of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN is beyond traditional risk factors, we used ROC analysis to compare the performance of the reference model adding D-dimer with the reference model alone, the

Variables	Total	Quartiles of plasma D-dimer levels				Test statistic	p for trend
		Q1 Q2		Q3 Q4			
Plasma D-dimer (mg/L)	0.36 ± 0.32	0.11 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.02	0.32 ± 0.07	0.86 ± 0.28	_	-
(range)	(0.10–1.65)	(0.10 - 0.14)	(0.15-0.22)	(0.23-0.45)	(0.46–1.65)		
ln D-dimer	-1.33 ± 0.76	-2.18 ± 0.13	-1.69 ± 0.11	-1.16 ± 0.20	-0.20 ± 0.32	-	-
n	393	99	107	91	96	-	-
Age (years)	51.4 ± 8.9	49.3 ± 6.4	50.5 ± 8.9	53.2 ± 9.1	53.0 ± 10.4	11.767 ^a	0.001
Female, n (%)	157 (39.9)	39 (39.4)	40 (37.4)	33 (36.3)	45 (46.9)	0.938 ^c	0.333
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.1 ± 3.2	25.3 ± 3.0	25.4 ± 3.0	25.2 ± 3.4	24.5 ± 3.3	3.152 ^a	0.077
SBP (mmHg)	132.8 ± 16.3	129.9 ± 17.8	133.0 ± 15.4	133.2 ± 16.5	135.2 ± 15.4	4.849 ^a	0.028
DBP (mmHg)	79.7 ± 10.5	78.8 ± 9.9	81.7 ± 11.4	79.8 ± 9.1	78.1 ± 11.0	0.714 ^a	0.398
Diabetes duration (years)	5.0 (1.0-10.0)	5.0 (1.0-9.5)	4.0 (1.0-8.3)	8.0 (1.0-12.0)	7.5 (1.3–10.0)	2.486 ^b	0.013
Antidiabetic treatments							
Drug naive, n (%)	41 (10.4)	11 (11.1)	13 (12.1)	9 (9.9)	8 (8.3)	0.591 ^c	0.442
Insulin, n (%)	166 (42.2)	36 (3.4)	43 (40.2)	38 (41.8)	49 (51.0)	4.160 ^c	0.041
Secretagogues, n (%)	172 (43.8)	45 (45.5)	37 (34.6)	46 (50.5)	44 (45.8)	0.596 ^c	0.440
Metformin, n (%)	192 (48.9)	52 (52.5)	53 (49.5)	48 (52.7)	39 (40.6)	2.067 ^c	0.151
TZDs, n (%)	73 (18.6)	19 (19.2)	16 (15.0)	18 (19.9)	20 (20.8)	0.314 ^c	0.571
AGIs, n (%)	54 (13.7)	12 (12.1)	15 (14.0)	10 (11.0)	17 (17.7)	0.778 ^c	0.378
DPP-4Is, n (%)	60 (15.3)	18 (18.2)	19 (17.8)	12 (13.2)	11 (11.5)	2.311 ^c	0.128
SGLT-2Is, n (%)	16 (4.1)	7 (7.1)	5 (4.7)	2 (2.2)	2 (2.1)	3.774 ^c	0.052
GLP-1RAs, n (%)	31 (7.9)	6 (6.1)	8 (7.5)	6 (6.6)	11 (11.5)	1.577 ^c	0.209
Hypertension, n (%)	143 (36.4)	33 (33.3)	36 (33.6)	40 (44.0)	34 (35.4)	0.572 ^c	0.449
Statins uses, n (%)	117 (29.8)	28 (28.3)	23 (21.5)	34 (37.4)	32 (33.3)	2.266 ^c	0.132
ALT (U/L)	19 (13-28)	22 (13-28)	21 (14-31)	13 (20-29)	15 (11-22)	-2.738 ^b	0.006
TG (mmol/L)	1.64 (1.04–2.51)	1.73 (1.19–2.44)	1.72 (1.14–2.78)	1.61 (0.86–2.87)	1.45 (1.05–2.34)	-1.421 ^b	0.155
TC (mmol/L)	4.38 ± 0.96	4.52 ± 1.06	4.54 ± 0.85	4.17 ± 0.92	4.26 ± 0.98	6.575 ^a	0.011
HDLC (mmol/L)	1.17 ± 0.36	1.17 ± 0.28	1.18 ± 0.53	1.15 ± 0.29	1.18 ± 0.26	0.008 ^a	0.927
LDLC (mmol/L)	2.73 ± 0.85	2.87 ± 0.95	2.89 ± 0.74	2.50 ± 0.77	2.63 ± 0.87	7.840 ^a	0.005
UA (µmol/L)	298 ± 88	303 ± 101	299 ± 82	296 ± 79	294 ± 92	0.423 ^a	0.516
Fasting C-peptide (ng/ml)	1.44 (0.86–2.19)	1.73 (0.97–2.21)	1.62 (0.86–2.41)	1.37 (0.85–2.05)	1.14 (0.69–1.73)	-3.042 ^b	0.002
Fasting glucagon (pg/ml)	148.1 (113.3–202.0)	161.0 (115.1–208.6)	161.0 (119.1–222.5)	134.9 (111.8–210.2)	136.2 (111.8–177.5)	-2.180 ^b	0.029
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	120 ± 34	119 ± 29	125 ± 32	122 ± 44	114 ± 30	1.124 ^a	0.290
HbA1c (%)	8.09 ± 1.17	7.87 ± 1.10	8.12 ± 1.20	8.22 ± 1.26	8.15 ± 1.10	3.243 ^a	0.073
Plasma fibrinogen (g/L)	2.50 ± 0.78	2.22 ± 0.57	2.47 ± 0.56	2.54 ± 0.68	2.78 ± 0.85	33.037 ^a	< 0.001
Plasma PT (s)	11.36 ± 0.88	11.32 ± 1.00	11.10 ± 0.75	11.41 ± 0.89	11.65 ± 0.81	11.325 ^a	0.001
Plasma APTT (s)	29.46 ± 5.16	29.97 ± 5.58	28.73 ± 4.38	29.83 ± 5.71	29.41 ± 4.95	0.057 ^a	0.811
Composite Z score of latency	0.03 ± 0.61	-0.08 ± 0.57	-0.11 ± 0.55	0.06 ± 0.59	0.27 ± 0.68	20.255 ^a	< 0.001
Composite <i>Z</i> score of amplitude	-0.02 ± 0.67	0.19 ± 0.64	0.02 ± 0.58	-0.11 ± 0.70	-0.21 ± 0.67	20.598 ^a	< 0.001
Composite <i>Z</i> score of NCV	-0.03 ± 0.74	0.19 ± 0.67	0.13 ± 0.58	-0.11 ± 0.85	-0.34 ± 0.77	32.079 ^a	< 0.001
DPN, <i>n</i> (%)	97 (24.7)	15 (15.2)	17 (15.9)	24 (26.4)	41 (42.7)	22.855 ^c	< 0.001

TABLE 1 Clinical features of the recruited patients.

^aLinear polynomial contrasts of ANOVA (F value), ^bJonckheere–Terpstra test (Z value), and ^clinear-by-linear association of chi-squared test (χ^2 value) were performed as appropriate.

reference model adding fibrinogen, and the reference model adding HbA1c (Figure 5). After comparing the AUC for these models, we found that the performance of the reference model adding D-dimer to discriminate DPN was superior to that of the reference model

alone (Table 4). However, the performance of the reference model adding D-dimer, the reference model adding HbA1c, and the reference model adding fibrinogen was comparable to discriminate DPN (Table 4).



Discussion

DPN is extremely complex and debilitating due to its pathogenesis involving a complex interaction between multiple factors. We initiated a series to find additional risk factors for DPN. The present study aimed to determine whether plasma D- dimer is an independent risk factor for DPN in T2D. The primary contributions of the study are described as follows: first, plasma D-dimer was closely connected with the nerve action potential onset latency, amplitude, and conduction velocity, even after correcting for clinical covariates; second, the risk of DPN was estimated to be fivefold (OR 5.17, 95% CI:



FIGURE 2 Graphically exhibited correlations between D-dimer and nerve conduction indices after adjusting for HbA1c (A: composite Z score of latency; B: composite Z score of amplitude; C: composite Z score of NCV).



FIGURE 3

Graphically exhibited correlations between D-dimer and nerve conduction indices after adjusting for fibrinogen (A: composite Z score of latency; B: composite Z score of amplitude; C: composite Z score of NCV).

Models	B (95% CI)	β	t	p	Adjusted R ²
Composite Z score	of latency				
Model 0	0.169 (0.091 to 0.248)	0.210	4.234	< 0.001	0.044
Model 1	0.150 (0.077 to 0.223)	0.185	4.022	< 0.001	0.236
Model 2	0.149 (0.065 to 0.243)	0.183	3.478	0.001	0.400
Model 3	0.151 (0.065 to 0.237)	0.184	3.452	0.001	0.432
Model 4	0.109 (0.016 to 0.203)	0.134	2.299	0.022	0.443
Composite Z score	of amplitude				
Model 0	-0.182 (-0.267 to -0.097)	-0.209	-4.129	< 0.001	0.044
Model 1	-0138 (-0.217 to -0.059)	-0.158	-3.440	0.001	0.237
Model 2	-0.147 (-0.244 to -0.049)	-0.160	-2.970	0.003	0.368
Model 3	-0.134 (-0.233 to -0.035)	-0.147	-2.677	0.008	0.402
Model 4	-0.127 (-0.235 to -0.018)	-0.138	-2.286	0.023	0.405
Composite Z score	of NCV				
Model 0	-0.269 (-0.363 to -0.175)	-0.274	-5.639	< 0.001	0.075
Model 1	-0.234 (-0.325 to -0.143)	-0.239	-5.040	< 0.001	0.191
Model 2	-0.209 (-0.316 to -0.103)	-0.206	-3.888	< 0.001	0.389
Model 3	-0.186 (-0.293 to -0.079)	-0.183	-3.429	0.001	0.430
Model 4	-0.142 (-0.256 to -0.027)	-0.139	-2.433	0.016	0.461

TABLE 2 Impacts of plasma D-dimer on outcomes of nerve conduction indices by multivariable linear regression analysis.

D-dimer was natural logarithmically transformed for the regression analysis.Model 0: unadjusted.

Model 1: adjusted for age, sex, diabetic duration, BMI, SBP, DBP, hypertension and statins treatment.

Model 2: additionally adjusted for ALT, lipid profiles, UA, eGFR, HbA1c, fasting C-peptide and glucagon.

Model 3: additionally adjusted for antidiabetic treatments.

Model 4: additionally adjusted for plasma fibrinogen, PT and APTT.

1.38–19.42) higher in patients in the highest quartile of plasma D-dimer than in those in the lowest quartile; third, plasma D-dimer \geq 0.22 mg/L was the optimal cutoff value to discriminate DPN (sensitivity = 67.01%, specificity = 58.78%); fourth, compared to the well-established risk factors (reference model adding HbA1c and reference model adding plasma fibrinogen), we found that plasma D-dimer, HbA1c, and fibrinogen were comparable in the ability to discriminate DPN.

DPN incidence and progression result from the accumulation of a complex interaction of multiple cardiometabolic risk factors in the background of diabetes (27, 28). Previous well-conducted studies have shown that glucose burden is a central risk factor underlying the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy (25). Other risk factors have also been identified to play an important role in diabetic neuropathy, such as long-term diabetes, aging, abdominal obesity, hypertension, smoking, dyslipidemia (raised TG level and decreased HDLC level), hypoalbuminemia, and anemia (2, 29– 32). Of course, glucose burden is the most notable risk factor for DPN, and our previous series demonstrated that short-term glycemic fluctuation estimated by the mean amplitude of glycemic excursions (MAGE) (21) and plasma 1,5-anhydro-dglucitol (23) and long-term glycemic fluctuation estimated by HbA1c variability (20) were involved in DPN. Alongside an excessive glucose burden, a hypercoagulability state was also

TABLE 3	Risks for DPN a	t differential levels o	f plasma D-dimer	r quartiles (ORs [95% CIs]).
---------	-----------------	-------------------------	------------------	------------------------------

Models	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	p value for trend
n	99	107	91	96	-
DPN, n (%)	15 (15.2)	17 (15.9)	24 (26.4)	41 (42.7)	-
Model 0	1-reference	1.06 (0.50 to 2.25)	2.01 (0.98 to 4.12)	4.18 (2.11 to 8.26)	< 0.001
Model 1	1-reference	1.04 (0.48 to 2.25)	1.65 (0.78 to 3.50)	3.78 (1.86 to 7.70)	< 0.001
Model 2	1-reference	1.14 (0.34 to 3.79)	1.60 (0.50 to 5.18)	6.10 (1.98 to 18.84)	0.001
Model 3	1-reference	1.06 (0.30 to 3.78)	2.15 (0.62 to 7.43)	7.05 (2.10 to 23.63)	< 0.001
Model 4	1-reference	0.79 (0.21 to 2.99)	1.75 (0.49 to 6.26)	5.17 (1.38 to 19.42)	0.005

Model 0: unadjusted.

Model 1: adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, BMI, SBP, DBP, hypertension, and statin treatment.

Model 2: additionally adjusted for ALT, lipid profiles, UA, eGFR, HbA1c, fasting C-peptide, and glucagon.

Model 3: additionally adjusted for antidiabetic treatments.

Model 4: additionally adjusted for plasma fibrinogen, PT, and APTT.



found to take part in the vascular complications of diabetes (33). As a coagulation factor, an increased level of plasma fibrinogen was revealed to be closely related to DPN (26). In our present study, plasma D-dimer, a degradation product of fibrinogen, was found to be associated with DPN. We also found that plasma D-dimer, HbA1c, and fibrinogen were comparable in their ability to indicate DPN.

Increased plasma D-dimer levels not only can predict a range of adverse health outcomes in the general population (11, 34) but also can partly account for metabolic diseases and vascular complications with a background of insulin resistance. When compared to the healthy controls, the level of plasma D-dimer was obviously elevated in the first-degree relatives of T2D (35), prediabetes (18), gestational hypertension (36), polycystic ovary syndrome (37), and metabolic syndrome (38), let alone in overt T2D. Moreover, plasma D-dimer was observed to be independently associated with inflammatory cytokines (39), oxidized LDL (40), poor glycemic control (hyperglycemia, glycemic variability, and hypoglycemia) (41-43), diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy (14, 15), and CVD (17) in patients with T2D. In addition, plasma D-dimer levels were also increased in parallel with the differential stages from family history of diabetes to prediabetes to T2D with CVD

complications (18), which suggested that plasma D-dimer could be applied to indicate the progressive nature of diabetes and diabetes-related complications. Furthermore, in our present study, increased plasma D-dimer levels were revealed to be associated with increased nerve action potential onset latency and decreased nerve amplitude and NCV in T2D. In addition, patients in the highest quartile of plasma D-dimer presented with a fivefold higher DPN risk than those in the lowest quartile. We also calculated that plasma D-dimer ≥ 0.22 mg/L was the optimal cutoff value to discriminate DPN, with a sensitivity of 67.01% and a specificity of 58.78%. Our study added evidence to support increased plasma D-dimer in the pathogenesis of diabetic microvascular complications.

Several underlying mechanisms may explain the correlation of increased plasma D-dimer with DPN in T2D. In the context of T2D, hyperglycemic exposure and dyslipidemia together with microvascular disease trigger detrimental downstream oxidative stress (44), mitochondrial damage, and inflammation in peripheral neurons, glial cells, and vascular endothelial cells, all of which may result in impaired nerve function and neuropathy (27, 28). Increased plasma D-dimer reflects a hypercoagulability state (45), which may potentiate microvascular disease and endothelial dysfunction, leading to



subsequent insufficient neural blood flow, endoneurial hypoxia, and neuronal damage (28, 33). Plasma D-dimer is also a thromboinflammatory factor (45). A previous study showed that D-dimer can stimulate monocytes *in vitro* to release inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-1 β and IL-6), which indicates that D-dimer may facilitate localized coagulation (46). Moreover, increased plasma D-dimer was also found to be independently associated with an inflammatory state (assessed by IL-6) and dyslipidemia in T2D (39, 40), which could contribute to nerve dysfunction and neuropathy. Furthermore, increased plasma D-dimer was also a marker of psychosocial distress (47, 48), which has been shown to participate in the maladaptations of the peripheral and central nervous systems (49, 50).

The present study should be addressed in light of a few limitations. First, our study was cross-sectionally conducted and may not conclude a causal relationship between elevated plasma D-dimer and DPN. We need a longitudinal study to compensate for this defect. Second, we did not find a relationship between increased plasma D-dimer and the severity of DPN evaluated by the Michigan neuropathy screening instrument (MNSI). The possible causes are that the sample size is small (97 cases with DPN), and the MNSI tends to be influenced by subjective factors. Third, the duration of DPN was difficult to clearly define, so the

TABLE 4 Performance of plasma D-dimer to discriminate DPN after adjustment for traditional risk factors.

Models	AUC (95% CI)	AUC differences (95% CI)	Z for AUC differences	<i>p</i> for AUC differences
Reference model + D-dimer	0.786 (0.742 to 0.825)	-		
Reference model	0.754 (0.708 to 0.795)	$0.0324 \ (0.0008 \ to \ 0.0640)^{a}$	2.010	0.041
Reference model + fibrinogen	0.767 (0.722 to 0.808)	0.0193 (-0.0095 to 0.0482) ^b	1.313	0.189
Reference model + HbA1c	0.802 (0.759 to 0.841)	$0.0164 \ (-0.0316 \ \text{to} \ 0.0644)^{c}$	0.670	0.503

The reference model includes age, sex, diabetes duration, BMI, SBP, DBP, hypertension, statin treatment, ALT, lipid profiles, UA, eGFR, fasting C-peptide, fasting glucagon, PT, APTT, and antidiabetic treatments.

^aReference model + D-dimer vs. reference model.

^bReference model + D-dimer vs. reference model + fibrinogen.

^cReference model + D-dimer vs. reference model + HbA1c.

data were not presented and analyzed in our study. Fourth, plasma D-dimer levels were determined by one sampling. However, the plasma D-dimer level could fluctuate during the course of T2D and might be affected by antidiabetic medications. It would be more convincing to present the average data of plasma D-dimer collected within weeks or months. Fifth, the level of plasma D-dimer can be affected by hypoglycemia (43), and we did not assess the effect of hypoglycemic events on the relationship between plasma D-dimer and DPN. Sixth, our results may be affected by the heterogeneities of T2D patients who received multiple antidiabetic agents. We tried our best to compensate for this limitation by adjusting for antidiabetic agents during the statistical analysis.

Conclusion

In summary, increased plasma D-dimer levels were closely connected to dysfunction of peripheral nerve conduction and prevalence of DPN in T2D and could serve as a promising indicator for DPN in T2D.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by First People's Hospital of Nantong. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

1. Vinik A, Ullal J, Parson HK, Casellini CM. Diabetic neuropathies: Clinical manifestations and current treatment options. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 2(5):269–81. doi: 10.1038/ncpendmet0142

2. Selvarajah D, Kar D, Khunti K, Davies MJ, Scott AR, Walker J, et al. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy: Advances in diagnosis and strategies for screening and early intervention. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2019) 7(12):938–48. doi: 10.1016/s2213-8587(19)30081-6

3. Eaton SE, Harris ND, Rajbhandari SM, Greenwood P, Wilkinson ID, Ward JD, et al. Spinal-cord involvement in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Lancet* (2001) 358(9275):35–6. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(00)05268-5

4. Selvarajah D, Wilkinson ID, Maxwell M, Davies J, Sankar A, Boland E, et al. Magnetic resonance neuroimaging study of brain structural differences in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(6):1681–8. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2610

5. Selvarajah D, Wilkinson ID, Emery CJ, Shaw PJ, Griffiths PD, Gandhi R, et al. Thalamic neuronal dysfunction and chronic sensorimotor distal symmetrical polyneuropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* (2008) 51 (11):2088–92. doi: 10.1007/s00125-008-1139-0

Author contributions

J-bS and X-qW initiated and acquired funding for the series; LZ, CY, and J-bS designed this study; D-mZ coordinated and supervised the study; CY, LZ, FX, L-hZ, X-hW, C-hW, L-yN, and X-lZ recruited patients and collected the data; LZ, CY, and J-bS analyzed the data and interpreted the results; LZ and CY drafted the manuscript; all authors read, modified, and approved the manuscript.

Funding

The study was funded by Social Development Projects of Nantong (MS22015065, MS12019019, HS2020005, and JC2020045), the Medical Research Project of Nantong Health Commission (MB2020029), and the Medical Research Project of Jiangsu Health Commission (QNRC2016408).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Vinik AI, Nevoret ML, Casellini C, Parson H. Diabetic neuropathy. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2013) 42(4):747–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2013.06.001

7. Davies M, Brophy S, Williams R, Taylor A. The prevalence, severity, and impact of painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29(7):1518–22. doi: 10.2337/dc05-2228

8. Moss AJ, Goldstein RE, Marder VJ, Sparks CE, Oakes D, Greenberg H, et al. Thrombogenic factors and recurrent coronary events. *Circulation* (1999) 99 (19):2517–22. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.99.19.2517

9. Johansson K, Jansson JH, Johansson L, Wiklund PG, Nilsson TK, Lind M. Ddimer is associated with first-ever intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2018) 49 (9):2034–9. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.118.021751

10. Matsumoto M, Sakaguchi M, Okazaki S, Furukado S, Tagaya M, Etani H, et al. Relationship between plasma (D)-dimer level and cerebral infarction volume in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2013) 35(1):64–72. doi: 10.1159/000345336

11. Simes J, Robledo KP, White HD, Espinoza D, Stewart RA, Sullivan DR, et al. D-dimer predicts long-term cause-specific mortality, cardiovascular events, and

cancer in patients with stable coronary heart disease: LIPID study. Circulation (2018) 138(7):712–23. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.117.029901

12. Cheng X, Zhang L, Xie NC, Ma YQ, Lian YJ. High plasma levels of d-dimer are independently associated with a heightened risk of deep vein thrombosis in patients with intracerebral hemorrhage. *Mol Neurobiol* (2016) 53(8):5671–8. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9487-5

13. Wakabayashi I, Masuda H. Association of d-dimer with microalbuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* (2009) 27(1):29–35. doi: 10.1007/s11239-007-0155-0

14. Domingueti CP, Dusse LM, Fóscolo RB, Reis JS, Annichino-Bizzacchi JM, Orsi FL, et al. Von Willebrand factor, ADAMTS13 and d-dimer are correlated with different levels of nephropathy in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7): e0132784. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132784

15. Zhao H, Zhang LD, Liu LF, Li CQ, Song WL, Pang YY, et al. Blood levels of glycated hemoglobin, d-dimer, and fibrinogen in diabetic retinopathy. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2021) 14:2483–8. doi: 10.2147/dmso.S309068

16. Krupinski J, Turu MM, Font MA, Ahmed N, Sullivan M, Rubio F, et al. Increased tissue factor, MMP-8, and d-dimer expression in diabetic patients with unstable advanced carotid atherosclerosis. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* (2007) 3(4):405–12.

17. Cheng L, Fu Q, Zhou L, Fan Y, Liu F, Fan Y, et al. D-dimer as a predictor of cardiovascular outcomes in patients with diabetes mellitus. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord* (2022) 22(1):82. doi: 10.1186/s12872-022-02531-x

18. Nwose EU, Richards RS, Jelinek HF, Kerr PG. D-dimer identifies stages in the progression of diabetes mellitus from family history of diabetes to cardiovascular complications. *Pathology* (2007) 39(2):252–7. doi: 10.1080/00313020701230658

19. American Diabetes Association. (2) classification and diagnosis of diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38:Suppl:S8-s16. doi: 10.2337/dc15-S005

20. Su JB, Zhao LH, Zhang XL, Cai HL, Huang HY, Xu F, et al. HbA1c variability and diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2018) 17(1):47. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0693-0

21. Hu YM, Zhao LH, Zhang XL, Cai HL, Huang HY, Xu F, et al. Association of glycaemic variability evaluated by continuous glucose monitoring with diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. *Endocrine* (2018) 60(2):292–300. doi: 10.1007/s12020-018-1546-z

22. Levey AS, Coresh J, Greene T, Stevens LA, Zhang YL, Hendriksen S, et al. Using standardized serum creatinine values in the modification of diet in renal disease study equation for estimating glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med* (2006) 145(4):247–54. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-4-200608150-00004

23. Xu F, Zhao LH, Wang XH, Wang CH, Yu C, Zhang XL, et al. Plasma 1,5anhydro-D-glucitol is associated with peripheral nerve function and diabetic peripheral neuropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes and mild-to-moderate hyperglycemia. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* (2022) 14(1):24. doi: 10.1186/s13098-022-00795-z

24. Tesfaye S, Boulton AJ, Dyck PJ, Freeman R, Horowitz M, Kempler P, et al. Diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33(10):2285–93. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1303

25. Ziegler D, Papanas N, Vinik AI, Shaw JE. Epidemiology of polyneuropathy in diabetes and prediabetes. *Handb Clin Neurol* (2014) 126:3–22. doi: 10.1016/ b978-0-444-53480-4.00001-1

26. Zhuang Y, Lin X, Chen X, Wu X, Zhang J. Fibrinogen function indexes are potential biomarkers of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* (2022) 14(1):13. doi: 10.1186/s13098-021-00777-7

27. Callaghan BC, Cheng HT, Stables CL, Smith AL, Feldman EL. Diabetic neuropathy: clinical manifestations and current treatments. *Lancet Neurol* (2012) 11(6):521–34. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(12)70065-0

28. Sloan G, Selvarajah D, Tesfaye S. Pathogenesis, diagnosis and clinical management of diabetic sensorimotor peripheral neuropathy. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2021) 17(7):400-20. doi: 10.1038/s41574-021-00496-z

29. Yang J, Yan PJ, Wan Q, Li H. Association between hemoglobin levels and diabetic peripheral neuropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes: A cross-sectional study using electronic health records. *J Diabetes Res* (2017) 2017:2835981. doi: 10.1155/2017/2835981

30. Tesfaye S, Chaturvedi N, Eaton SE, Ward JD, Manes C, Ionescu-Tirgoviste C, et al. Vascular risk factors and diabetic neuropathy. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 352 (4):341–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032782

31. Li L, Chen J, Wang J, Cai D. Prevalence and risk factors of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with overweight/obese

in guangdong province, China. Prim Care Diabetes (2015) 9(3):191-5. doi: 10.1016/j.pcd.2014.07.006

32. Yan P, Tang Q, Wu Y, Wan Q, Zhang Z, Xu Y, et al. Serum albumin was negatively associated with diabetic peripheral neuropathy in Chinese population: A cross-sectional study. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* (2021) 13(1):100. doi: 10.1186/s13098-021-00718-4

33. Domingueti CP, Dusse LM, Carvalho M, de Sousa LP, Gomes KB, Fernandes AP. Diabetes mellitus: The linkage between oxidative stress, inflammation, hypercoagulability and vascular complications. *J Diabetes Complications* (2016) 30(4):738-45. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.12.018

34. Lowe GD. Fibrin d-dimer and cardiovascular risk. Semin Vasc Med (2005) 5 (4):387–98. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-922485

35. Trifiletti A, Lasco A, Scamardi R, Cincotta M, Gaudio A, Barbera N, et al. Hemostasis and fibrinolysis factors in first-degree relatives of patients with type 2 diabetes without hypertension. *Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb* (2002) 32(3):127– 30. doi: 10.1159/000065214

36. Jin Y, Xu H, Wu M, Yi B, Zhu M, Zhou Y, et al. Correlation of gestational hypertension with abnormal lipid metabolism, insulin resistance and d-dimer and their clinical significance. *Exp Ther Med* (2019) 17(2):1346–50. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.7070

37. Oral B, Mermi B, Dilek M, Alanoğlu G, Sütçü R. Thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor and other hemostatic parameters in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2009) 25(2):110-6. doi: 10.1080/ 09513590802549874

38. Sabio JM, Vargas-Hitos J, Zamora-Pasadas M, Mediavilla JD, Navarrete N, Ramirez A, et al. Metabolic syndrome is associated with increased arterial stiffness and biomarkers of subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol (2009) 36(10):2204–11. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.081253

39. Aso Y, Okumura K, Yoshida N, Tayama K, Kanda T, Kobayashi I, et al. Plasma interleukin-6 is associated with coagulation in poorly controlled patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Med* (2003) 20(11):930–4. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2003.01058.x

40. Ebara S, Marumo M, Yamabata C, Nishibe I, Soneda JI, Mukai J, et al. Inverse associations of HDL cholesterol and oxidized HDL with d-dimer in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Thromb Res* (2017) 155:12–5. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2017.04.018

41. Ceriello A, Taboga C, Tonutti L, Giacomello R, Stel L, Motz E, et al. Postmeal coagulation activation in diabetes mellitus: The effect of acarbose. *Diabetologia* (1996) 39(4):469–73. doi: 10.1007/bf00400679

42. Coban E, Sari R, Ozdogan M, Akcit F. Levels of plasma fibrinogen and ddimer in patients with impaired fasting glucose. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2005) 113(1):35–7. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-830524

43. Aberer F, Pferschy PN, Tripolt NJ, Sourij C, Obermayer AM, Prüller F, et al. Hypoglycaemia leads to a delayed increase in platelet and coagulation activation markers in people with type 2 diabetes treated with metformin only: Results from a stepwise hypoglycaemic clamp study. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2020) 22(2):212–21. doi: 10.1111/dom.13889

44. Brownlee M. The pathobiology of diabetic complications: A unifying mechanism. *Diabetes* (2005) 54(6):1615–25. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.6.1615

45. Kamin Mukaz D, Gergi M, Koh I, Zakai NA, Judd SE, Sholzberg M, et al. Thrombo-inflammatory biomarkers and d-dimer in a biracial cohort study. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost* (2021) 5(8):e12632. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12632

46. Knöbl P, Schernthaner G, Schnack C, Pietschmann P, Proidl S, Prager R, et al. Haemostatic abnormalities persist despite glycaemic improvement by insulin therapy in lean type 2 diabetic patients. *Thromb Haemost* (1994) 71(6):692–7.

47. von Känel R, Dimsdale JE. Fibrin d-dimer: A marker of psychosocial distress and its implications for research in stress-related coronary artery disease. *Clin Cardiol* (2003) 26(4):164–8. doi: 10.1002/clc.4960260403

48. von Känel R, Bellingrath S, Kudielka BM. Association of vital exhaustion and depressive symptoms with changes in fibrin d-dimer to acute psychosocial stress. J Psychosom Res (2009) 67(1):93-101. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2008.12.009

49. Spallone V, Greco C. Painful and painless diabetic neuropathy: one disease or two? Curr Diabetes Rep (2013) 13(4):533-49. doi: 10.1007/s11892-013-0387-7

50. Turk DC, Audette J, Levy RM, Mackey SC, Stanos S. Assessment and treatment of psychosocial comorbidities in patients with neuropathic pain. *Mayo Clin Proc* (2010) 85(3 Suppl):S42–50. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2009.0648

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Erwin Dieter Schleicher, University of Tübingen, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Triantafyllos Didangelos, University General Hospital of Thessaloniki AHEPA, Greece Xuedong An, Guang'anmen Hospital, China Academy of Chinese Medical Sciences, China Pang Chunyang, Wenzhou Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Elaf Al-Saoudi elaf.fadhil.al-saoudi.01@regionh.dk

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 07 March 2022 ACCEPTED 16 September 2022 PUBLISHED 11 October 2022

CITATION

Al-Saoudi E, Christensen MMB, Nawroth P, Fleming T, Hommel EE, Jørgensen ME, Fleischer J and Hansen CS (2022) Advanced glycation end-products are associated with diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:891442. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.891442

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Al-Saoudi, Christensen, Nawroth, Fleming, Hommel, Jørgensen, Fleischer and Hansen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use. distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Advanced glycation endproducts are associated with diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes

Elaf Al-Saoudi^{1*}, Marie M. B. Christensen², Peter Nawroth^{3,4,5}, Thomas Fleming^{3,4}, Eva E. Hommel⁶, Marit E. Jørgensen^{2,7}, Jesper Fleischer⁸ and Christian S. Hansen¹

¹Department of Complication Research , Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Herlev, Denmark, ²Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Herlev, Denmark, ³Department of Medicine I and Clinical Chemistry, University Hospital of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ⁴German Center for Diabetes Research (DZD), Neuherberg, Germany, ⁵Joint Heidelberg-Institute for Diabetes and Cancer (IDC) Translational Diabetes Programm, Helmholtz-Zentrum, Heidelberg, Germany, ⁶Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Herlev, Denmark, ⁷Steno Diabetes Center Greenland, Nuuk, Greenland, ⁸Steno Diabetes Center Aarhus, Aarhus, Denmark

Aims/hypothesis: Advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) may contribute to the development of diabetic neuropathy. In young adults with type 1 diabetes, we aimed to investigate the association between AGEs and cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy (CAN) and distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN).

Methods: This cross-sectional study comprised 151 young adults. CAN was assessed by cardiovascular autonomic reflex tests; lying-to-standing test, deep breathing test (E/I), Valsalva manoeuvre, and heart rate variability indices; and the mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals and standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals (SDNN), high- (HF) and low-frequency (LF) power, total frequency power, and the LF/HF ratio. DSPN was assessed by light touch, pain and vibration perception threshold (VPT), neuropathy questionnaires, and objective measures. AGEs were analysed in four groups using z-scores adjusted for relevant confounders and multiple testing: i) "glycolytic dysfunction", ii) "lipid peroxidation", iii) "oxidative stress", and iv) "glucotoxicity".

Results: A higher z-score of "glycolytic dysfunction" was associated with higher VPT (4.14% (95% CI 1.31; 7.04), p = 0.004) and E/I (0.03% (95% CI 0.01; 0.05), p = 0.005), "lipid peroxidation" was associated with higher LF/HF ratio (37.72% (95% CI 1.12; 87.57), p = 0.044), and "glucotoxicity" was associated with lower SDNN (-4.20% (95% CI -8.1416; -0.0896), p = 0.047). No significance remained after adjustment for multiple testing.

Conclusions/interpretations: In young adults with type 1 diabetes, increased levels of AGEs involving different metabolic pathways were associated with

several measures of CAN and DSPN, suggesting that AGEs may play a diverse role in the pathogeneses of diabetic neuropathy.

KEYWORDS

advanced-glycation end-products, AGEs, type 1 diabetes, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy, peripheral neuropathy, distal symmetric polyneuropathy

Introduction

Diabetic neuropathy is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (1, 2). The progressive nature with insidious onset and varying symptoms and clinical manifestations often lead to delayed diagnosis with severe and irreversible symptoms (1). Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy (CAN) and distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN) are the most prevalent types of diabetic neuropathy with varying prevalence reaching up to 35% and 41%, respectively, in adults with type 1 diabetes (3-7). Previous studies have identified a high prevalence of definite and subclinical manifestations of diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes (8-12). This suggests that early screening in adolescence may detect early stages of CAN and DSPN, where prevention of progression may still be possible. Although diagnostic methods for both types of neuropathy are available, it remains unknown which underlying mechanisms are involved and lead to painful versus insensate symptoms (1).

Hyperglycaemia and metabolic derangements are suggested to play an important role in the progression of neurological complications (1, 13). One of the pathogenic pathways described is the formation of reactive metabolites leading to increased levels of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) as a direct consequence of hyperglycaemia and lipid peroxidation (13–15). The accumulation of AGEs tends to alter protein function and thereby the structure of the nerve tissue, contributing to the development of neuropathy (15).

In the serum of diabetic patients, AGEs are elevated alongside levels of their main precursors: glucose and the dicarbonyls methylglyoxal (MG), glyoxal, and 3-deoxyglucosone (3-DG) (13, 16).

While studies regarding the dicarbonyls 3-DG and glyoxal and their corresponding AGEs are scarce (13, 17, 18), MG and MG-derived AGEs (i.e., methylglyoxal-derived hydroimidazolone 1 (MG-H1)) have been associated with the progression of diabetic neuropathy, retinopathy, and nephropathy in type 1 diabetes. Likewise, increased plasma levels of MG and MG-H1 have been associated with diabetic painful peripheral neuropathy in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (16, 17). Also, the glucose-derived AGEs, fructose lysine (FL) and glucosepane, have been identified as strong predictors of diabetic neuropathy, supporting that high glucose levels may generally associate with the risk of complications and therefore have been targeted for treatment (1, 17, 19). However, good glycaemic control does not necessarily prevent the progression of diabetic neuropathy (20). Some studies have found increased levels of MG in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes independent of blood glucose levels, suggesting that factors other than hyperglycaemia are involved in late diabetes complications (14).

Although several AGEs have been associated with diabetic neuropathy, identifying specific pathways involved in the pathogeneses of neuropathy is missing. Furthermore, diabetic neuropathy represents a collection of syndromes, and therefore, subtypes of neuropathy symptoms may be related to different dysfunctional pathways.

In this cross-sectional study, we aim to define the metabolic pathways leading to the formation or accumulation of AGEs and relate them to measures of CAN and DSPN and thereby to specify potential pathways associated with distinct neuropathy signs and/or symptoms. This will be performed in a Danish population of young adults with type 1 diabetes using objective sensitive age-matched measuring methods to detect even early signs of neuropathy.

Methods

Study design and study population

The study was designed as a cross-sectional observational study and has previously been described in detail (8). In brief, inclusion criteria were type 1 diabetes and age >17 and <25 years. The patients were recruited from the outpatient clinic at Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte, Denmark. Of the 340 eligible participants who received an invitation to participate, 156 were accepted. Five participants were excluded due to missing biochemical measures, leaving 151 included in the study. Ethical approval was obtained from the Danish Research Ethics Committee (ID No. H-15006967), and written

informed consent was obtained from all patients prior to examination.

Measures of diabetic neuropathy

Measures of DSPN were assessed and categorized according to recommendations made by the Toronto Diabetic Neuropathy Expert Group (2) and included the following:

- -Symptoms of DSPN were assessed by the questionnaires Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) and Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument (MNSI). Diabetic neuropathy was, in the BPI questionnaire, defined as the presence of pain in both legs and/or both arms peripherally and, in the MNSI questionnaire, as a score of ≥7 (21).
- -Signs of DSPN were assessed by established measures including light touch perception using a 10-g monofilament, pain perception using a pinprick device, and vibration perception threshold (VPT) determined by using a biothesiometer. To assess abnormal VPT tests, age-stratified perception thresholds were used (12). The tests were pathological if the results were abnormal bilaterally.
- -Objective measuring methods using the non-invasive device SudoscanTM to test for electrochemical skin conductance (ESC) on hands and feet and the handheld NC-stat[®] to measure sural nerve conduction velocity (SNCV) and sural nerve amplitude potential (SNAP).

To identify abnormal results for the ESC test and measures of SNCV and SNAP, age- and gender-stratified thresholds (22) and age- and height-stratified thresholds were applied, respectively. When abnormalities in SNCV, SNAP, or both bilaterally were found, the measure of sural nerve conduction (SNC) was used.

The definition of DSPN was stratified into four categories: "possible DSPN" if the patient had symptoms or signs according to the abovementioned measures, "probable DSPN" in the presence of symptoms and signs, and "confirmed DSPN" if the patient had a combination of either abnormal test for SNC or ESC and the presence of either symptoms or signs. The presence of abnormal SNC or ESC without symptoms or signs was defined as "subclinical DSPN".

CAN was evaluated by three standard cardiovascular autonomic reflex tests (CARTs) and measures of 5-min resting heart rate variability (HRV) using the device VagusTM and performed in a quiet examination room in the afternoon.

After 5 min of supine rest, HRV measures were analysed in time and frequency domain from 5-min resting heart rate (HR). Time domain included the mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals (RMSSD) and standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals (SDNN). Frequency-domain analyses included lowfrequency power band (LF), high-frequency power band (HF), total frequency power (Total), and the ratio of low-frequency power/high-frequency power (LF/HF ratio).

After the 5-min resting HRV test, the three CARTs for diagnosing CAN were performed and included the lying-to-standing test (30:15), the deep breathing test (E/I), and the Valsalva manoeuvre (23). The participants were asked to restrain from vigorous exercise 24 h prior to the examination and intake of caffeine on the specific day of examination.

The diagnosis of "early CAN" and "definite CAN" was given according to age-stratified thresholds (3) if one of the three CARTs was abnormal and if two or three tests were abnormal, respectively.

Dicarbonyls and advanced glycation end-products

The plasma levels of AGEs were grouped according to the main pathways of AGE formation (13) that proceed *via* glucose and the reactive dicarbonyls MG, glyoxal, and 3-DG:

- i. "Glycolytic dysfunction" includes the AGEs derived from methylglyoxal: MG-H1, N^{e} -(carboxyethyl)lysine (CEL), methylglyoxal-lysine dimers (MOLD), and argpyrimidine. As methylglyoxal comes from glycolysis, increased methylglyoxal and methylglyoxal-derived AGEs will represent a dysregulation of glycolysis.
- ii. "Lipid peroxidation" includes the glyoxal-derived AGEs: glyoxal-derived hydroimidazolone 1 (G-H1) and N^{e} -(carboxymethyl)-lysine (CML). Glyoxal and glyoxal-derived AGEs derive from the degradation of lipids, and therefore increased levels of glyoxal and glyoxal-derived AGEs will represent increased oxidation of lipids.
- "Oxidative stress" includes AGEs generated from the direct interaction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) with methionine: methionine sulfoxide.
- iv. "Glucotoxicity" includes AGEs and dicarbonyls derived directly from the modification of amino acids by glucose: fructose lysine (FL), glucosepane, and 3-DG.

v. "Dicarbonyls": MG, glyoxal, and 3-DG. The dicarbonyls were also analysed separately in a fifth group:

Clinical data collection

As described previously, data on medication were extracted from hospital electronic records, and lifestyle factors including smoking status and weekly amount of exercise were recorded in a questionnaire filled in by the patients.

Blood pressure and heart rate were measured after 10 min of rest using automated oscillometric blood pressure recorders and calculated as the mean of three consecutive measures performed with intervals of 1 min. Height and weight were measured with clothes on and without shoes using a fixed rigid stadiometer and an electronic scale, respectively.

Biochemical measures

 $\rm HbA_{1c}$, serum total cholesterol, serum high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, serum triglycerides, and plasma creatinine were measured from non-fasting venous blood samples and collected on the examination day. $\rm HbA_{1c}$ was analysed by high-performance liquid chromatography on a Tosoh G7 (Tosoh Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Triglycerides, HDL, and total cholesterol were analysed by standard enzymatic colorimetry techniques on a Vitros 5600 (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, Illkirch-Graffenstaden, France). Serum LDL cholesterol was calculated using the Friedewald equation.

All biochemical measures were analysed in the laboratory at Steno Diabetes Center, Denmark, except for the plasma samples used for the analysis of AGEs and dicarbonyls. The samples were stored at -80° C at Steno Diabetes Center and transferred on dry ice to the laboratory at the University of Heidelberg, Germany, for analysis.

Assessment of glycaemic variability indices

As described previously, the continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) sensor EnliteTM (Medtronic, Northridge, CA, USA) was inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of the abdomen or the upper arm and was worn for 5 days (24). The capillary finger blood glucose was monitored four times daily for calibration. To generate data from the sensors, the software Medtronic CarelinkTM iProTM was used. To quantify glycaemic variability, coefficient of variation (CV), standard deviation (SD), continuous overall net glycaemic action, and mean amplitude

of glucose excursions were used. Time spent in hypoglycaemia (<3.0 mmol/L), euglycaemia (\geq 3.0; $\frac{3}{10.0}$ mmol/L), and hyperglycaemia (>10.0 mmol/L) were calculated and presented in minutes and percentage.

Measurement of dicarbonyls

The dicarbonyl content in plasma was determined by isotope dilution and tandem mass spectroscopy, following derivatization with 1,2-diaminobenzene. Briefly, 20 µl of serum was precipitated by addition of 10 µl of ice-cold 20% (wt/vol) trichloroacetic acid in 0.9% (wt/vol) sodium chloride (20 µl) and water (40 μ l) (25). An aliquot (5 μ l) of the internal standard (400 nM of [¹³C₂]-Glyoxal, [¹³C₃]-methylglyoxal, and [¹³C₆]-3deoxyglucosone) was then added, and the samples vortex-mixed. Following centrifugation (14,000 rpm; 5 min at 4°C), 35 µl of the supernatant was transferred to high-resolution mass spectrometry (HPLC) vials containing a 200-µl glass interest. An aliquot (5 µl) of 3% sodium azide (wt/vol) was then added to each sample followed by 10 µl of 0.5 mM of DB in 200 mM of HCl containing 0.5 mM of diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DETAPAC) in water. The samples were then incubated for 4 h at room temperature, protected from the light. Samples were then analysed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) using an ACQUITYTM ultra-highperformance liquid chromatography system with a Xevo-TQS LC-MS/MS mass spectrometer (Waters, Manchester, UK). The column was a Waters BEH C18 (100 \times 2.1 mm) and a guard column (5 \times 2.1 mm). The mobile phase was 0.1% formic acid in water with a linear gradient of 0%-100% 0.1% formic acid in 50% acetonitrile:water over 0-10 min; the flow rate was 0.2 ml/ min, and the column temperature was 5°C. The capillary voltage was 0.5 kV; the cone voltage was 20 V; the interscan delay time was 100 ms; the source and desolvation gas temperatures were 150°C and 350°C, respectively; the cone gas and desolvation gas flows were 150 and 800 L/h, respectively. Mass transitions (parent ion > fragment ion; collision energy), retention time, limit of detection, and recoveries were as follows: 3deoxyglucosone, 235.0 > 199.1; 14 eV, 4.09 min, 0.36 pmol, 95%, glyoxal, 130.9 > 77.1; 22 eV, 5.28 min, 1.15 pmol, 97%, methylglyoxal, 145.0 > 77.1; 24 eV, 5.93 min, 0.52 pmol, 98%. Acquisition and quantification were completed with MassLynx 4.1 and TargetLynx 2.7 (Waters[®]).

Measurement of protein-free advanced glycation end-products

Protein-free AGEs in the plasma were determined by isotope dilution and tandem mass spectroscopy, as previously

described (26). Briefly, an aliquot of plasma (20 µl) was diluted to 500 µl with water and filtered by microspin ultrafiltration (10 kDa cutoff) at 14,000 rpm for 30 min at 4°C. The ultrafiltrate was then retained for the free adduct analysis. An aliquot of the sample (ca. 30 µl) was spiked with an equal volume of 0.2% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in water containing the isotopic standards (5-25 pmol). Normal and isotopic standards were either purchased (Cambridge Isotope, Polypeptide Laboratories, Iris Biotech) or prepared inhouse, as described previously. Samples were then analysed by LC-MS/MS using an ACQUITY ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography system with a Xevo-TQS LC-MS/MS spectrometer (Waters). Two 5-µm HypercarbTM columns (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) in series were used: 2.1 \times 50 mm, fitted with a 5 \times 2.1 mm pre-column, and 2.1 \times 250 mm. The mobile phases were 0.1% TFA in water and 0.1% TFA in 50% water. The column temperature and flow rates were 30°C and 0.2 ml/min, respectively. Analytes were eluted using a two-step gradient, and the columns were washed after each sample with 0.1% TFA in 50% tetrahydrofuran (THF), as described previously (26). AGEs, including oxidation and nitration markers, were detected by electrospray positive ionization with multiple reaction monitoring (MRM). The ionization source temperature was 150°C, and the desolvation temperature was 500°C. The cone gas and desolvation gas flows were 150 and 1,000, L/h, respectively. The capillary voltage was 0.5 kV. Molecular ion and fragment ion masses, as well as cone voltage and collision energy, were optimized to ±0.1 Da and ±1 eV for MRM detection of the analytes. Acquisition and quantification were completed with MassLynx 4.1 and TargetLynx 2.7 (Waters[®]).

Statistical analysis

Patient characteristics are represented as means with SD for normally distributed continuous data, as medians with interquartile range (IQR) for skewed distributed data, and as numbers (%) for categorical data.

A standardized z-score was calculated for each of the following groups of AGEs and dicarbonyls and was examined as a determinant for neuropathy: i) "glycolytic dysfunction" (MG-H1, CEL, and MOLD), ii) "lipid peroxidation" (G-H1 and CML), iii) "oxidative stress" (methionine sulfoxide), iv) "glucotoxicity" (FL, glucosepane, and 3-DG), and v) "dicarbonyls" (MG, glyoxal, and 3-DG).

Outcomes were all continuous, assessed using linear regression analyses, and presented as estimates of a one-unit difference in z-score with 95% CI.

Three models of adjustments were applied: model 1 was adjusted for age and gender, model 2 was adjusted as model 1 + for diabetes duration and HbA_{1c} , and model 3 was adjusted as model 2 + for current smoking, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and the use of beta blockers.

All analyses used two-sided p = 0.05 as statistically significant and were adjusted for multiple tests by the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure (27).

Statistical analyses were performed in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

Results

Patient characteristics

The study population included 151 patients (42.4% men) with a mean age of 22 years (SD 1.6). The mean diabetes duration was 11 years (SD 5.1), and HbA_{1c} was 66.5 mmol/ mol (IQR 58.0; 77.0). Seventy-two patients (47.7%) were treated with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII), and the rest were treated with multiple-dose injections (MDIs). All patients were on insulin (Table 1).

Previously, we investigated the association between glycaemic variability and diabetic neuropathy in the same study population (24). Of the included patients, 133 had CGM. During the 5-day CGM monitoring, mean (SD) CV was 40% (10), median (IQR) SD was 3.9 mmol/L, and time spent on hypoglycaemia was 35 min (0, 120)/1.0% [0.0; 4.0].

The prevalence of subclinical and possible DSPN was 54.3% and 3.3%, respectively. DSPN was diagnosed in 2.7%, and none met the criteria for probable DSPN. The prevalence of CAN and early CAN was 8.7% and 28.4%, respectively.

The characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 1.

Dicarbonyls and advanced glycation end-products

The mean plasma level of MG, glyoxal, and 3-DG was 116.3 nmol/L (111.3; 127.6), 215.7 nmol/L (186.1; 253.4), and 57.8 nmol/L (54.3; 62.6), respectively.

The associations between groups of AGEs and measures of CAN and DSPN are presented in Figures 1–5 with forest plots as estimates and 95% CI.

Cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy measures

A higher z-score of "glycolytic dysfunction" was associated with a higher E/I also when adjusted in model 3 (0.03% (95% CI 0.01; 0.05), p = 0.005) (Figure 1).

"Lipid peroxidation" was associated with a higher LF/HF ratio. Further adjustment in model 3 did not affect the association (37.72% (95% CI 1.12; 87.57), p = 0.044) (Figure 2).

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the study population.

Clinical characteristics	Mean (SD)/median (IQR)/N (%)
Ν	151
Age (years)	22 (1.6)
Male (%)	64 (42.4)
Diabetes duration (years)	11.3 (5.1)
CSII treatment (%)	72 (47.7)
Current smoker (%)	33 (21.9)
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	125.3 (11.5)
HbA _{1c} (mmol/mol)	67.0 (58.0;77.0)
HbA _{1c} (%)	8.3 (7.4; 9.2)
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.5 (1.2)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.1 (0.8; 1.6)
LDL (mmol/L)	2.6 (0.9)
Urine albumin/creatinine ratio (mg/ g)	6 (4.0; 14.0)
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ³)	123.9 (116.6; 129.3)
Medication	
Insulin (%)	151 (100)
Metformin (%)	1 (0.7)
Other glucose-lowering drugs (%)	1 (0.7)
Antihypertensive treatment (%)	6 (4.0)
Beta-blocker treatment n (%)	2 (1.3)
Lipid-lowering treatment (%)	2 (1.3)
Psychotropics (%)	6 (4.0)
CAN measures	
Definite CAN (%)	13 (8.7)
Early CAN (%)	42 (28.4)
DSPN measures	
Confirmed DSPN (%)	4 (2.7)
Subclinical DSPN (%)	82 (54.3)
Probable DSPN (%)	0 (0)
Possible DSPN (%)	5 (3.3)
BPI questionnaire	
Painful neuropathy (% answered yes)	3 (2.0)
MNSI questionnaire	
MNSI neuropathy (score \geq 7 points)	0 (0)
Serum dicarbonyls levels	
Methylglyoxal (nmol/L)	116.3 (111.3; 127.6)
Glyoxal (nmol/L)	215.7 (186.1; 253.4)
3-Deoxyglucosone (nmol/L)	57.8 (54.3; 62.6)

Data are given in means (SD), medians (IQR), or proportions %.

SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; CSII, continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion; LDL, low-density lipoproteins; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; BPI, Brief Pain Inventory; MNSI, Michigan Neuropathy Screening Instrument. A higher z-score of "glucotoxicity" was associated with lower values of the HRV indices SDNN, RMSSD, LF, HF, and total power in model 1 (Figure 3). Only for SDNN did significance remain after further adjustment in model 3 (-4.20% (95% CI -8.14; -0.09), p = 0.047). "Dicarbonyls" was also associated with lower values of the HRV indices. However, significance was lost in models 2 and 3 (Figure 4). In addition, higher z-scores of "glucotoxicity" and "dicarbonyls" were both associated with higher HR when fully adjusted in model 3 (1.31% (95% CI 0.16; 2.47), p = 0.027) and 1.51% (95% CI 0.54; 2.47), p = 0.003), respectively).

When applying the Benjamini–Hochberg procedure to account for multiple testing, all associations found between the groups of AGEs and dicarbonyls and measures of CAN lost significance.

No associations were found between measures of "oxidative stress" and any measures of cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy (Figure 5).

Peripheral neuropathy measures

A higher z-score of "glycolytic dysfunction" was associated with a higher VPT in all three models (4.14% (95% CI 1.31; 7.04), p = 0.004) (Figure 1), but not when correcting for multiple tests. "Lipid peroxidation" was also associated with a higher VPT in models 1 and 2, but not when fully adjusted in model 3 (12.90% (95% CI -2.30; 30.45), p = 0.102) (Figure 2).

A higher z-score of "glucotoxicity" was associated with higher SNCV. However, the associations lost significance after adjustment in models 2 and 3 (Figure 3).

No associations were found between measures of peripheral neuropathy and "oxidative stress" or "dicarbonyls".

Discussion

In this cross-sectional study of 151 young adults with type 1 diabetes, we found that a number of pathways leading to AGE formation are activated in diabetic neuropathy. However, the relative contribution of glucose- and lipid-derived AGEs varied between the different measures of diabetic neuropathy, suggesting that both CAN and DSPN represent multiple symptoms involving more than one dysfunctional pathway. We found that increased levels of methylglyoxal- and glyoxal-derived AGEs representing changes in glycolytic function and lipid peroxidation, respectively, were associated with higher vibration perception thresholds. For CAN measures, we found that increased "glucotoxicity",


Forest plot of the associations between "glycolytic dysfunction" and measures of diabetic neuropathy. Results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one unit of "glycolytic dysfunction" Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1 adjusted for age and gender, model 2 adjusted as model 1 + diabetes duration and HbA1c, and model 3 adjusted as model 2 + current smoking, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and the use of beta blockers. CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; HR, heart rate; 30:15, lying-to-standing test; E:I, deep breathing test; VM, Valsalva Manoeuvre; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals; LF, low-frequency power; HF, high-frequency power; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, electrochemical skin conduction. p < 0.05

representing glucose-derived AGEs, was associated with higher HR and lower SDNN. "Dicarbonyls" was also associated with higher HR. However, after adjustments for multiple testing, no significant associations remained.

Previous studies in experimental models of diabetes as well as in diabetic humans have emphasized the importance of AGEs and their precursors, the reactive dicarbonyls, for the development of diabetic complications (13, 28). In diabetic neuropathy, disturbances in metabolic pathways caused by hyperglycaemia are believed to play a causative role. The higher glucose flux leads to increased formation of dicarbonyls mainly from glycolysis intermediates and lipid peroxidation (13). The formation and accumulation of reactive dicarbonyls are expected to be higher in neuronal tissue, as its primary source of energy is glucose (28). Moreover, increased formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) leading to oxidative stress may

contribute to neuronal dysfunction as ROS indirectly inhibits glyoxalase 1 (GLO-1) activity, which plays a role in the metabolization of dicarbonyl species (28).

In type 2 diabetes, studies have not presented uniform results when investigating the association between the reactive dicarbonyl, methylglyoxal, and diabetic neuropathy. Increased levels of plasma methylglyoxal have been associated with diabetic painful peripheral neuropathy by modifications of the voltage-gated nociceptor-specific sodium channel Nav1.8, which is associated with enhanced electrical excitability and facilitates firing of nociceptive neurons, thereby resulting in hyperalgesia (16). A recent prospective observational study of 1,256 newonset type 2 diabetes patients found that higher levels of methylglyoxal are a risk factor for the development of diabetic polyneuropathy as assessed by the MNSI questionnaire (29). However, no association between serum methylglyoxal and



FIGURE 2

Forest plot of the associations between "lipid peroxidation" and measures of diabetic neuropathy. Results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one unit of "lipid peroxidation". Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1 adjusted for age and gender, model 2 adjusted as model 1 + diabetes duration and HbA_{1c}, and model 3 adjusted as model 2 + current smoking, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and the use of beta blockers. CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; HR, heart rate; 30:15, lying-to-standing test; E:I, deep breathing test; VM, Valsalva Manoeuvre; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals; LF, low-frequency power; HF, high-frequency power; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, electrochemical skin conduction. *p < 0.05.

diabetic autonomic and peripheral neuropathy was found in the cross-sectional study at the 6-year follow-up in the same cohort (30). Thus, increased methylglyoxal levels may play a causal role in painful neuropathy but not necessarily the other symptoms of diabetic neuropathy.

In our study, "dicarbonyls" were only associated with higher HR, but no other measures of CAN or DSPN. However, plasma levels of dicarbonyls might not represent dicarbonyl levels in nervous tissue, as it is shown in animal models that the activity of GLO-1 is low in nervous tissue compared to others (28). In addition, AGEs derived from methylglyoxal as well as other dicarbonyl species might play a major role. In line with this, we found that increased "lipid peroxidation", although not statistically significant when fully adjusted, and "glycolytic dysfunction" representing glyoxaland methylglyoxal-derived AGEs, respectively, were positively associated with worse vibration perception threshold. Previous clinical studies support the role of methylglyoxal-derived AGEs in diabetic neuropathy. A prospective cohort study of 216 humans with type 1 diabetes found that skin levels of AGEs were associated with the progression of diabetic complications including neuropathy (17, 19). The correlation of MG-H1 with diabetic neuropathy remained strongly associated when adjusted for all other risk factors. In addition, increased serum levels of MG-H1 have been associated with foot heat and pain detection threshold in patients with long-standing type 1 diabetes (18). Furthermore, increased serum levels of the glyoxal-derived AGE, CML, were associated with the development of small-fibre dysfunction. Despite studies supporting the role of methylglyoxal- and glyoxal-derived AGEs in diabetic neuropathy (17-19), it remains unknown which pathway is causing which symptom, and it does not



confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1 adjusted for age and gender, model 2 adjusted as model 1 + diabetes duration and HbA_{1c}, and model 3 adjusted as model 2 + current smoking, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and the use of beta blockers. CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; HR, heart rate; 30:15, lying-to-standing test; E:l, deep breathing test; VM, Valsalva Manoeuvre; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals; LF, low-frequency power; HF, high-frequency power; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, electrochemical skin conduction. *p < 0.05.

explain why one symptom of neuropathy is more distinct than the others in patients with diabetes, as the studies do not discriminate the pathways involved; thus, the differences observed may be spurious.

In our study, "glucotoxicity" was inversely associated with several HRV indices, indicating autonomic dysfunction. However, most associations disappeared once adjusted for relevant confounders. Only a significant and consistent association between lower SDNN and higher resting HR remained. Also, "dicarbonyls" was associated with higher resting HR, while "lipid peroxidation" was associated with a higher LF/HF ratio. These findings support our hypothesis that a number of dysfunctional pathways are involved in CAN and implicate that the reactive metabolites are detrimental to the autonomic nervous system. However, all the associations were insignificant when adjusted for multiple testing.

Thus, our study indicates that AGE formation involving different dysfunctional pathways seems to play a diverse role in

the pathogeneses of early diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes in line with the relatively few previous studies in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. This supports the hypothesis that metabolic derangements, rather than hyperglycaemia per se, may be the main cause contributing to diabetic complications.

Strengths and limitations

A limitation of this study is the relatively low prevalence of definite CAN and DSPN in this population of young adults with type 1 diabetes, which might affect the ability to detect associations between AGEs and measures of neuropathy. However, objective measures of neuropathy assessed by novel and established methods of detecting CAN and DSPN have been applied, which is a strength of our study, as we have detected early stages of neuropathy. Further, we have grouped the AGEs



Forest plot of the associations between "dicarbonyls" and measures of diabetic neuropathy. Results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one unit of "dicarbonyls". Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1 adjusted for age and gender, model 2 adjusted as model 1 + diabetes duration and HbA_{1c}, and model 3 adjusted as model 2 + current smoking, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and the use of beta blockers. CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; HR, heart rate; 30:15, lying-to-standing test; E:I, deep breathing test; VM, Valsalva Manoeuvre; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals; LF, low-frequency power; HF, high-frequency power; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, electrochemical skin conduction. *p < 0.05.

with respect to their main precursors and thereby being able to specify potential pathways involved in the pathogeneses of neuropathy. Causal conclusions are, however, difficult to make due to the cross-sectional design of our study. The small sample size is another limitation and might affect the power of our study, thereby not making it generalizable. In addition, the significance of associations was lost when adjusting for multiple testing, indicating that the population size limited the power of analyses. Also, a healthy control group in our study would have enabled a comparison with age- and gendermatched non-diabetic young adults. However, this was not in the scheme of the study.

It is also recommended that participants avoid smoking, several drugs, and meals before the CARTs and HRV test, but we did not meet these recommendations, which may therefore affect CAN measures.

Conclusion

In young adults with type 1 diabetes, we found that "glycolytic dysfunction", "lipid peroxidation", and "glucotoxicity", all pathways leading to AGE formation, are involved in both CAN and DSPN. However, the involvement of the pathways varied between measures of CAN and DSPN, which reflects the diverse nature of both types of neuropathy. Thus, our study indicates that AGEs mainly derived from changes in glycolytic function and lipid peroxidation may contribute to decreased vibration sensation, while AGEs derived from glucose are related to autonomic dysfunction.

Despite the lost associations after adjustments for multiple testing, our results indicate a possible association between some AGEs and different measures of neuropathy in a relatively young



FIGURE 5

Forest plot of the associations between "oxidative stress" and measures of diabetic neuropathy. Results are presented as estimates and 95% confidence intervals. Estimates show the percentage change in the outcomes for an increase of one unit of "oxidative stress". Studies with confidence interval crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Model 1 adjusted for age and gender, model 2 adjusted as model 1 + diabetes duration and HbA_{1c}, and model 3 adjusted as model 2 + current smoking, total cholesterol, triglycerides, systolic blood pressure, and the use of beta blockers. CAN, cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy; HR, heart rate; 30:15, lying-to-standing test; E:I, deep breathing test; VM, Valsalva Manoeuvre; SDNN, standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; RMSSD, root mean square of the sum of the squares of differences between consecutive R-R intervals; LF, low-frequency power; HF, high-frequency power; DSPN, distal symmetric polyneuropathy; VPT, vibration perception threshold; SNAP, sural nerve amplitude potential; SNCV, sural nerve conduction velocity; ESC, electrochemical skin conduction. *p < 0.05.

population with a modest prevalence of neuropathy. This suggests that AGEs even in the early stages of diabetes may play a diverse role in the pathogeneses of different types of diabetic neuropathy.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by The Danish Research Ethics Committee (Id. No.:H-15006967). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

EA-S analysed and interpreted the data and drafted the article. MC contributed to the design of the study, acquired and interpreted data, drafted the article, and approved the final version to be published. PN analysed blood samples for AGEs, interpreted data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. TF analysed blood samples for AGEs, interpreted data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. EH contributed to the design of the study, analysed and interpreted data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. MJ contributed to the design of the study, analysed and interpreted data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. JF contributed to the design of the study, analysed and interpreted data, revised the article critically, and approved the final version to be published. CH contributed to the design of the study and acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data. He revised the article critically and approved the final version to be published. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB 1118 and GRK 1874-DIAMICOM), The Augustinus Foundation (15-2274), and The Toyota Foundation (BG 8687).

Acknowledgments

EA-S is the guarantor of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Conflict of interest

JF holds stocks in Medicus Engineering. EH, MC and MJ hold shares in Novo Nordisk AS. MJ has received research

References

1. Jack M, Wright D. Role of advanced glycation endproducts and glyoxalase I in diabetic peripheral sensory neuropathy. *Transl Res* (2012) 159(5):355–65. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2011.12.004

2. Tesfaye S, Boulton AJ, Dyck PJ, Freeman R, Horowitz M, Kempler P, et al. Toronto Diabetic neuropathy expert group. diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33(10):2285–93. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1303

3. Spallone V, Ziegler D, Freeman R, Bernardi L, Frontoni S, Pop-Busui R, et al. Toronto Consensus panel on diabetic neuropathy. cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy in diabetes: clinical impact, assessment, diagnosis, and management. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2011) 27(7):639–53. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1239

4. Tesfaye S, Stevens LK, Stephenson JM, Fuller JH, Plater M, Ionescu-Tirgoviste C, et al. Prevalence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy and its relation to glycaemic control and potential risk factors: the EURODIAB IDDM complications study. *Diabetologia* (1996) 39(11):1377–84. doi: 10.1007/s001250050586

5. Martin CL, Albers JW, Pop-Busui RDCCT/EDIC Research Group. Neuropathy and related findings in the diabetes control and complications trial/ epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications study. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(1):31–8. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2114

6. Kempler P, Tesfaye S, Chaturvedi N, Stevens LK, Webb DJ, Eaton S, et al. Autonomic neuropathy is associated with increased cardiovascular risk factors: the EURODIAB IDDM complications study. *Diabetes Med* (2002) 19(11):900–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00821.x

7. Low PA, Benrud-Larson LM, Sletten DM, Opfer-Gehrking TL, Weigand SD, O'Brien PC, et al. Autonomic symptoms and diabetic neuropathy: a populationbased study. *Diabetes Care* (2004) 27(12):2942–7. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.12.2942

8. Christensen MMB, Hommel EE, Jørgensen ME, von Scholten BJ, Fleischer J, Hansen CS. Prevalence of diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes and the association with insulin pump therapy. *Diabetes Technol Ther* (2018) 20:787–96. doi: 10.1089/dia.2018.0249

9. Trotta D, Verrotti A, Salladini C, Chiarelli F. Diabetic neuropathy in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2004) 5(1):44–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-543X.2004.00041.x

10. Eppens MC, Craig ME, Cusumano J, Hing S, Chan AK, Howard NJ, et al. Prevalence of diabetes complications in adolescents with type 2 compared with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2006) 29(6):1300–6. doi: 10.2337/dc05-2470

grants from AMGEN, Astra Zeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Novo Nordisk, and Sanofi Aventis.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2022.891442/full#supplementary-material

11. Jaiswal M, Divers J, Dabelea D, Isom S, Bell RA, Martin CL, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for diabetic peripheral neuropathy in youth with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(9):1226–32. doi: 10.2337/dc17-0179

12. Donaghue KC, Bonney M, Simpson JM, Schwingshandl J, Fung AT, Howard NJ, et al. Autonomic and peripheral nerve function in adolescents with and without diabetes. *Diabetes Med* (1993) 10(7):664–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.1993.tb00142.x

13. Brings S, Fleming T, Freichel M, Muckenthaler MU, Herzig S, Nawroth PP. Dicarbonyls and advanced glycation end-products in the development of diabetic complications and targets for intervention. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18(5):984. doi: 10.3390/ijms18050984

14. Fleming T, Cuny J, Nawroth G, Djuric Z, Humpert PM, Zeier M, et al. Is diabetes an acquired disorder of reactive glucose metabolites and their intermediates? *Diabetologia* (2012) 55(4):1151–5. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2452-1

15. Duran-Jimenez B, Dobler D, Moffatt S, Rabbani N, Streuli CH, Thornalley PJ, et al. Advanced glycation end products in extracellular matrix proteins contribute to the failure of sensory nerve regeneration in diabetes. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(12):2893–903. doi: 10.2337/db09-0320

16. Bierhaus A, Fleming T, Stoyanov S, Leffler A, Babes A, Neacsu C, et al. Methylglyoxal modification of Nav1.8 facilitates nociceptive neuron firing and causes hyperalgesia in diabetic neuropathy. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(6):926–33. doi: 10.1038/nm.2750

17. Genuth S, Sun W, Cleary P, Gao X, Sell DR, Lachin J, et al. Skin advanced glycation end products glucosepane and methylglyoxal hydroimidazolone are independently associated with long-term microvascular complication progression of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(1):266–78. doi: 10.2337/db14-0215

18. Sveen KA, Karimé B, Jørum E, Mellgren SI, Fagerland MW, Monnier VM, et al. Small- and large-fiber neuropathy after 40 years of type 1 diabetes: associations with glycemic control and advanced protein glycation: the Oslo study. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(11):3712–7. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0788

19. Monnier VM, Sell DR, Gao X, Genuth SM, Lachin JM, Bebu I, et al. Plasma advanced glycation end products and the subsequent risk of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes in the DCCT/EDIC. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care* (2022) 10(1):e002667. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2021-002667

20. Lind M, Odén A, Fahlén M, Eliasson B. The shape of the metabolic memory of HbA1c: re-analysing the DCCT with respect to time-dependent effects. *Diabetologia* (2010) 53(6):1093–8. doi: 10.1007/s00125-010-1706-z

21. Feldman EL, Stevens MJ, Thomas PK, Brown MB, Canal N, Greene DA. A practical two-step quantitative clinical and electrophysiological assessment for the diagnosis and staging of diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (1994) 17(11):1281–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.17.11.1281

22. Vinik AI, Smith AG, Singleton JR, Callaghan B, Freedman BI, Tuomilehto J, et al. Normative values for electrochemical skin conductances and impact of ethnicity on quantitative assessment of sudomotor function. *Diabetes Technol Ther* (2016) 18(6):391–8. doi: 10.1089/dia.2015.0396

23. Charles M, Fleischer J, Witte DR, Ejskjaer N, Borch-Johnsen K, Lauritzen T, et al. Impact of early detection and treatment of diabetes on the 6-year prevalence of cardiac autonomic neuropathy in people with screen-detected diabetes: ADDITION-Denmark, a cluster-randomised study. *Diabetologia* (2013) 56 (1):101–8. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2744-5

24. Christensen MMB, Hommel EE, Jørgensen ME, Fleischer J $\,$, Hansen CS. Glycemic variability and diabetic neuropathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2020) 11:644. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00644

25. Rabbani N. . T.P.M.o.m.b.s.i.d.a.L.-M.M.w.c.p.i.p.s.N.P.-.

26. Rabbani N, Shaheen F, Anwar A, Masania J, Thornalley PJ. Assay of methylglyoxal-derived protein and nucleotide AGEs. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2014) 42:511–7. doi: 10.1042/BST20140019

27. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *R Statist Soc Ser B* (1995) 57:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x

28. Groener JB, Oikonomou D, Cheko R, Kender Z, Zemva J, Kihm L, et al. Methylglyoxal and advanced glycation end products in patients with diabetes - what we know so far and the missing links. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2019) 127(8):497–504. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-106443

29. Andersen ST, Witte DR, Dalsgaard EM, Andersen H, Nawroth P, Fleming T, et al. Risk factors for incident diabetic polyneuropathy in a cohort with screendetected type 2 diabetes followed for 13 years: ADDITION-Denmark. *Diabetes Care* (2018) 41(5):1068–75. doi: 10.2337/dc17-2062

30. Hansen CS, Jensen TM, Jensen JS, Nawroth P, Fleming T, Witte DR, et al. The role of serum methylglyoxal on diabetic peripheral and cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy: the ADDITION Denmark study. *Diabetes Med* (2015) 32(6):778–85. doi: 10.1111/dme.12753

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Charumathi Sabanayagam, Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), Singapore

REVIEWED BY

Fabiana Picconi, San Giovanni Calibita Fatebenefratelli Hospital, Italy Takahisa Deguchi, Kagoshima University, Japan

*CORRESPONDENCE Mitra Tavakoli m.tavakoli@exeter.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 07 March 2022 ACCEPTED 12 September 2022 PUBLISHED 12 October 2022

CITATION

Carmichael J, Fadavi H, Ishibashi F, Howard S, Boulton AJM, Shore AC and Tavakoli M (2022) Implementation of corneal confocal microscopy for screening and early detection of diabetic neuropathy in primary care alongside retinopathy screening: Results from a feasibility study. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:891575. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.891575

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Carmichael, Fadavi, Ishibashi, Howard, Boulton, Shore and Tavakoli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Implementation of corneal confocal microscopy for screening and early detection of diabetic neuropathy in primary care alongside retinopathy screening: Results from a feasibility study

Josie Carmichael¹, Hassan Fadavi^{2,3}, Fukashi Ishibashi⁴, Susan Howard⁵, Andrew J. M. Boulton³, Angela C. Shore¹ and Mitra Tavakoli^{1,3*}

¹Exeter Centre of Excellence for Diabetes Research, National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Exeter Clinical Research Facility, and Institute of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences, University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, United Kingdom, ²Peripheral Neuropathy Group, Imperial College, London, United Kingdom, ³University of Manchester ,Division of Diabetes, Endocrinology & Gastroenterology, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom, ⁴Internal Medicine, Ishibashi Medical and Diabetes Centre, Hiroshima, Japan, ⁵National Institute for Health Research Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (NIHR CLAHRC), Manchester, United Kingdom

Objective: Screening for diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is essential for early detection and timely intervention. Quantitative assessment of small nerve fiber damage is key to the early diagnosis and assessment of its progression. Corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) is a non-invasive, in-vivo diagnostic technique that provides an accurate surrogate biomarker for small-fiber neuropathy. In this novel study for the first time, we introduced CCM to primary care as a screening tool for DPN alongside retinopathy screening to assess the level of neuropathy in this novel cohort.

Research design and methods: 450 consecutive subjects with type 1 or type 2 diabetes attending for annual eye screening in primary care optometry settings underwent assessment with CCM to establish the prevalence of sub-clinical diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Subjects underwent assessment for neurological and ocular symptoms of diabetes and a history of diabetic foot disease, neuropathy and diabetic retinopathy (DR).

Results: CCM examination was completed successfully in 427 (94.9%) subjects, 22% of whom had neuropathy according to Diabetic Neuropathy Symptom (DNS) score. The prevalence of sub-clinical neuropathy as defined by abnormal corneal nerve fiber length (CNFL) was 12.9%. In the subjects with a short duration of type 2 diabetes, 9.2% had abnormal CNFL. CCM showed significant abnormalities in corneal nerve parameters in this cohort of subjects with

reduction of corneal nerve fiber density (CNFD, p<0.001), CNFL (p<0.001) and corneal nerve branch density (CNBD, p<0.001) compared to healthy subjects. In subjects who had no evidence of DR (67% of all subjects), 12.0% had abnormal CNFL.

Conclusions: CCM may be a sensitive biomarker for early detection and screening of DPN in primary care alongside retinopathy screening.

KEYWORDS

screening, diabetic neuropathy, corneal confocal microscopy, early detection, diagnosis

Introduction

Screening for microvascular complications of diabetes is essential if we are to tackle its devastating complications through early detection and timely intervention. Diabetic retinopathy (DR) screening in the UK has been rated one of the most successful screening programs, in which the NHS offers annual digital fundus photography to all people with diabetes over the age of 12 years (1). This has resulted in diabetes no longer being the leading cause of blindness in the working population among all developed countries (2).

Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is the most common and costly diabetes-associated complication, occurring in around 50% of individuals with diabetes (3). It is the strongest initiating risk factor for diabetic foot ulceration. In the UK, people with diabetes account for more than 40% of hospitalizations for major amputations and 73% of emergency admissions for minor amputations (4).

Currently, there is no Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved therapy to prevent or reverse human DPN (3). The management approach focuses on reasonable glycaemic control, lifestyle modifications, and management of associated pain. Thus, it is important that DPN is detected early in its course. It is recommended that all subjects with type 2 diabetes are screened for DPN at diagnosis, and for type 1 diabetes, the screening should begin five years post-diagnosis (5). After this initial screening, all subjects should be reviewed annually. However, screening for DPN is challenging. There are currently no simple markers for early detection of DPN in

routine clinical practice. The measures used are crude and detect the disease late in its natural course.

According to current guidelines for accurate assessment of DPN, a combination of tests may apply which mainly focus on medical history and simple clinical tests such as pinprick and temperature sensation, vibration perception and 10-g monofilament test (6, 7)

While symptoms and neurological deficits have direct relevance to patients, the assessment is excessively variable with poor reproducibility. Similarly, Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST) is subjective, is highly variable, and has limited reproducibility. Neurophysiological tests including Nerve Conduction Studies (NCS) is objective and reproducible but does not assess small fibers, which are the earliest to be damaged and show repair. Small fibers can be assessed objectively by quantifying intra-epidermal nerve fiber density (IENFD) in skin biopsies; however, this is an invasive procedure that requires expert laboratory assessment and results are considerably variable even in healthy controls (8). Therefore, effective treatments may have failed not because of a lack of efficacy, but because of an inability of the currently advocated end points to detect improvement in clinical trials of DN. The use of corneal confocal microscopy (CCM) for rapid, non-invasive clinical assessment of corneal nerves has grown substantially in recent years. It has proven to be particularly useful as a diagnostic marker for the detection of diabetic neuropathy. Numerous studies have confirmed its good sensitivity and specificity (8-14), demonstrating good reproducibility (15) for identifying DPN, proving that it can be particularly useful as a diagnostic marker for screening and stratification of DPN (14, 16-18) as well as a range of other peripheral neuropathies (19-21).

Currently, in the United Kingdom (UK) and globally, there is a lack of robust screening programmes for early detection of DPN and diabetic foot disease, resulting in increasing rates of foot ulcers and amputations among patients with diabetes (22). Previous studies have aimed to establish a screening model for diabetic foot diseases alongside eye disease. These include a recent study in a cohort of patients attending the retinal

Abbreviations: CCM, Corneal Confocal Microscopy; CNBD, Corneal Nerve Branch Density; CNFA, Corneal Nerve Fiber Area; CNFD, Corneal Nerve Fiber Density; CNFL, Corneal Nerve Fiber Length; CNFW, Corneal Nerve Fiber Width; CTBD, Corneal Total Branch Density; DNS, Diabetic Neuropathy Score; DPN, Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy; HbA1c, Glycated Hemoglobin; LC; Langerhans Cells; NIHR, National Institute for Health Research; TC, Tortuosity Coefficient.

screening service in a hospital and primary care setting that showed combined eye, foot and renal screening is feasible (23).

The current paper presents the results of a large cohort of subjects screened in primary care using CCM alongside a retinopathy screening service. In comparison to previous CCM studies, this cohort is more representative of the community population for whom CCM could be utilised in the future as a monitoring and screening tool. This group represents subjects, mostly with type 2 diabetes, who are not under hospital care and have less severe complications of diabetes than those who have previously been investigated with CCM. It thus provided an opportunity to explore CCM as a biomarker for DPN in a novel cohort.

Materials and methods

Study group

The current dataset was originally collected as part of a study for investigating the feasibility and acceptability of implementing CCM for screening of DPN in primary care alongside the diabetic retinopathy screening program in South Manchester Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Service (SMDRSS) at four primary care optometry practices (24). During the sixmonth study (2014–2015), 450 consecutive subjects with type 1 or type 2 diabetes attended annual diabetes eye screening. Of those who consented and enrolled on the study, 95.5% had type 2 diabetes, 38% were female, and the median age of the whole study population was 68 years (range 21-93). The median duration since diabetes diagnosis was 6 years (0.1-51).

Data were successfully collected to an acceptable standard from 427 subjects (Figure 1 and Table 1) by four experienced and trained optometrists. The composition of the study population was compared against the UK population with diabetes as reported in the National Diabetes Audit (NDA) (25). Overall, apart from ethnicity, the composition of the study population was similar to the UK population with diabetes for age, gender, type of diabetes and duration of diabetes.

The research adhered to the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki, and ethical approval was granted by the NRES East Midlands committee (REC: 15/EM/0079). All subjects provided written informed consent before participating in this study. Inclusion criteria were subjects aged 16 years and over with type 1 or 2 diabetes participating in NHS diabetes retinopathy screening programme. The exclusion criteria were subjects under 16, subjects who were unable to provide written consent, concurrent ocular disease, ocular infection or inflammation which may affect the cornea, a history of ocular disease or systemic disease that has affected the cornea (e.g. keratoconus, corneal dystrophies, refractive surgery), and wearing a hard contact lens. Full details of the study methods can be found in the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) report (24).



TABLE 1 Characteristics of the cohort with diabetes.

			Subgroups of Diabetes subjects					
	All subjects with Diabetes (N = 427)	Type 1 Diabetes (N = 18)	Type 2 Diabetes (N = 407)	Type 2 Diabetes ≤2 yrs. (N = 98)	No Retinopathy (R0) or Maculopathy (M0)(N = 241			
Gender								
Female n (%)	167 (39%)	8 (44%)	158 (39%)	39 (40%)	94 (39%)			
Male n (%)	260 (61%)	10 (56%)	249 (61%)	59 (60%)	147 (61%)			
Age, years	67.9 (21-93)	67.9 (21-93)	68.30 (21-93)	60.85 (21-89)	68.40 (34-92)			
Type of Diabetes	· · · ·	. ,	. ,	· · · ·				
Type 1 n (%)	18 (4%)				3 (1%)			
Type 2 n (%)	407 (95%)	_	_	_	236 (98%)			
Unknown	2 (<1%)				2 (1%)			
Duration of diabetes,	6 (0.1-51)	6 (0.1-51)	6 (0.1-30)	1 (0.1-2)	5 (0.10-51)			
years	0 (0.1-31)	0 (0.1-51)	0 (0.1-30)	1 (0.1-2)	3 (0.10-31)			
•								
Ethnicity	247 (010/)	16 (000/)	228 (810/)	70 (010/)	202 (82 50/)			
White n (%)	347 (81%)	16 (89%)	328 (81%)	79 (81%)	202 (83.5%)			
Black n (%)	65 (15%)	2 (11%)	63 (15%)	15 (15%)	31 (13%)			
Asian n (%) Mixed	12 (3%) 2 (1%)	0 0	12 (3%) 2 (1%)	3 (3%) 1 (1%)	5 (2%) 1 (0.5%)			
Other/unknown	2 (1%) 3 (1%)	0	2 (1%)	0	2 (1%)			
	5 (170)	0	2 (170)	0	2 (170)			
History of DN	20 ((20)		a= (cov)					
Yes n (%)	28 (6.5%)	3 (17%)	25 (6%)	4 (4%)	8 (3%)			
No n (%) Unknown	397 (93%)	15 (83%) 0	380 (93%)	94 (96%) 0	231 (96%)			
	2 (0.5%)	0	2 (1%)	0	2 (1%)			
History of Foot Ulcer		- ()	()	- ()	. (
Yes n (%)	16 (4%)	3 (17%)	13 (3%)	2 (2%)	4 (1.5%)			
No n (%)	410 (96%)	15 (83%)	393 (97%)	96 98%)	236 (98%)			
Unknown	1 (<0.5%)	0	1 (<0.5%)	0	1 (0.5%)			
History of Retinopathy								
Yes n (%)	146 (34%)	5 (28%)	133 (33%)	20 (20%)	0			
No n (%)	273 (64%)	13 (72%)	266 (65%)	77 (79%)	241 (100%)			
Unknown	8 (2%)	0	8 (2%)	1 (1%)	0			
History of Laser								
Treatment for	0 (00)	2 (110)	= (22)	. (
Retinopathy	9 (2%)	2 (11%)	7 (2%)	1 (1%)	0			
Yes $n(\%)$	417 (98%)	16 (89%) 0	399 (98%)	97 (99%)	241 (100%)			
No n (%) Unknown n (%)	1 (<0.5%)	0	1 (<0.5%)	0	0			
DNS Score	262 (619)	14 (500()	246 (62 50)	51 (520())	1 (2) ((200))			
0 n (%)	262 (61%)	14 (78%)	246 (60.5%)	71 (73%)	163 (68%)			
1 n (%)	73 (17%)	3 (16.5%)	70 (17%)	13 (13%)	34 (14%)			
2 n (%) 3 n (%)	49 (12%) 21 (5%)	1 (5.5%) 0	48 (12%) 21 (5%)	7 (7%) 3 (3%)	22 (9%) 11 (4.5%)			
4 n (%)	22 (5%)	0	21 (5%) 22 (5.5%)	3 (3%) 4 (4%)	11 (4.5%)			
	(570)	U U	22 (0.070)	* (*/0)				
Retinopathy Grading R0 n (%)	288 (6704)	5 (280/)	281 (60%)	78 (80%)				
R0 n (%) R1 n (%)	288 (67%) 132 (31%)	5 (28%) 10 (55.5%)	281 (69%) 122 (30%)	20 (20%)				
R1 fl (%) R2 n (%)	4 (1%)	10 (55.5%)	3 (1%)	20 (20%)				
R3 n (%)	3 (1%)	2 (11%)	1 (<0.5%)	0	_			
Maculopathy Grading	. (-,-,	()	(/ /					
Maculopathy Grading M0 n (%)	414 (97%)	17 (94%)	395 (97%)	95 (97%)				
M0 n (%) M1 n (%)	414 (97%) 13 (3%)	17 (94%) 1 (6%)	395 (97%) 12 (3%)	3 (3%)	_			
	13 (370)	1 (0/0)	12 (370)	5 (570)	-			
CNFD (no./mm ²)	25.04 (+ 5.00)	22.50 (+ 0.55)	25.04 (27 (5 () () ()	2(20 (
Semi-automated	$25.84 (\pm 7.08)$	$23.79 (\pm 9.75)$	$25.94 (\pm 6.95)$	$27.65 (\pm 6.96)$	$26.28 (\pm 7.02)$			
Automated	21.63 (± 7.10)	18.31(± 9.72)	21.76 (± 6.95)	23.59 (± 6.91)	21.98 (± 7.00)			
CNBD (no./mm ²)								
Semi-automated	75.00 (0-212.50)	64.58 (5-119.79)	75.00 (0-212.50)	79.16 (0-194.79)	78.12 (0-210.42)			
Automated	29.16 (0-82.29)	22.39 (2.08-49.96)	29.16 (0-82.29)	31.25 (4.17-82.29)	30.21 (0-82.29)			

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

	All subjects with Diabetes (N = 427)		Subgroups of Diabetes subjects					
		Type 1 Diabetes (N = 18)	Type 2 Diabetes (N = 407)	Type 2 Diabetes ≤2 yrs. (N = 98)	No Retinopathy (R0) or Maculopathy (M0)(N = 241)			
CNFL (mm/mm ²)								
Semi-Automated Automated	19.37 (± 5.68) 13.62 (± 3.55)	17.29 (± 6.73) 12.80 (± 4.32)	19.48 (± 5.63) 13.68 (± 3.52)	20.78 (± 5.45) 14.45 (± 3.66)	$19.78 (\pm 5.53) \\ 13.80 (\pm 3.46)$			
TC (TC)	16.90(9.60-32.66)	15.39(9.46-32.66)	17.00 (8.18-31.67)	16.42(10.86-31.33)	16.73 (8.85 - 29.72)			
CNFW (mm/mm ²)	0.021 (0.019-0.030)	0.022 (0.020-0.028)	0.021 (0.019-0.030)	0.022 (0.021-0.023)	0.021 (0.019-0.030)			
CNFA (mm ² /mm ²)	0.006 (0.001-0.013)	0.005 (0.003-0.008)	0.006 (0.001-0.013)	0.005 (0.002-0.010)	0.006 (0.002-0.011)			
CTBD (no./mm ²)	46.87 (0-138.5)	34.50 (12.50-78.12)	46.87 (0-138.5)	62.50 (59.37-65.62)	47.91 (6.25-123.95)			
LCs Presence								
Yes n (%) No n (%)	417 (98%) 10 (2%)	417 (98%) 10 (2%)	397 (98%) 10 (2%)	97 (99%) 1 (1%)	234 (97%) 7 (3%)			
LCs Density (no./mm ²)	22.92 (0-225)	40.31 (2.08-126.04)	22.92 (0-225)	28.65 (0-225)	20.83 (0-170.38)			

Summary of the characteristics of the whole cohort with diabetes (Subjects), the subjects with type 1 diabetes, subjects with type 2 diabetes, subjects with type 2 diabetes and less than, or equal to, two years since disease diagnosis, and subjects with no evidence of retinopathy (R0) or maculopathy (M0). Age and duration of diabetes are represented by median (range) due to non-normal distribution. Retinopathy grading based on the ETDRS criteria: 0 = no retinopathy, 1 = background, 2 = pre-proliferative. Maculopathy grading: 0 = no maculopathy 1 = maculopathy. 'Unknown' represents subjects for whom information was not available. Excluded cases were those with image quality that was deemed unacceptable, or there were < 2 images available for analysis.

History of neuropathy, foot ulcer and retinopathy

All attending subjects completed a detailed questionnaire on their history of diabetic complications. Specifically, they were asked about any previously diagnosed neuropathy, diabetic foot disease, foot ulceration, gradable retinopathy, and previous laser treatment for DR.

Assessment of neuropathy

The Diabetic Neuropathy Symptom Score (DNS) was used to assess each subject with diabetes for clinically evident DPN. The DNS score is a four-item symptom score for assessing DPN, developed by an expert panel and has been described previously (26). A score of 1 or more, out of a maximum of 4, indicates clinically detectable DPN (26).

Retinopathy screening

All subjects underwent retinal screening in one of the four primary care optometry practices. A detailed description of the Diabetic Retinopathy Screening Service (DRSS) (1) and the retinopathy grading criteria (27) have been published previously. In summary, retinopathy is graded as one of four grades from R0 to R3. R0 represents no DR, R1 represents background DR, R2 represents pre-proliferative DR, and R3 represents proliferative DR. Mydriatic, 2-dimensional fundus photography was carried out on each patient. Images were graded by the appropriately qualified, attending optometrist for the level of DR with reference to previously established criteria (27).

Examination with CCM

Each subject underwent assessment using in-vivo CCM (Heidelberg Retinal Tomograph III Rostock Cornea Module; Heidelberg Engineering GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) by a trained optometrist, based on established methodology (28). Each optometrist selected eight (4 per eye) high-quality, non-overlapping images from Bowman's layer and sub-basal nerve plexus in a masked, randomized order. Through a secure server that was established and supported by the University of Manchester, the fully anonymized images were shared on a daily basis with the PI (MT). An in-depth protocol of this imaging technique has been described previously (24).

CCM analysis

Images of the corneal sub-basal nerve plexus were evaluated for quality and artefacts by the attending optometrist. Six nonoverlapping masked images were analysed per subject using semi-automated CCMetrics software (MA Dabbah; Imaging Science and biomedical engineering, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK). It is recognised that semi-automated analysis can be a time consuming, resource intensive procedure as it involves manual tracing of nerve fibres (29). Considering this, fully automated, algorithmic defined, software such as ACCMetrics (University of Manchester, Manchester, UK) has been developed to eliminate the manual input. However, some small cohort studies have previously reported problems of automated software such as false positive and false negative identification of nerve structures (30, 31) and systematically lower measures of CNFL compared to semi-automated methods, despite good correlation (29). We therefore included both methods of analysis.

The following semi-automated CCM parameters were quantified: (i) Corneal nerve fiber density (CNFD) – the total number of major nerves/mm² of corneal tissue, (ii) corneal nerve branch density (CNBD) – the number of branches emanating from all major nerve trunks/mm² of corneal tissue, (iii) corneal nerve fiber length (CNFL) – the total length of all nerve fibers and branches (mm/mm²), (iv) tortuosity coefficient (TC) and (v) Langerhans cells (LCs) presence and density within the area of corneal tissue.

The ACCMetrics automated software produces three parameters which are comparable to the semi-automated software (CNFL, CNFD and CNBD), as well as three additional parameters: corneal total branch density (CTB) - the total number of branch points from the main nerve/mm², corneal nerve fiber area (CNFA) - total nerve fiber area (mm²/ mm²), and corneal nerve fiber width (CNFW) - the average nerve fiber width (mm/mm²).

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed in Microsoft Excel for Office 365 (Microsoft Corp, Seattle, WA, USA) and SPSS for Windows version 26 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data were tested for normal distribution, and appropriate statistical tests were carried out accordingly.

For agreement analysis of automated vs semi-automated software, a two-way, mixed-effects model intraclass correlation test was conducted for absolute agreement between patient values. This was expressed as intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and 95% confidence interval.

A sample size of 400 subjects with a 95% confidence interval of \pm 5% was originally calculated to allow estimations of the proportions on study outcomes. This decision was made in consideration of equipment availability and the feasibility for the practices to recruit enough participants during the timeframe of the original study.

Results

Demographics and clinical information

The demographics, relevant patient history and clinical information for the subjects are presented in Table 1. The patient population of this study purposefully included wide ethnic and socio-economic mix factors, according to the NIHR deprivation index. This was broadly comparable to the adult national population with diabetes.

From the 450 subjects recruited for the study, 23 (5.1%) were excluded. Figure 1 displays reasons for exclusion.

Correlation with age

Overall, there was a significant negative age-related correlation for semi-automated CNFD, CNFL and CNBD (p<0.001 for all 3) (Table 2). Similarly, there was a significant negative correlation between age and all three parameters measured using automated software (p<0.001 for CNFL and CNFD, p=0.002 for CNBD). The only other parameter with a significant negative correlation to age was corneal total branch density (CTBD) derived using automated software. There was no correlation of tortuosity (using either coefficient), LCs density, corneal nerve fiber width (CNFW) and corneal nerve fiber area (CNFA) with age.

Comparison of corneal nerve data derived using semi-automated and automated analysis of the same CCM images

In order to compare agreement between automated and semi-automated corneal nerve analysis, values for CNFD, CNFL and CNBD for each method were assessed (Table 3). For most of the subjects examined (88.3%), a higher measurement for CNFD was obtained using semi-automated analysis in comparison to the automated method (Figure 2A). Overall, the mean difference between the two measurements was 4.26 (no/mm²), and the mean percentage difference was 16.49%, with a mean higher value for semi-automated analysis. ICC values gave moderate agreement (ICC=0.75) between the two measures. There was no correlation between the mean CNFD number and the difference between the two measurements (Figure 2A).

For most subjects (97.0%), a higher measurement for CNFL was obtained using semi-automated analysis in comparison to automated software (Figure 2B). Overall, the mean difference between the two measurements was 5.73(mm/mm²), Overall, the mean difference between the two methods for CNBD was 46.34 (no/mm2) (Figure 2C) and the mean percentage difference

Statistic			Age	(Years)
		n	Rs	p-value
CNFD: Corneal nerve fiber density	Semi-automated	427	-0.26	<0.001
(no/mm ²)	Automated	427	-0.27	< 0.001
CNBD: Corneal nerve branch density	Semi-automated	427	-0.2	< 0.001
(no./mm ²)	Automated	427	-0.15	0.002
CNFL: Corneal nerve fiber length	Semi-automated	427	-0.24	< 0.001
(mm/mm ²)	Automated	427	-0.2	< 0.001
TC: Tortuosity coefficient	(0-1)	427	0.07	0.10
	(0-20)	427	0.07	0.20
LCs: Langerhans cells Density (no./mm ²)		427	0.09	0.06
CTBD: Corneal total branch density (no./mm ²)		427	-0.12	0.02
CNFA: Corneal nerve fiber area (mm ² /mm ²)		427	0.002	>0.90
CNFW: Corneal nerve fiber width (mm/mm ²)		426	0.02	0.70

TABLE 2 Correlations of nerve fiber parameters with age.

Spearman's correlation (Rs) and statistical significance (p-value) of semi-automated and automated CCM image analysis with age. Data analyzed from patient cohort and included subjects with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Significant correlations are highlighted in red.

between the two measurements was 29.61%, with an overall higher mean for semi-automated analysis. ICC values again gave moderate agreement (ICC =0.63) between the two measures; however, confidence intervals for ICC values were broad (Table 3). There was a modest positive correlation between mean CNFL and the difference between the two measurements (Figure 2B), indicating that the discrepancy between the methods becomes greater as the fiber length increases.

Overall, the mean difference between the two methods for CNBD was 46.34 (no/mm²), and the mean percentage difference was 59.95%, making CNBD the parameter with the largest %

disagreement between the two methods. ICC values gave poor agreement (ICC=0.41) between the two methods, and confidence intervals for ICC values were broad (Table 3). There was modest positive correlation between mean CNBD and the difference between the two measurements (Table 3).

Prevalence of small fiber neuropathy

As the results demonstrated age-related negative correlations, we assessed whether subjects' CCM data differed from those

TABLE 3 Comparison of automated and semi-automated analysis.

		CNFD (no./mm ²)	CNFL (mm/mm ²)	CNBD (no./mm ²)
Semi-automated Analysis	Mean	25.83	19.35	77.3
	±SD	7.08	5.69	37.92
	SEM	0.34	0.28	1.83
Automated Analysis	Mean	21.57	13.62	30.96
	±SD	7.11	3.56	16.45
	SEM	0.34	0.17	0.79
	Mean Difference	4.26	5.73	46.34
	Mean % Difference	16.49	29.61	59.95
	P-value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
	ICC	0.75	0.63	0.41
	95% Confidence Interval	0.039-0.912	-0.183-0.876	-0.204 - 0.723

Comparison of automated and semi-automated quantified measurements for CNFD, CNFL, and CNBD. Analysis conducted on the cohort with diabetes (n = 427). Results reported as mean, standard deviation (SD) and standard error of the mean (SEM). Mean difference value represents the mean difference between results from each method. Mean % difference represents the average difference expressed as a percentage of the semi-automated analysis result (i.e. if the semi-automated CNFL result for a parameter was 20mm/mm2 and for automated software is was 10mm/mm2 then the % difference would be 50% as the difference is 50% of the semi-automated CNFL). Two-way mixed models for ICC are shown with 95% confidence intervals and statistical significance reported to represent agreement between semi-automated and automated software. All p-values calculated with a paired samples T-test. Statistical significance determined by $p \leq 0.05$.



FIGURE 2

Comparison of automated vs semi-automated analysis of CNFD (A), CNFL (B) and CNBD (C) using Bland-Altman plots. X-axis of each plot represents the mean measurement between the two methods of analysis for each subject. Y-axis represents the difference in values between the two methods for each subject, calculated by (semi-automated value - automated value) for each patient. Data from cohort with diabetes used in analysis (n=427). Solid line represents the mean difference between the two methods. Dashed lines represent +/- (1.96 x 2SD). Red, blue and green markers represent images graded as poor, acceptable and excellent by the investigator, respectively.

expected in healthy individuals, using data from a published agesegregated normative range by an international consortium (32). Due to the large differences between our automated and semiautomated results, we used only our semi-automated for comparison to the semi-automated derived published normative ranges. Table 4 displays the median values for the male and female subjects with diabetes, separated into six groups, based on age at the point of examination. Data are presented for semi-automated analysis derived CNFD and CNFL, compared to each age group's published normative median values. All age groups in the cohort of male individuals with diabetes demonstrate a median value for CNFL less than the normative published data. This was also true for all but one of the age groups in the female cohort, where the median of the 56-65 age group was 0.57 mm/mm² higher than that of the published normative median. Due to very small numbers of subjects under the age of 45, we assessed the number of subjects whose CNFL was less than the normally published median for their age group. For the female cohort, 7 of the 8 subjects under the age of 45 had a CNFL length that was less than the median. For the male cohort, 10 of the 13 subjects under the age of 45 had a CNFL length that was less than the median.

For both males and females, the median CNFD was lower than the normative published median CNFD for the three youngest age groups; 16-25, 26-35 and 36-45. Again, due to small numbers of subjects under the age of 45, we assessed the number of subjects whose CNFD was less than the normally published median for their age group. For the female cohort, 6 of the 8 subjects under the age of 45 had a CNFD that was less than the median. For the male cohort, 9 of the 13 subjects under the age of 45 had a CNFD that was less than the median. In contrast, the median CNFD was higher than the normative published median CNFD for males and females in the three oldest age groups; 46-55, 56-65 and over 65.

Age-corrected values at which CNFL may be considered abnormal have previously been published (32). When compared to these values, 20 (11.98%) females were below the CNFL cutoff (Table 4) and classified as abnormal. Of these 20 females, 2 had type 1, and 18 had type 2 diabetes. Overall, 25% of subjects with type 1 diabetes and 11.39% with type 2 diabetes were classified as abnormal.

A slightly higher proportion of 35 (13.46%) males in the patient cohort were below the CNFL cut-off. Of these 35 males, 2 had type 1 diabetes, and 33 had type 2 diabetes. Overall, 20% of males with type 1 diabetes and 13.25% of males with type 2 diabetes were classified as abnormal using CNFL alone.

CNFL in subjects based on diabetes disease duration

In order to assess whether there may be corneal nerve alterations early in the course of diabetes for this cohort, a sub-group of the subjects who were diagnosed with diabetes ≤ 2

years ago were compared with age-corrected normal published values for CNFL (Tables 1, 5). Due to the very small number of subjects with type 1 diabetes (n=2), these subjects were excluded, and those with type 2 diabetes were considered alone for these analyses (n=98). When assessing the group of subjects with ≤ 2 years duration of diabetes from the time of diagnosis, 9.18% of subjects were classified as below the age-corrected published cut-off point for CNFL (32) and would have been considered abnormal for this parameter alone.

When considering CNFL in participants with a longer duration of diabetes (Table 5), the percentage of patients falling below the normative published cut-off value were similar across the middle three duration groups (12.05-13.74%). The group with the shortest duration (≤ 2 years) had a smaller percentage of patients falling below the cut-off value (9.18%) and the group with the longest duration of diabetes (>20 years) had the highest percentage of patients falling below the cut-off value (15.38%) however due to the small number of patients in each group, we were unable to test for statistical significance.

CCM parameters in subjects with different grades of retinopathy

CNFD was compared across four groups according to DR grading (Figure 3 and Table 6). When testing for significance between groups R0 and R1, a non-significant difference was found (p=0.37). Three of the four subjects (75%) in the R2 group had a CNFD level less than the published normative median value for their age group. For group R3 subjects, all three subjects (100%) had a CNFD level which was less than the published median normative value for their age group. As the number of subjects in groups R2 and R3 was very small, we could not perform statistical tests.

Similarly, CNFL demonstrated no significant difference between the R0 and R1 subjects (p=0.19). As published, suggested cut-off points are available for CNFL; these were used to assess each group. In the R0 group (Tables 1, 6), 11.81% of subjects with R0 fell below the cut-off point. This increased to 13.64% in the R1 group and 100% in the R3 group; however, none of the R2 group fell below the CNFL cut-off point.

According to the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS), grading of DR (31), R0 and M0 represent no detectable retinopathy and maculopathy, respectively. Therefore, the group of subjects meeting these criteria and with no previous history of retinopathy, maculopathy or laser was compared with age-corrected normal published values for CNFL to assess any significant changes prior to detectable retinopathy (Table 1). The patient group consisted of mainly subjects with type 2 diabetes (98%). The majority of the patient group had a DNS score of 0 (68%), with 32% scoring positively on the DNS score for at least one symptom of neuropathy. Based on CNFL length alone,

				CNFD					CNFL		
	Age	n	Cohort median	Normative median	Difference	Cohort median	Normative median	Difference	CNFL Cut-off value (mm/ mm2)	< CNFL Cut-off (no)	< CNFL Cut-off (%)
FEMALES	16-25	2	22.40	31.85	9.45	16.07	26.43	10.36	15.08	1	50.00
(n = 167)	26-35	1*	20.83	30.20	9.37	13.24	25.45	12.21	13.17	0	0.00
	36-45	5	26.04	28.56	2.52	21.84	24.37	2.53	12.48	1	20.00
	46-55	29	30.21	26.91	-3.3	21.87	23.28	1.41	12.48	1	3.45
	56-65	36	27.08	25.27	-1.81	22.77	22.20	-0.57	12.9	3	8.33
	>65	94	23.96	23.54	-0.42	18.86	21.11	2.25	13.67	14	14.89
Total		167								Type 1: 2 Type 2: 18 Overall: 20	Type 1: 25 Type 2: 11.39 Overall: 11.98
MALES	16-25	1*	23.96	32.44	8.48	17.73	23.16	5.43	15.93	0	0
(n =260)	26-35	3	25.00	30.56	5.56	18.81	22.92	4.11	14.05	1	33.33
	36-45	9	26.04	28.68	2.64	17.57	23.34	5.77	13.20	1	11.11
	46-55	26	29.69	26.80	-2.89	22.94	23.63	0.69	13.01	3	11.54
	56-65	66	28.04	24.92	-3.12	20.23	23.03	2.80	13.12	7	10.61
	>65	155	25.00	22.95	-2.05	18.66	20.61	1.95	13.15	23	14.84
Total		260								Type 1: 2 Type 2: 33 Overall: 35	Type 1: 20 Type 2: 13.25 Overall: 13.46

Comparison of 2 semi-automated corneal nerve parameters (CNFD and CNFL) with age-matched published normative values (32) for females and males. 'Cohort Median' represents the median value in each age group of the patient cohort. 'Normative Median' represents the published median values for females in each age group (32). The difference between the normative and cohort medians was calculated as (Normative median – Cohort median). Positive values are represented in red, whereas negative values are shown in black. (* unable to calculate median as n = 1). Classification of females and males within as having pathological CNFL when compared to published cut-off values (25) (0.05th quantile of normative database). The number and % of subjects classified as having pathological CNFL is given for each age group.

	≤ 2 Years	2-5 Years	5-10 Years	10-20 Years	>20 Years	p-value
n	98	83	131	82	13	-
Age (years)	60.85 (21-89)	63.30 (34-87)	69.10 (45-92)	72.45 (46-93)	77.20 (57-86)	< 0.001
Gender						
F	39 (40%)	32 (39%)	53 (40%)	27 (33%)	7 (54%)	
М	59 (60%)	51 (61%)	78 (60%)	55 (67%)	6 (46%)	
Ethnicity						
White	79 (81%)	65 (78%)	110 (84%)	65 (79%)	9 (69%)	
Black	15 (15%)	15 (18%)	16 (12%)	13 (16%)	4 (31%)	
Asian	3 (3%)	3 (4%)	2 (1.5%)	4 (5%)	0	-
Mixed	1 (1%)	0	1 (1%)	0	0	
Other	0	0	2 (1.5%)	0	0	
DNS Score						
0	71 (72.5%)	51 (61.5%)	70 (53.5%)	45 (55%)	9 (69%)	
1	13 (13.5%)	12 (14.5%)	29 (22.5%)	15 (18%)	1 (8%)	
2	7 (7%)	6 (7%)	20 (15%)	13 (16%)	2 (15%)	-
3	3 (3%)	10 (12%)	3 (2%)	4 (5%)	1 (8%)	
4	4 (4%)	4 (5%)	9 (7%)	5 (6%)	0	
Retinopathy Grade						
R0	78 (80%)	63 (76%)	94 (72%)	41 (50%)	5 (38%)	
R1	20 (20%)	20 (24%)	36 (27%)	39 (48%)	7 (54%)	
R2	0	0	1 (1%)	2 (2%)	0	-
R3	0	0	0	0	1 (8%)	
Maculopathy Grade						
M0	95 (97%)	82 (99%)	130 (99%)	77 (94%)	11 (85%)	
M1	3 (3%)	1 (1%)	1 (1%)	5 (6%)	2 (15%)	-
No of subjects < CNFL cut-off	9 (9.18%)	10 (12.05%)	18 (13.74%)	11 (12.20%)	2 (15.38%)	

TABLE 5 Comparison of groups based on years since diagnosis.

Summary of the known characteristics and clinical grading information for subjects with type 2 diabetes, split into 5 age groups and control subjects (Controls). Age is represented by median (range) due to a non-normal distribution. Retinopathy grading: 0 = no retinopathy, 1 = background, 2 = pre-proliferative, 3 = proliferative. Maculopathy grading: 0 = no maculopathy 1 = maculopathy. See methods section for detailed grading characteristics. 'Unknown' represents subjects for which information was not available. Number of subjects <cut-off was calculated using published age-corrected values (32).

12.0% of subjects were below the age-dependent published cutoff point, suggesting that 12.0% of subjects with no evidence of retinopathy may have significant CNFL reduction.

Discussion

This study assessed the implementation of CCM to screen for DPN in clinical practice outside of the research environment and to our knowledge, is the first study of this type. As a measure of the corneal sub-basal nerve plexus, CCM provides a potential surrogate biomarker for assessing small nerve fiber changes in subjects with diabetes. Several studies that recruited subjects from hospital clinics have confirmed CCM's ability to detect nerve alterations in people with diabetes compared to healthy controls (5, 6, 8, 11, 15) and distinguish between subjects with and without clinical DPN (9, 12). CCM has shown promise for predicting future neuropathy from baseline measurements (11) and has detected nerve regeneration post-therapeutic intervention (33).

Automated software is significantly quicker when analysing images in comparison to semi-automated software. It is likely the only viable option for analysis if using CCM to screen for neuropathy in the future. In our study, when comparing automated and semi-automated analysis, the results for automated CNFD, CNFL and CNBD were all significantly lower. This is in agreement with previous studies, also finding an underestimation when using ACCMetrics automated software (29, 31) and was the reason we focused mainly on semi-automated methods for the most accurate analysis. If automated software is to be used for DPN screening, software needs to be improved and updated to resolve the measurements bias. As we await these technological advances, adjustment factors must be put in place to compare to semiautomated analysis.

In this study, we found that CNFL, CNFD and CNBD significantly decreased with increasing age (Table 2), in line with previously published literature (32, 34). Thus, we referenced CCM published normative age values for CNFL and CNFD (32). Twenty females (11.98%) and 35 (13.46%) males were classified as having abnormal CNFL that could be considered clinically significant (12.88% overall). This implies that in our cohort, 12.9% of subjects may be deemed to have small fiber neuropathy if using CNFL as a single diagnostic measure. This percentage is less than that of Anderson et al. (2018) (35), who found a prevalence of 19% DPN when using the Toronto consensus for diagnosis in subjects with type 2 diabetes. CCM identifies small fiber damage, which has been



shown to precede large fiber changes (36, 37); thus, we expected a higher percentage of abnormality in our study. This highlights the problematic nature of comparing DPN prevalence across studies using a range of definitions for classification. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) data exemplified the impact of varying diagnostic testing procedures. In their cohort, the prevalence of DPN at baseline varied from 0.3% (abnormalities of reflexes, sensory examination and neuropathic symptoms) to 21.8% (abnormal nerve conduction in at least two nerves) depending on the criteria used for detection (38).

diabetic retinopathy progresses. There is also a clear decrease in the overall nerve fibre length.

A recent study of 236 people attending retinal screening showed that combined eye, foot and renal screening is feasible. In that study, the authors reported a prevalence of DPN, assessed using the Toronto Clinical Neuropathy Score, of 30.9%, which was underestimated by the 10-g monofilament test (14.4%). The clinical characteristics of the cohorts might explain the differences between their findings and our results, as studies are never identical with respect to the demographics of their subjects and risk factors for DPN. The authors do not report the duration of diabetes of their patient group (23), and additionally, subjects attended screening either in primary care or within a hospital setting. Subjects that attended the secondary care setting may have been at higher risk of diabetic complications. An important aspect of our study was that subjects were tested during community screening. Although this would need to be confirmed with further studies, it is likely that the relative stability of subjects attending community retinopathy screening would make them less susceptible to developing diabetic complications such as DPN and associated reduction in corneal nerve fibers.

To assess the potential role of CCM to identify early nerve changes, it was important to evaluate subjects with diabetes of duration ≤ 2 years since diagnosis. This was to determine if corneal changes were occurring early in diabetes.

When assessing subjects with diabetes within early stages since diagnosis, Ziegler and colleagues (18) concluded, using their own control cohort, that CNFD was the most sensitive parameter for detecting neuropathy, as it detected 21% of subjects falling below the 2.5th percentile of the control group. CNFL was the second most sensitive, with 17% falling below the 2.5th percentile (18). This percentage for CNFL abnormality is significantly higher than that of abnormal CNFL in subjects with diabetes, found in our study (9.18%). It is likely that the significantly lower comparative percentage is largely due to a difference in percentile cut-off points used to define an abnormality. In comparison, we used the 0.5th percentile as a cut-off point from age-corrected published values (32), therefore identifying fewer subjects as outside of this range.

It is difficult to confidently compare the results of these two studies as although sample sizes were similar (86 vs 98), our study evaluated only subjects with \leq 2 years disease duration, whereas the mean disease duration of the subjects in the Ziegler et al. (2014) study was 2.1± 1.6 years. The longer duration of

Retinopathy grade	R0	R1	R2	R3	p-value
n	288	132	4	3	-
Age (years)	68.35 (23-92)	67.50 (21-93)	65.90 (30-69)	50.40 (41-77)	0.50
Type of diabetes					
Type 1	5 (2%)	10 (7.5%)	1 (25%)	2 (66.5%)	
Type 2	281 (97.5%)	122 (92.5%)	3 (75%)	1 (33.5%)	
Unknown	2 (0.5%)	0	0	0	
Duration of diabetes	6 (0.10-51)	9 (0.20-35)	14 (6-20)	21 (11-35)	< 0.001
Gender					
F	109 (38%)	54 (41%)	3 (75%)	1 (33.5%)	0.50
М	179 (62%)	78 (59%)	1 (25%)	2 (66.5%)	
Ethnicity					
White	233 (81%)	106 (80.5%)	4 (100%)	3 (100%)	
Black	42 (14.5%)	23 (17.5%)	0	0	
Asian	9 (3%)	3 (2%)	0	0	0.70
Mixed	2 (0.5%)	0	0	0	
Other	2 (0.5%)	0	0	0	
DNS Score					
0	186 (64.5%)	72 (55%)	2 (50%)	2 (66.5%)	
1	44 (15%)	29 (22%)	0	0	
2	30 (10.5%)	18 (13.5%)	0	1 (33.5%)	0.20
3	14 (5%)	7 (5%)	0	0	
4	14 (5%)	6 (4.5%)	2 (50%)	0	
Maculopathy Grade					
M0	286 (99.5%)	125 (94.5%)	0	3 (100%)	-
M1	2 (0.5%)	7 (5.5%)	4 (100%)	0	
CNFD (no/mm ²)	26.18 (± 7.03)	25.53 (± 6.90)	23.70 (± 6.66)	11.04 (± 6.38)	-
CNBD (no/mm ²)	77.08 (0-212.50)	71.87 (0-161.46)	43.23 (25.0-122.92)	28.12 (5.0-50.0)	-
CNFL (mm/mm ²)	19.70 (± 5.65)	18.93 (± 5.57)	18.06 (± 5.44)	8.36 (± 4.23)	-
No of subjects < CNFL cut-off	34 (11.81%)	18 (13.64%)	0	3 (100%)	

TABLE 6 Comparison of different retinopathy grades.

Summary of the known characteristics and clinical grading information for subjects, assorted into 4 groups, based on retinopathy grade, as well as controls. The CCM parameters are calculated with Semi-automated software. Age and duration of diabetes are represented by median (range) due to a non-normal distribution. Retinopathy grading: 0 = no retinopathy, 1 = background, 2 = pre-proliferative, 3 = proliferative. Maculopathy grading: 0 = no maculopathy 1 = maculopathy. See methods section for detailed grading characteristics. 'Unknown' represents subjects for which information was not available. The number of subjects below cut-off was calculated using published age-corrected values (32).

diabetes in some of their cohort may have caused more significant corneal nerve changes.

One recently published study (39) found that there was no significant difference in CNFL between patient groups with type 2 diabetes duration <10 years (mean age 5 \pm 3) and control subjects. This contradicts the findings of our study and that of Ziegler and colleagues (18); however, it may be attributed to the study's strict inclusion/exclusion criteria - subjects with glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) levels of >7.8% or a history of proliferative retinopathy were excluded.

Despite limited research into subjects during the very early stages of diabetes, our findings suggest that corneal nerve fiber changes may occur early and may be an indicator of changes in the sensory nervous system.

At present, retinal photography is a successful screening method for DR and can detect early microvascular changes. Our findings suggest that changes in corneal nerves may precede detectable retinopathy.

These findings confirm those of Bitirgen et al. (40), who reported, in subjects with type 2 diabetes and no DR, a

significant reduction in CNFD (p<0.001), CNFL (p=0.02) and CNBD (p =0.001) compared to healthy subjects when assessed using automated software. An earlier study (41) also found a significant difference in all three parameters; however, this study used their own custom-written routines in MATLAB rather than a commonly used software such as CCMetrics.

When assessing subjects with type 1 diabetes, two similar studies (42, 43) reported a reduction in CNFD, CNFL and CNBD, prior to any retinopathy. However, Szalai et al. (2016) only assessed young subjects (mean age 22.86 ± 9.05 years), which was not representative of the type 1 diabetes population overall. This cohort was very different to ours, which was (1) mainly in people with type 2 diabetes and (2) of significantly older age.

Our study into this area is novel in that we assessed subjects in primary care along with DR screening. This has allowed us to evaluate a larger cohort of 241 subjects with no retinopathy or history of retinopathy compared to previous studies. Of these subjects, 29 (12.0%) had a CNFL measurement less than the published age-corrected reference value. This may suggest that several subjects do not meet the referral criteria into the hospital eye service (HES) based on retinopathy but may require further investigation and closer monitoring of peripheral nerve changes. More studies are needed to investigate the cost-effectiveness of this increase in referrals and the benefits to the subjects.

Although our study demonstrates good agreement with the current literature, the four previous studies discussed were completed in a hospital setting by a trained expert, thus were not representative of a cohort attending community DR screening. There was also a significant lack of recently diagnosed subjects (< 2 years), most notably in one of these studies (41). Nevertheless, the findings of these and our studies challenge the current screening strategies deployed to detect the complications of diabetes. Using CCM to identify corneal nerve changes may be the earliest window of opportunity to intervene and prevent the progression of the triad of microvascular complications; nephropathy, neuropathy and retinopathy.

There were some limitations to this study: first, there was no available information regarding height, triglyceride levels or HbA1c levels, which were previously associated with increased risk of neuropathy (44). A recent study by Wang et al. (2020) (45) found that subjects with type 2 diabetes and DPN had significantly higher levels of HbA1c (p=0.035), high-density lipoprotein (p=0.003) and fasting blood glucose (p=0.026). We are unable to confidently conclude that any significant/nonsignificant changes between subgroups of subjects were down to the grouping factor and no other independent factors.

Second, our cohort was made up of mainly older subjects with type 2 diabetes. This may be considered partially as a limitation, as we were unable to perform statistical testing on data from younger subjects and subjects with type 1 diabetes. However, the composition of the study population was compared against the UK population with diabetes; thus, our cohort mirrors the demographic of subjects attending the retinal screening service in the UK and therefore adequately acts as a representative population of this specific group.

Due to frequent delays in diabetes diagnosis in primary care, the exact time of disease onset is uncertain. One study previously reported a delay of at least 4-7 years before diagnosing type 2 diabetes (46). Subjects in our study classed as having the disease duration of \leq 2 years may be wildly different from the precise time since disease onset, thus erroneously suggesting more significant changes to corneal nerve fibers early in the course of diabetic disease.

Finally, due to the nature of this study, we were unable to assess the neuropathy in detail, including nerve conduction studies (NCS) to use as an objective assessment of DPN and comparator to determine the sensitivity and specificity of CCM to diagnose DPN. However, the sensitivity and specificity of CCM for said measurement has been previously validated in a number of studies (8–12, 14, 47–49).

To our knowledge, this study has been the first to use CCM to assess a large cohort of subjects with diabetes in a primary care screening service in which CCM images were taken by primary care clinicians. Our study presents evidence that CCM can be used in primary care to accurately detect corneal nerve abnormalities prior to evident retinopathy and in the early years since diagnosis. Overall, the findings support the current literature that CCM is a sensitive surrogate biomarker for DPN. Further research should focus on developing software for automated analysis and validating its diagnostic validity for detecting early DPN in larger, agematched cohorts in primary care.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by NRES East Midlands committee (REC: 15/EM/ 0079). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JC and MT wrote the manuscript. JC, HF, FI, MT contributed to data analysis and image analysis of the study subjects. JC, HF, FI, AB, SH, AS, MT reviewed and revised the paper. MT and AS supervised JC. MT was the PI study. MT designed, conceived the study, wrote the article, major revisions, made comments, had full access to all data, and is the guarantor. All authors provided important intellectual input and approved the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was funded by the National Institute for Health Research Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care Greater Manchester, now recommissioned as NIHR Applied Research Collaboration Greater Manchester.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Manchester NIHR/Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility and Exeter NIHR Clinical Research Facility for their support. The views in the manuscript are those of the authors and not those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care. Special thanks to the National Institute for

Health Research Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (NIHR CLAHRC) Greater Manchester Team, especially to Prof. Ruth Boaden, Ms. Rebecca Spencer, Ms. Claudia Soiland-Reyes, Dr Sarah Cotterill, Ms. Catherine Perry. We would particularly like to thank the optometrists and reception staff who generously gave their time to deliver this study. Special thanks to participated optometrists: Mr. Stephen Epstein (Scotts Optician), Mr. Joe Arrowsmith (Arrowsmith Eyecare), Mr. Suhail Hakim (Alan Miller Optometrists), and Mr. Suhayl Issa (Murrays Opticians). We would like to thank Heidelberg Engineering for loaning their specialist CCM equipment and help to deliver the clinical training. Special thanks to the Heidelberg Engineering team, Krysten Williams, Chris Mody, Melanie Polzer, and Phil Enion, for their continuous support. Special thanks to Mr. Dipesh Mehta from the University of Manchester for the IT support. And finally, our gratitude goes to all subjects and participants in this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Scanlon PH. The English national screening programme for diabetic retinopathy 2003–2016. *Acta Diabetologica* (2017) 54(6):515–25. doi: 10.1007/s00592-017-0974-1

2. Liew G, Michaelides M, Bunce C. A comparison of the causes of blindness certifications in England and Wales in working age adults (16-64 years), 1999-2000 with 2009-2010. *BMJ Open* (2014) 4(2):e004015. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004015

3. Hicks CW, Selvin E. Epidemiology of peripheral neuropathy and lower extremity disease in diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rep* (2019) 19(10):86–98. doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1212-8

4. Boulton AJM, Armstrong DG, Kirsner RS, Attinger CE, Lavery LA, Lipsky BA, et al. *Diagnosis and management of diabetic foot complications*. Arlington, Virginia: American Diabetes Association (2018). Available at: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK538977/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK538977.pdf.

5. Yang Z, Zhang Y, Chen R, Huang Y, Ji L, Sun F, et al. Simple tests to screen for diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2014) 7(2): CD010975. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010975

6. American Diabetes Association. 11. microvascular complications and foot care: Standards of medical care in diabetes–2020. *Diabetes Care* (2019) 43 (Supplement_1):S135–S51. doi: 10.2337/dc21-s011

7. Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJ, Feldman EL, Bril V, Freeman R, Malik RA, et al. Diabetic neuropathy: A position statement by the American diabetes association. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(1):136–54. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2042

8. Ahmed A, Bril V, Orszag A, Paulson J, Yeung E, Ngo M, et al. Detection of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy by corneal confocal microscopy in type 1 diabetes: a concurrent validity study. *Diabetes Care* (2012) 35(4):821-8. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1396

 Chen X, Graham J, Dabbah MA, Petropoulos IN, Ponirakis G, Asghar O, et al. Small nerve fiber quantification in the diagnosis of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy: Comparing corneal confocal microscopy with intraepidermal nerve fiber density. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(6):1138–44. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2422

10. Perkins BA, Lovblom LE, Bril V, Scarr D, Ostrovski I, Orszag A, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy for identification of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy: A pooled multinational consortium study. *Diabetologia* (2018) 61(8):1856-61. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4653-8

11. Pritchard N, Edwards K, Russell AW, Perkins BA, Malik RA, Efron N. Corneal confocal microscopy predicts 4-year incident peripheral neuropathy in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38(4):671–5. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2114

12. Scarr D, Lovblom LE, Lovshin JA, Boulet G, Farooqi MA, Orszag A, et al. Lower corneal nerve fibre length identifies diabetic neuropathy in older adults with

diabetes: results from the Canadian study of longevity in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2017) 60(12):2529–31. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4439-4

13. Tavakoli M, Begum P, McLaughlin J, Malik RA. Corneal confocal microscopy for the diagnosis of diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* (2015) 52(3):363–70. doi: 10.1002/mus.24553

14. Tavakoli M, Quattrini C, Abbott C, Kallinikos P, Marshall A, Finnigan J, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy: a novel noninvasive test to diagnose and stratify the severity of human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2010) 33(8):1792–7. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0253

15. Ostrovski I, Lovblom LE, Farooqi MA, Scarr D, Boulet G, Hertz P, et al. Reproducibility of *In vivo* corneal confocal microscopy using an automated analysis program for detection of diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy. *PloS One* (2015) 10(11):e0142309. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142309

16. Stem MS, Hussain M, Lentz SI, Raval N, Gardner TW, Pop-Busui R, et al. Differential reduction in corneal nerve fiber length in patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Complications* (2014) 28(5):658–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.06.007

17. Wu T, Ahmed A, Bril V, Orszag A, Ng E, Nwe P, et al. Variables associated with corneal confocal microscopy parameters in healthy volunteers: Implications for diabetic neuropathy screening. *Diabetes Med* (2012) 29(9):e297–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03678.x

 Ziegler D, Papanas N, Zhivov A, Allgeier S, Winter K, Ziegler I, et al. Early detection of nerve fiber loss by corneal confocal microscopy and skin biopsy in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2014) 63(7):2454–63. doi: 10.2337/db13-1819

19. Campagnolo M, Lazzarini D, Fregona I, Cacciavillani M, Bergamo F, Parrozzani R, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy in patients with oxaliplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy. *J Peripher Nerv System* (2013) 18(3):269–71. doi: 10.1111/jns5.12036

20. Tavakoli M, Marshall A, Thompson L, Kenny M, Waldek S, Efron N, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy: A novel noninvasive means to diagnose neuropathy in patients with fabry disease. *Muscle Nerve* (2009) 40(6):976–84. doi: 10.1002/mus.21383

21. Tavakoli M, Marshall A, Banka S, Petropoulos IN, Fadavi H, Kingston H, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects small-fiber neuropathy in charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 1A patients. *Muscle Nerve* (2012) 46(5):698–704. doi: 10.1002/mus.23377

22. Mayor S. Half of NHS services do not provide recommended care for diabetic foot ulcers, shows audit. *BMJ* (2017) 356;j1274. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j1274

23. Binns-Hall O, Selvarajah D, Sanger D, Walker J, Scott A, Tesfaye S. Onestop microvascular screening service: An effective model for the early detection of diabetic peripheral neuropathy and the high-risk foot. *Diabetes Med* (2018) 35 (7):887–94. doi: 10.1111/dme.13630 24. Tavakoli M, Bresnen M, Davison N, Cotterill S, Howard S, Perry C, et al. Implementation of corneal confocal microscopy in primary care optometry practices for screening and early detection of diabetic neuropathy: A feasibility study. NIHR Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC): Greater Manchester UK (2016).

25. NHS Digital. National diabetes audit - 2012-2013: Report 1, care processes and treatment targets [updated 02/10/2014. Available at: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-diabetes-audit/national-diabetes-audit-2012-2013-report-1-care-processes-and-treatment-targets.

26. Meijer JW, Smit AJ, Sonderen EV, Groothoff JW, Eisma WH, Links TP. Symptom scoring systems to diagnose distal polyneuropathy in diabetes: The diabetic neuropathy symptom score. *Diabetes Med* (2002) 19(11):962–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00819.x

27. Harding S, Greenwood R, Aldington S, Gibson J, Owens D, Taylor R, et al. Grading and disease management in national screening for diabetic retinopathy in England and Wales. *Diabetes Med* (2003) 20(12):965–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2003.01077.x

28. Tavakoli M, Malik RA. Corneal confocal microscopy: a novel non-invasive technique to quantify small fibre pathology in peripheral neuropathies. *J visualized experiments* (2011) 47:2194. doi: 10.3791/2194

29. Scarr D, Lovblom LE, Ostrovski I, Kelly D, Wu T, Farooqi MA, et al. Agreement between automated and manual quantification of corneal nerve fiber length: Implications for diabetic neuropathy research. *J Diabetes its Complications*. (2017) 31(6):1066–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.07.024

30. Dehghani C, Pritchard N, Edwards K, Russell AW, Malik RA, Efron N. Fully automated, semiautomated, and manual morphometric analysis of corneal subbasal nerve plexus in individuals with and without diabetes. *Cornea* (2014) 33(7):696–702. doi: 10.1097/ICO.00000000000152

31. Petropoulos IN, Alam U, Fadavi H, Marshall A, Asghar O, Dabbah MA, et al. Rapid automated diagnosis of diabetic peripheral neuropathy with *In vivo* corneal confocal microscopy. *Invest Ophthalmol Visual Sci* (2014) 55(4):2071–8. doi: 10.1167/iovs.13-13787

32. Tavakoli M, Ferdousi M, Petropoulos IN, Morris J, Pritchard N, Zhivov A, et al. Normative values for corneal nerve morphology assessed using corneal confocal microscopy: A multinational normative data set. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38 (5):838–43. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2311

33. Tavakoli M, Mitu-Pretorian M, Petropoulos IN, Fadavi H, Asghar O, Alam U, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects early nerve regeneration in diabetic neuropathy after simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(1):254–60. doi: 10.2337/db12-0574

34. Midena E, Brugin E, Ghirlando A, Sommavilla M, Avogaro A. Corneal diabetic neuropathy: A confocal microscopy study. *J Refract Surg* (2006) 22:1047–52. doi: 10.3928/1081-597X-20061102-08

35. Andersen ST, Grosen K, Tankisi H, Charles M, Andersen NT, Andersen H, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy as a tool for detecting diabetic polyneuropathy in a cohort with screen-detected type 2 diabetes: ADDITION-Denmark. *J Diabetes Complications* (2018) 32(12):1153–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2018.09.016

36. Umapathi T, Tan WL, Loke SC, Soon PC, Tavintharan S, Chan YH. Intraepidermal nerve fiber density as a marker of early diabetic neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve* (2007) 35(5):591–8. doi: 10.1002/mus.20732

37. Quattrini C, Tavakoli M, Jeziorska M, Kallinikos P, Tesfaye S, Finnigan J, et al. Surrogate markers of small fiber damage in human diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes* (2007) 56(8):2148–54. doi: 10.2337/db07-0285

38. DCCT. The effect of intensive diabetes therapy on the development and progression of neuropathy. the diabetes control and complications trial research group. *Ann Intern Med* (1995) 122(8):561–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.236

39. Lyu Y, Zeng X, Li F, Zhao S. The effect of the duration of diabetes on dry eye and corneal nerves. *Cont Lens Anterior Eye* (2019) 42(4):380–5. doi: 10.1016/ j.clae.2019.02.011

40. Bitirgen G, Ozkagnici A, Malik RA, Kerimoglu H. Corneal nerve fibre damage precedes diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Med* (2014) 31(4):431-8. doi: 10.1111/dme.12324

41. Nitoda E, Kallinikos P, Pallikaris A, Moschandrea J, Amoiridis G, Ganotakis ES, et al. Correlation of diabetic retinopathy and corneal neuropathy using confocal microscopy. *Curr Eye Res* (2012) 37(10):898–906. doi: 10.3109/02713683.2012.683507

42. Szalai E, Deák E, Módis LJR, Németh G, Berta A, Nagy A, et al. Early corneal cellular and nerve fiber pathology in young patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus identified using corneal confocal microscopy. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2016) 57 (3):853–8. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-18735

43. Petropoulos IN, Green P, Chan AWS, Alam U, Fadavi H, Marshall A, et al. Corneal confocal microscopy detects neuropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes without retinopathy or microalbuminuria. *PloS One* (2015) 10(4):e0123517. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123517

44. Tesfaye S, Chaturvedi N, Eaton SE, Ward JD, Manes C, Ionescu-Tirgoviste C, et al. Vascular risk factors and diabetic neuropathy. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 352 (4):341–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032782

45. Wang M, Zhang C, Zuo A, Li L, Chen L, Hou X. Diagnostic utility of corneal confocal microscopy in type 2 diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *J Diabetes Investig* (2021) 12(4):574–82. doi: 10.1111/jdi.13381

46. Harris MI, Klein R, Welborn TA, Knuiman MW. Onset of NIDDM occurs at least 4–7 yr before clinical diagnosis. *Diabetes Care* (1992) 15(7):815–9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.15.7.815

47. Alam U, Jeziorska M, Petropoulos IN, Asghar O, Fadavi H, Ponirakis G, et al. Diagnostic utility of corneal confocal microscopy and intra-epidermal nerve fibre density in diabetic neuropathy. *PloS One* (2017) 12(7):e0180175. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180175

48. Bitirgen G, Turkmen K, Malik RA, Ozkagnici A, Zengin N. Corneal confocal microscopy detects corneal nerve damage and increased dendritic cells in fabry disease. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):12244. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30688-z

49. Lovblom LE, Halpern EM, Wu T, Kelly D, Ahmed A, Boulet G, et al. *In vivo* corneal confocal microscopy and prediction of future-incident neuropathy in type 1 diabetes: A preliminary & longitudinal analysis. *Can J Diabetes* (2015) 39(5):390–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2015.02.006

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



